PROTECTIVE RESOURCES FOR PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING OF ADOLESCENTS

EDITED BY: Lourdes Rey, Mario Pena and Félix Neto PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-766-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-766-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

PROTECTIVE RESOURCES FOR PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING OF ADOLESCENTS

Topic Editors: Lourdes Rey, University of Malaga, Spain Mario Pena, National University of Distance Education (UNED), Spain Félix Neto, University of Porto, Portugal

Citation: Rey, L., Pena, M., Neto, F., eds. (2020). Protective Resources for Psychological Well-Being of Adolescents. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-766-9

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Protective Resources for Psychological Well-Being of Adolescents

Lourdes Rey, Mario Pena and Félix Neto

- 08 A Longitudinal Study of Spirituality, Character Strengths, Subjective Well-Being, and Prosociality in Middle School Adolescents Ariel Kor, Steven Pirutinsky, Mario Mikulincer, Anat Shoshani and Lisa Miller
- 20 Predicting Adolescent Depression: The Interrelated Roles of Self-Esteem and Interpersonal Stressors Caterina Fiorilli, Teresa Grimaldi Capitello, Daniela Barni, Ilaria Buonomo and Simonetta Gentile
- 26 The Parent-Adolescent Relationship and Risk-Taking Behaviors Among Chinese Adolescents: The Moderating Role of Self-Control Lu Liu, Na Wang and Lumei Tian
- 34 The Use of Classmates as a Self-Motivation Strategy From the Perspective of Self-Regulated Learning

José Manuel Suárez, Ana Patricia Fernández and Ángela Zamora

- 44 Chinese Adolescents' Emotional Intelligence, Perceived Social Support, and Resilience—The Impact of School Type Selection Shitao Chen
- 55 The Moderating Effect of Mindfulness on the Mediated Relation Between Critical Thinking and Psychological Distress via Cognitive Distortions Among Adolescents

Michael Ronald Su and Kathy Kar-man Shum

66 Social Support and Emotional Intelligence as Protective Resources for Well-Being in Moroccan Adolescents

Esther Lopez-Zafra, Manuel Miguel Ramos-Álvarez, Karima El Ghoudani, Octavio Luque-Reca, José María Augusto-Landa, Benaissa Zarhbouch, Smail Alaoui, Daniel Cortés-Denia and Manuel Pulido-Martos

81 Bullied Adolescent's Life Satisfaction: Personal Competencies and School Climate as Protective Factors

Susana Lázaro-Visa, Raquel Palomera, Elena Briones, Andrés A. Fernández-Fuertes and Noelia Fernández-Rouco

- **92** Forgiving Adolescents: Far From Depression, Close to Well-Being Barbara Barcaccia, Susanna Pallini, Andrea Pozza, Michela Milioni, Roberto Baiocco, Francesco Mancini and Giovanni Maria Vecchio
- 101 Psychological Well-Being During Adolescence: Stability and Association With Romantic Relationships

Mercedes Gómez-López, Carmen Viejo and Rosario Ortega-Ruiz

114 Sexting Among Adolescents: The Emotional Impact and Influence of the Need for Popularity

Rosario Del Rey, Mónica Ojeda, José A. Casas, Joaquín A. Mora-Merchán and Paz Elipe

125 Character Strengths Lead to Satisfactory Educational Outcomes Through Strength Use: A Longitudinal Analysis

Xiaoqing Tang, Yumei Li, Wenjie Duan, Wenlong Mu and Xinfeng Cheng

134 The Relationship Between Sensation Seeking and Tobacco and Alcohol Use Among Junior High School Students: The Regulatory Effect of Parental Psychological Control

Weiguo Zhao, Fei Xu, Wen Ding, Yining Song and Qi Zhao

145 Satisfaction of Basic Psychological Needs Leads to Better Academic Performance via Increased Psychological Capital: A Three-Wave Longitudinal Study Among High School Students

Marcos Carmona-Halty, Wilmar B. Schaufeli, Susana Llorens and Marisa Salanova





Editorial: Protective Resources for Psychological Well-Being of Adolescents

Lourdes Rey^{1*}, Mario Pena² and Félix Neto³

¹ Department of Psychology, Evaluation and Psychological Treatment, University of Malaga, Málaga, Spain, ² Department of Methods of Research and Diagnosis in Education II, National University of Distance Education, Madrid, Spain, ³ Department of Psychology, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Keywords: protective factors, adolescence, well-being, education, mental-health

Editorial on the Research Topic

Protective Resources for Psychological Well-Being of Adolescents

Adolescence is an essential stage of the lifecycle, in which children begin to develop their identity, experiment with multiple changes in several areas and contexts (family, school, social, and personal) and cope with stressful events. How they manage each changing situation will influence their psychological adjustment and personal well-being. Positive Psychology constitutes a framework focusing on positive aspects, personal resources and protective factors that prevent, provide a buffer against and boost coping with stressful and difficult situations. Therefore, the main aim of this Research Topic is to examine the role of protective factors in family, school, social relationships and personal contexts in preventing psychological maladjustment and enhancing adolescents' psychological well-being.

For adolescents there are several important contexts that can influence how vulnerable or resilient they are in stressful situations. One of these contexts, considered to be one of the most important and immediate in which adolescents satisfy their basic needs, grow, learn and develop, is that of the family. Thus, Zhao et al. examined the regulatory effect of parental control on the association between sensation-seeking and tobacco and alcohol use among Chinese adolescents. They found that sensation-seeking predicted the use of tobacco and alcohol. However, their findings also revealed that parental psychological control enhanced and moderated the relationship between adolescents' sensation-seeking and their use of tobacco and alcohol. On the basis of these results, the authors proposed several ways of preventing or reducing adolescents' use of tobacco and alcohol. In another study of the family context, Liu et al. examined whether self-control moderated the relationship between parent-adolescent relationships and risk-taking behaviors in a sample of Chinese adolescents. Their findings showed that associations between parent-adolescent relationships were indeed moderated by self-control. Therefore, the authors suggested, interventions to reduce adolescent risk-taking should incorporate the personal features and interactions of families.

The second important context in adolescence is that of school. It is in educational centers that adolescents spend a great amount of time, acquire new knowledge and develop their ability to establish relationships with peers and teachers and to cope with stressful situations (emotions, conflict or academic performance, among others). In one study in this area, Carmona-Halty et al. carried out a longitudinal study to examine the mediating role of academic psychological capital (PsyCap) (including hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism) on the relationship between

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Douglas F. Kauffman, Medical University of the Americas – Nevis, United States

> *Correspondence: Lourdes Rey Irey@uma.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 07 March 2020 Accepted: 24 March 2020 Published: 15 April 2020

Citation:

Rey L, Pena M and Neto F (2020) Editorial: Protective Resources for Psychological Well-Being of Adolescents. Front. Psychol. 11:720. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00720

the satisfaction of basic psychological needs (BPN) and academic performance in a Chilean sample. They found that adolescents with more satisfied BPN at school accumulated more academic PsyCap, implying better academic performance. These findings suggest that increasing the hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism of students can enhance the school environment. In another study, Lázaro-Visa et al. looked at the influence of several personal competencies and the school environment, together with various socio-demographic characteristics, on life satisfaction in Spanish pre-adolescent and adolescent samples who had suffered bullying. Their findings showed the school environment, self-esteem and emotional repair to predict these adolescents' life satisfaction. Consequently, the authors pointed to the importance of considering both individual and contextual aspects in attempts to improve the life satisfaction of bullied adolescents.

Friends and social relationships are the third relevant context during adolescence. As the adolescents' peer group, they are a critical influence on adolescents' psychological development. Examining this perspective, Del Rey et al. looked at the impact of sexting and the influence of the need for popularity on this phenomenon among Spanish adolescents. Their results showed that greater need for popularity was accompanied by a higher likelihood of adolescents sharing images of themselves. Furthermore, although sexting implied an active emotional impact on the adolescents involved, a short-term negative impact was not apparent. The researchers stressed the relevance of this for future intervention and prevention programmes targeting sexting. Elsewhere, Gómez-López et al. analyzed the stability of psychological well-being (PWB) over time and the influence of romantic relationships on psychological well-being (including self-acceptance, positive interpersonal relationships, autonomy, and life development) in a prospective study of a Spanish sample. Their findings showed medium to high levels of PWB. In addition, romantic relationships were an important predictor of PWB, being related positively to positive interpersonal relationships and life development, and negatively to self-acceptance and autonomy.

Finally, the personal resources and strategies used by adolescents to manage various situations in this stage of their lifecycle will have an effect on their mental health and psychological adjustment. In this area of research, the role of certain strengths and strategies in terms of their consequences on adolescents' positive development and well-being have been analyzed. First, the role of emotional intelligence (EI), together with social support, life satisfaction and depression, in Moroccan students was examined by Lopez-Zafra et al. Their findings revealed EI to be a protective factor against depression, through social support and life satisfaction. Furthermore, EI moderated the relationship between social support and life satisfaction. Likewise, Chen investigated how school type (boarding schools and day schools) influenced the relationship between emotional intelligence (EI), perceived social support and resilience among Chinese adolescents. The results showed that the greater the perceived support from friends, the more positive the relationship between trait EI and resilience. In addition, for adolescents with lower perceived support from friends, the

boarding school experience was a better choice for those with high trait EI. The author went on to outline some implications of this study for parents as well as for mental health professionals.

Second, Tang et al. and Suárez et al. pointed to the important role of, respectively, character strengths and the strategies used by adolescents. Tang et al. considered the use of strengths as a mediator for understanding how character strengths were related to adolescents' academic achievement and well-being. In particular, they examined the following character strengths: caring, inquisitiveness, and self-control. Their findings revealed that the use of such strengths could be an explicative mechanism between character strengths and academic achievement. The authors therefore concluded that one practical implication of their findings is to encourage students to use their strengths in this way. In addition, Suárez et al. studied the use of selfmotivation strategies involving classmates (i.e., the raising up of others, annulation of others, deception, and comparison) and explored the relation of these with academic goals (including tasks, ego self-enhancing, ego self-defeating, and work avoidance goals) and belief in control and self-efficacy in learning, in two Spanish samples. Their results showed that adolescents who reported lower use of self-motivation strategies presented lower levels of belief in self-efficacy to learn and perform.

Third, Barcaccia et al. tested a model incorporating forgiveness, anger, hedonic balance, and depression in Italian adolescents using a structural equation modeling approach. Their results suggested that forgiveness protects against depression, helping to control and manage anger. On the basis of their findings, the authors outlined various implications for the well-being of adolescents.

Fourth, Fiorilli et al. analyzed the role of self-esteem and interpersonal stressors as predictors of depression manifestations (i.e., depressed mood, sense of inadequacy, and insecurity) among Italian pre-adolescents and adolescents. Their results revealed a secondary role of interpersonal stressors and pointed to the vital role of self-esteem as a predictor of depression, with negative emotion management being the most important protective factor.

Fifth, Su and Shum tested a model involving critical thinking, cognitive distortions, trait mindfulness and psychological distress on adolescents from Hong Kong. Their results pointed to the important role that mindfulness can have in psychological distress (i.e., depression, anxiety, and stress). At low mindfulness levels, critical thinking was related to greater psychological distress through more cognitive distortions. Given these findings, the authors suggested that mindfulness could have beneficial effects on adolescents' psychological well-being.

Lastly, Kor et al. explored relations between spirituality, character strengths, subjective well-being and prosociality in a longitudinal study of Israeli adolescents. Their findings showed spirituality to be a distinct dimension of character strengths that provided positive development in adolescents and remained stable over time. Furthermore, high levels of spirituality enhanced subjective well-being and prosociality

We hope that the reader will find in this Research Topic a useful reference for the state of the art in the field of well-being of adolescents.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LR, MP, and FN: writing, review, and editing.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Rey, Pena and Neto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Longitudinal Study of Spirituality, Character Strengths, Subjective Well-Being, and Prosociality in Middle School Adolescents

Ariel Kor^{1,2*}, Steven Pirutinsky³, Mario Mikulincer², Anat Shoshani² and Lisa Miller¹

¹ Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States, ² Baruch lvcher School of Psychology, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Herzliya, Israel, ³ Touro College, New York, NY, United States

Using data from 1,352 middle-school Israeli adolescents, the current study examines the interface of spirituality and character strengths and its longitudinal contribution to subjective well-being and prosociality. Participants were approached three times over a 14-months period and completed measures of character strengths, spirituality, subjective well-being (positive emotions, life satisfaction), and prosociality. Findings revealed a fourth-factor structure of character strengths that included the typical tripartite classification of intrapersonal, interpersonal, and intellectual strengths together with spirituality emerging as a statistically autonomous factor. Spirituality was stable over time and contributed to higher subjective well-being and prosociality both crosssectionally and longitudinally. Discussion focuses on spirituality as a fundamental character strength and an important aspect of positive development.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, Universidad de Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Caterina Fiorilli, Libera Università Maria SS. Assunta, Italy Mercedes Gómez-López, Universidad de Córdoba, Spain

> *Correspondence: Ariel Kor kor.ariel@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 02 January 2019 Accepted: 07 February 2019 Published: 27 February 2019

Citation:

Kor A, Pirutinsky S, Mikulincer M, Shoshani A and Miller L (2019) A Longitudinal Study of Spirituality, Character Strengths, Subjective Well-Being, and Prosociality in Middle School Adolescents. Front. Psychol. 10:377. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00377 Keywords: spirituality, character strengths, well-being, adolescence, prosociality

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, the arena of spirituality has garnered renewed interest in wide-ranging disciplines, including health (e.g., Hill and Pargament, 2003), education (e.g., Miller, 2009), clinical psychology and psychotherapy (e.g., Miller and Kelley, 2006), personality (e.g., Emmons, 1999), family studies (e.g., Tarakeshwar et al., 2001), and developmental psychology (e.g., Benson et al., 2003). Moreover, research in positive psychology and thriving consistently indicates that spirituality is associated with psychological adjustment and well-being (e.g., King and Benson, 2006; Johnson, 2008; Saroglou et al., 2008). Recently, major theoretical reviews in developmental psychology have emphasized the prominent role that spirituality plays in character formation and positive development (e.g., Benson et al., 2012a; Pargament et al., 2013; King and Boyatzis, 2015). However, while spirituality is highly relevant to youth development, the ways they relate to other character strengths and contribute to adolescents' psychological adjustment and well-being remain understudied.

A recent review of the descriptive attempts to define spirituality shows that this field of study is overrun with confusion (e.g., King and Boyatzis, 2015), though it is slowly moving toward greater clarity. This confusion is partly attributable to the concepts of spirituality and religiousness that initially were used synonymously (James, 1982), and more recently have begun to diverge in both psychology research and popular culture (Koenig et al., 2001). Spirituality is often characterized as the degree to which people affirm and honor a transcendent or scared force in their life that often provides a profound sense of meaning and purpose (Benson et al., 2005). Thus, spirituality does not necessarily require belief in God or adherence to a particular religious denomination, whereas

religiousness include affiliation to such a denomination and commitment to specific religious beliefs and practices. Despite these differences, however, spirituality and religiousness are fairly highly correlated. Treating them as completely separate constructs may not accurately reflect how spirituality and religion are experienced in the lives of people (e.g., Zinnbauer and Pargament, 2005; Crawford et al., 2006). Therefore, recent conceptualizations of spirituality view the construct as a broader term encompassing a search for the sacred both within and outside traditional religious denominations (e.g., Cragun et al., 2015), with spirituality being perceived as more individually constructed and religiousness as more socially constructed (e.g., Kapuscinski and Masters, 2010; Benson et al., 2012a). According to Koenig et al. (2001), spirituality is a personal exploration of core questions about life, meaning, and transcendent forces, which may (or may not) lead to commitment to specific religious beliefs and practices. Researchers of youth development rely on similar definitions of spirituality, such as the capacity for selftranscendence, with the goal of finding meaning, awareness, purpose and connectedness (e.g., Johnson, 2008; Lerner et al., 2008; Benson et al., 2012a).

Spiritual Development and Well-Being in Adolescence

Although spiritual development in adolescence as a research subject has been almost absent from the developmental psychology literature (Benson et al., 2003), it is well agreed that adolescence is a sensitive period for developing spiritual belief and engagement (Good and Willoughby, 2008). The unique developmental changes that occur during adolescence, including increased capacity for abstract thought, development of metacognitive abilities, and identity formation, provide a particular opportunity for spiritual awakening (Templeton and Eccles, 2006). Stress and heightened negative emotions during adolescence are other important factors that may prompt spiritual exploration and commitment (Zinnbauer and Pargament, 1998). Research, although not providing conclusive evidence, indicate that most adolescents engage in spiritual exploration and have spiritual-like experiences and most of the spiritual commitments to beliefs and practices made during adolescence tend to persist throughout adulthood (Good and Willoughby, 2008). In the most comprehensive research on spirituality in adolescence, Benson and Scales (2009) viewed spiritual development as the dynamic interplay of three main psychological processes: (a) Being aware of the strengths, wonder, and beauty both within the self and the world in ways that cultivate meaning, identity, and purpose; (b) seeking and experiencing significance and interdependence in relationships with others or transcendent figures (God or a higher power) that provide meaning to life over time; and (c) authentically expressing one's values, passions, and identity through activities, practices and relationships that promote a sense of inner wholeness and harmony.

In an attempt to obtain a global picture of youth spirituality, Benson et al. (2012b) surveyed 6,725 young people, between ages of 12 and 25, from eight countries in five continents. Findings yielded two main categories of youth spirituality. One category includes psychological processes that underlie spiritual development: connecting with others through prosocial beliefs and actions, discovering meaning, mindfulness, and alignment with values and action. The second category deals with religious and spiritual engagement, including spiritual practices, apprehension of God/Force, spiritual experiences, and religious practice. These findings were replicated across the eight countries and across different religious denominations. In addition, latent class analysis (LCA) rendered six types of spiritual development, which emphasized various combinations of spiritual variables (e.g., praying and experiencing a higher power or God) and religious variables (e.g., learning sacred texts and attending religious services). While this study greatly contributes to understanding youth spiritual development, its major limitation is that it was not longitudinal and therefore does not address developmental aspects.

Recent studies have also explored how spirituality is a potentially important anchor for socio-emotional adjustment. For example, spirituality has been found to shield adolescents against risky behavior, such as delinquency, substance abuse, sexual promiscuity, and emotional problems, such as depression, anxiety, and suicidality (e.g., Sinha et al., 2007; Desrosiers and Miller, 2008; King and Roeser, 2009). Studies have also demonstrated that spirituality is significantly associated with indicators of subjective well-being - higher levels of positive emotions (e.g., Ciarrocchi and Deneke, 2005; Holder et al., 2010; Smith et al., 2012) and more life satisfaction (e.g., Kelley and Miller, 2007; Kim et al., 2013). These findings are important for understanding the contribution of spirituality to socio-emotional adjustment, because recurrent experience of positive emotions, which are an important component of spiritual practices (e.g., Van Cappellen and Rimé, 2014), have been shown to build psychological, physical, and social resources that enhance one's ability to deal with life hardships (e.g., Fredrickson et al., 2008; Cohn et al., 2009). There is also mounting evidence that adolescents' spirituality contributes to prosociality - more compassionate feelings and behaviors toward needy others, higher levels of civic engagement, and heightened peer likeability, which, in turn, facilitate social adjustment and functioning (e.g., King and Furrow, 2004; Hardy and Carlo, 2005; Roehlkepartain et al., 2006). Some studies also point to spirituality as a source of optimism for good outcomes and of unwillingness to fall into despair during difficult times (Kloos and Moore, 2000; Park, 2005; Marques et al., 2013). Although optimism is considered a personality trait that is relatively stable over time (e.g., Cardemil et al., 2002), there is empirical evidence that optimism is reinforced by spiritual experiences (e.g., Gillham and Reivich, 2004; Gillham et al., 2007). Mofidi et al. (2007) noted that the relationship between spirituality and optimism is often bidirectional in that spirituality may promote optimism and optimism may support spirituality.

Spirituality as a Character Strength

The relatively new focus on character strengths and virtues within the positive psychology movement helps to locate spirituality as a human character strength. Synthesizing volumes

of inventories of human character strengths, both historical and contemporary, Peterson and Seligman (2004) developed the values-in-action (VIA) framework - a hierarchical classification of two main characteristics of the good character: virtues and character strengths. Virtues are conceptualized as positive traits of character that enable individuals to thrive and flourish (Park and Peterson, 2006). Based on a survey of religious, philosophical and historical texts, Peterson and Seligman (2004) identified six core human virtues: wisdom and knowledge, courage, humanity, justice, temperance, and transcendence. Character strengths are conceptualized as the psychological constituents, mechanisms or processes that define the virtues (Park, 2004). Peterson and Seligman (2004) proposed 24 character strengths that are embodied in the six core virtues. These virtues and strengths include the following: (1) Wisdom and Knowledge (curiosity, love of learning, judgment, creativity, perspective); (2) Courage (bravery, perseverance, honesty, zest); (3) Humanity (love, kindness, social intelligence); (4) Justice (teamwork, fairness, leadership); (5) Temperance (forgiveness, humility, prudence, self-regulation); and (6) Transcendence (appreciation of beauty, gratitude, hope, humor, spirituality). In this VIA framework, spirituality is considered a character strength embodied within the virtue of transcendence. That is, spirituality is not viewed as a discrete category by its own but only as part of the transcendence category that include other strengths of appreciation of beauty, gratitude, hope, and humor.

Research on Peterson and Seligman's (2004) scheme of strength categories has relied on the values in action inventory of strengths (VIA-IS) and its adaptation for studying children and adolescents – VIA-Youth (e.g., Seligman et al., 2005; Park et al., 2006; Toner et al., 2012).

Overall, empirical evidence for the validity of the six-virtue classification is mixed, with inconsistent numbers of higherorder factors and discrepancies in their compositions (e.g., Gillham et al., 2011; Ruch et al., 2013; Weber et al., 2013; Shoshani and Slone, 2016). However, they all contain factors that represent interpersonal, intrapersonal, and intellectual strengths, with an additional factor of transcendence that includes the strength of spirituality.

The VIA-IS for youth has been validated and found to be related to socio-emotional adjustment and psychological functioning (Park, 2004; Shoshani and Slone, 2013). Specifically, studies with elementary and middle school students have indicated that interpersonal strengths are related to better social functioning, wisdom strengths to more academic achievements, and temperance and transcendence strengths to higher levels of positive emotions and life satisfaction and fewer behavioral and emotional problems (Gillham et al., 2011; Shoshani and Aviv, 2012; Shoshani and Slone, 2013, 2016).

One basic issue that our study attempts to elucidate concerns the uniqueness of spirituality as a character strength. In other words, it aims to explore whether spirituality is only part of the broader category of transcendence or it is a discrete highorder category of strengths in its own. Although spirituality has been suggested to be only a component of the transcendence category, Peterson and Seligman (2004) themselves raised doubts about the composition of the transcendence factor and postulated that they "would not be surprised if this final grouping is revised – collapsed or combined...in subsequent editions" (p. 519). Moreover, Piedmont (1999) viewed spirituality as a basic organizing principle of human personality that shapes people's life. He argued that spirituality represents a hierarchically structured domain of psychological functioning that directs, drives, and selects behaviors in both secular and religious contexts. In support of this view, Piedmont (1999) provided convincing evidence that spirituality represents a unique personality domain that does not overlap with other high-order personality traits.

Spirituality may also shape the ways other character strengths and virtues operate. Spirituality can add more passion and meaning to people's intrapersonal and intellectual aspirations; it can moderate how people interact with others; it can redefine the goals people pursue; and it can help people in reappraising life events and transcending hardships and difficulties (e.g., Piedmont et al., 2009; Rican and Janosova, 2010). Thus, spirituality may be a distinctive psychological domain of comparable breadth to the virtues contained in the VIA classification and ought to be considered a potential distinct major category of character.

In the current study, we follow Piedmont's (1999) claim that spirituality may be an independent dimension of personality or character altogether, and argue that the findings reported using the VIA classification may result from a narrow and incomplete operationalization of spirituality. In the VIA inventory of strengths, spirituality is operationalized as a belief in and commitment to the transcendent (non-material) aspects of life (Peterson and Seligman, 2004, p. 519). However, this operationalization fails to capture the complex, multidimensional nature of spirituality (e.g., King and Boyatzis, 2015).

The Current Study

The primary aim of the current longitudinal study is to examine the relationship between spirituality, character strengths, subjective well-being (positive emotions, life satisfaction), and prosociality throughout middle school adolescence. As reviewed above, previous research has established that spirituality is an important character strength and a correlate of both subjective well-being and prosociality. However, the lack of longitudinal research hampers causal and directional conclusions (King and Boyatzis, 2015). It is, therefore, important to note that the direction of causality in the field of spiritual development remains murky at best, which emphasizes the need for research designs that are longitudinal and that test the contribution of spirituality to socio-emotional adjustment and functioning over time (King and Boyatzis, 2015).

We expect to find that spirituality is a discrete, high-order factor of character, and that the current VIA definition of spirituality as part of "transcendence," which includes other character strengths such as gratitude, humor, and hope, is lacking. Moreover, previous studies have found that spirituality is stable during adolescent development (Good et al., 2011; Lopez et al., 2011; Pearce and Denton, 2011), and we expect to further demonstrate this. We also predict that spirituality would longitudinally contribute to positive emotions, life satisfaction, and prosociality during this period.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The sample included 1,352 Israeli adolescents, 655 (48%) girls and 696 (51%) boys, ranging in age from 13 to 17 (M = 13.43, SD = 0.98). They were recruited from eight middle schools across Israel and were in grades 7–9. Participants were assessed at three time points in a period of 14 months, with 98% of them (n = 1,328) completing all three waves. The vast majority of the participants were Jewish (85%) although a minority (15%) identified as Christian and Muslim.

Procedure

Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the Chief Scientist of the Ministry of Education in Israel as well as from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of IDC Herzliya and Teachers College, Columbia University. Authorization for running the study was also obtained from each of the school principals, and written consent was obtained from each participant and their parents. Participants were guaranteed confidentiality and were assured that they could withdraw from the study at any point, without having to provide a reason for doing so. The first wave of data collection (Time 1) took place at the beginning of the 2015 academic year (September). The second wave of measurement (Time 2) took place at the end of the academic year (June 2016) and the third wave (Time 3) occurred in November 2016. We will continue to collect data over the coming years. The same set of scales were completed at the three time points.

Measures

Character strengths were assessed with a Hebrew version of the VIA Inventory of Strengths for Youth - Short Form (VIA-Y; Park and Peterson, 2005, 2006). This scale includes 96 items and was designed for children and adolescents between the ages of 10 and 17 years. The VIA-Y assesses 24 character strengths (4 items per strength): Curiosity, love of learning, judgment, creativity, perspective, bravery, perseverance, honesty, zest, love, kindness, social intelligence, teamwork, fairness, leadership, forgiveness, humility, prudence, self-regulation, appreciation of beauty, gratitude, hope, humor, and spirituality. The VIA-Y short form had good psychometric qualities, with alpha scores ranging from 0.84 to 0.87 and has been already used among Israeli children and adolescents (e.g., Shoshani and Aviv, 2012; Shoshani and Slone, 2013). Based on the VIA's institute coding schema, we computed 24 total scores for each participant representing each of the strengths assessed in the questionnaire.

Participants also completed the Life Orientation Test-Revised (LOT-R: Scheier et al., 1994) in order to assess optimism as a character strength that is not in included in the VIA-Y. The LOT-R is a 10-item questionnaire tapping adolescents' optimism and their positive expectations for the future. This measure includes positively phrased items reflecting optimism (e.g., "I'm always hopeful about my future"), and negatively phrased items

that reflect pessimism (e.g., "Things usually go wrong for me"). Participants rated their agreement with each item on a 5-point scale, ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). The LOT-R has been used in hundreds of studies and has been consistently found to be a reliable and valid scale (e.g., Steca et al., 2015). In the current study, Cronbach Alphas were acceptable (from 0.70 to 0.71) at the three time points. Then, we computed a total optimism score for each participant at each time point by averaging the 10 items.

We assessed spirituality with four different self-report scales. First, participants completed the Faith Maturity Scale (FMS, Benson et al., 1993). The FMS consists of 12 items that assess the extent to which spirituality plays a role in a person's life. It includes items tapping the extent to which spirituality influences one's inclination to help others (e.g., "I feel a deep sense of responsibility for reducing pain and suffering in the world") and one's closeness to God (e.g., "Every day I see evidence that God or a higher force is active in the world"). Items were rated on a 5-point scale, ranging from 1 (*never true*) to 5 (*always true*). Past studies have found this scale to be reliable and valid (e.g., Benson et al., 1993; Hall et al., 2016). In the current study, Cronbach Alphas were acceptable (from 0.93 to 0.95) at the three time points. On this basis, we computed a total score for each participant at each time point by averaging the items.

Second, participants completed the Duke University Religious Index (DUREL; Koenig et al., 1997). The DUREL consists of two items tapping participation in organized and non-organized religion practices, (e.g., "How often do you attend synagogue or other religious meetings?", "How often do you spend time in private religious activities, such as prayer, meditation or Bible study?") and three items tapping intrinsic religiosity (e.g., "My religious beliefs are what really lie behind my whole approach to life"). Items related to frequency of practice are scored on a 6-point scale, ranging from 1 (rarely or never) to 6 (more than once a day). The remaining items are scored on a 5-point scale, ranging from 1 (definitely not true) to 5 (definitely true of me). Previous studies have provided evidence on the reliability and validity of this scale (e.g., Koenig et al., 1997; Freire de Medeiros et al., 2017). In the current study, we computed two total scores for each participant at each time point - participation in religious practices (as ranging from 0.72 to 0.76) and intrinsic religiosity (α s ranging from 0.90 to 0.92), by averaging the relevant items.

Third, participants completed three items from the Personal Devotion scale (PDS, Kendler et al., 1997): "How important are religious or spiritual beliefs in your daily life?"; "When you have problems in your life, how often do you seek spiritual comfort?"; and "When you have decisions to make in your daily life, how often do you ask yourself what God would want you to do?" Items were rated on a 5-point scale, either from 1 (*never important*) to 5 (*very* important), or from 1 (never) to 5 (very often). On this basis, we computed a total score for each participant at each time point by averaging the items. Cronbach Alphas were acceptable for the three PDS items (αs ranging from 0.80 to 0.82).

Fourth, participants completed four items from the Spiritual Transcendence Scale (STS: Piedmont, 1999), tapping the ability to view life from a more objective perspective, to perceive the fundamental unity in the world, and to see a larger meaning in human existence. In the current study, Cronbach Alphas were acceptable for the four STS items (α s ranging from 0.75 to 0.87). We computed total scores for each participant at each time point by averaging items in the scale.

Subjective well-being was assessed with two scales tapping the two indicators of this construct: positive emotions and life satisfaction. Positive emotions were assessed with the positive affect subscale of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule for Children (PANAS-C; Ebesutani et al., 2012). Using a 5-point scale, ranging from 1 (very slightly) to 5 (very much), participants rated the extent to which five adjectives representing positive emotions describe themselves over the last few weeks. The PANAS-C has been shown to have high reliability and validity (e.g., Ebesutani et al., 2012; Shoshani and Shwartz, 2018). For the present study, we only rely on these five positive emotions items, since we mainly focus on the link between spirituality and subjective well-being (Smith et al., 2012). The Cronbach alphas for this subscale were acceptable (from 0.79 to 0.82) at the three time points. On this basis, we computed a total score for each participant at each time point by adding the five items. Life satisfaction was assessed with the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS; Diener et al., 1985). There are five items in the scale (e.g., "In most ways, my life is close to my ideal"), which are rated on a 7-point scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The total score is a sum of a participant's responses. Previous studies have found the SWLS to have high reliability and validity (e.g., Pavot and Diener, 2008). In the current study, Cronbach Alphas were acceptable (from 0.85 to 0.87) at the three time points.

Prosociality was assessed with the prosociality subscale of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ; Goodman et al., 1998). This subscale includes five items (e.g., "I share readily with other children, for example toys, treats, pencils") and participants rated how much each items described them best, using a 3-point scale, ranging from 1 (*not true*) to 3 (*certainly true*). Previous studies have provided evidence on the reliability and validity of this subscale (e.g., Goodman et al., 1998; Mansbach-Kleinfeld et al., 2010; Shoshani et al., 2016; Shoshani and Russo-Netzer, 2017). In the current study, Cronbach Alphas were acceptable (from 0.69 to 0.74) at the three time points. On this basis, we computed a total score for each participant at each time point by summing up the five items.

RESULTS

Is Spirituality a Unique Aspect of Youth Character Strengths?

In order to assess our hypothesis that spirituality is a discrete aspect of youth character strengths, we conducted an exploratory factor analysis (principal axis factoring) on the 24 VIA strengths, the optimism score, and the five spirituality scores from Time 1. Data was appropriate for exploratory factor analysis (Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin = 0.95; Bartlett's test of sphericity: χ^2 (435) = 29520, p < 0.001). Results indicated that five factors had eigenvalues greater than 1 (ranging from 10.53 to 1.18). However, examination of the scree plot and a parallel analysis

using a bootstrapping method (O'Connor, 2000) suggested that a four-factor solution accounting for 57.28% of the variance fit the data optimally. Therefore, we retained the four-factor solution and rotated these factors using non-orthogonal, direct oblimin rotation. Six items loaded lower than 0.40 on each of the rotated factors or strongly cross-loaded on multiple factors (VIA scores of bravery, gratitude, perseverance, kindness, and social intelligence, and the STS score). These items were thus dropped and the remaining 24 items were reanalyzed. This yielded a clear four-factor solution with eigenvalues ranging from 7.94 to 1.31, and accounting for 59.04% of variance. All loadings were higher than 0.40 and no cross-loading was observed (see **Table 1**).

As reported **Table 1**, this analysis yielded four factors labeled Interpersonal strengths, spirituality, intrapersonal strengths, and intellectual strengths. The factors representing interpersonal, intrapersonal, and intellectual strengths included all VIA scores retained, with the exception of the VIA spirituality score. The optimism LOT-R score loaded on the intrapersonal strengths factor, and the spirituality factor included the VIA spirituality score and scores on intrinsic religiosity, personal devotion, religious practice, and faith maturity scales. Factor correlations indicated that the spirituality factor was moderately associated with the intrapersonal strengths factor (0.26), weakly with the interpersonal strengths factor (0.14), and minimally with the

TABLE 1 Pattern matrix after rotation for the final four-factor solution.

	Interpersonal strengths	Spirituality	Intrapersonal strengths	Intellectual strengths
Prudence	0.72			
Fairness	0.72			
Judgment	0.69			
Self-regulation	0.64			
Forgiveness	0.61			
Humility	0.58			
Honesty	0.58			
Teamwork	0.57			
Personal devotion		0.91		
Intrinsic religiosity		0.89		
Faith maturity		0.87		
VIA spirituality		0.82		
Religious practice		0.73		
Zest			0.74	
Love			0.73	
Leadership			0.72	
Optimism			0.66	
Humor			0.65	
Норе			0.60	
Perspective			0.60	
Curiosity				0.81
Creativity				0.74
Appreciation of				0.62
beauty				
Love of learning				0.61

Loadings less than 0.40 are omitted.

Spirituality Strengths and Well-Being

intellectual strengths factor (0.08). The other three strengths factors showed stronger correlations between them (ranging from 0.36 to 0.42). The emergence of a spirituality factor incorporating the various aspects of spirituality and separated from other character strengths supported the hypothesis that spirituality is a unique, although related, aspect of youth character strengths.

To confirm the four-factor structure described above, we then conducted a series of multi-group confirmatory factor analyses (CFA) that tested configural invariances across boys and girls. Fit for CFA models was assessed using the guidelines suggested by Kenny (2015), and included RMSEA less than or equal to 0.08, CFI approaching 0.90, and decreasing BIC. Given the large sample size, non-significant chi-square values were interpreted cautiously. Results indicated that the above described four-factor model displayed reasonable fit among boys [$\chi^2(246) = 895$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.90, RMSEA = 0.07] and among girls [$\chi^2(246) = 995$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.88, RMSEA = 0.08]. The model for the entire sample was also adequate [$\chi^2(246) = 1597$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.89, RMSEA = 0.07], suggesting that the four-factor structure described in **Table 1** was configurally invariant across genders.¹

To further explore the associations of the spirituality measures and the other character strengths, we conducted a LCA to select the best fitting categorization of participants. This analysis built upon the factor analytic model described above and added a fifth latent categorical variable that predicted means levels on each of the four factors. A series of models with the number of groups varying from 3 to 6 were run. Following Nylund et al. (2007), model fit was assessed by lower BIC, reasonable class size relative to sample size (minimum 20), entropy approaching 0.80, and non-significant VLMR, LRT, and bootstrapping likelihood ratio tests. Although inferential log-likelihood tests suggested that a five-latent class model fit the data best, this model had higher BIC, lower membership probabilities, and extremely small class sizes, suggesting that it was likely over-parameterized. A model with four latent classes provided the best balance between fit and parsimony, as indicated by BIC, entropy, membership probabilities, and class sizes (see Table 2).

Parameters for this model indicate that the four groups can be characterized according to the following participants' scores at Time 1 (see **Figure 1**): Low spirituality and average scores in the other three strengths factors (Class 1); medium spirituality and high-average scores in the other three strengths factors (Class 2); low spirituality, low interpersonal strengths, and high intellectual strengths scores (Class 3); and high spirituality and high intrapersonal strengths scores (Class 4). The vast majority of participants were classified in Class 1 (42%), and Class 2 (44%) and participants in other latent classes were relatively **TABLE 2** | Model fit and summary statistics for LCA models classifying participants according to their scores in the spirituality and the other three character strengths factors.

Number of		Class		Membership			
classes	BIC	sizes	Entropy	probabilities	VLMR	LRT	Bootstrap
3	11674	566–30	0.71	0.57-0.88	38.78	37.50	38.58**
4	11666	471–30	0.75	0.74-0.89	42.73*	41.53*	42.73**
5	11700	560-2	0.80	0.60-0.88	25.31*	24.60*	25.31**
6	11705	468–3	0.80	0.60-0.90	4.48	4.35	4.48

Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin (VLMR), Lo-Mendell-Rubin Adjusted (LRT), and parametric bootstrapped (Bootstrap) likelihood ratio tests inferentially compared a model with k classes to a model with k-1 classes. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.001.

rare (3 and 11%). Of note, LCA analysis did not identify a latent class with participants scoring high on spirituality and low on the other three strengths factors, suggesting that most of the spiritually involved participants also scored high on other character strengths. In fact, the latent class with the highest level of spirituality included participants who scored high on the intrapersonal strengths factor.²

Is Spirituality Stable Over Time?

To examine the extent to which spirituality in adolescence is stable over time, we first assessed the structural stability of the four-factor structure described in **Table 1** by subjecting all variables to a CFA at Time 2 (9 months later) and Time 3 (14 months later). Results indicated that the four-factor structure of spirituality and three other character strengths continued to display reasonable fit at Time 2 [$\chi^2(246) = 20002$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.87, RMSEA = 0.08] and Time 3 [$\chi^2(246) = 908.83$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.89, RMSEA = 0.08].

In order to examine within-participant stability in spirituality over time, we estimated a full SEM model with the five spirituality variables that loaded high on the spirituality factor. In this model, all spirituality variables at each time point are assumed to load on a latent variable of spirituality, and stability was assessed through the standardized coefficient predicting latent spirituality at Time 2 from latent spirituality at Time 1, and latent spirituality at Time 3 from latent spirituality at Time 2. Overall, this model fit the data well [$\chi^2(88) = 1195$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.88, RMSEA = 0.13, SRMR = 0.06]. Temporal stability of spirituality was strong [Time 2: B = 0.95, SE = 0.04, Z = 25.369, p < 0.001; Time 3: B = 0.97, SE = 0.04, Z = 27.96, p < 0.001], with 89% of the variance in latent spirituality at Time 2 explained by spirituality at Time 1, and 90% of the variance at Time 3 explained by Time 2.

We also compared stability estimates for the other three character strengths factors. Spirituality was slightly more stable than interpersonal strengths (Time 2: B = 0.79, SE = 0.05, Z = 16.89, p < 0.001; Time 3: B = 0.74, SE = 0.05, Z = 16.23, p < 0.001), intrapersonal strengths (Time 2: B = 0.89, SE = 0.07, Z = 13.01, p < 0.001; Time 3: B = 0.82, SE = 0.06, Z = 13.98,

¹Measurement invariance between boys and girls was also tested by comparing a nested series of models that constrained additional parameters to be equal across groups. Results indicated that a model restraining loadings to be equal across groups but allowing intercepts to vary fit the data best as indicated by lower BIC and RMSEA values, and higher CFI. To assess if these differences reflect significant differences on the underlying factors, we compared two additional CFA models, one that fixed the intercept for each latent factor to be equal across groups, and one that allowed them to vary. Results indicated that the differences observed between genders were minimal and likely reflected over-fitting [$\Delta \chi^2(4) = 15.74$, p = 0.003, $\Delta CFI = -0.001$, $\Delta RMSEA = 0.001$, $\Delta AIC = 8$, $\Delta BIC = -13$].

²A conditional LCA model that included age and gender as covariates indicated that this model displayed poorer fit to unconditional models (BIC = 19566, entropy = 0.78, class sizes: 2–478) and that neither age (Bs = -0.35 through 0.05, *ps* = 0.75 through 0.98) nor gender (Bs = -0.87 through 0.13, *ps* = 0.40 through 0.98) significantly predicted participants' classification into latent classes.



FIGURE 1 | Differences between four latent classes on mean levels of each underlying continuous latent factor of positive character at Time 1. Scores represent standardized Z scores on the latent variable representing each facet of character.

p < 0.001), and intellectual strengths (Time 2: B = 0.81, SE = 0.05, Z = 16.02, p < 0.001; Time 3: B = 0.82, SE = 0.05, Z = 17.74, p < 0.001). That is, spirituality in adolescence was largely stable over a 1-year period, and perhaps even more stable than other character strengths.

Cross-Sectional Associations Between Spirituality, Subjective Well-Being, and Prosociality

Pearson correlations were computed in order to assess crosssectional associations between spirituality, on the one hand, and positive emotions, life satisfaction, and prosocial behavior, on the another, at each wave of measurement. Regression weights derived from the factor analysis described above were used to calculate a participant's score on the spirituality factor at each wave of measurement. Although there were some differences between the three time points, spirituality was found to correlate significantly but moderately with heightened life satisfaction

TABLE 3 | Means, SDs, and ANOVas statistics of subjective well-being and prosociality at Time 1 according to groups derived from LCA performed on spiritual, intrapersonal, interpersonal, and intellectual character strengths at Time 1.

Class	s 1	Class	s 2	Clas	s 3	Clas	s 4	
М	SD	М	SD	м	SD	м	SD	F
23.57 ^{ab}	6.91	25.37 ^{ab}	6.74	17.78 ^a	6.73	27.65 ^b	5.26	22.49***
17.77 ^{ab}	4.04	18.82 ^{ab}	3.92	16.73 ^a	4.85	20.10 ^b	3.57	13.99***
7.21 ^{ab}	2.02	7.56 ^{ab}	1.94	6.33 ^a	2.02	8.13 ^b	1.91	10.49***
	M 23.57 ^{ab} 17.77 ^{ab}	23.57 ^{ab} 6.91 17.77 ^{ab} 4.04	M SD M 23.57 ^{ab} 6.91 25.37 ^{ab} 17.77 ^{ab} 4.04 18.82 ^{ab}	M SD M SD 23.57 ^{ab} 6.91 25.37 ^{ab} 6.74 17.77 ^{ab} 4.04 18.82 ^{ab} 3.92	M SD M SD M 23.57 ^{ab} 6.91 25.37 ^{ab} 6.74 17.78 ^a 17.77 ^{ab} 4.04 18.82 ^{ab} 3.92 16.73 ^a	M SD M SD M SD 23.57 ^{ab} 6.91 25.37 ^{ab} 6.74 17.78 ^a 6.73 17.77 ^{ab} 4.04 18.82 ^{ab} 3.92 16.73 ^a 4.85	M SD M SD M SD M SD M 23.57 ^{ab} 6.91 25.37 ^{ab} 6.74 17.78 ^a 6.73 27.65 ^b 17.77 ^{ab} 4.04 18.82 ^{ab} 3.92 16.73 ^a 4.85 20.10 ^b	

(0.23, 0.24, and 0.16, all ps < 0.01), positive emotions (0.21 and 0.16, all ps < 0.01)0.23, 0.14, all ps < 0.01), and prosociality (0.11, 0.12, 0.18, all ps < 0.01). We also computed multiple regressions examining the unique contribution of spirituality beyond and above the contribution of the other three high-order character strengths. These analyses indicated that spirituality made a significant unique contribution to prosociality and life satisfaction at each of the three points (β ranging from 0.10 to 0.21, all *ps* < 0.01). However, its significant association with positive emotions was no longer significant after statistically controlling for the other three character strengths (β ranging from 0.01 to 0.05). In this case, the intrapersonal strength factor was the single predictor with a significant unique contribution to positive emotions (β ranging from 0.56 to 0.62, all ps < 0.01). In addition, the four latent categories identified using LCA were compared on mean levels on all positive outcome variables, using ANOVA and posthoc Scheffe tests. Results of this analysis indicated that the high spirituality/high intrapersonal character (Class 4) group generally reported significantly higher levels of positive outcomes, such as life satisfaction, prosociality, and positive emotion, as compared to other groups (see Table 3).

Do Changes in Spirituality Over Time Are Associated With Subjective Well-Being and Prosociality?

To explore the temporal pattern of the relationships of spirituality with subjective well-being and prosociality, we modeled the changes in spirituality across the three waves using a latent growth mixture model. This analysis built upon the factor analytic model of spirituality described above, and modeled individual growth trajectories (intercept and slope) on the latent spirituality factor. For each participant, a latent individualized intercept and slope that best describe their baseline and rate of change were estimated. These individual growth trajectories were regressed on a categorical latent factor representing particular class memberships (LCA analysis). Then, an optimal mean slope and intercept for each class was estimated using maximum likelihood estimation. Model fit was assessed with the same LCA criteria described in the previous section.

Results indicated that a four class latent model fit the data best, as evidenced by low BIC, high membership probabilities, reasonable class sizes, and high entropy. This was confirmed by inferential log-likelihood tests, including bootstrapping (see **Table 4**). Examination of the mean intercept and slope parameters for these groups suggested that they can be characterized as high and increasing spirituality (Class 1, I = 1.55, S = 0.16, 11% of participants), high-average and stable spirituality (Class 3, I = -0.26, S = 0.01, 29%), and low and stable spirituality (Class 4, I = -1.12, S = 0.04, 31%).

TABLE 4 | Model fit and summary statistics for LGMM models assigning group membership on the basis of individual spirituality growth curves.

Number of		Class		Membership			
classes	BIC	Sizes	Entropy	probabilities	VLMR	LRT	Bootstrap
2	3188	279–182	0.87	0.96–0.97	18.05**	727**	766**
3	2913	4224–63	0.88	0.94-0.96	11.63**	278**	293**
4	2751	150-47	0.87	0.90-0.96	17.67*	171*	181**
5	2735	143–4	0.89	0.91-0.95	12.75	33	35 ^t

Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin (VLMR), Lo-Mendell-Rubin Adjusted (LRT), and parametric bootstrapped (Bootstrap) likelihood ratio tests inferentially compared a model with k classes to a model with k-1 classes. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.001. *Bootstrapped draws failed to replicate.

TABLE 5 | Means, SDs, and ANOVAs statistics of subjective well-being and prosociality at the three waves of measurement according to groups derived from individual spirituality growth curves.

	Clas	s 1	Class	s 2	Class	s 3	Class	s 4	
	м	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	F
Time 1									
Life satisfaction	27.96 ^a	5.54	24.30 ^{ab}	6.77	24.50 ^{ab}	6.17	23.14 ^{bc}	6.53	6.31***
Positive emotions	20.13 ^a	3.52	18.22 ^{ab}	3.80	18.25 ^{ab}	4.09	17.50 ^{bc}	3.98	5.04***
Prosociality	7.98 ^a	1.76	7.70 ^a	1.89	7.47 ^a	1.84	7.36 ^a	1.86	1.71
Time 2									
Life satisfaction	27.75 ^a	5.70	24.28 ^{ab}	6.10	24.61 ^{ab}	5.34	21.95 ^{bc}	6.71	11.30***
Positive emotions	20.11ª	3.59	18.66 ^{ab}	3.91	18.27 ^{ab}	3.88	16.75 ^{bc}	4.99	8.72**
Prosociality	8.01 ^a	2.01	7.73 ^{ab}	1.78	7.60 ^{ab}	1.91	7.14 ^{bc}	1.86	3.54*
Time 3									
Life satisfaction	27.27 ^a	6.65	24.52 ^{ab}	5.81	24.41 ^{ab}	5.92	22.53 ^{bc}	6.04	7.54***
Positive emotions	19.38 ^a	4.17	18.11 ^{ab}	4.18	17.72 ^{ab}	4.03	17.16 ^{bc}	4.71	3.25*
Prosociality	8.08 ^a	2.34	7.56 ^{ab}	1.68	7.37 ^{ab}	2.02	6.94 ^{bc}	2.06	4.56***

We then conducted ANOVAs comparing these groups on positive emotions, life satisfaction, and prosociality at each time point. As can be seen in **Table 5**, participants in Class 1 (high and increasing spirituality) reported higher life satisfaction and higher positive emotions at the three times point and higher prosociality at Times 2 and 3 than participants in Class 4 (low and stable spirituality). The high-average and low-average spirituality groups fell somewhere in between. Thus it appears that spirituality is longitudinally related to life satisfaction, positive emotions, and prosociality, and that participants with spiritual growth reported the highest levels of these variables.

DISCUSSION

For over a decade now, scientific inquiry into the domain of spirituality and spiritual development has blossomed. While fraught with conceptual confusion, spirituality has been conceptualized as a core character strength contributing to flourishing and thrive (e.g., Peterson and Seligman, 2004) and spiritual development as an essential aspect of positive human development (e.g., King and Boyatzis, 2015). The current findings clearly showed that spirituality is a specific, distinct area of character strength that longitudinally contributes to positive development during adolescence. Specifically, a latent factor of spirituality was found to represent a unique category of strengths that was empirically separated from other related character strengths and to be longitudinally related to subjective well-being (positive emotions, life satisfaction) and prosociality during the 1-year study period.

The current findings concerning the structural relationship of measures of spirituality and character strengths were in line with Piedmont's (1999) claim that spirituality is an independent dimension of character strengths. Specifically, Israeli adolescents were found to vary along a latent factor of spirituality (including measures of personal devotion, faith maturity, intrinsic religiosity, commitment to religious practices, and VIA-spirituality), which was empirically separated from other three categories of character strengths - interpersonal, intrapersonal, and intellectual. That is, exploratory and CFA yielded a four-factor structure of character strengths in which spirituality represented one of the four foundational categories of strengths. This four-factor structure does not fit the VIA's six virtue categories, into which the 24 strengths are organized. In fact, our findings are quite similar to those of previous adolescent studies of character strengths, which implemented various adapted VIA strength scales (e.g., Toner et al., 2012; Park et al., 2017). Nonetheless, these studies included spiritual characteristics (e.g., "theological strengths" and "transcendence and vitality factors") that were more narrowly operationalized than in our study. Peterson and Seligman (2004) claim that their conceptualization of transcendence as a high-order category of character strengths "seems mixed" (p. 519). They argue that the prototype of this category is spirituality, and the other strengths in this category (appreciation of beauty, gratitude, hope, humor, and spirituality) are expressions of a fundamental belief that there is something greater than one's self. Our analyses clearly indicated

that measures of spirituality (including the VIA spirituality strength) loaded onto a high-order category distinct from other VIA's strengths, whereas the other strengths included in the transcendence category collapsed into other strengths categories (interpersonal, intrapersonal, and intellectual). While related to, there is no evidence suggesting that the strengths of appreciation of beauty, gratitude, hope, and humor are part of a distinct underlying component and foundation of character, as opposed to spirituality that represents a distinct category of strengths.

The emergence of a statistically autonomous spirituality factor incorporating the various aspects of spirituality measured in the current study suggests that spirituality is a distinct aspect of youth character. The implications of this finding to developmental and educational policy should not be underestimated, and educators, parents, and policy makers may need to consider incorporating spirituality into informal and formal education. Further research should more carefully explore the specific content of spirituality in adolescence, to help elucidate the mechanisms of spirituality as a foundation of character, develop theoretical models and intervention strategies, and address the challenges of integrating these concerns into the everyday lives of children and adolescents.

Adolescence has been theorized to be a time of spiritual turmoil by some (e.g., Pearce and Denton, 2011), and of spiritual stability and importance by others (e.g., Templeton and Eccles, 2006; Good et al., 2011), although there is virtually no empirical research to support either argument. Yet, Good et al. (2011), in a rare longitudinal study, found evidence for intraindividual stability in spirituality among 17-18 years-old adolescents over two time points. The current findings replicated and extended Good et al.'s (2011) findings, showing that the latent factor of spirituality we found in our sample of Israeli middle school adolescents remained stable over the three waves of measurement. Moreover, the results indicated that spirituality is slightly more stable than interpersonal, intrapersonal, and intellectual strengths. That is, it appears that spirituality among youth is largely stable over time, as shown in previous studies (Good et al., 2011; Lopez et al., 2011; Pearce and Denton, 2011).

Findings from the LCA indicated that adolescents with relatively high spirituality and high intrapersonal strengths had the highest scores on measures of subjective well-being and prosociality, whereas adolescents characterized by relatively low spirituality, high intellectual strengths, and low interpersonal strengths revealed the poorest level on these measures. This finding lend support to the hypothesis that intellectual strengths are not necessarily related to well-being during adolescence, while strengths of the heart are (e.g., Toner et al., 2012; Shoshani and Slone, 2013). Moreover, fitting previous findings (e.g., Benson et al., 2005; Ciarrocchi and Deneke, 2005; Marques et al., 2013), it seems that high levels of spirituality in adolescence tend to be closely associated with high levels of intrapersonal strengths (e.g., zest, life orientation, humor, hope, perspective) and that a mixture of them are related to heightened well-being and prosociality. Nonetheless, a thorough understanding of the mechanism by which spirituality impacts adolescent well-being is lacking. It may be that spirituality nurtures well-being and prosociality in adolescents by furnishing them with heightened purpose and connection to themselves and the divine, and with

comfort during upset and disappointment (Gillham et al., 2011). Together, these findings suggest that not only is spirituality a core human mechanism, but it can also lend adolescents a life of well-being and social impact.

Findings also indicated that changes in spirituality during the 1-year study period also contributed to explain individual variations in subjective well-being and prosociality at the three waves of measurement. Adolescents with high and increasing spirituality reported the highest life satisfaction, positive emotions, and prosocial behaviors across the three time points, whereas adolescents with low and stable spirituality reported the lowest levels of these measures. These findings suggest that spirituality is longitudinally related to subjective well-being and prosociality, that adolescents who exhibit spiritual growth report the highest levels of these variables, and that positive interventions should especially target adolescents with low levels of spirituality.

The current study is one of few to focus on the interplay of spirituality, character strengths, subjective well-being, and prosociality longitudinally in a national representative sample of adolescents. Nonetheless, this project has its limitations. First of all, the study exclusively relied on self-reports. Future studies could include reports from others, such as from parents or teachers. In addition, the generalizability of the findings is compromised by the fact that the participants are all adolescents raised in Israel, a complex country with a unique set of challenges, chief among which, perhaps, is the deep social divide between the secular and religious populations (e.g., Mayseless and Salomon, 2003). As such, it is an atypical sample that, due to its unique social make-up, may be inherently averse to spirituality, which, in turn, enhances the strength of the findings, given that the sample is largely made up of secular Israelis. Future research should examine the interplay of spirituality, character strength, wellbeing, and prosociality across different backgrounds and cultures.

More complex longitudinal designs that track intraindividual changes from adolescence to adulthood could strengthen the validity of our longitudinal findings and examine more in-depth the long-term contributions of youth spiritual development to subjective well-being and prosocial behavior at different life domains in adulthood. In addition, future studies could examine more systematically whether and how specific dimensions of spirituality (e.g., awareness, connectedness, meaning, awe) are differentially related to specific domains of socio-emotional adjustment. Moreover, these relationships may be highly influenced by culture (e.g., Pirutinsky et al., 2011) and gender (e.g., Desrosiers and Miller, 2007), and future research would benefit from cross-cultural samples and gender comparisons.

The findings have also important implications for the planning and implementation of character education programs that aim to impact children and adolescents' emotional, moral, and intellectual development. Spirituality has largely been absent from the discourse on character education and remains an elusive concept in the eyes of most developmental scientists. However, our findings suggest that any character education program that is devoid of spirituality may be lacking in that it ignores a foundational facet of character. Further research is needed to create a conceptual framework that will facilitate the incorporation of spirituality into character education curricula and discourse. As the popularity of character research and interventions continues to grow, additional inquiries into spirituality should deepen and become incorporated into mainstream developmental and educational sciences.

REFERENCES

- Benson, P. L., Donahue, M. J., and Erickson, J. A. (1993). The faith maturity scale: conceptualization, measurement, and empirical validation. J. Sci. Study Religion 5, 1–26.
- Benson, P. L., Roehlkepartain, E. C., and Rude, S. P. (2003). Spiritual development in childhood and adolescence: toward a field of inquiry. *Appl. Dev. Sci.* 7, 205–213. doi: 10.1207/S1532480XADS0703_12
- Benson, P. L., Roehlkepartain, E. C., and Scales, P. C. (2012a). "Spirituality and positive youth development," in *The Oxford Handbook of Psychology and Spirituality*, ed. L. Miller (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 468–485.
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Syvertsen, A. K., and Roehlkepartain, E. C. (2012b). Is youth spiritual development a universal developmental process? An international exploration. *J. Posit. Psychol.* 7, 453–470. doi: 10.1080/17439760. 2012.732102
- Benson, P. L., and Scales, P. C. (2009). The definition and preliminary measurement of thriving in adolescence. J. Posit. Psychol. 4, 85–104. doi: 10. 1080/17439760802399240
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Sesma, A. Jr., and Roehlkepartain, E. C. (2005). "Adolescent spirituality," in What Do Children Need to Flourish? Conceptualizing and Measuring Indicators of Positive Development, eds K. A. Moore and L. Lippman (New York, NY: Springer), 25–40. doi: 10.1007/0-387-23823-9_3
- Cardemil, E. V., Reivich, K. J., and Seligman, M. E. (2002). The prevention of depressive symptoms in low-income minority middle school students. *Prev. Treat.* 5:8a. doi: 10.1037/1522-3736.5.1.58a
- Ciarrocchi, J. W., and Deneke, E. (2005). Hope, optimism, pessimism, and spirituality as predictors of well-being controlling for personality. *Res. Soc. Sci. Study Religion* 16:161.
- Cohn, M. A., Fredrickson, B. L., Brown, S. L., Mikels, J. A., and Conway, A. M. (2009). Happiness unpacked: positive emotions increase life satisfaction by building resilience. *Emotion* 9, 361–368. doi: 10.1037/a0015952
- Cragun, R. T., Hammer, J. H., and Nielsen, M. (2015). The nonreligiousnonspiritual scale (NRNSS): measuring everyone from atheists to Zionists. *Sci. Religion Cult.* 2, 36–53. doi: 10.17582/journal.src/2015/2.3.36.53
- Crawford, E., Wright, M. O., and Masten, A. S. (2006). "Resilience and spirituality in youth," in *The Handbook of Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, eds E. C. Roehlkepartain, P. E. Ebstyne, L. Wagener, and P. Benson (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 355–370 doi: 10.4135/9781412976657.n25
- Desrosiers, A., and Miller, L. (2007). Relational spirituality and depression in adolescent girls. J. Clin. Psychol. 63, 1021–1037. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20409
- Desrosiers, A., and Miller, L. (2008). Substance use versus anxiety in adolescents: are some disorders more spiritual than others? *J. Sci. Study Religion* 19, 237–254. doi: 10.1163/ej.9789004166462.i-299.89
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., and Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. J. Pers. Assess. 49, 71–75. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13
- Ebesutani, C., Regan, J., Smith, A., Reise, S., Higa-McMillan, C., and Chorpita, B. F. (2012). The 10-item positive and negative affect schedule for children, child and parent shortened versions: application of item response theory for more efficient assessment. J. Psychopathol. Behav. Assess. 34, 191–203. doi: 10.1007/ s10862-011-9273-2-9272
- Emmons, R. A. (1999). The Psychology of Ultimate Concerns: Motivation and Spirituality in Personality. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Fredrickson, B. L., Cohn, M. A., Coffey, C. A., Pek, J., and Finkel, S. M. (2008). Open hearts build lives: positive emotions, induced through meditation, build consequential personal resources. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 95, 1045–1062. doi: 10. 1037/a0013262
- Freire de Medeiros, C. M. M., Arantes, E. P., Tajra, R. D. P., Santiago, H. R., Carvalho, A. F., and Libório, A. B. (2017). Resilience, religiosity and treatment

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AK, SP, MM, AS, and LM have substantial contributions to the conception of the study, the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the research data; and preparing the manuscript for publication.

adherence in hemodialysis patients: a prospective study. *Psychol. Health Med.* 22, 570–577. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2016.1191658

- Gillham, J., Adams-Deutsch, Z., Werner, J., Reivich, K., Coulter-Heindel, V., Linkins, M., et al. (2011). Character strengths predict subjective well-being. *J. Posit. Psychol.* 6, 31–44. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2010.536773
- Gillham, J., and Reivich, K. (2004). Cultivating optimism in childhood and adolescence. Ann. Am. Acad. Polit. Soc. Sci. 591, 146–163. doi: 10.1177/ 0002716203260095
- Gillham, J. E., Reivich, K. J., Freres, D. R., Chaplin, T. M., Shatté, A. J., Samuels, B., et al. (2007). School-based prevention of depressive symptoms: a randomized controlled study of the effectiveness and specificity of the penn resiliency program. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 75, 9–19. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X. 75.1.9
- Good, M., and Willoughby, T. (2008). Adolescence as a sensitive period for spiritual development. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 2, 32–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2008. 00038.x
- Good, M., Willoughby, T., and Busseri, M. A. (2011). Stability and change in adolescent spirituality/religiosity: a person-centered approach. *Dev. Psychol.* 47, 538–550. doi: 10.1037/a0021270
- Goodman, R., Meltzer, H., and Bailey, V. (1998). The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a pilot study on the validity of the self-report version. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 7, 125–130. doi: 10.1007/s007870050057
- Hall, T. W., Edwards, E., and Wang, D. C. (2016). The spiritual development of emerging adults over the college years: a 4-year longitudinal investigation. *Psychol. Religion Spiritual.* 8, 206–217. doi: 10.1037/rel0000051
- Hardy, S. A., and Carlo, G. (2005). Religiosity and prosocial behaviors in adolescence: the mediating role of prosocial values. *J. Moral Educ.* 34, 231–249. doi: 10.1080/03057240500127210
- Hill, P. C., and Pargament, K. I. (2003). Advances in the conceptualization and measurement of religion and spirituality: implications for physical and mental health research. Am. Psychol. 58, 64–74. doi: 10.1037/1941-1022.S.1.3
- Holder, M. D., Coleman, B., and Wallace, J. M. (2010). Spirituality, religiousness, and happiness in children aged 8-12 years. J. Happiness Stud. 11, 131-150. doi: 10.1007/s10902-008-9126-1

James, W. (1982). The Varieties of Religious Experience. London: Penguin Books.

- Johnson, B. R. (2008). "A tale of two religious effects: evidence for the protective and prosocial impact of organic religion," in *Authoritative Communities*, ed. K. K. Kline (New York, NY: Springer), 187–225. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-727 21-9_9
- Kapuscinski, A. N., and Masters, K. S. (2010). The current status of measures of spirituality: a critical review of scale development. *Psychol. Religion Spiritual*. 2, 191–205. doi: 10.1037/a0020498
- Kelley, B. S., and Miller, L. (2007). Life satisfaction and spirituality in adolescents. J. Sci. Study Religion 18, 233–261. doi: 10.1163/ej.9789004158511.i-301.91
- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., and Prescott, C. A. (1997). Religion, psychopathology, and substance use and abuse: a multi-measure, geneticepidemiologic study. Am. J. Psychiatry 154, 322–329. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.3.322 Kenny, D. (2015). SEM: Fit. Available at: http://davidakenny.net/cm/fit.htm
- Kim, S., Miles-Mason, E., Kim, C. Y., and Esquivel, G. B. (2013). Religiosity/spirituality and life satisfaction in Korean American adolescents. *Psychol. Religion Spiritual.* 5, 33–40. doi: 10.1037/a003 0628
- King, P. E., and Benson, P. L. (2006). "Spiritual development and adolescent wellbeing and thriving," in *The Handbook of Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, eds E. C. Roehlkepartain, P. E. King, P. L. M. Wagener, and P. L. Benson (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage) 364–398.
- King, P. E., and Boyatzis, C. J. (2015). "Religious and spiritual development," in Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science, Vol. 3, ed. R. M. Lerner (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley), 1–48.

- King, P. E., and Furrow, J. L. (2004). Religion as a resource for positive youth development: religion, social capital, and moral outcomes. *Dev. Psychol.* 40, 703–713. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.40.5.703
- King, P. E., and Roeser, R.W. (2009). "Religion and spirituality in adolescent development," in *Handbook of Adolescent Psychology: Individual Bases of Adolescent Development*, Vol. 1, 3rd Edn, eds R. M. Lerner and L. Steinberg (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley), 435–478.
- Kloos, B., and Moore, T. (2000). Introduction to special issue on spirituality, religion, and community psychology. J. Community Psychol. 28, 115–118. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1520-6629(200003)28:2<115::AID-JCOP1>3.0.CO;2-C
- Koenig, H. G., McCullough, M. E., and Larson, D. B. (2001). Handbook of Religion and Health. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/acprof: oso/9780195118667.001.0001
- Koenig, H. G., Parkerson, G. R. Jr., and Meador, K. G. (1997). Religion Index for Psychiatric Research. Available at: http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1997-04662-033
- Lerner, R. M., Roeser, R. W., and Phelps, E. (eds). (2008). Positive Youth Development and Spirituality. West Conshohocken, PA: Templeton Foundation Press.
- Lopez, A. B., Huynh, V. W., and Fuligni, A. J. (2011). A longitudinal study of religious identity and participation during adolescence. *Child Dev.* 82, 1297– 1309. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01609.x
- Mansbach-Kleinfeld, I., Apter, A., Farbstein, I., Levine, S. Z., and Poznizovsky, A. M. (2010). A population-based psychometric validation study of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire – hebrew version. *Front. Psychiatry* 1:151. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2010.00151
- Marques, S. C., Lopez, S. J., and Mitchell, J. (2013). The role of hope, spirituality and religious practice in adolescents' life satisfaction: longitudinal findings. J. Happiness Stud. 14, 251–261. doi: 10.1007/s10902-012-9329-3
- Mayseless, O., and Salomon, G. (2003). "Dialectic contratictions in eh experiences of Israeli Jewish adolescents," in *International Perspectives on Adolescence*, eds F. Pajares and T. Urdan (Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishing).
- Miller, L. (2009). The classroom as a spiritual space. Teach. Coll. Rec. 111, 2705-2786.
- Miller, L., and Kelley, B. (2006). "Spiritually oriented psychotherapy with youth: a child-centered approach," in *The Handbook of Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, eds E. C. Roehlkepartain, P. E. King, L. M. Wagener, and P. L. Benson (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 421–434. doi: 10.4135/ 9781412976657.n29
- Mofidi, M., DeVellis, R. F., DeVellis, B. M., Blazer, D. G., Panter, A. T., and Jordan, J. M. (2007). The relationship between spirituality and depressive symptoms: testing psychosocial mechanisms. *J. Nerv. Ment. Dis.* 195, 681–688. doi: 10. 1097/NMD.0b013e31811f4038
- Nylund, K. L., Asparouhov, T., and Muthén, B. O. (2007). Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: a Monte Carlo simulation study. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 14, 535–569. doi: 10.1080/ 10705510701575396
- O'Connor, B. P. (2000). SPSS and SAS programs for determining the number of components using parallel analysis and Velicer's MAP test. *Behav. Res. Methods Instrum. Comput.* 32, 396–402. doi: 10.3758/BF03200807
- Pargament, K., Mahoney, A., Exline, J. J., Jones, J. W., and Shafranske, E. (2013). "Envisioning an integrative paradigm for the psychology of religion and spirituality," in APA Handbook of Psychology, Religion, and Spirituality: Context, Theory, and Research, Vol. 1, eds K. I. Pargament, J. J. Exline, and J. W. Jones (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 3–19.
- Park, C. L. (2005). Religion as a meaning-making framework in coping with life stress. J. Soc. Issues 61, 707–729. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4560.2005.00428.x
- Park, D., Tsukayama, E., Goodwin, G. P., Patrick, S., and Duckworth, A. L. (2017). A tripartite taxonomy of character: evidence for intrapersonal, interpersonal, and intellectual competencies in children. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 48, 16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2016.08.001
- Park, N. (2004). Character strengths and positive youth development. Ann. Am. Acad. Pol. Soc. Sci. 591, 40–54. doi: 10.1177/000271620326 0079
- Park, N., and Peterson, C. (2005). "The values in action inventory of character strengths for youth," in What Do Children Need to Flourish? Conceptualizing and Measuring Indicators of Positive Development, K. A. Moore and L. Lippman (New York, NY: Springer), 13–24.

- Park, N., and Peterson, C. (2006). Moral competence and character strengths among adolescents: the development and validation of the values in action inventory of strengths for youth. J. Adolesc. 29, 891–909. doi: 10.1016/j. adolescence.2006.04.011
- Park, N., Peterson, C., and Seligman, M. E. P. (2006). Character strengths in fiftyfour nations and the fifty US states. J. Posit. Psychol. 1, 118–129. doi: 10.1080/ 17439760600619567
- Pavot, W., and Diener, E. (2008). The satisfaction with life scale and the emerging construct of life satisfaction. J. Posit. Psychol. 3, 137–152. doi: 10.1080/ 17439760701756946
- Pearce, L. D., and Denton, M. L. (2011). A Faith of Their Own: Stability and Change in the Religiosity of America's Adolescents. New York, NY: Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/acprof.oso/9780199753895.001.0001
- Peterson, C., and Seligman, M. E. P. (2004). Character Strengths and Virtues: A Classification Manual and Handbook. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Piedmont, R. L. (1999). Does spirituality represent the sixth factor of personality? Spiritual transcendence and the five factor model. J. Pers. 67, 985–1013. doi: 10.1111/1467-6494.00080
- Piedmont, R. L., Ciarrochi, J. W., Dy-Liacco, G. S., and Williams, J. E. (2009). The empirical and conceptual value of the spiritual transcendence and religious involvement scales for personality research. *Psychol. Religion Spiritual.* 1, 162– 179. doi: 10.1080/10508610903418053
- Pirutinsky, S., Rosmarin, D. H., Holt, C. L., Feldman, R. H., Caplan, L. S., Midlarsky, E., et al. (2011). Does social support mediate the moderating effect of intrinsic religiosity on the relationship between physical health and depressive symptoms among Jews? J. Behav. Med. 34, 489–496. doi: 10.1007/s10865-011-9325-9
- Rican, P., and Janosova, P. (2010). Spirituality as a basic aspect of personality: a cross-cultural verification of Piedmont's model. *Int. J. Psychol. Religion* 20, 2–13. doi: 10.1080/10508610903418053
- Roehlkepartain, E. C., King, P. E., Wagener, L. M., and Benson, P. L. (eds). (2006). The Handbook of Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ruch, W., Weber, M., and Park, N. (2013). Character strengths in children and adolescents: reliability and initial validity of the German values in action inventory of strengths for youth (German VIA-Youth). *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 30, 57–64. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759/a000169
- Saroglou, V., Buxant, C., and Tilquin, J. (2008). Positive emotions as leading to religion and spirituality. J. Posit. Psychol. 3, 165–173. doi: 10.1080/ 17439760801998737
- Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., and Bridges, M. W. (1994). Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self- effects of protracted conflict and political life events exposure among adolescents in mastery, and self-esteem): a reevaluation of the life orientation test. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 67, 1063–1078. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.67.6.1063
- Seligman, M. E., Steen, T. A., Park, N., and Peterson, C. (2005). Positive psychology progress: empirical validation of interventions. Am. Psychol. 60, 410–421. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.60.5.410
- Shoshani, A., and Aviv, I. (2012). The pillars of strength for first-grade adjustment– Parental and children's character strengths and the transition to elementary school. J. Posit. Psychol. 7, 315–326. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2012.691981
- Shoshani, A., and Russo-Netzer, P. (2017). Exploring and assessing meaning in life in elementary school children: development and validation of the meaning in life in children questionnaire (MIL-CQ). *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 104, 460–465. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.09.014
- Shoshani, A., and Shwartz, L. (2018). From character strengths to children's wellbeing: development and validation of the character strengths inventory for elementary school children. *Front. Psychol.* 9:2123. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018. 02123/full
- Shoshani, A., and Slone, M. (2013). Middle school transition from the strengths perspective: young adolescents' character strengths, subjective well-being, and school adjustment. J. Happiness Stud. 14, 1163–1181. doi: 10.1007/s10902-012-9374-y
- Shoshani, A., and Slone, M. (2016). The resilience function of character strengths in the face of war and protracted conflict. *Front. Psychol.* 6:2006 doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2015.02006
- Shoshani, A., Steinmetz, S., and Kanat-Maymon, Y. (2016). Effects of the Maytiv positive psychology school program on early adolescents'

well-being, engagement, and achievement. J. Sch. Psychol. 57, 73-92. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2016.05.003

- Sinha, J. W., Cnaan, R. A., and Gelles, R. J. (2007). Adolescent risk behaviors and religion: findings from a national study. J. Adolesc. 30, 231–249. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2006.02.005
- Smith, B. W., Ortiz, J. A., Wiggins, K. T., Bernard, J. F., and Dalen, J. (2012). "Spirituality, resilience, and positive emotions," in Oxford Library of Psychology: The Oxford Handbook of Psychology and Spirituality, ed. L. J. Miller (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 437–454.
- Steca, P., Monzani, D., Greco, A., Chiesi, F., and Primi, C. (2015). Item response theory analysis of the life orientation test-revised: age and gender differential item functioning analyses. *Assessment* 22, 341–350. doi: 10.1177/ 1073191114544471
- Tarakeshwar, N., Swank, A. B., Pargament, K. I., and Mahoney, A. (2001). The sanctification of nature and theological conservatism: a study of opposing religious correlates of environmentalism. *Rev. Religious Res.* 42, 387–404. doi: 10.2307/3512131
- Templeton, J. L., and Eccles, J. S. (2006). "The relation between spiritual development and identity processes," in *The Handbook of Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, eds E. C. Roehlkepartain, P. E. King, L. Wagener, and P. L. Benson (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 252–265. doi: 10.4135/ 9781412976657.n18
- Toner, E., Haslam, N., Robinson, J., and Williams, P. (2012). Character strengths and wellbeing in adolescence: structure and correlates of the values in action inventory of strengths for children. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 52, 637–642. doi: 10. 1016/j.paid.2011.12.014

- Van Cappellen, P., and Rimé, B. (2014). "Positive emotions and selftranscendence," in *Religion, Personality, and Social Behavior*, ed. V. Saroglou (New York, NY: Psychology Press).
- Weber, M., Ruch, W., Littman-Ovadia, H., Lavy, S., and Gai, O. (2013). Relationships among higher-order strengths factors, subjective well-being, and general self-efficacy – the case of Israeli adolescents. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 55, 322–327. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2013. 03.006
- Zinnbauer, B. J., and Pargament, K. I. (1998). Spiritual conversion: a study of religious change among college students. J. Sci. Study Religion 37, 161–180. doi: 10.2307/1388035
- Zinnbauer, B. J., and Pargament, K. I. (2005). "Religiousness and spirituality," in *The Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, eds R. F. Paloutzian and C. L. Park (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 121–142.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kor, Pirutinsky, Mikulincer, Shoshani and Miller. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Predicting Adolescent Depression: The Interrelated Roles of Self-Esteem and Interpersonal Stressors

Caterina Fiorilli^{1*}, Teresa Grimaldi Capitello², Daniela Barni¹, Ilaria Buonomo^{1,3} and Simonetta Gentile²

¹ Dipartimento di Scienze Umane, Libera Università Maria SS. Assunta di Roma, Rome, Italy, ² Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy, ³ Consorzio Universitario Humanitas, Rome, Italy

Depression in adolescents can lead to social and educational impairment and is a major risk factor for suicide and substance misuse. Thus, predicting and preventing this disorder are extremely important. The current study aimed to analyze the contribution of adolescents' self-esteem (i.e., quality of interpersonal relationships, control of life events, and management of negative emotions) and interpersonal stressor sources (relationships with parents, teachers, classmates and friends) in predicting several depression manifestations (i.e., depressed mood, sense of inadequacy, and insecurity). Participants were 182 Italian pre-adolescents and adolescents, aged 10-14 years, were recruited from three Italian schools. They were asked to complete a self-report questionnaire. Results showed that self-esteem was a major factor to be considered in adolescents' depression. In particular, adolescents' perception of negative emotion management was the most important protective factor against depression manifestations. Conversely, sources of interpersonal stressors contributed only marginally to depression. Among these, problems with parents and friends increased adolescents' depressed mood, while troubles with classmates impacted on their sense of inadequacy and insecurity. Implications of these results for positive practices which could enhance adolescents' self-esteem and further expansions of the study are discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Nicolás Sánchez-Álvarez, Universidad de Deusto, Spain Martina Smorti, University of Pisa, Italy

> *Correspondence: Caterina Fiorilli fiorilli@lumsa.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 October 2018 Accepted: 28 February 2019 Published: 15 March 2019

Citation:

Fiorilli C, Grimaldi Capitello T, Barni D, Buonomo I and Gentile S (2019) Predicting Adolescent Depression: The Interrelated Roles of Self-Esteem and Interpersonal Stressors. Front. Psychol. 10:565. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00565 Keywords: adolescents, depression, self-esteem, interpersonal relationship, stressor sources

INTRODUCTION

Adolescents are at higher risk to develop depression than younger children (Costello et al., 2011). Depression incidence, notably in girls, rises sharply after puberty and is often associated with morbidity and suicide risk (Rhew et al., 2010; Salk et al., 2016). Moreover, depression has detrimental effects on adolescents' social and academic functioning (Verboom et al., 2014). In their meta-analysis on the prevention of depression in children and adolescents, Horowitz and Garber (2006) highlighted the important role played by implementing mastery learning and behavioral management programs to prevent depression in school-age children.

Preventive actions addressing self-esteem may have a key role to play in reducing these risks. Self-esteem is the affective component of self-concept, as it concerns people's global appraisal of their positive or negative value, depending on how they estimate their value in different life domains (Harter, 1999). High self-esteem is related to several well-being conditions, such as high happiness

and life satisfaction (Duffy et al., 2014), as well as low anxiety, depression, and loneliness (Cacioppo et al., 2009). More specifically, adolescents with low self-esteem are at higher risk for depression. Low levels of self-esteem have been found to predict depressive symptoms in a time-frame ranging from 3 months to 10–15 years later on (Trzesniewski et al., 2006). Interestingly, Orth et al. (2008), in two samples of early and late adolescents, showed that self-esteem predicted depression after 6 years, while depression did not predict subsequent levels of self-esteem.

During adolescence, interpersonal relationships with parents, teachers, and friends may help and support their development. The ability to feel close to and accepted by parents (Mattanah et al., 2011; Lundervold et al., 2013), teachers, and peers (Birkeland et al., 2014) is strongly related to self-esteem. The significant impact of interpersonal relationships on adolescents' self-esteem may be due to several factors, including the increasing ability to form meaningful psychological relationships with others and the possibility to learn about oneself and one's own functioning in specific contexts (Nasir and Munaf, 2010; Compare et al., 2013; Buonomo et al., 2017). At the same time, research has shown that relationships can also be a common source of stress in adolescence (Compas et al., 2017). As relationships become more salient, they may generate negative events which, in turn, may be more predictive of a general maladjustment (Hankin et al., 2007). Effectively, interpersonal domains serve as sources of psychosocial stress in adolescence social network stress relationships outside the family increase the possibility of loss, rejection, and conflict. Recently, Rueger et al. (2016) in their systematic metaanalysis of the literature covering relations between social support and depression have shown that family support followed by school support. More specifically, social support may play a stress-buffering effect on children with highstress conditions.

The association between stress, self-esteem, and depression is easily predictable when considering, on the one hand, the effects of self-esteem on adjustment and well-being and on the other hand, the detrimental association between self-esteem and interpersonal stressors (Babore et al., 2016). Indeed, when individuals perceive their interpersonal relationships as sources of stress, they experience life events as unpredictable or overwhelming (Rudolph, 2002). Moreover, some studies have shown that parents, teachers, classmates, and friends may significantly stress adolescents out, heightening the risk of developing depressive symptoms (Hutcherson and Epkins, 2009). However, to the best of our knowledge, no studies have addressed the relative contribution of individual factors in this context. Addressing the specific role of these variables could help identify protective factors to assist practitioners and educators in their task.

The main limitation of previous studies was the lack of focus on the interrelated roles of self-esteem and sources of interpersonal stressors in adolescent depression. We addressed two main exploratory questions: "How much can adolescents' self-esteem and interpersonal stressors explain their depressive symptoms?" and "Which aspects of self-esteem and which interpersonal stress sources are the most important predictors of adolescents' depressive symptoms?"

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The study included 182 Italian pre-adolescents and adolescents (92 girls, 50.55%, and 90 boys, 49.45%), aged 10–14 years (M = 12.7, SD = 0.875), with no psychological diagnosis. Participants were recruited from three schools located in Rome, Italy. They, as well as their parents, were informed in advance about the main objectives of the research and that participation was free and voluntary. Children whose parents consented to their participation filled in a self-report and anonymous questionnaire in their classrooms during school hours. This study was approved by the Scientific Board of the LUMSA University.

Measures

Depression

The Self-Administered Psychiatric Scales for Children and Adolescents-Depressive Scale (SAFA-D; Cianchetti and Fancello, 2001) was used for a total of 21 items with a total score ranging from 21 to 144. Respondents were asked to answer using a three-point Likert scale (1 = true to 3 = false). In the current study, we used the following scales: Depressed mood composed by seven items (α = 0.89), Sense of inadequacy composed by seven items (α = 0.78), and Insecurity composed by seven items (α = 0.82).

Self-Esteem

Three subscales of the Multidimensional Self-Concept Scale (MSCS, Bracken, 1992; It. ad. Mazzeo, 2003) were used and respondents were asked to answer using a four-point Likert scale (1 = strongly agree to 4 = strongly disagree). MSCS was composed by 75 items with a total score ranging from 75 to 300. In the current study, we used the following scales: Interpersonal Relationships composed by 25 items ($\alpha = 0.85$), Control of life events composed by 25 items ($\alpha = 0.78$), and Management of negative emotions composed by 25 items ($\alpha = 0.78$).

Sources of Interpersonal Stressors

Adolescents were asked to answer using a four-point Likert scale (1 = strongly agree to 4 = strongly disagree) to what extent parents, classmates, teachers, and friends outside the class were the source of their problems.

Data Analysis

Preliminarily, we described the study variables in terms of means and standard deviations and measured their associations using Pearson correlations. Second, we conducted three separate multiple linear regressions (MRs), with depressed mood, sense of inadequacy, and insecurity as criterion variables. We estimated the overall R^2 and determined the statistical significance of individual regression coefficients which indicate the extent to which the criterion variable would change based on a given increase in one predictor while the other predictors remained constant. However, when predictors are correlated –

as likely in the case of the multidimensional predictors (e.g., self-esteem) – regression coefficients could be inadequate reflections of predictor importance, because all the predictors may interact with each other and simultaneously weight the criterion variable (Barni, 2015). We therefore combined MR with relative weight analysis (RWA), which uses a variable transformation approach to address the issue of correlated predictors. RWA focuses on the proportionate contribution each predictor makes to R^2 , considering both its unique relation with the criterion and its relation when combined with other predictors (i.e., relative contribution) (Johnson, 2000).

RESULTS

Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics of the study variables and the Pearson correlation coefficients, many of which were statistically significant. Specifically, self-esteem dimensions (i.e., interpersonal relationships, control of life events, and management of negative emotions) show the highest correlation values with depression (Pearson coefficients ranging from -0.65to -0.76, p < 0.01). At the same time, sources of interpersonal stress (i.e., parents, teachers, classmates, friends) show significant, but lower correlation values (Pearson coefficients ranging from -0.15 to -0.27, p < 0.01). The multiple regression models were significantly predictive of depressed mood, sense of inadequacy, and insecurity (Table 2). Inspection of β weights revealed that self-esteem was the strongest predictor of adolescent depression. More precisely, the higher the scores were on interpersonal relationships and management of negative emotions, lower was the risk of feeling depressed, inadequate, and insecure. Additionally, the stronger the perception of control over events was, lower was the sense of inadequacy.

Among the sources of interpersonal stressors, problems with parents were a risk factor for adolescents' depressed mood and insecurity, problems with classmates for sense of inadequacy and insecurity, and problems with friends for depressed mood and sense of inadequacy. Negative relationship with teachers, however, did not help predict any adolescent depression dimension. Girls showed higher levels of depressed mood, sense of inadequacy, and insecurity than boys did, with the largest gender difference found in insecurity. Conversely, adolescents' age was not related to the criterion variables.

The analysis through RWA of the relative contributions of each predictor in explaining adolescent depression largely confirmed the importance of self-esteem in accordance with the regression results (Table 2). Adolescents' ability to manage negative emotions was the most important predictor in the context of other predictors, followed by interpersonal relationships. Interestingly, RWA evaluated the contribution of adolescents' ability to control life events in predicting depression: it accounted for 16.7% of depressed mood variance, for 27.1% of inadequacy variance, and for 21.2% of insecurity variance. Probably because of the high correlation between this variable and interpersonal relationships (r = 0.70, p < 0.01) and management of negative emotions (r = 0.76, p < 0.01), the regression coefficients seemed to indicate that control of life events did not contribute significantly to depressed mood and insecurity.

According to RWA results, the three sources of interpersonal stressors contributed only marginally to depression. Among these predictors, problems with classmates were the most important predictors of insecurity (5.9% of the explained variance) and sense of inadequacy (2.0% of the explained variance); problems with friends were the most important in the case of depressed mood (4.6% of the explained variance).

DISCUSSION

The aim of the current study was to analyze the importance of self-esteem and interpersonal stressor sources in predicting different adolescent depression manifestations. Overall, our results showed that self-esteem and sources of interpersonal stressors play a large role in the development of depressed mood as well as sense of inadequacy and insecurity in adolescents.

TABLE 1 | Means (M), standard deviations (SD), and Pearson correlation coefficients (N = 182).

Variables	M(SD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Age	12.07 (0.84)	_									
Self-esteem											
2. Interpersonal relationships	73.35 (11.17)	0.02	-								
3. Control of life events	73.71 (9.64)	-0.04	0.70**	-							
4. Management of neg. emotion	71.21 (12.74)	0.07	0.72**	0.76**	-						
Sources of interper. stressors											
5. Parents	2.09 (0.97)	0.09	-0.23**	-0.21**	-0.25**	-					
6. Teachers	2.16(0.87)	0.04	-0.10	-0.18*	-0.17*	0.22**	-				
7. Classmates	1.83 (0.87)	-0.06	-0.25**	-0.15*	-0.18*	0.08	0.14	-			
8. Friends	1.85 (0.89)	0.08	-0.07	-0.04	-0.07	0.12	0.01	0.24**	-		
Depression											
9. Depressed mood	3.24 (3.47)	-0.07	-0.65**	-0.56**	-0.75**	0.22**	0.09	0.15*	0.20**	-	
10. Sense of inadequacy	3.03 (3.63)	-0.01	-0.71**	-0.69**	-0.76**	0.15*	0.08	0.21**	0.12	0.75**	_
11. Insecurity	6.68 (3.58)	-0.01	-0.62**	-0.59**	-0.69**	0.21**	0.10	0.28**	0.17*	0.64**	0.66*

Note. **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

Predictors			Depres	Depressed mood				Sense o	Sense of inadequacy				Inse	Insecurity	
Ι		Ž	MR	RV	RWA	MR			RWA		MR			RWA	
	β	t	٩	Raw importance	Rescaled importance (%)	શ્ર	t	٩	Raw importance	Rescaled importance (%)	æ	+	٩	Raw importance	Rescaled importance (%)
Gender	0.22	3.07	0.002	0.02	3.5	0.21	2.88	0.004	0.02	2.8	0.34	4.74	0.000	0.07	11.4
Age	-0.05	-0.62	0.534	0.00	0.6	0.02	0.29	0.768	0.00	0.1	0.03	0.49	0.624	0.00	0.2
Self-esteem															
Interpersonal relationships	-0.28	-3.83	0.000	0.18	28.0	-0.29	-4.18	0.000	0.20	30.5	-0.22	-2.87	0.006	0.14	24.6
Control of life events	0.10	1.33	0.186	0.10	16.7	-0.19	-2.50	0.013	0.18	27.1	-0.12	-1.46	0.144	0.12	21.2
Management of neg. emotion	-0.62	-7.45	0.000	0.27	43.0	-0.40	-5.11	0.000	0.23	35.3	-0.36	-4.13	0.000	0.18	31.7
Sources of interp. stressors															
Parents	0.18	2.53	0.012	0.02	2.4	0.11	1.52	0.131	0.01	0.9	0.16	2.25	0.026	0.01	2.1
Teachers	0.04	0.60	0.551	0.00	0.4	0.04	0.52	0.604	0.00	0.3	0.04	0.59	0.555	0.00	0.4
Classmates	0.07	1.00	0.321	0.01	0.8	0.17	2.26	0.025	0.01	2.0	0.23	3.23	0.001	0.03	5.9
Friends	0.16	2.17	0.031	0.03	4.6	0.05	0.69	0.488	0.01	1.0	0.08	1.14	0.255	0.02	2.5
R^{2}				0.63	100				0.66	100				0.57	100
F(9,181)	31.01**					36.53**					25.50**				

TABLE 2 | The importance of adolescents' self-esteem and sources of interpersonal stressors in predicting depression: multiple regression analysis (MR) and relative weight analysis (RWA) results.

Fiorilli et al.

The strongest predictor of adolescent depression was self-esteem (i.e., perception regarding interpersonal relationships, negative emotions management, and control over life events). We found that, of all the predictors, the perception of negative emotion management was the most important protective factor against depressed mood, inadequacy, and insecurity. Adolescents with low self-esteem feel incompetent and worthless; they then try to manage the negative emotions arising from these beliefs but in a dysfunctional way, thus becoming even more stressed (Eisenbarth, 2012). Coherently, high levels of conflicts, like anger and rejections, contribute significantly to the persistence of depressive symptoms (Vulić-Prtorić and Macuka, 2006). With regard to interpersonal relationships, the four sources of stress we analyzed (i.e., parents, teachers, classmates, and friends) contributed only marginally to depression.

Among these, problems with classmates, friends, and parents impacted on depression, similarly to the findings of previous studies (Ng et al., 2007). Previous findings indeed showed that young adolescents are at higher risk when they feel high criticism and rejection by peers (i.e., friends and classmates) (Passiatore et al., 2017). Moreover, parental warmth and emotional support may be an important factor in protection against depression in children and adolescents (Capitello et al., 2016). According to Wang and Sheikh-Khalil (2014), some forms of parental involvement in their children's lives may positively affect their general self-esteem (e.g., supportive parent– adolescent communication at home), which, in turn, may protect adolescents against depressive symptoms (Flouri and Buchanan, 2003; Bean et al., 2006).

Even so, our results showed that parents and friends contribute to depressed mood, while classmates influence adolescents' sense of inadequacy and insecurity. While several studies showed that non-supportive, negative relationships with parents and close friends heighten depressive risks (La Greca and Harrison, 2005; Wang and Sheikh-Khalil, 2014), the impact of classmates on insecurity was studied less. Prinstein and La Greca (2002) showed that adolescents affiliated with a low-status group at school are more insecure as regards their behavior, appearance, and social and athletic abilities than peers affiliated with more popular and accepted groups.

Conversely, it emerged from our study that problems with teachers did not explain the dimension of adolescent depression. This result, however, requires deeper analysis in additional studies in view of the well-known relevance for adolescents' well-being of the school-life context and relationships with its actors (Fiorilli et al., 2017a,b).

Finally, our results confirmed that an adolescents' gender is associated with depression symptoms as reported in previous studies (Girgus and Yang, 2015).

REFERENCES

- Babore, A., Trumello, C., Candelori, C., Paciello, M., and Cerniglia, L. (2016). Depressive symptoms, self-esteem and perceived parent–child relationship in early adolescence. *Front. Psychol.* 7:982. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00982
- Barni, D. (2015). Relative importance analysis for the study of the family: Accepting the challenge of correlated predictors. *Test. Psychom. Methodol. Appl. Psychol.* 22, 235–250.

Several questions emerging from our findings need further research in order to overcome the caveats of our study. First, collection of data concerning adolescents' academic achievements may support analysis regarding adolescents' adjustment in the school context and may also show their impact on the adolescents' reputation within the family context (Moreira et al., 2015). Second, multi-informant methods would be particularly helpful and supportive in studies which focus on interpersonal relationships. Third, multiple measures should be considered for the future, with specific attention to the sources of stress.

Furthermore, due to the cross-sectional research method, the effective developmental pathways among studies variables remain unexplored. Finally, with regard to the gender differences which emerged from the current study, an interesting perspective is presented by other studies which suggest that gender differences in self-report measures are due to the high level of awareness of females compared to their male peers.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets for this manuscript are not publicly available because of local legal and privacy restrictions (Italian Data Protection Code – Legislative Decree no. 196/2003). All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The authors assert that all procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of the relevant national and institutional committees on human experimentation. All participants gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the Scientific Board of LUMSA University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CF designed and carried out the study and contributed to the analysis of the results and to the writing of the manuscript. TGC designed and carried out the study, collected data, and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. DB contributed to the analysis of the results and to the writing of the manuscript. IB collected data and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. SG supervised the study design and the manuscript draft.

- Bean, R. A., Barber, B. K., and Crane, D. R. (2006). Parental support, behavioral control, and psychological control among African American youth: the relationships to academic grades, delinquency, and depression. *J. Fam. Issues* 27, 1335–1355. doi: 10.1177/0192513X06289649
- Birkeland, M. S., Breivik, K., and Wold, B. (2014). Peer acceptance protects global self-esteem from negative effects of low closeness to parents during adolescence and early adulthood. J. Youth Adolesc. 43, 70–80. doi: 10.1007/s10964-013-9929-1

Bracken, B. A. (1992). Multidimensional Self Concept Scale. Austin: Tex. Pro-ed.

- Buonomo, I., Fiorilli, C., Geraci, M. A., and Pepe, A. (2017). Temperament and social-emotional difficulties: the dark side of learning disabilities. J. Genet. Psychol. 178, 193–206. doi: 10.1080/00221325.2017.1304890
- Cacioppo, J. T., Fowler, J. H., and Christakis, N. A. (2009). Alone in the crowd: the structure and spread of loneliness in a large social network. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 97, 977–991. doi: 10.1037/a0016076
- Capitello, T. G., Fiorilli, C., Placidi, S., Vallone, R., Drago, F., and Gentile, S. (2016).
 What factors influence parents' perception of the quality of life of children and adolescents with neurocardiogenic syncope? *Health Qual. Life Outcomes* 14:79. doi: 10.1186/s12955-016-0476-9
- Cianchetti, C., and Fancello, G. (2001). Scale Psichiatriche di Auto-Somministrazione per Fanciulli e Adolescenti. Florence: Organizzazioni Speciali.
- Compare, A., Zarbo, C., Manzoni, G. M., Castelnuovo, G., Baldassari, E., Bonardi, A., et al. (2013). Social support, depression, and heart disease: a ten year literature review. *Front. Psychol.* 4:384. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00384
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., et al. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: a meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychol. Bull.* 143:939. doi: 10.1037/bul0000110
- Costello, E. J., Copeland, W., and Angold, A. (2011). Trends in psychopathology across the adolescent years: what changes when children become adolescents, and when adolescents become adults? *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 52, 1015–1025. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02446.x
- Duffy, R. D., Douglass, R. P., Autin, K. L., and Allan, B. A. (2014). Examining predictors and outcomes of a career calling among undergraduate students. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 85, 309–318. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2014.08.009
- Eisenbarth, C. (2012). Does self-esteem moderate the relations among perceived stress, coping, and depression? *Coll. Stud. J.* 46, 149–157.
- Fiorilli, C., Albanese, O., Gabola, P., and Pepe, A. (2017a). Teachers' emotional competence and social support: Assessing the mediating role of teacher burnout. *Scand. J. Educ. Res.* 61, 127–138. doi: 10.1080/00313831.2015.11 19722
- Fiorilli, C., De Stasio, S., Di Chiacchio, C., Pepe, A., and Salmela-Aro, K. (2017b). School burnout, depressive symptoms and engagement: their combined effect on student achievement. *Int. J. Educ. Res.* 84, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ijer.2017.04.001
- Flouri, E., and Buchanan, A. (2003). The role of father involvement and mother involvement in adolescents' psychological well-being. Br. J. Soc. Work 33, 399–406. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/33.3.399
- Girgus, J. S., and Yang, K. (2015). Gender and depression. *Curr. Opin. Psychol.* 4, 53–60. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.01.019
- Hankin, B. L., Mermelstein, R., and Roesch, L. (2007). Sex differences in adolescent depression: stress exposure and reactivity models. *Child Dev.* 78, 279–295. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00997.x
- Harter, S. (1999). Distinguished Contributions in Psychology. The Construction of the Self: A Developmental Perspective. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Horowitz, J. L., and Garber, J. (2006). The prevention of depressive symptoms in children and adolescents: a meta-analytic review. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 74:401. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.74.3.401
- Hutcherson, S. T., and Epkins, C. C. (2009). Differentiating parent-and peerrelated interpersonal correlates of depressive symptoms and social anxiety in preadolescent girls. J. Soc. Pers. Relationsh. 26, 875–897. doi: 10.1177/ 0265407509345654
- Johnson, J. W. (2000). A heuristic method for estimating the relative weight of predictor variables in multiple regression. *Multivariate Behav. Res.* 35, 1–19. doi: 10.1207/S15327906MBR3501_1
- La Greca, A. M., and Harrison, H. M. (2005). Adolescent peer relations, friendships, and romantic relationships: do they predict social anxiety and depression? *J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol.* 34, 49–61. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp3401_5
- Lundervold, A. J., Breivik, K., Posserud, M. B., Stormark, K. M., and Hysing, M. (2013). Symptoms of depression as reported by Norwegian adolescents on the Short Mood and Feelings Questionnaire. *Front. Psychol.* 4:613. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2013.00613

- Mattanah, J. F., Lopez, F. G., and Govern, J. M. (2011). The contributions of parental attachment bonds to college student development and adjustment: a meta-analytic review. J. Couns. Psychol. 58:565. doi: 10.1037/a0024635
- Mazzeo, R. (2003). TMA Test di Valutazione dell'Autostima. Trento: Erickson.
- Moreira, H., Gouveia, M. J., Carona, C., Silva, N., and Canavarro, M. C. (2015). Maternal attachment and children's quality of life: the mediating role of selfcompassion and parenting stress. J. Child Fam. Stud. 24, 2332–2344. doi: 10. 1007/s10826-014-0036-z
- Nasir, F., and Munaf, S. (2010). Impact of emotional competence training upon emotional intelligence and interpersonal relationships of adolescents. *Altern. Perspect. Hum. Soc. Sci.* 76–85.
- Ng, F. F. Y., Pomerantz, E. M., and Lam, S. F. (2007). European American and Chinese parents' responses to children's success and failure: Implications for children's responses. *Dev. Psychol.* 43:1239. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.43.5.1239
- Orth, U., Robins, R. W., and Roberts, B. W. (2008). Low self-esteem prospectively predicts depression in adolescence and young adulthood. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 95:695. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.95.3.695
- Passiatore, Y., Grimaldi Capitello, T., De Stasio, S., Millioni, M., Gentile, S., and Fiorilli, C. (2017). Children's mathematics and verbal self-concepts and externalizing behaviors: the moderating role of peer rejection at school. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1912. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01912
- Prinstein, M. J., and La Greca, A. M. (2002). Peer crowd affiliation and internalizing distress in childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal follow-back study. J. Res. Adolesc. 12, 325–351. doi: 10.1111/1532-7795.00036
- Rhew, I. C., Simpson, K., Tracy, M., Lymp, J., McCauley, E., Tsuang, D., et al. (2010). Criterion validity of the Short Mood and Feelings Questionnaire and one-and two-item depression screens in young adolescents. *Child Adolesc. Psychiatry Mental Health* 4:8. doi: 10.1186/1753-2000-4-8
- Rudolph, K. D. (2002). Gender differences in emotional responses to interpersonal stress during adolescence. J. Adolesc. Health 30, 3–13. doi: 10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00383-4
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., Pyun, Y., Aycock, C., and Coyle, S. (2016). A meta-analytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in childhood and adolescence. *Psychol. Bull.* 142:1017. doi: 10.1037/ bul0000058
- Salk, R. H., Petersen, J. L., Abramson, L. Y., and Hyde, J. S. (2016). The contemporary face of gender differences and similarities in depression throughout adolescence: development and chronicity. J. Affect. Disord. 205, 28–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.071
- Trzesniewski, K. H., Donnellan, M. B., Moffitt, T. E., Robins, R. W., Poulton, R., and Caspi, A. (2006). Low self-esteem during adolescence predicts poor health, criminal behavior, and limited economic prospects during adulthood. *Dev. Psychol.* 42:381. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.42.2.381
- Verboom, C. E., Sijtsema, J. J., Verhulst, F. C., Penninx, B. W., and Ormel, J. (2014). Longitudinal associations between depressive problems, academic performance, and social functioning in adolescent boys and girls. *Dev. Psychol.* 50:247. doi: 10.1037/a0032547
- Vulić-Prtorić, A., and Macuka, I. (2006). Family and coping factors in the differentiation of childhood anxiety and depression. *Psychol. Psychother. Theory Res. Pract.* 79, 199–214. doi: 10.1348/147608305X52676
- Wang, M. T., and Sheikh-Khalil, S. (2014). Does parental involvement matter for student achievement and mental health in high school? *Child Dev.* 85, 610–625. doi: 10.1111/cdev.12153

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Fiorilli, Grimaldi Capitello, Barni, Buonomo and Gentile. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Parent-Adolescent Relationship and Risk-Taking Behaviors Among Chinese Adolescents: The Moderating Role of Self-Control

Lu Liu, Na Wang and Lumei Tian*

School of Psychology, Shandong Normal University, Jinan, China

The present study primarily aimed to examine whether self-control serves as a moderator in the associations between parent-adolescent relationships, including parental support and parent-adolescent conflict, and risk-taking behaviors among adolescents. The 917 Chinese adolescents whose mean age was 14.38 years (SD = 1.69) completed questionnaires effectively. The results indicated that the relationships between either parental support or parent-adolescent conflict and adolescent risk-taking behavior were moderated by self-control. Among those adolescents with lower levels of self-control, both higher levels of parent-adolescent conflict and lower levels of perceived parental support predicted more risk-taking behaviors, but their predicting roles got weakened with the increase of the level of self-control. Accordingly, good parent-adolescent relationship, particularly less parent-adolescent conflict, is critical for decreasing adolescent risk-taking. Otherwise, improving self-control is particularly helpful to those adolescents having more conflict with their parents or less parental support to decrease their risk-taking.

Keywords: Chinese adolescents, parent-adolescent conflict, perceived parental support, risk-taking behaviors, self-control

INTRODUCTION

Risk-taking behaviors refers to participating in behaviors which probably lead to some aversive consequences (Boyer, 2006). In general, it includes negative risk-taking behaviors, sometimes called problem behaviors, and positive risk-taking behaviors that is challenging but relatively socially acceptable (Özmen and Sümer, 2011). The former includes smoking, binge drinking, drug use and unsafe sexual behaviors, and so on, whereas the latter includes bungee jumping, skiing, and diving and other risky sports. During the last decade, scholars have paid much attention to negative risk-taking behaviors, such as alcohol use (O'Hara and Cooper, 2015; Passos et al., 2015), substance use (Jacobus et al., 2013; Wood et al., 2013), sexual risk taking (Downing and Bellis, 2009; O'Hara et al., 2012) and so on, because negative risk-taking behaviors not only do harm to adolescents' physical development but also have adverse impacts on their psychosocial adaptation. For comparison, the current study also put emphasis on negative risk-taking behaviors. We did this job according to Problem-Behaviors Theory (PBT; Jessor, 1987), a psychosocial perspective focusing on the Personality System, the Environment System, and their interaction,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mario Pena, National University of Distance Education (UNED), Spain

Reviewed by:

Shen Liu, University of Science and Technology of China, China Lin Zhang, Ningbo University, China

*Correspondence:

Lumei Tian tianlumei@sina.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 07 January 2019 Accepted: 25 February 2019 Published: 20 March 2019

Citation:

Liu L, Wang N and Tian L (2019) The Parent-Adolescent Relationship and Risk-Taking Behaviors Among Chinese Adolescents: The Moderating Role of Self-Control. Front. Psychol. 10:542. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00542

which believes that individual behavioral performance needs to be studied from the perspective of development, as well as the interactions between the three systems.

Self-control is an important factor in the Personality System, which is defined as the ability of human beings to suppress automatic, habitual or innate behaviors, impulsiveness, emotion, or desire, otherwise these behaviors will interfere with target oriented behaviors (Muraven et al., 2006), which glasses a struggle between urges, desires, and inhibitory forces (Hofmann and Van Dillen, 2012). That is to say, individuals with high self-control are theorized to have abilities to inhibit impulses and resist immediate pleasures (Hay and Forrest, 2008), while individuals with low self-control including traits like urges and feeling seeking (Doran et al., 2011) are thought to be the opposite. Meanwhile, the role of self-control in adolescent adjustments has obtained much attention empirically. For example, higher level of self-control is correlated with better physical and mental health (Tu and Yang, 2016); increased self-control is linked to decreased aggression (Keatley et al., 2017) and reduced involvement in gambling behaviors among adolescents (Belle and Tammie, 2015); there are significant negative correlations between self-control and school violence (Agbaria and Daher, 2015; Zimmerman et al., 2015); those adolescents whose impulse control deteriorated during secondary school also had a higher risk of using substances during high school (James et al., 2016). Accordingly, the current study also took self-control into great account linked with adolescent risk-taking behaviors.

One of contextual factors that may have great influences on adolescents is family. Of particularly important is parentadolescent relationship. As a positive feature, parental support for basic psychological needs has a positive relationship with the Psychosocial adaptation of children and adolescents (Tu et al., 2016). Parents mostly provide emotional and instrumental support for adolescents and build psychological connections with them (Shakespeare-Finch and Obst, 2011), and emotional support is believed to promote children's internalization of social values and criterions (Patterson et al., 1989), making children more sensitive to social hints before action. Instrumental support is linked to practical assistance, playing a prominent role in offering advice and guidance to their children (Cheung and Sim, 2014). For example, Padilla-Walker et al. (2016) found that parental warmth was positively related to adolescents' pro-social behaviors; low instrumental support was associated with lower self-perception and higher level of depression (Wang et al., 2018), and there are negative associations between perceived parental support and behaviors problems (Yun et al., 2016), such as alcohol use (Maslowsky et al., 2016). Similarly, an inverse relationship has been found between perceived familial support and cigarette smoking (Hamid et al., 2015). However, the tendency of adolescents to think that parents are absolutely authoritative is declining (Fuligni and Eccles, 1993) and adolescents demand more autonomy (Laursen and Collins, 2004), leading to an increase in conflicts with parents (Steinberg and Morris, 2001). As Atkinson et al. (2005) put forward, when conflict took place during family discussions or communications, one's emotional circuits in the brain were stimulated at the same time and it became increasingly difficult for an individual to reset his or her mind. As a result, their attention to information of externalizing behaviors is not enough. Considerable research has revealed the relationship between conflict and negative consequences for adolescents. For example, it has been found that conflicts between parents and adolescents are related to antisocial behaviors (Sentse and Laird, 2010), alcohol use (Chaplin et al., 2012; Abar et al., 2014), etc. Note that positive features and negative features of relationships are independent, not opposite ends of a continuum (Laursen and Mooney, 2008), independently predict adolescent externalizing problems, internalizing problems, and academic achievement (Adams and Laursen, 2007). Thus, it is important to focus on the effects of the two aspects of parent-adolescent relationship, support, and conflict, simultaneously, on adolescent adjustments.

Based on PBT, when the proneness in the Personality System and the Environment System is taken together, the combination may generate psychosocial tendency to make the prediction and explanation of problem behaviors. For example, positive emotionality can act as a resilience effect of a connection between parent-child clash and material use of adolescents (Wills and Sandy, 2001). Also, the associations of perceived parental support with aggressive or delinquent behaviors tend to be negative for adolescents with high empathy but positive for those with low empathy (Van der Graaff et al., 2012). Among persons with good self-control, risk factors (such as negative life events) have a reduced impact on drug use (Wills et al., 2008). As an individual's self-control increases, they require less social support to achieve subjective well-being; however, those with lower levels of self-control experience the opposite (Zhang and Xing, 2007). It can be seen that selfcontrol can moderate the relationship between environmental factors and social adaptation. However, work examining whether adolescents varying in self-control are differentially influenced by parent-adolescent relationship, especially on adolescent risktaking behaviors, is really limited. To our knowledge, no studies have tested whether self-control moderates the association between parent-adolescent relationship and risk-taking behaviors among adolescents. Therefore, in consistent with research indicating that low studious control and conflict between parents and adolescents is a common risk factor for depression, as well as participating in antisocial behaviors in adolescents (Wang et al., 2013), parent-adolescent conflict and low level of self-control in the current study are also expected as risk factors for adolescent risk-taking behaviors. Also, according to the risk-enhancing model (Fergus and Zimmerman, 2005), low self-control, as a risky factor, increases risks of low level of parental support. Accordingly, we hypothesized that low level of perceived parental support and high level of parentadolescent conflict would increase adolescent risk-taking behaviors at low level of self-control while not at high level of self-control.

Lastly, note that adolescent risk-taking behaviors might predict parent-adolescent relationship as well. Transactional

model provides theoretical support for this possibility, which holds that development is the result of a sustained and dynamic two-way interaction between individuals and their environmental experience (Sameroff and Mackenzie, 2003). A follow-up study on adolescents found that internalizing and externalizing problem behaviors in the pre-test significantly predicted parenting attitudes and behaviors in the post-test (Buist et al., 2004). A cross-lagged panel model also revealed a reciprocal association between mother-adolescent relationship quality and adolescent antisocial behaviors (Crocetti et al., 2016). Accordingly, we established a competitive model in which adolescent relationship was the outcome and hypothesized that more risk-taking behaviors would lead to poorer parentadolescent relationship.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The participants were recruited from a public secondary school and a public high school which were located in a county in Shandong Province in eastern China. They were all from rural areas. A total of 980 adolescents were invited as the initial sample. Among them, 917 adolescents completed the questionnaires, giving a response rate of 93.6%. Therefore, the final sample consisted of 917 Chinese adolescent students from 11 to 19 years old (mean age = 14.38, SD = 1.69; 493 boys).

Measures

Parent-Adolescent Relationship

Perceived parental support or parent-adolescent conflict was measured using the Chinese shortened version (Tian et al., 2012) of the Network of Relationships Inventory (NRI; Furman and Buhrmester, 1985). It includes 15 items in both relationships with father and mother and is made up of five dimensions, including companionships (e.g., "How long are you with this person when you are free?"), instrumental help (e.g., "Does the person often give you help when in need?"), affection (e.g., "How much does the person like you?"), intimacy (e.g., "Do you share your secrets or feelings with the person?"), and conflict (e.g., "Is there much quarrel between your parent and you?"), each dimension consisting of three items. For each item, participants were asked to rate it on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (little or none) to 5 (the most). Because the former four dimensions correlated highly with each other and correlations between the mother's and the father's scores were high as well (0.46 < rs < 0.81, p < 0.001)in the present study, scores of them were combined into a composite parental support score, according to the procedure of previous research (Furman et al., 2002; Rubin et al., 2004; Tian et al., 2012, 2014). With higher scores, the levels of parental support are higher, and its Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.94. Similarly, we averaged the scores on mothers and fathers to compose one score for parent-adolescent conflict. The higher the score, the more serious the conflict between parents and adolescents, and its Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.90. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the whole NRI was 0.91 in the present study. The fit indices from a confirmatory factor analysis were adequate, $\chi^2/df = 2.80$, GFI = 0.97, TLI = 0.98, CFI = 0.98, and RMSEA = 0.04.

Self-Control

The Self-Control Scale for Chinese middle and high school students (SCS) was developed for assessing the ability of self-control of participants in learning, entertainment, and social life (Wang and Lu, 2004). It consists of 36 items (e.g., "I will shout and yell when I am happy" or "I am easily influenced by the outside"). For each statement, participants were asked to rate it on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (completely disagree) to 5 (completely agree). With higher scores, the levels of self-control are higher. In the present study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient of the SCS was 0.88. The fit indices from a confirmatory factor analysis were adequate, $\chi^2/df = 2.80$, GFI = 0.91, TLI = 0.88, CFI = 0.90, and RMSEA = 0.04.

Risk-Taking Behaviors

The Chinese version (Zhang et al., 2011) of the Adolescent Risk-Taking Questionnaires (ARQ; Gullone et al., 2000) was used to measure the frequency of participation in each of some behaviors (on a 5-point Likert scale: 0 = never done, 4 = done very often). It consists of 17 items with a satisfactory reliability and validity that can be applied to the assessment of Chinese adolescent risk-taking behaviors (Zhang et al., 2011). It is comprised of four dimensions, including thrillseeking behaviors (five items, e.g., "going skating" or "going skiing"), reckless behaviors (two items, e.g., "drug abuse" or "unsafe sexy behaviors"), rebellious behaviors (six items, e.g., "smoking" or "alcohol use"), and antisocial behaviors (four items, e.g., "making fun of others" or "having cheated on school tests"). Thrill-seeking behaviors are regarded as positive or socially acceptable behaviors, while the last three dimensions are regarded as conveying negative risk-taking behaviors (Moore et al., 2004). Thus the last 3 dimensions were only investigated in the current study, and a risk-taking behaviors total score was calculated for each adolescent with a high score indicating more risk-taking behaviors. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.71. The fit indices from a confirmatory factor analysis were adequate, $\chi^2/df = 3.22$, GFI = 0.96, TLI = 0.94, CFI = 0.95, and RMSEA = 0.05.

Procedure

In current research, data were collected by trained graduate students in participants' respective classrooms. Before survey, participants were informed that the study was anonymous and they could withdraw freely. The present study adopted a passive consent procedure recommended by Ellickson (1989), which requires students and their parents to return forms only when they do not want to participate in the study. Those who do not return the forms are assumed to agree to participate in the study. Then, all participants were given a series of selfreported questionnaires, and all measures were completed in approximately 20 min. Ethics approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Boards at our university.

Statistical Analysis

After obtaining the descriptive statistics for the study variables and assessing the correlations among them, separate hierarchical linear regression analyses were conducted using SPSS Version 22 to examine the hypotheses. Gender was re-coded into dummy variables separately (0 = male, 1 = female). The scores on perceived parental support, parent-adolescent conflict, and self-control were all transformed into Z scores before creating the interaction items (Aiken and West, 1991). In the regression analysis, the predictors were entered in three hierarchical steps: (1) age and gender; (2) perceived parental support or parent-adolescent conflict and self-control; and (3) the two-way interaction item. Post-hoc probing of significant interactions was conducted using the simple slope analysis (Aiken and West, 1991) when the predictor criterion was examined at high (i.e., 1 standard deviation above the mean) and low (i.e., 1 standard deviation below the mean) levels of self-control.

RESULTS

Common Method Biases

The common-method bias might occur owing to all data in the present study deriving from adolescents' self-reports. Thus, when collecting the data, we made questionnaires anonymous and made some items reverse scoring. Prior to data analysis, Harman's one-factor test was conducted, in which 17 factors with one-above Eigen values were extracted; in addition, the first factor could explain 17.28% of the variance much lower than the critical value of 40%. Therefore, there was no serious common-method bias in the current study.

DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS AND CORRELATION ANALYSIS

Table 1 gives the means, standard deviations, and correlations of the study variables. Perceived parental support and selfcontrol were negatively associated with risk-taking behaviors

TABLE 1	Descriptive statistics and correlations among study variables
(N = 917).	

Variables	М	SD	1	2	3
1. Perceived parental support	3.36	0.78			
2. Parent-adolescent conflict	2.02	0.82	-0.16***		
3. Self-control	3.30	0.48	0.26***	-0.45***	`
4. Risk-taking behaviors	0.35	0.39	-0.11**	0.27***	-0.40***

Note: ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

 TABLE 2 | Hierarchical regression analysis for perceived parental support and self-control predicting risk-taking behaviors.

	Predictors	⊿R ²	β	t	95%CI
Step 1	Age Gender	0.08	0.06 0.10	7.62*** -4.03***	[0.04, 0.07] [–0.15, –0.05]
Step 2	A: Perceived parental		-0.01	-0.76	[-0.03, 0.02]
	support B: Self-control	0.13	-0.14	-11.61***	[-0.17, -0.12]
Step 3	A×B	0.01	0.03	2.72**	[0.01, 0.05]

Note: ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

(r = -0.11, p < 0.001; r = -0.40, p < 0.001), whereas parentadolescent conflict was positively correlated with risk-taking behaviors (r = -0.16, p < 0.001). The effects of gender (t(915) = 4.00, p < 0.001) and age (r = 0.25, p < 0.001) on risk-taking behaviors were both significant and thus were controlled statistically in the next analyses.

TESTING THE MODERATION MODELS

As shown as in **Table 2**, there was a negative main effect of self-control and a significant interaction between perceived parental support and self-control on adolescent risk-taking behaviors. Simple slope analyses (See **Figure 1**) indicated that perceived parent support was associated with risk-taking behaviors marginally significant at low levels of self-control $(b_{simpleslope} = -0.04, t = -1.68, p = 0.09)$, but the association was not significant statistically at high levels of self-control $(b_{simpleslope} = 0.03, t = 1.29, p = 0.20)$.

As shown as in **Table 3**, however, there were a positive main effect of parent-adolescent conflict on risk-taking behaviors and a negative main effect of self-control on risk-taking behaviors, as well as the significant interaction between them. Simple slope analyses (See **Figure 2**) indicated that among those adolescents with low levels of self-control, greater levels of parent-adolescent conflict predicted more risk-taking behaviors ($b_{simple \ slope} = 0.07$, t = 3.63, p < 0.001), but the association was not significant statistically among those with high levels of self-control ($b_{simple \ slope} = 0.03$, t = 1.39, p = 0.16).

To test the competitive model, we also used regression analysis, in which risk-taking behaviors was the independent variable and parent-adolescent relationship was the outcome variable. The analyses indicated that there was a negative main effect of risk-taking behaviors on perceived parental support and a positive main effect on parent-adolescent conflict ($\beta = -0.10$, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.02$; $\beta = 0.23$, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.09$, respectively), but their effect sizes (R^2) were much smaller than those in the hypothesized model ($R^2 = 0.09$, $R^2 = 0.15$). The interaction between risk-taking behaviors and self-control was not obvious (p = 0.65; p = 0.12), which indicated that the competitive moderation model was not well established.



TABLE 3 Hierarchical regression analysis for parent-adolescent conflict and self-control predicting risk-taking behaviors.

	Predictors	⊿ R ²	β	t	95%CI
Step 1	Age Gender	0.08	0.06 0.10	7.61*** -4.03***	[0.04, 0.07] [–0.15, –0.05]
Step 2	A: Parent- adolescent conflict		0.05	4.00***	[0.03, 0.08]
	B: Self-	0.15	-0.12	-9.39***	[-0.15, -0.10]
Step 3	A×B	0.01	-0.02	-2.31*	[-0.05, -0.004]

Note: ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

DISCUSSION

The main goal of the present study was to examine the associations of parent-adolescent relationships, including parental support and parent-adolescent conflict, with adolescents risk-taking behaviors and the moderating role of self-control. Overall, the results indicated that for those adolescents with lower levels of self-control, both higher levels of parent-adolescent conflict and lower levels of perceived parental support predicted more risk-taking behaviors, but their predicting roles got weakened with the increase of the level of self-control. Additionally, parent-adolescent conflict was significantly related to adolescents risk-taking behaviors, whereas the relationship between parental support and risk-taking behaviors was not obvious.

First, in agreement with previous research reporting that increased self-control is linked to decreased aggression (Keatley et al., 2017),

self-control was also negatively correlated with adolescent risktaking behaviors in the present study. This is possibly because adolescents lower in self-control have more traits like impulses and feeling seeking (Doran et al., 2011), which in turn making them more likely to ignore potential passive consequences of their behaviors (Watson and Clark, 1993).

Second, in accordance with research regarding parentadolescent relationship as important in moulding adolescent mental functioning (Lam et al., 2012; Skinner and Mchale, 2016), high levels of parent-adolescent conflict were associated with more risk-taking behaviors in the present study. When adolescents have more disagreements or conflicts with their parents, emotional circuits in the brain are stimulated (Atkinson et al., 2005), such as causing anger (Chaplin et al., 2012), then easily resulting in heightened risk taking. Chein et al. (2011) have also found that negative environmental factors (e.g., the existence of peers) enlarge adolescents' ventral striatum activation, resulting in much risk-taking behaviors. Another possible explanation is that high level of parent-child conflict will bring children a negative worldview, which easily causes some externalizing problem behaviors (Vanassche et al., 2014).

Third and importantly, as expected by PBT, the impact of parent-adolescent conflict was qualified by adolescent self-control. Specifically, high levels of parent-adolescent conflict predicted increases in adolescent risk-taking behaviors at low levels of self-control, but this predicting role got weakened at high levels of self-control. This result is in line with previous studies finding that less control and parent-adolescent conflict indicate common risk factors for adolescent depression as well as engagement in misconduct (Wang et al., 2013). Furthermore,



it also supports the risk-enhancing model (Fergus and Zimmerman, 2005), suggesting one risky factor will enhance the negative impact of another risky factor on adolescent development and adjustment. However, among those adolescents with high levels of self-control, self-control as a protective factor buffered the impact of parent-adolescent conflict on risk-taking behaviors.

Inconsistent with our expectation, increased perceived parental support was not linked to decreased risk-taking behaviors, even among those adolescents with high levels of self-control. A possible explanation is that low levels of perceived parental support of adolescents, particularly of Chinese adolescents who are usually only one child or have only one sibling in their family because of China's family planning policy, were not absolutely low $(M = 3.36 \pm 0.78$ in the current study) and thereby have no obvious difference in impacting adolescent risk-taking behaviors from those higher levels of perceived parental support. Also, it suggests that parental support is neither a protector nor a risky factor of adolescent risk taking because individuals during adolescence emphasize more on peer support rather than parental support (Macek and Jezek, 2007; Ju et al., 2011). The period of adolescence is in the transition period from school-age children to young adulthood. During this period, students have gradually transferred their main activities from family to social institutions such as schools, classrooms, and juvenile organizations. During this time, the closest relationship with the youth is the peer. At the low levels of self-control, however, lower perceived parent support was associated with more risk-taking behaviors marginally significantly, possibly because that both the factors may have synergistic effects and self-control is a stronger predictor of adolescent risk-taking behaviors than perceived parental support.

Therefore, it suggests that in adolescence, it is not enough to reduce risk-taking behaviors only relying on the environment, and that improving the internal personality power of individuals is a more fundamental way.

Finally, consistent with our hypothesis and prior studies (Buist et al., 2004; Crocetti et al., 2016), parent-adolescent relationship and risk-taking behaviors have a reciprocal relationship. However, the effect sizes (R^2) in the hypothesized model were greater than those in the competitive model. Importantly, the competitive moderation model was not well-established. The result provided empirical evidence for the Problem-Behaviors Theory. Parentadolescent relationship as an important environmental factor has an important impact on adolescent risk-taking behaviors. The more conflict between parents and adolescents, the more risky-taking behaviors adolescents will be taken in their future life (Lam et al., 2012). This conclusion, however, should be accepted carefully before it is further examined, and more supportive evidence should be sought in future studies.

Lastly, there are some limitations to be noted in the present study. First, it was impossible to draw causal conclusions of the relationships between variables because of the cross-sectional design of the current study. Second, given that the particularity of Chinese context, it needs to be cautious to extend the present results to other cultural background. It would be of value to further examine the relationships in other countries or districts. Despite these limitations, the present study may offer a new sight into interaction between self-system and family system on adolescent development and adjustment, and these findings suggest that intervention and prevention measures devoted to decreasing adolescent risk-taking incorporate the interaction of family and personal characteristics.

Despite these limitations, the findings of the current study provide valuable information. First, this study simultaneously examined the moderating roles of self-control in the relationships between both parental support and parent-adolescent conflict with adolescent risk-taking behaviors. The findings of the present study provide evidence for Problem-Behaviors Theory, extend our insight into the mechanisms underlying the associations among parent-adolescent relationships, self-control, and adolescent risk-taking behaviors, and supplement data for previous relevant studies. Second, the current study found that parent-adolescent relationship could predict adolescent risktaking behaviors and vice versa, which provides further support for transactional model. Finally, the findings may provide guidance for intervention and prevention of adolescent risktaking behaviors. The study suggests that to decrease adolescents' risk-taking behaviors we should focus on building good parentadolescent relationship and improving individual self-control, particularly the latter. It is important for adolescents to boost self-control training, cultivation, development, and promotion.

REFERENCES

- Abar, C. C., Jackson, K. M., Colby, S. M., and Barnett, N. P. (2014). Parentchild discrepancies in reports of parental monitoring and their relationship to adolescent alcohol-related behaviors. *J. Youth Adolesc.* 44, 1688–1701. doi: 10.1007/s10964-014-0143-6
- Adams, R. E., and Laursen, B. (2007). The correlates of conflict: disagreement is not necessarily detrimental. J. Fam. Psychol. 21, 445–458. doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.21.3.445
- Agbaria, Q., and Daher, W. (2015). School violence among Arab adolescents in Israel and its relation to self-control skills and social support. *Psychol. Rep.* 117, 1–7. doi: 10.2466/16.21.PRO.117c12z2
- Aiken, L. S., and West, S. G. (1991). Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Atkinson, B., Atkinson, L., Kutz, P., Lata, J., Lata, K. W., Szekely, J., et al. (2005). Rewiring neural states in couples' therapy: advances from affective neuroscience. J. Syst. Ther. 24, 3–16. doi: 10.1521/jsyt.2005.24.3.3
- Belle, G. F., and Tammie, R. (2015). Contribution of positivity ratio and selfcontrol to reduced gambling severity among adolescents. *Health Soc. Work* 40, 209–216. doi: 10.1093/hsw/hlv042
- Boyer, T. W. (2006). The development of risk-taking: a multi-perspective review. Dev. Rev. 26, 291–345. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2006.05.002
- Buist, K. L., Dekovic, M., Meeus, W., and Aken, M. A. G. V. (2004). The reciprocal relationship between early adolescent attachment and internalizing and externalizing problem behaviour. J. Adolesc. 27, 251–266. doi: 10.1016/j. adolescence.2003.11.012
- Chaplin, T. M., Sinha, R., Simmons, J. S., Healy, S. M., Mayes, L. C., Hommer, R. E., et al. (2012). Parent-adolescent conflict interactions and adolescent alcohol use. *Addict. Behav.* 37, 605–612. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.01.004
- Chein, J., Albert, D., O'Brien, L., Uckert, K., and Steinberg, L. (2011). Peers increase adolescent risk taking by enhancing activity in the brain's reward circuitry. *Dev. Sci.* 14, 1–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2010.01035. x21499511
- Cheung, H. S., and Sim, T. N. (2014). Social support from parents and friends for Chinese adolescents in Singapore. *Youth Soc.* 49, 548–564. doi: 10.1177/0044118X14559502
- Crocetti, E., Moscatelli, S., Jolien, V. D. G., Keijsers, L., Van Lier, P., Koot, H. M., et al. (2016). The dynamic interplay among maternal empathy, quality of mother-adolescent relationship, and adolescent antisocial behaviors: new insights from a six-wave longitudinal multi-informant study. *PLoS One* 11:e0150009. doi: 10.6084/m9.figshare.3099829
- Doran, N., Aldridge, A., Roesch, S., and Myers, M. (2011). Factor structure and invariance of the behaviorsal undercontrol questionnaire: testing for

DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LL conducted measurements, data collection, data analysis, and completed the earlier draft of this manuscript. NW contributed to data analysis and revising the manuscript. LT provided a great amount of support and guidance in the research and revised the manuscript substantially.

FUNDING

This study was supported by National Social Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 16BSH103).

differences across gender and ethnicity. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 27, 145-152. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759/a000060

- Downing, J., and Bellis, M. A. (2009). Early pubertal onset and its relationship with sexual risk-taking, early pubertal onset and its relationship with sexual risk taking, substance use and anti-social behaviors: a preliminary crosssectional study. BMC Public Health 9:446. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-9-446
- Ellickson, P. L. (1989). Limiting nonresponse in longitudinal research: Three strategies for school-based studies (Rand Note N-2912-CHF). Santa Monica, CA: Rand Cooperation.
- Fergus, S., and Zimmerman, M. A. (2005). Adolescent resilience: a framework for understanding healthy development in the face of risk. Annu. Rev. Public Health 26, 399–419. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.26.021304.144357
- Fuligni, A. J., and Eccles, J. S. (1993). Perceived parent-child relationships and early adolescents' orientation towards peers. *Dev. Psychol.* 29, 622–632. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.29.4.622
- Furman, W., and Buhrmester, D. (1985). Children's perceptions of personal relationships in their social networks. *Dev. Psychol.* 21, 1016–1024. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.21.6.1016
- Furman, W., Simon, V. A., Shaffer, L., and Bouchey, H. A. (2002). Adolescents' working models and styles for relationships with parents, friends, and romantic partners. *Child Dev.* 73, 241–255. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00403
- Gullone, E., Moore, S., Moss, S., and Boyd, C. (2000). The adolescent risktaking questionnaire: development and psychometric evaluation. J. Adolesc. Res. 15, 231–250. doi: 10.1177/0743558400152003
- Hamid, A., Abbas, A. G., Asghar, M., and Pouran, N. (2015). Cigarette smoking and its relationship with perceived familial support and religiosity of university students in Tabriz. *Iran. J. Psychiatry* 10, 136–143. doi: 10.1002/ jez.1401060103
- Hay, C., and Forrest, W. (2008). Self-control theory and the concept of opportunity: the case for a more systematic union. *Criminology* 46, 1039–1072. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-9125.2008.00135.x
- Hofmann, W., and Van Dillen, L. (2012). Desire: the new hot spot in self-control research. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 21, 317–322. doi: 10.1177/0963721412453587
- Jacobus, J., Thayer, R. E., Trim, R. S., Bava, S., Frank, L. R., and Tapert, S. F. (2013). White matter integrity, substance use, and risk taking in adolescence. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 27, 431–442. doi: 10.1037/a0028235
- James, V. R., Laura, C. T., Paul, J. F., Laurence, S., and Elizabeth, C. (2016). Impulse control and callous-unemotional traits distinguish patterns of delinquency and substance use in justice involved adolescents: examining the moderating role of neighborhood context. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 44, 599–611. doi: 10.1007/s10802-015-0057-0
- Jessor, R. (1987). Problem-behaviors theory, psychosocial development, and adolescent problem drinking. Br. J. Addict. 82, 331–342. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1987.tb01490.x

- Ju, X. Y., Liu, X. W., and Fang, X. Y. (2011). Research on adolescent parents and peer attachement in relation to self-esteem and social adaptation (Chinese). *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 27, 174–180. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2011.02.012
- Keatley, D. A., Allom, V., and Mullan, B. (2017). The effects of implicit and explicit self-control on self-reported aggression. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 107, 154–158. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.11.046
- Lam, C. B., Solmeyer, A. R., and McHale, S. M. (2012). Sibling differences in parent-child conflict and risky behaviors: A three-wave longitudinal study. *J. Fam. Psychol.* 26, 523–531. doi: 10.1037/a0029083
- Laursen, B., and Collins, W. A. (2004). "Parent-child communication during adolescence" in *Handbook of Family Communication*, Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 333–348.
- Laursen, B., and Mooney, K. S. (2008). Relationship network quality: adolescent adjustment and perceptions of relationships with parents and friends. *Am. J. Orthopsychiatry* 78, 47–53. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432.78.1.47
- Macek, P., and Jezek, S. (2007). Adolescents' assessments of parents and peers relationships to self-esteem and self-efficacy. *Cesk. Psychol.* 51, 26–36.
- Maslowsky, J., Schulenberg, J., Chiodo, L. M., Hannigan, J. H., Greenwald, M. K., Janisse, J., et al. (2016). Parental support, mental health, and alcohol and marijuana use in national and high-risk African-American adolescent samples. *Subst. Abuse: Res. Treat.* 9, 11–20. doi: 10.4137/SART.S22441
- Moore, S., Gullone, E., and McArthur, C. (2004). Risk taking and HIV/AIDS among young people in Cameroon: prediction of vulnerability using the adolescent risk-taking questionnaire. *Soc. Behav. Personal.* 32, 209–222. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2004.32.3.207
- Muraven, M., Shmueli, D., and Burkley, E. (2006). Conserving self-control strength. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 91, 524–537. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.91.3.524
- O'Hara, R., and Cooper, M. (2015). Bidirectional associations between alcohol use and sexual risk-taking behaviors from adolescence into young adulthood. *Arch. Sex. Behav.* 44, 857–871. doi: 10.1007/s10508-015-0510-8
- O'Hara, R. E., Gibbons, F. X., Gerrard, M., Li, Z. G., and Sargent, J. D. (2012). Greater exposure to sexual content in popular movies predicts earlier sexual debut and increased sexual risk taking. *Psychol. Sci.* 23, 984–993. doi: 10.1177/0956797611435529
- Özmen, O., and Sümer, Z. H. (2011). Predictors of risk-taking behaviors among Turkish adolescents. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 50, 4–9. doi: 10.1016/j. paid.2010.07.015
- Padilla-Walker, L. M., Nielson, M. G., and Day, R. D. (2016). The role of parental warmth and hostility on adolescents' prosocial behaviors towards multiple targets. J. Fam. Psychol. 30, 331–340. doi: 10.1037/fam0000157
- Passos, J. A. F., Pires, A. V., Scheidt, L., de Almeida, L. A., Ferreira, C. F., Gubert, C., et al. (2015). Alcohol use in adolescence, impulsivity, and risk-taking behaviors in Wistar rats. *Psychol. Neurosci.* 8, 130–142. doi: 10.1037/h0101023
- Patterson, G. R., Debaryshe, B. D., and Ramsey, E. (1989). A developmental perspective on antisocial behaviors. Am. Psychol. 44, 329–335. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.2.329
- Rubin, K. H., Dwyer, K. M., Kim, A. H., Burgess, K. B., Booth-LaForce, C., and Rose-Krasnor, L. (2004). Attachment, friendship, and psychosocial functioning in early adolescence. *J. Early Adolesc.* 24, 326–356. doi: 10.1177/0272431604268530
- Sameroff, A. J., and Mackenzie, M. J. (2003). Research strategies for capturing transactional models of development: the limits of the possible. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 15, 613–640. doi: 10.1017/S0954579403000312
- Sentse, M., and Laird, R. D. (2010). Parent-child relationships and dyadic friendship experiences as predictors of behaviors problems in early adolescence. J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol. 39, 873–884. doi: 10.1080/15374416.2010.517160
- Shakespeare-Finch, J., and Obst, P. L. (2011). The development of the 2-way social support scale: a measure of giving and receiving emotional and instrumental support. J. Pers. Assess. 93, 483–490. doi: 10.1080/00223891.2011.594124
- Skinner, O. D., and Mchale, S. M. (2016). Parent-adolescent conflict in African American families. J. Youth Adolesc. 45, 2080–2093. doi: 10.1007/ s10964-016-0514-2
- Steinberg, L., and Morris, A. S. (2001). Adolescent development. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2, 83–110. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.83
- Tian, L. M., Chen, G. H., Wang, S. Q., Liu, H. J., and Zhang, W. X. (2012). Effects of parental support and friendship support on loneliness and depression

during early and middle adolescence (Chinese). Acta Psychol. Sin. 44, 944–956. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1041.2012.00944

- Tian, L. M., Zhang, W. X., and Chen, G. H. (2014). Effects of parental support, friendship quality on loneliness and depression: to test an indirect effect model (Chinese). Acta Psychol. Sin. 46, 238–251. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1041.2014.00238
- Tu, J. J., Wan, J., Xiong, H. X., and Zhang, J. (2016). Parental support and college students' interpersonal adaptation: the mediating role of emotional intelligence. J. Psychol. Sci. 39, 964–969. doi: 10.16719/j.cnki.1671-6981.20160430
- Tu, Y., and Yang, Z. (2016). Self-control as mediator and moderator of the relationship between social support and subjective well-being among the Chinese elderly. Soc. Indic. Res. 126, 813–828. doi: 10.1007/s11205-015-0911-z
- Vanassche, S., Sodermans, A. K., Matthijs, K., and Swicegood, G. (2014). The effects of family type, family relationships and parental role models on delinquency and alcohol use among flemish adolescents. J. Child Fam. Stud. 23, 128–143. doi: 10.1007/s10826-012-9699-5
- Van der Graaff, J., Branje, S., De Wied, M., and Meeus, W. (2012). The moderating role of empathy in the association between parental support and adolescent aggressive and delinquent behaviors. *Aggress. Behav.* 38, 368–377. doi: 10.1002/ab.21435
- Wang, H. J., and Lu, J. M. (2004). Establishment and survey of self-control scale of middle school students (Chinese). *Psychol. Sci.* 27, 1477–1482. doi: 10.16719/j.cnki.1671-6981.2004.06.055
- Wang, M. T., Brinkworth, M., and Eccles, J. (2013). Moderating effects of teacher-student relationship in adolescent trajectories of emotional and behaviorsal adjustment. *Dev. Psychol.* 49, 690–705. doi: 10.1037/a0027916
- Wang, Z., Kouvonen, A., Satka, M., and Julkunen, I. (2018). Parental social support and adolescent well-being: a cross-sectional study in China. *Child Indic. Res.* 12, 299–317. doi: 10.1007/s12187-018-9547-2
- Watson, D., and Clark, L. A. (1993). "Behaviorsal disinhibition versus constraint: a dispositional perspective" in *Handbook of Mental Control.* eds. D. M. Wegner and J. W. Pennebaker (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall), 506–527.
- Wills, T. A., Ainette, M. G., Stoolmiller, M., Gibbons, F. X., and Shinar, O. (2008). Good self-control as a buffering agent for adolescent substance use: an investigation in early adolescence with time-varying covariates. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 22, 459–471. doi: 10.1037/a0012965
- Wills, T. A., and Sandy, J. M. (2001). Family risk factors and adolescent substance use: moderation effects for temperament dimensions. *Dev. Psychol.* 37, 283–297. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.37.3.283
- Wood, A. P., Dawe, S., and Gullo, M. J. (2013). The role of personality, family influences, and prosocial risk-taking behaviors on substance use in early adolescence. J. Adolesc. 36, 871–881. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.07.003
- Yun, H. J., Cui, M., and Blair, B. L. (2016). The mediating roles of adolescent disclosure and parental knowledge in the association between parental warmth and delinquency among Korean adolescents. J. Child Fam. Stud. 25, 2395–2404. doi: 10.1007/s10826-016-0425-6
- Zhang, C., Zhang, L. J., and Shang, L. (2011). The questionnaire of risk-taking behaviors among adolescence-the reliability and validity of risk-taking behaviors scale in middle school students (Chinese). *Chin. Ment. Health J.* 25, 636–640. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-6729.2011.08.018
- Zhang, Y., and Xing, Z. J. (2007). A review on the research of the influence of social support on subjective well-being. *Psychol. Sci.* 30, 1436–1438. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-6981.2007.06.037
- Zimmerman, G. M., Botchkovar, E. V., Antonaccio, O., and Hughes, L. A. (2015). Low self-control in "bad" neighborhoods: assessing the role of context on the relationship between self-control and crime. *Justice Q.* 32, 56–84. doi: 10.1080/07418825.2012.737472

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Liu, Wang and Tian. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Use of Classmates as a Self-Motivation Strategy From the Perspective of Self-Regulated Learning

José Manuel Suárez1*, Ana Patricia Fernández1 and Ángela Zamora2

¹ Departamento MIDE II, Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia (UNED), Madrid, Spain, ² Departamento de Pedagogía, Universidad de Valladolid, Valladolid, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Javier Cejudo, University of Castilla–La Mancha, Spain Jesús Nicasio García Sánchez, Universidad de León, Spain

> *Correspondence: José Manuel Suárez jmsuarez@edu.uned.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 November 2018 Accepted: 20 May 2019 Published: 04 June 2019

Citation:

Suárez JM, Fernández AP and Zamora Á (2019) The Use of Classmates as a Self-Motivation Strategy From the Perspective of Self-Regulated Learning. Front. Psychol. 10:1314. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01314 It can be stated that self-regulated learning (SRL) brings broad benefits to the process of students' learning and studying. However, research has yet to be undertaken in relation to one of its components, namely self-regulation of motivation and affectivity. The main objectives of this study are to examine the use of self-motivation strategies that involve classmates and to obtain models on the influence of academic goals and self-efficacy on such self-motivation strategies. To this end, was conducted a study using two different samples of students in the compulsory secondary education or baccalaureate stages in Spain (N = 613 and N = 910). The results obtained indicate that, with regard to gender, differences only exist in the use of the strategy of deception (t = 5.450, p < 0.001, d = 0.364). That the two pairs of strategies positively and significantly correlated with one another (r = 0.239, p < 0.01 and r = 0.355, p < 0.01). That only the strategy of annulation of others correlates with a more adaptive type of motivation. Thus, the group of students that reported the greatest level in its use also did so in relation to task and ego self-enhancing goals, to self-efficacy, and being negatively associated with the goal of work avoidance. Finally, were offered models on relationships between academic goals, self-efficacy and enhancement and annulation strategies [$\chi^2(8) = 5.204$, p = 0.736] and deception and annulation strategies $[\chi^2(4) = 3.228, p = 0.520].$

Keywords: self-regulated learning, self-motivational strategies, academic motivation, gender, goal orientations

INTRODUCTION

The concept of self-regulated learning (SRL) has been defined as the degree to which students are metacognitive, motivational and behaviorally active with regard to their own learning process (Zimmerman, 2013). However, a large proportion of learning now takes place interactively (Järvenoja et al., 2015). For this reason, this article is focused on the study of processes in which the student uses their classmates as a reference point for their own academic motivation. It addresses the self-regulation of the student's own motivation when they undertake specific evaluations and comparisons regarding the abilities of fellow students within a social context.

It can be said that the broad benefits of SRL have been proved (e.g., Pintrich and De Groot, 1990; Zimmerman, 2013; Järvenoja et al., 2015). Considering SRL offers several benefits to students' learning and products. For example, studying for exams, developing creative ideas, problem solving, long-term retention, motor tasks and skills that can be learned (Ariel and Karpicke, 2018; Callan et al., 2019), and in general with problems that are emerging in the educational world at present. Nevertheless, it requires that teachers show students how to use these techniques and students will adopt them. Thus, increasing understanding of SRL would inform educators of SRL procedures (Callan and Cleary, 2018).

However, research has yet to be undertaken in relation to some of the most basic components of SRL. While its behavioral and cognitive components have received significant interest, the study of the motivational component seems to have prioritized a focus on the study of motivation rather than on an examination of selfregulation of motivation. This is the case in spite of the fact that strategies of motivational self-regulation or of self-motivation can play an important role in the learning process, as they are aimed at generating and managing various motives and emotions (e.g., Pekrun et al., 2002; Scholer et al., 2018) which are prerequisites for initiating, directing, and maintaining behaviors.

Motivational self-regulation strategies have been addressed through a series of studies in which strategies such as selfhandicapping, defensive pessimism and self-affirmation are considered (e.g., Kathryn and Maureen, 2010; Clarke and MacCann, 2016). Nevertheless, these studies do not deal with strategies that, based on a more situational approach, have classmates as a point of reference that can active the use of self-motivation strategies.

Wolters's (1998) attempt to collectively study various motivational self-regulation strategies gave rise to a subsequent suggesting of six strategies (Wolters and Benzon, 2013). However, there was no incorporation within that broader approach of strategies that, based on a more situational perspective, use classmates as a self-motivation strategy. Suárez and Fernández (2011a), meanwhile, have attempted to provide a more complete approach to motivational self-regulation. To this end, their departure point was Pintrich and De Groot's (1990) motivational approach. Thus, they used the three motivational components of Pintrich and De Groot's (1990) to incorporate particular types of self-motivational strategies, putting forward three components of motivational self-regulation strategies: expectations, worth and affectivity. The present studies are focused on the strategies of enhancement of others, annulation of others, deception, and annulation others, which Suárez and Fernández (2011a) located within the strategic components of expectatives and affect.

Accordingly, based on the study of particular self-motivation strategies, the consideration of approaches that offer a more structured view of the different types of these strategies, and ultimately the incorporation of strategies that via a more situational approach use classmates as a self-motivation strategy, it is possible to appreciate how the initial approach of this work has been constructed. Therefore, in this article, we will first of all study the strategies of enhancement and annulation of others. A second part of the study will deal with the strategies of deception and comparison.

Through the strategy of enhancement of others, the student tries to protect their image, attributing their poor results not to low ability or effort on their part or to bad luck, but rather to their peers' very high capability in academic terms (or at least that of some of them). The student enhances their peers' qualities, though this does not necessarily have to be associated with a sense of admiration. Rather, it can even lead to a certain resentment or discomfort in relation to them.

Although in the case of enhancement of others the student enhances their peers' abilities, in the strategy of annulation they do the exact opposite – that is, they deny or minimize their peers' abilities. This can be achieved in different ways, such as not appreciating the qualities, contributions and good results of their peers or minimizing or simply ignoring them. Through doing so, the student consciously or unconsciously aims to avoid evidence that would allow a comparison in which their image came off worse, thereby letting them continue to see themselves as a student who is no less competent.

The self-motivational strategy of comparison is a characteristic of students who prioritize the pursuit of academic performance as a goal rather than the objective of learning, and for whom the reference point for determining that performance does not comprise the student's own results only, but also, and even primarily, comparison with the performance of students and peers in their environment. For this reason, the student uses comparison with others when their performance is superior to that of the students relative to whom they are making a comparison, in order to thereby derive feelings of satisfaction, worth and pride. On the other hand, they will seek to avoid this comparison when their performance is lower so as to avoid feelings of shame, guilt, anger or frustration.

Similarly to the comparison strategy, the deception strategy is exhibited by students whose primary goal is performance and whose main reference point is not their own performance, but comparison with the performance of students or peers in their immediate environment. For this reason, the student constructs the expectation of not being surpassed by others through various forms of deception in relation to their peers, such as lying about work carried out for exams, subjects and assignments or attributing any good exam results on their part to external factors.

It has been observed that the strategies of enhancement or annulation of others are related to and influence the development of cognitive strategies but not metacognitive strategies (Suárez and Fernández, 2011b), with the same occurring in the case of deception and comparison strategies (Suárez and Fernández, 2013). However, there are no studies on how such self-motivation strategies are related to students' affective-motivational variables. The role played by academic goals must be closely considered to this end, because goals are considered as the closest regulators of behaviors. Accordingly, SRL is defined as the regulation of learning that the student develops in order to achieve their personal goals (Nietfeld et al., 2014). A more innovative contribution has been the consideration given to the possibility that several goals simultaneously operate within students (e.g., Hyunjoo, 2012). The different types of goals were
considered to simultaneously interact and influence the learning process. For this reason, this approach of multiple goals is also keep in mind in the present work. Another motivational variable that should be taken into account is self-efficacy, which may be described as the belief in one's own ability to organize and carry out the actions necessary to achieve specific goals (Bandura, 1997).

Self-regulated learning is a key competency that students should learn (Steinbach and Stoeger, 2018). Increasing understanding of SRL would inform educators of SRL procedures (Callan and Cleary, 2018) in order to show their students to use these techniques and thus to impact on students' learning and achievement. With the work that is presented here, was sought to fill in the gap that exists in research regarding motivational self-regulation strategies based on students' use of evaluations and comparisons with their classmates. Our research question was if enhancement of others, annulation of others, deception, and comparison strategies can be explained by academic goals and self-efficacy. Thus, our main objectives are firstly to study the use of these strategies, and secondly, to obtain initial exploratory models for each of these relating them to the academic goals and control and self-efficacy beliefs. It was also intended to verify if such models are appropriate regardless of gender, since the literature describes broad differences between the genders in terms of both academic motivation and the use of strategies (e.g., King, 2016; Suárez et al., 2016), as well as in relation to students' profiles in terms of the adoption of multiple goals. We expected low or middle use of the motivational self-regulatory strategies and that these motivational self-regulatory strategies would be explained by the motivational variables but not regardless of gender and motivational profile.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The participants in this first sample were a total of 613 students located in Spain, from different contexts, who were in the third year (46.9%) and the fourth year (37.5%) of compulsory secondary education, and the first year (7.3%) and the second year (8.2%) of baccalaureate studies. Of the students, 41.4% are boys and 57.1% are girls. Their average age was 15.69 (SD = 1.271) years.

The participants in second sample were a total of 910 students located in Spain, from different contexts, who were in the third year (36.9%) and the fourth year of compulsory secondary education (39.2%), and in the first year (16.0%) and the second year (7.8%) of baccalaureate studies. Of the students, 46.5% are boys and 52.7% are girls. Their average age was 15.82 (SD = 1.699) years. Learning or development disorders were not informed in both samples.

Non-probability sampling techniques were employed in order to select the study participants. Students were assured that their responses were confidential and that only the researchers would have access to the data. They were told that this was not a test, so they completed the instruments anonymously, with pencil and paper. Finally, they were also informed that there were no right or wrong answers, but only statements that reflect their attitudes and behaviors during learning and studying. This study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and ethical guidelines. Procedures followed were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the UNED that waived the need for written informed parental consent to be obtained. The informed consent of the participants was implied through survey completion.

Variables and Instruments

For data collection, this study used a questionnaire focused on studying various relevant variables. Through it, was collected information on academic goals, beliefs on control and self-efficacy for learning, performance self-efficacy and selfmotivation strategies. The instrument items were answered on a five-point scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

To devise the part of the questionnaire that was used to measure academic goals, was used Skaalvik's (1997) Academic Goals Questionnaire. This questionnaire integrated four goal orientations, which were: task, ego self-enhancing, ego selfdefeating, and work avoidance goals.

To measure performance self-efficacy and beliefs on control and self-efficacy for learning, was used the corresponding items of the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ) by Pintrich et al. (1991).

Finally, to assess self-motivation strategies were used the corresponding items from the Scale of Motivational Strategies for Learning-Secondary Version by Suárez and Fernández (2011a). More specifically, with the first sample were evaluated the self-motivational strategies of enhancement of others and of annulation of others. And with the second sample were used the strategies of deception and comparison.

The Spanish version of the instruments have evidence of validity in previous research (e.g., Suárez and Fernández, 2011b, 2013; Suárez et al., 2016; Torrano and Soria, 2017; Suárez and Suárez, 2019).

Data Analysis

The analysis involved the application of a series of descriptive analyses and correlations. These tests were applied to the different types of academic goals, performance self-efficacy, beliefs on control and self-efficacy for learning and the self-motivation strategies of enhancement and annulation of others. Then focused on gender and clustering of students according to their motivation in subsequent analyses. To this end, were carried out a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) in order to verify the existence of differences based on gender. These differences were also evaluated by means of partial eta square to estimate effect size (η_p^2) . Then checked if different clusters of students, using Quick Cluster Analysis, could be obtained on the basis of their motivation. Analyses were performed using SPSS 25.0 version. Excel 14.0 was used to calculate Average Variance Extracted (AVE), Composite Reliability (CR), and McDonald's Omega (OM).

Finally, was used the technique of structural equation modeling using AMOS 22 (Arbuckle, 2013), with the aim

of putting forward an explanatory model of how the selfmotivational strategies of enhancement and annulation are affected by the motivational variables studied. Structural equation modeling allows three strategies to be adopted. To obtain the model that was set out in this study and to avoid a completely exploratory approach, was adopted the strategy of model development. The estimation technique used was maximum likelihood and the estimation process used was direct estimation. Simultaneous analyses of several groups were performed to fit a model to several sets of data at once (by genders and clusters). In this way, simultaneous analysis of groups provides more accurate parameter estimates than would be obtained from separate single-group analyses (Arbuckle, 2013).

RESULTS

Descriptive and Correlational Study

The results of the descriptive and correlational analysis can be found in **Tables 1**, **2**. We observed with the first sample (see **Table 1**) that the two self-motivation strategies correlate significantly and positively with one another and that both strategies correlate significantly and positively with the two egoorientation goals. However, the strategy of praising others, unlike the strategy of denigrating others, correlates negatively with the task goal and with control and self-efficacy beliefs, while it correlates positively with the work-avoidance goal.

With respect to the second sample, it was observed that the two strategies of self-motivation correlated significantly and positively with one another; that both strategies correlated significantly and positively with the two goals of ego orientation and with the work-avoidance goal; and that both correlated significantly and negatively with control and self-efficacy for learning. In addition, the deception strategy correlates negatively with the task goal, while the comparison strategy does so with performance self-efficacy.

Consideration of Gender and Groups of Students With Different Motivational Characteristics

With a view to studying the appropriateness of considering gender, were conducted means difference analysis in relation to the rest of the variables studied. The results of this analysis suggest that the goals of ego self-defeating and work avoidance presented statistically significant differences according to gender (**Table 3**). Girls scored more highly in the ego self-defeating goal, whereas boys scored more highly in the work-avoidance goal.

In line with consideration of students' motivational characteristics, especially with regard to the adoption of multiple goals, and applying cluster analysis to the data collected, was observed that a clear grouping of students into three groups with different motivational characteristics (**Table 4**) was obtained. Moreover, this clustering is associated with a different use of strategies of enhancement and annulation of others. The students from the first group are those who reported the highest score in task and ego self-praise goals,

	Ν	SD	α	AVE	СŖ	MO	0	e	4	5	9	7	80
Task (1)	3.874	0.807	0.82	0.49	0.78	0.78	0.259**		-0.235**		0.288**	-0.116**	0.062
Self-enhancing (2)	2.841	0.946	0.85	0.54	0.82	0.82		0.196**	-0.053			0.302**	0.220**
Self-defeating (3)	2.734	1.144	0.87	0.64	0.87	0.87			0.050	-0.028	0.016	0.254**	0.069*
Work-avoidance (4)	2.867	0.905	0.69	0.43	0.75	0.75				-0.108**	-0.166**	0.180**	0.009
Control and self-efficacy for learning (5)	3.672	0.766	0.86	0.47	0.76	0.76					0.317**	-0.228**	0.042
Performance self-efficacy (6)	3.133	1.049	0.91	0.46	0.75	0.75						-0.078	0.119**
Enhancement (7)	1.976	0.902	0.71	0.51	0.81	0.81							0.239**
Annulation (8)	2.560	0.967	0.68	0.42	0.66	0.66							

TABLE 2 Means, standard deviations, and correlations between variab	d correlations	between varia	ables.										
	W	SD	ъ	AVE	В	QM	0	e	4	2	9	7	8
Task (1)	3.965	0.725	0.82	0.46	0.77	0.77	0.191**	0.103**	-0.258**	0.386**	0.198**	-0.099**	0.043
Self-enhancing (2)	2.758	0.996	0.85	0.54	0.83	0.83		0.215**	0.055	0.116**	0.202**	0.287**	0.338**
Self-defeating (3)	2.635	1.158	0.87	0.66	0.88	0.88			0.029	-0.102**	-0.017	0.226**	0.320**
Work-avoidance (4)	2.895	0.953	0.69	0.46	0.77	0.77				-0.133**	-0.213**	0.171**	0.123**
Control and self-efficacy for learning (5)	3.700	0.788	0.86	0.48	0.78	0.78					0.325**	-0.107**	-0.154**
Performance self-efficacy (6)	3.091	1.119	0.91	0.49	0.79	0.79						0.052	-0.100**
Deception (7)	1.818	0.717	0.69	0.33	0.60	0.60							0.355**
Comparison (8)	2.226	0.930	0.71	0.28	0.53	0.53							
** p < 0.01. AVE, Average Variance Extracted; CR, Composite Reliability	ted; CR, Comp	osite Reliabili		OM, McDonald's Omega.	ja.								

in control and self-efficacy for learning, in performance selfefficacy and in the strategy of denigrating others, whereas, on an opposite basis due to its content, it is the group that obtained the lowest score for the goal of work avoidance. The second cluster comprises students who reported higher scores in ego self-frustration and work-avoidance goals and in the strategy of praising others. And, finally, the third cluster comprises students who reported the lowest scores in all variables, except in the work-avoidance goal.

With respect to the second sample, the results of means difference analysis suggest that the four goals and deception strategy present statistically significant differences according to students' gender (**Table 3**). Boys showed higher levels in the goals of self-enhancing and work avoidance and in the strategy of deception. Girls showed higher levels in task and ego self-defeating goals. With regard to the rest of the variables, the differences found are not statistically significant.

By applying cluster analysis was observed a clear clustering of students in three groups with different motivational characteristics (**Table 4**). Moreover, this clustering is associated with a different use of strategies of deception and comparison. In the first cluster students present the lowest levels in task goal and in the two goals oriented to the ego. And they also exhibit the lowest levels in the use of the two self-motivation strategies. The second clustering exhibits the highest task and self-enhancing goals, as well as the lowest level for the workavoidance goal. And finally, a third cluster comprises students showing higher levels in self-defeating and work avoidance goals. And they also report the greatest use of the two strategies of deception and comparison.

A Model About the Relationship of the Strategies of Enhancement and Annulation of Others, Considering Gender and Groups With Different Motivational Characteristics

To assess the relationship between the different types of variables studied was specified a path diagram for the analysis of structural equation modeling in AMOS 22. The results suggest that, once the modification fit indices have been taken into consideration, the fit to the data of the model in **Figure 1** (general model) is acceptable [$\chi^2(8) = 5.204$, p = 0.736] and that the fit statistics provide corroborating evidence (**Table 5**).

The results obtained for the general model show significant relationship from the four academic goals and control and selfefficacy for learning toward the strategy of enhancement of others. These relations are negative in the case of task goal and control and self-efficacy for learning. However, the strategy of annulation of others was only related with the ego self-enhancing goal and performance self-efficacy, in both cases in a positive way. The highest relationship in the model is that from the goal of ego self-enhancing toward the strategy of enhancement of others.

Then was confirmed that the general model's fit of the data was acceptable by applying it to both groups of gender at once $[\chi^2(8) = 10.747, p = 0.216]$ and the fit statistics provided corroborating evidence in both cases (**Table 5**). In addition, the

TABLE 3 | Means, standard deviations, and differences by gender (sample 1 and sample 2).

Strategy	Gender	М	SD	F	p	η_p^2
Task	Male	3.811	0.839	3.449	0.064	0.006
	Female	3.925	0.769			
Self-enhancing	Male	2.915	0.909	2.546	0.111	0.004
	Female	2.773	0.961			
Self-defeating	Male	2.563	1.039	13.711	0.000	0.022
	Female	2.866	1.203			
Work-avoidance	Male	3.002	0.844	10.849	0.001	0.018
	Female	2.763	0.937			
Control and self-efficacy for learning	Male	3.6693.686	0.8200.730	0.079	0.779	0.000
	Female					
Performance self-efficacy	Male	3.101	1.050	0.299	0.585	0.000
	Female	3.149	1.058			
Enhancement	Male	2.055	0.909	1.478	0.225	0.002
	Female	1.922	0.890			
Annulation	Male	2.620	0.939	0.995	0.319	0.002
	Female	2.532	0.986			
Task	Male	3.899	0.747	6.215	0.013	0.007
	Female	4.019	0.702			
Self-enhancing	Male	2.949	1.007	30.480	0.000	0.033
	Female	2.590	0.950			
Self-defeating	Male	2.492	1.109	13.194	0.000	0.014
	Female	2.771	1.189			
Work-avoidance	Male	3.076	0.965	26.998	0.000	0.029
	Female	2.751	0.912			
Control and self-efficacy for learning	Male	3.694	0.814	0.021	0.886	0.000
	Female	3.702	0.769			
Performance self-efficacy	Male	3.069	1.084	0.253	0.783	0.000
	Female	3.107	1.153			
Deception	Male	1.952	0.732	30.003	0.000	0.032
	Female	1.695	0.676			
Comparison	Male	2.233	0.920	0.078	0.781	0.000
	Female	2.216	0.939			

same thing happened when was applied the model to the three clusters [$\chi^2(12) = 18.861$, p = 0.092].

A Model About the Relationships With the Strategies of Deception and Comparison, Considering Gender and Groups With Different Motivational Characteristics

To assess the relationship between the different types of variables studied, were conducted analysis through structural equation modeling. The results suggest that, once the modification fit indices have been taken into consideration, the fit to the data of the model in **Figure 2** (general model) is acceptable $[\chi^2(4) = 3.228, p = 0.520]$ and that the fit statistics provide corroborating evidence (**Table 5**).

The model shows a similar pattern of positive relationships toward the two self-motivation strategies. These relations are from the two ego-oriented goals and from the goal of avoidance of work; the only difference seems to consist of these relations being more intense in the case of the comparison strategy. However, this pattern is broken by the relation of the task goal toward the strategy of deception, which is also negative. With regard to control and self-efficacy beliefs variables, the comparison strategy shows negative relationships with both variables and the deception strategy is positively related with performance self-efficacy.

Then was confirmed that the general model's fit of the data was acceptable by applying it to both groups of gender at once $[\chi^2(8) = 8.807, p = 0.359]$ and the fit statistics provided corroborating evidence in both cases (**Table 5**). In addition, the same thing happened when was applied the model to the three clusters $[\chi^2(3) = 350, p = 0.950]$.

CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

In brief, with respect to the first sample, can be highlighted that enhancement and annulation of others strategies positively correlate and that both are the variables with the lowest mean scores. It can be observed, however, that they exhibit a very

TABLE 4 Centers of clusters by motivational and self-motivation variables	
(sample 1 and sample 2).	

		Cluster	
	1	2	3
Task	4.37	3.80	3.48
Self-enhancing	3.18	3.11	2.16
Self-defeating	2.52	3.57	1.89
Work-avoidance	2.37	3.11	3.05
Control and self-efficacy for learning	4.16	3.48	3.45
Performance self-efficacy	3.98	2.82	2.66
Enhancement	1.59	2.62	1.51
Annulation	2.92	2.67	2.04
Students in cluster	190	240	183
		Cluster	
	1	2	3
Task	3.70	4.33	3.85
Self-enhancing	2.09	3.16	3.04
Self-defeating	1.76	2.53	3.70
Work-avoidance	3.01	2.47	3.24
		4.15	3.37
Control and self-efficacy for learning	3.55	4.15	0.07
Control and self-efficacy for learning Performance self-efficacy	3.55 2.48	4.15	2.68
, ,			
Performance self-efficacy	2.48	4.07	2.68

different type of relation. The strategy of enhancing others is related with the four types of goals, whereas the strategy of annulling others is related only with the self-enhancing goal. In addition, in the first strategy, the relationships with the task goal and with the beliefs on control and self-efficacy for learning are negative – that is, there is a negative relationship with variables relating to the learning process. On the other hand, in the second strategy the relationship of the ego self-enhancing goal and the performance self-efficacy goal is positive – that is, there is a positive relationship with the variables relating to performance. Therefore, both strategies may respond to different patterns, such that the strategy of enhancing others is associated with deficiencies in the learning process and the strategy of annulling others is associated with processes in which consideration of performance predominates.

However, because this part of the study considers only two strategies related to the use of classmates, it does not allow us to ascertain if this possible pattern in the use of the two strategies is something that can occur with other kinds of strategies that also relate to the use of classmates. For this reason, it was considered that this study was insufficient and that it was necessary to use a new sample that allows first whether this pattern is repeated with other strategies to be ascertained and second whether results about the other variables are corroborated.

With the second sample, once again was found that both strategies positively correlate with each other and that both are the variables with the lowest mean scores. Also was found that the deception and comparison strategies were explained by all the goals, except for the task goal with regard to the strategy of comparison. And was found that the strategy of comparison was characterized by a negative relationship with beliefs. On the other hand, the strategy of deception only showed a negative relation with the task goal, and there was a positive relation with performance self-efficacy.

Therefore, it appears that the strategy of deception is more related to the beliefs of the student regarding their performance and to the lack of the pursuit of learning as an end in itself, with the relations of the rest of the goals being very low. This is contrary to what occurs with the strategy of comparison, which seems more related with the goals of ego orientation and effort avoidance and is characterized by low beliefs relating to learning.

The management of one's own motivation is another element of what has been defined as SRL. To achieve it, the student



Clusters

350

3

RMSEA

0.000 0.024 0.005 0.000 0.000

0.000

					cro (sumple i	and sample z).			
	Chi-	DF	Probability	Chi-	GFI	AGFI	IFI	TLI	CFI
	square		level	square/DF					
General model	5.204	8	0.736	0.651	0.998	0.990	1.005	1.018	1.000
Boys/girls	10.747	8	0.216	1.343	0.996	0.960	0.996	0.966	0.995
Clusters	9.219	8	0.417	1.571	0.997	0.970	1.000	0.994	0.999
General model	3.228	4	0.520	1.807	0.999	0.992	1.001	1.006	1.000
Boys/girls	2.448	4	0.654	0.612	0.999	0.988	1.002	1.024	1.000

0.117

TABLE 5 | Results of model fit and of the model's application to genders and clusters (sample 1 and sample 2).

0.950



1 000

0 997

1.006

1 201

1.000

has multiple strategies that can be used for self-motivation during their learning. In this paper, were addressed four specific motivation strategies, whose common element is a use of peers

as a reference (enhancement and annulation of others, deception and comparison). The mean scores obtained on the employment of these four strategies of self-motivation were of a low to medium level, which was predictable (Suárez and Fernández, 2011b). In any case, was observed a higher use of the strategy of annulation of others relative to the rest of the strategies. Furthermore, the

four strategies seem to show a same pattern, in which both pairs

correlate positively and significantly with one another. The results obtained with the first sample regarding different patterns in both strategies, with the result that the strategy of enhancing others was associated with shortcomings in the learning process and the strategy of annulment of others was associated with processes in which the consideration of performance predominated, were not confirmed with the second sample. Nevertheless, the strategies of enhancement of others and deception seem to show a more disadaptative type of motivation because they correlate negatively with the task goal, in which the pursuit of learning is an end in itself (Skaalvik, 1997; Nietfeld et al., 2014), and with the control and self-efficacy beliefs, at the same time as correlating positively with the work-avoidance goal. Conversely, the strategy of annulation of others is the only one that fits an adaptive pattern of learning, since in the cluster analysis was observed that the students that report on its use most were the only ones that reported a greater use of both the task goal and the ego self-enhancing goal, which may allow them to direct their study toward both the objective of learning as an end in itself and the pursuit of academic performance. That is, the results indicate that the group of students with the highest level for the strategy of annulation is the one that seeks to the greatest extent to learn, that increasingly seeks to obtain good grades and that presented the highest levels for beliefs about their ability to learn and perform. However, it must be remembered that these results refer only to the strategies studied here. Therefore, there are probably other self-motivation strategies that not only are more frequently used but that also have more adaptive potential. In any case, it remains curious that in studying the strategies that have peer relations as a common element it emerges that annulation of others is the one that is most adaptive for learning. This may reflect the inadequacy of the use of external elements in order to modify internal aspects such as academic motivation.

On the other hand, it is also important to note that the worst motivational levels were obtained by the two groups of students with the lowest levels in the use of self-motivation strategies. The students with the lowest levels in the use of selfmotivation strategies are those who to the least extent seek to learn and perform, and they exhibit the lowest levels in beliefs about their own ability to learn and perform. It is not surprising that these students report the lowest use of self-motivation strategies, because they are the students with the highest levels of demotivation. And it is reasonable to suppose that the lower interest that they have in their studies brings with it a lower interest in applying self-motivation strategies.

With regard to gender, it should be indicated that only were found differences in the use of the strategy of deception. And this occurred despite what we might have foreseen at the outset, as it is usual for girls to show significant and higher scores in certain variables that involve a social component (e.g., Trucco et al., 2013; Petersen and Hyde, 2014). Only was found that boys use the strategy of deception to a greater extent. It is logical since they are also the ones who reported to a greater extent an orientation toward the goal of ego selfenhancing and boys are more likely than girls to lie when interactions are fully anonymous and deceptive messages can secure a benefit (Dreber and Johannesson, 2008). Furthermore, in both samples girls scored more highly in the ego selfdefeating goal, whereas boys scored more highly in the workavoidance goal.

Finally, were obtained different models on relationships between the variables of academic goals, self-efficacy and selfmotivation strategies. These models were also confirmed with both genders. And there was also confirmation with the groups of students created based on their motivational characteristics.

In terms of limitations to the study, alternatives models were not considered. They should be considered in future research, in the same way that other variable into the model. So it is important to highlight the need to study the diversity of self-motivational strategies. Moreover, it is important to highlight the need to use

REFERENCES

Arbuckle, J. L. (2013). IBM SPSS Amos 22 User's Guide. Chicago, IL: SPSS.

- Ariel, R., and Karpicke, J. D. (2018). Improving self-regulated learning with a retrieval practice intervention. J. Exp. psychol. Appl. 24, 43–56. doi: 10.1037/ xap0000133
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Callan, G. L., and Cleary, T. J. (2018). Multidimensional assessment of selfregulated learning with middle school math students. *Sch. Psychol. Q.* 33, 103–111. doi: 10.1037/spq0000198
- Callan, G. L., Rubenstein, L. D., Ridgley, L. M., and McCall, J. R. (2019). Measuring self-regulated learning during creative problem-solving with SRL microanalysis. *Psychol. Aesthet. Creat. Arts* doi: 10.1037/aca0000238
- Clarke, I. E., and MacCann, C. (2016). Internal and external aspects of selfhandicapping reflect the distinction between motivations and behaviours: evidence from the self-handicapping scale. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 100, 6–11. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.03.080
- Dermitzaki, I., and Efklides, A. (2001). "Age and gender effects on students evaluations regarding the self and task-related experiences in mathematics," in *Motivation in Learning Contexts: Conceptual Advances and Methodological Implications*, eds S. Volet and S. Järvelä (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 271–293.
- Dreber, A., and Johannesson, M. (2008). Gender differences in deception. *Econ. Lett.* 99, 197–199. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2007.06.027

other types of instruments too. Finally, it would be of interest to apply other designs. The results obtained do not demonstrate causality, hence the need to use other methodologies. Moreover, a longitudinal design would allow us to study the evolution of these strategies.

By way of conclusion, it is worth highlighting the need for further research on self-motivation strategies, so that this line of research takes into account not only self-regulation of the cognitive and behavioral components of learning but also the self-regulation of the student's own motivation (Zimmerman, 2013). More specifically, the strategies of enhancement of others, annulation of others, deception and comparison have a special relevance because they situate the student in a social, interactive context, highlighting the importance of considering the approach of situated learning at the same time as students' personal characteristics and thoughts (Dermitzaki and Efklides, 2001).

Educational and practical implications of the work are related mainly to the tutorial work of the teachers. SRL is a key competency that students should learn (Steinbach and Stoeger, 2018) so educators should know SRL procedures in order to show their students to use these techniques and thus impact on students' learning and achievement. In this way, teachers could train their students in the use of adaptative motivational self-regulation strategies, while discarding those other inadequate strategies, in order to improve their motivation and learning outcomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS, AF, and ÁZ conceived and designed the study, organized the database, performed the statistical analysis, and wrote the sections and first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision and read and approved the submitted version.

- Hyunjoo, L. (2012). Effects of goal relations on self-regulated learning in multiple goal pursuits: performance, the self-regulatory process, and task enjoyment. Asia Pac. Educ. Rev. 13, 369–386. doi: 10.1007/s12564-012-9216-y
- Järvenoja, H., Järvela, S., and Malmberg, J. (2015). Understanding regulated learning in situative and contextual fremworks. *Educ. Psychol.* 50, 204–219. doi: 10.1080/00461520.2015.1075400
- Kathryn, O., and Maureen, S. (2010). "The phenotypic expressions of self-doubt about ability in academic contexts: strategies of selfhandicapping and subjective overachievement," in *Handbook of the Uncertain Self.* eds A. Robert, O. Kathryn, and C. Patrick (New York, NY: Psychology Press), 379–398. doi: 10.4324/9780203848753. ch21
- King, R. B. (2016). Gender differences in motivation, engagement and achievement are related to students' perceptions of peer—but not of parent or teacher attitudes toward school. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 52, 60–71. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif. 2016.10.006
- Nietfeld, J. L., Shores, L. R., and Hoffmann, K. F. (2014). Self-regulation and gender within a game-based learning environment. J. Educ. Psychol. 106, 961–973. doi: 10.1037/a0037116
- Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., Titz, W., and Perry, R. P. (2002). Academic emotions in students' self-regulated learning an achievement: a program of qualitative and quantitative research. *Educ. Psychol.* 37, 91–105. doi: 10.1207/s15326985ep3702_4

- Petersen, J., and Hyde, J. S. (2014). "The role of gender in educational contexts and outcomes," in Advances in Child Development and Behavior, Vol. 47, eds L. S. Liben and R. S. Bigler (San Diego, CA: Elsevier Academic Press), 43–76.
- Pintrich, P. R., and De Groot, E. V. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance. J. Educ. Psychol. 82, 33–40. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.82.1.33
- Pintrich, P. R., Smith, D., Garcia, T., and McKeachie, W. J. (1991). A Manual for the Use of the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ). Ann Arbor: University of Michigan.
- Scholer, A. A., Miele, D. B., Murayama, K., and Fujita, K. (2018). New directions in self-regulation: the role of metamotivational beliefs. *Curr. Direct. Psychol. Sci.* 27, 437–442. doi: 10.1177/0963721418790549
- Skaalvik, E. M. (1997). Self-enhancing and self-defeating ego orientation: relations with task and avoidance orientation, achievement, self-perceptions, and anxiety. J. Educ. Psychol. 89, 71–81. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.89.1.71
- Steinbach, J., and Stoeger, H. (2018). Development of the teacher attitudes towards self-regulated learning scale. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 34, 193–205. doi: 10.1027/ 1015-5759/a000322
- Suárez, J. M., and Fernández, A. P. (2011a). Evaluación de las estrategias de autorregulación afectivo-motivacional de los estudiantes: las EEMA-VS [Assessment of students' affective-motivational self-regulatory strategies: the MSLS-VS]. Anales de Psicología 27, 369–380.
- Suárez, J. M., and Fernández, A. P. (2011b). Un modelo sobre cómo las estrategias motivacionales relacionadas al componente de expectativas afectan a las estrategias cognitivas y metacognitivas [A model of how motivational strategies related to the expectative component affect cognitive and metacognitive strategies]. *Electron. J. Res. Educ. Psychol.* 9, 641–658.
- Suárez, J. M., and Fernández, A. P. (2013). Un modelo sobre cómo las estrategias motivacionales relacionadas con el componente de afectividad inciden sobre las estrategias cognitivas y metacognitivas [A model of how motivational strategies related to the affective component influence cognitive and metacognitive strategies]. *Educación XX1* 16, 231–246. doi: 10.5944/educxx1.16.2.2642
- Suárez, J. M., Fernández, A. P., and Zamora, A. (2016). Immigration and gender as differentiating elements in the motivation and strategies of Spanish secondary

students. Electron. J. Res. Educ. Psychol. 14, 495-514. doi: 10.14204/ejrep.40. 15162

- Suárez, S., and Suárez, J. M. (2019). Las estrategias de aprendizaje y las metas académicas en función del género, los estilos parentales y el rendimiento en estudiantes de secundaria [Learning strategies and academic goals as a function of gender, parenting styles and performance on high school students]. *Revista Complutense de Educación* 30, 167–184. doi: 10.5209/RCED.56057
- Torrano, F., and Soria, M. (2017). Diferencias de género y aprendizaje autorregulado: el efecto del rendimiento académico previo [Gender differences and self-regulated learning: the effect of prior academic achievement]. *Revista Complutense de Educación* 28, 1027–1042. doi: 10.5209/RCED.51096
- Trucco, E. M., Wright, A. G. C., and Colder, C. R. (2013). A revised interpersonal circumplex inventory of children's social goals. Assessment 20, 98–113. doi: 10.1177/1073191111411672
- Wolters, C. A. (1998). Self-regulated learning and college students' regulation of motivation. J. Educ. Psychol. 90, 224–235. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663. 90.2.224
- Wolters, C. A., and Benzon, M. B. (2013). Assessing and predicting college students' use of strategies for the self-regulation of motivation. *J. Exp. Educ.* 81, 199–221. doi: 10.1080/00220973.2012.699901
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2013). From cognitive modeling to self-regulation: a social cognitive career path. *Educ. Psychol.* 48, 135–147. doi: 10.1080/00461520.2013. 794676

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Suárez, Fernández and Zamora. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Chinese Adolescents' Emotional Intelligence, Perceived Social Support, and Resilience—The Impact of School Type Selection

Shitao Chen*

Faculty of Psychology, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China

Choosing a school that can best assist children's development has become one of the major concerns of Chinese parents. To categorize schools by where students stay after school, this paper consider boarding schools or day schools as two major school types. This study examined the relationships among emotional intelligence (EI), perceived social support (from friends and family), and resilience for 493 Chinese adolescents (male = 249, female = 244; mean age = 13.9, SD = 0.71), and investigated how school type difference impacts these relationships. This research first used a moderator analysis to investigate the effects of trait emotional intelligence on resilience by perceived social support from family and friends, respectively. Results show that social support from family was non-significant, while support from friends was significant in moderating the relationship between EI and resilience. Furthermore, a moderated moderation analysis was used to understand if moderation by school type of perceived social support differs in the effect of trait El on resilience. Results indicated that the magnitude of the moderation by social support from friends depended on school type. For students who have lower perceived friend support, boarding school experiences provided a stronger positive relationship between trait El and resilience than day school experience. Ways to enhance students' perceived social support are discussed, along with the limitations of the current research and recommendations for future research.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Emanuela Rabaglietti, University of Turin, Italy Jeanette Garcia, University of Central Florida, United States

> *Correspondence: Shitao Chen kittychen36@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 January 2019 Accepted: 17 May 2019 Published: 11 June 2019

Citation:

Chen S (2019) Chinese Adolescents' Emotional Intelligence, Perceived Social Support, and Resilience – The Impact of School Type Selection. Front. Psychol. 10:1299. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01299 Keywords: Chinese adolescents, emotional intelligence, perceived social support, resilience, school type

INTRODUCTION

What makes school choice so important? According to the data published by the Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China in 2017, schools have direct contact with 1.4 billion students for at least 6 h a day (MEPRC, 2017). As an important place for children and adolescents to grow, it provides a developmental context, not only for students' academic learning but also for the growth of their emotional well-being and psychosocial adaptation (Martin and Brown, 2008), their emotional intelligence (Stillman et al., 2018), and their resilience level (Gómez-Baya and Mendoza, 2018). With a proliferation of school choices in China and the intensive educational competition among parents and students, choosing "the best school" for children has become a hot topic (Wu, 2012). Therefore, understanding the factors that might impact students' development and selecting a school that could best foster students growth is a meaningful decision.

44

THE RELATIONSHIPS AMONG EMOTIONAL INTELLIGENCE, PERCEIVED SOCIAL SUPPORT, AND RESILIENCE

Emotional intelligence (EI) is a popular concept, and the literature on emotional intelligence reveals that this concept is closely connected to one's academic performance (Sy et al., 2006), quality of social interactions (Summerfeldt et al., 2006; Song et al., 2010), stress management skills (Saklofske et al., 2012), and overall life satisfaction (Palmer et al., 2002). However, the definition of emotional intelligence varies depending upon the theory being used. Cherniss (2010) indicated that there are four dominant theories that are recognized in the field-"Mental Ability" model (Salovey and Mayer, 1989), "Emotional and Social Competence" model (Boyatzis et al., 2000), "Emotional and Social Intelligence" model (Bar-On, 2006), and "Trait Emotional Intelligence Model" (Petrides, 2009). Trait Emotional Intelligence Model is one of the theories that incorporates the key characteristics of the other models and conceptualizes emotional intelligence as an aspect of one's personality traits (Petrides, 2009).

The Trait Emotional Intelligence Model contains four different large constructs: Emotionality, Self-Control, Sociability, and Well-being. Each construct contains certain facets, with a total of 15 different facets comprising the model. To be specific:

Emotionality is composed of emotion perception, trait empathy, emotion expression, and relationship; Self-Control is composed of emotion regulation, stress management, low-impulsiveness, adaptability, and selfmotivation; Sociability is composed of assertiveness, emotion management, social competence, and selfesteem; and Well-being is composed of self-esteem, trait happiness, and trait optimism (Petrides, 2009, p. 95).

Researchers have found that emotional self-awareness, emotional expression, emotional self-control, and emotional self-management appear to be key components in emotional intelligence that serve a central function in psychological resilience (Armstrong et al., 2011), another vital concept that describes one's ability to successfully cope with challenge or misfortune (Wagnild and Young, 1993).

Resilient individuals are the ones who possess high selfesteem, have strong problem-solving abilities, maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships, and effectively employ emotion regulation strategies (Tugade and Fredrickson, 2004; Skodol, 2010). The psychological literature has supported the positive relationship between emotional intelligence and resilience (Maulding et al., 2012). For example, Schneider et al. (2013) found that individuals with higher EI would perceive stress as a challenge rather than a threat; they also had less negative affect and showed less distressing psychological response to stress. Another researcher, who targeted a group of high school students (284 girls and 293 boys) found that emotional intelligence is a stronger predictor of resilience compared to cognitive intelligence (Jowkar, 2007).

Recently, resilience research has been a subject of intense interest (Xi et al., 2015). Beyond the finding that emotional intelligence can predict resilience, researchers are now trying to understand what other protective factors can promote one's resilience. Interestingly, social support, especially social support that is perceived, rather than objectively provided or received (Norris and Kaniasty, 1996), appeared to be a valuable factor in impacting one's resilience (Wong, 2008). Chan's (2005) study targeted a group of Hong Kong adolescents and discovered that there is a positive relationship between their perceived social support from family and resilience level. Malecki and Demary (2002) found that although boys and girls in their early adolescence perceive similar levels of support from their parents and teachers, girls perceive more support from classmates and friends. Research results have also revealed that, on one hand, positive peer relationship can predict future school achievement (Zucchetti et al., 2015); on the other hand, adolescents who report having low perceived social support are more likely to experience psychological distress (Klineberg et al., 2006; Jacobson and Newman, 2016), engage in more problem behaviors (Demaray and Malecki, 2002), and have more externalizing and internalizing disorders (Hodges et al., 2016). Other findings showed that adolescents' adjustment (e.g., school, academic, mental health) is not only predicted by parental support (Rueger et al., 2008) but also impacted by the association between family stress and friendship reciprocity (Ciairano et al., 2007).

Perceived social support is not only related to resilience but also connected with an individual's emotional intelligence. Petrides et al. (2006) reported that for adolescents who have higher trait EI, they tend to have fewer emotional problems and feel more supported by peers. Poulou (2010) investigated the relationship between personality traits and peer relationships; he reported that individuals who have lower scores on trait EI tend to have more peer problems. This finding is consistent with Petrides et al.'s (2006) report that, for adolescents, regardless of gender, the lower their trait EI, the more behavioral problems they exhibit, which would likely lead to poorer peer relationships. Conversely, students who have high trait EI are supported more by friends and are more likely to be a leader in a group. Gallagher and Vella-Brodrick (2008) further investigated how social support and emotional intelligence predict subjective well-being. Surprisingly, perceived social support was not consistently found to be important for one's well-being; rather, it was only found to be necessary for people with low emotional intelligence (Gallagher and Vella-Brodrick, 2008). This finding sheds light on the importance of increasing perceived social support for individuals who have lower emotional intelligence.

Based on the findings above, it appears that perceived social support might be a moderator factor between trait EI and resilience. However, previous research has not examined this specific moderation relationship. Therefore, initially, this study intends to investigate the relationships among these three factors. See **Figure 1** for a conceptual model depicting the relationships among trait EI, perceived social support, and resilience.



SCHOOL TYPE DIFFERENCE AND ITS IMPACT ON ADOLESCENTS' DEVELOPMENT

As mentioned above, emotional intelligence, perceived social support, and resilience level are all important factors during adolescent development. However, it is uncertain if school type would make a difference among these variables, since day schools and boarding schools provide different learning and socializing environments for students (Xi, 2011). To be specific, day school focuses on providing regular academic instruction to students, and, as the name implies, students usually go to school during the day and go back home at the end of the school day (Xi, 2011). Even though day schools represent the main form of schooling, boarding schools are also beginning to be a well-established sector of schooling type around the world (Martin et al., 2015). Based on Bronfenbrenner's (2005) ecological systems theory, boarding school provides a unique socialization environment for students. Students spend most of their time in the same developmental context and they have more opportunities to form personal relationships with teachers, school staff, and peers. This type of interaction is also more regular, stable, and secure (Martin et al., 2014). In addition, boarding school students have more regulations and tight scheduling to follow, their level of school activity involvement is higher than that of day school students, and they tend to form more of a collective identity (Martin et al., 2014).

Though the number of boarding schools is growing and parents are starting to more frequently consider sending their children to boarding school, only a limited amount of research has focused on school type differences and the impact on students' development. One of the largest studies on boarding school effects on students' academic and non-academic outcomes indicated that, overall, boarding school students develop more self-discipline and independence than day school students, and they are more mature, better at cooperative learning, and have better critical thinking ability (Martin et al., 2014). Martin and his colleagues also found that students' academic resilience was higher in a boarding school environment (Martin et al., 2012), boarders who have a non-maladaptive relationship with their parents also tend to develop more personal resources to cope with living away from home (Bramston and Patrick, 2007).

Research does not consistently find positive results for all boarders. Schaverien (2015) described "Boarding School Syndrome" and discussed the trauma experienced by many children who were sent to boarding school at a young age. She found that many boarders adopt unconscious coping strategies to deal with the loss, bereavement and various types of abuse they experienced, which led to a split between the "home self" and the "boarding school self." This pattern continues into their adult lives and was hypothesized to be the source of considerable emotional distress and relationship difficulties. Though the level of trauma experiences is lower among boarders in recent years, Mander and Lester (2017) corroborated Schaverien's research, at least in part, with their finding that adolescent boarders reported significantly increased depression, anxiety, emotional symptoms, and hyperactivity over time, compared to nonboarders. Similarly, Behaghel et al. (2017) found that boarders' levels of well-being were lower when compared to day school students after 1 year. However, their findings revealed that this outcome would be ameliorated after 1 year for students who have the ability to adapt to change. These resilient students tend to benefit more from a boarding school environment when compared to students who have a weaker ability to adjust.

Based on the findings above, it appears that boarding school might be an effective environment for some students, but not for others; and various factors, such as an individual's emotional intelligence (Stillman et al., 2018), perception of social support (Hodges et al., 2016), and ability to recover from adversity (Gómez-Baya and Mendoza, 2018) might all play a role in deciding what type of school would best fit any particular student. Therefore, this research also intends to explore the relationship among these factors to understand how school type selection is impacting Chinese adolescents. **Figure 2** demonstrates a conceptual model that adds school type difference as another moderator.

The purpose of this study is, first, to understand the relationships among trait EI, perceived social support from friends and family, and resilience for adolescents. Based on these initial findings, a more important purpose of this study is to understand the role that school type play in impacting the strength of the relationships



FIGURE 2 | Conceptual model of the relationship among trait EI, perceived social support, resilience, and school type. This model is used to test whether the magnitude of the moderation of M (perceived social support) that works on X (trait EI) and Y (resilience) depends upon W (school type) or not.

among the three variables mentioned. Gallagher and Vella-Brodrick (2008) found that perceived social support is important for low trait EI individuals' well-being, but less so for those with high trait EI. Therefore, it was predicted that school type might impact the level of perceived social support, which, in turn, would influence the magnitude of the relationship between trait EI, perceived social support, and resilience. In summary, understanding these complex relationships provides the opportunity to offer culturally relevant recommendations for parents in their decision-making around the issue of school selection. At the same time, mental health professionals can target a more specific adolescent group when attempting to provide prevention or intervention, so as to enhance this population's emotional well-being.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 507 adolescents from five middle schools (equivalent to grades 7–9 in the U.S. system) in Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, were recruited for the study. Four hundred and ninety-three students completed the measures. Of the participants who completed the measures, approximately half were male (50.5%, n = 249) and half were female (49.5%, n = 244). The average age for these students was 13.9, ranging from 13 to 16 (SD = 0.71). A breakdown of participants' gender, school experience, and age is presented in **Supplementary Table S1**.

Procedures

This research project, including all noted attachments, were reviewed and received approval by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Indiana University, Bloomington. Prior to recruiting the schools, the researcher sought recommendations from the dean of the local Educational Department in Hangzhou and ultimately selected five middle schools based on students' heterogeneous backgrounds and whether the schools were representative of regular middle schools in Hangzhou. Among these five schools, two are day schools and have similar school schedules, consistent with what is recommended by the local Education Department. The two boarding schools included in this study also have a similar school environment. The fifth school is a little different from the other schools because it is a mixed type; majority of the students in that school attend the day school section, and students who cannot go back home every day can choose to live at the school. A breakdown of students' distribution in these schools is presented in Supplementary Table S2. All five schools use the same school curricula, and have around 40 students in each class. Following the school selection, recruiting efforts were made by contacting principals, and, upon receiving permission, classes at each school were randomly selected. After selecting the classes, teachers of these classes were contacted to facilitate the data collection process. Then, student assent forms, parent consent forms and letters to participants were sent. Students could opt out of this study if they chose not to participate; therefore, this was not a passive consent. After obtaining both written informed parental consents and student assents, the questionnaires were distributed by teachers. To increase the confidentiality of the responses, efforts were made to protect students' privacy; their answer sheets and the questionnaires were returned in sealed envelopes. All students' answer sheets were read through a preprogrammed computer, and their choices were converted to an excel spreadsheet format.

Measures

The complete survey was a combination of three different questionnaires, consisting of 69 questions, assessing adolescents' trait emotional intelligence, perceived social support, and their resilience. Each questionnaire is described below.

Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire-Adolescent Short Form-Chinese

Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire-Adolescent Short Form (TEIQue-ASF; Petrides et al., 2006) is a simplified version of the TEIQue, designed specifically for adolescents 12-17 years old. It is composed of 30 statements, rated on a 7-point Likert type scale (1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree). Examples of the questions in this scale include: "I am a very motivated person" and "I find it hard to control my feelings" (TEIQue-ASF; Petrides et al., 2006). As with the short version of TEIQue, the TEIQue-ASF was designed to assess adolescents' global trait EI instead of the factor structures of the construct, because the global score reflects a more holistic picture of one's trait EI (Petrides, 2010). The TEIQue-ASF has been used with various samples and showed good psychometric properties (Mavroveli et al., 2007). In addition, the global trait EI score obtained from TEIQue-ASF was found to correlate 0.95 with the global score of the long version-TEIQue (Petrides, 2006). The TEIQue-ASF has been translated into over five different languages, including simplified Chinese (London Psychometric Laboratory at UCL, 2015), which was used in this study.

Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support

The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS; Zimet et al., 1988) is a 12-item scale originally designed to measure three sources of support: Family, Friends, and Significant Others. Participants were asked to rate items on a seven-point scale, from 1 = strongly disagree to 7 = strongly agree. Examples of the questions in this scale include: "I get the emotional help and support I need from my family" and "I have friends with whom I can share my joys and sorrows." The MSPSS has been widely used for participants with diverse ethnic backgrounds and ages and showed adequate psychometric properties (Zimet et al., 1988; Eker and Arkar, 1995; Canty-Mitchell and Zimet, 2000; Chou, 2000; Zhang and Norvilitis, 2002). Zimet et al. (1988) reported good overall internal reliability (Cronbach's alpha = 0.88) and high subscale internal reliability. The simplified Chinese version of MSPSS was used with an adolescent sample from Hong Kong (Chou, 2000) and Mainland China (Chen, 2017). Both of the studies found that only two factors (Friend support and Family support) were revealed in the adolescent sample. Therefore, this study

will only examine perceived social support from these two sources in relation to the other variables discussed in this study.

Resilience Scale for Chinese Adolescents

Resilience Scale for Chinese Adolescents (RSCA; Hu and Gan, 2008) is an indigenous scale developed by Chinese scholars. It is a 27-item scale, measuring five different factors: Goal planning, Help-seeking, Family support, Affect control, and Positive thinking. Participants were asked to rate items on a five-point Likert-type scale-1 = completely disagree, and 5 = completely agree. Examples of the questions are, "I am always discouraged by failure", "Compared to the result, the process is more beneficial to one's growth", and "My parents always encourage me to do my best". Evidence has been provided to indicate adequate psychometric properties, and this measurement was judged to be especially appropriate to assess Chinese adolescents' resilience (Hu and Gan, 2008; Gan and Yu, 2011; Wen et al., 2015). This scale has been widely used in China in assessing adolescents' resilience under various situations (Hu and Gan, 2008; Zhou et al., 2011; Wen et al., 2015). Gan and Yu (2011) demonstrated in their study that using the total score of the Resilience Scale derived from the five factors is the best way to measure Chinese adolescents' resilience level because it captured different facets of resilience. Based upon this finding, the current study will use the total resilience score to represent Chinese adolescents' resilience level.

Data Analyses

Preliminary Analysis

Before answering the research questions, preliminary analysis of the raw data was conducted. The total missing values constituted less than 3% of the data, and were missing at random (Little's MCAR test: $\chi^2 = 22.761$, df = 18, p = 0.20). For the purpose of obtaining a complete data file, participants with missing data (n = 14) were dropped from the sample. Another preliminary analysis was to test the internal consistency of the scales. Cronbach's alpha (Cronbach, 1951) was used to assess the internal consistency, with results of the reliability tests for all measures presented in **Supplementary Table S3**. The Cronbach's alphas ranged from 0.76 to 0.91 and are considered satisfactory.

Moderation Analysis

A Moderation Analysis was used to answer the research question regarding whether adolescents' trait EI's effect on resilience is contingent on their specific source of perceived social support. The conceptual model is presented in **Figure 1**. PROCESS is a "computational tool for path analysis-based moderation and mediation analysis as well as their integration in the form of a conditional process model" that was developed by Hayes (2013, p. 419). PROCESS Model = 1 is the best model to fit the path analysis that could address this research question. In this model, predictor variable *X* was the global trait EI value, the outcome variable *Y* was the total score derived from the resilience scale, and the moderator *M* was the subscale score of the perceived social support. To test the moderation

relationship, the estimation was that the coefficients of a regression model in which the effect of individual's trait EI (*X*) on resilience level (*Y*) is allowed to vary linearly with their perceived social support level (*M*) by including the product of *X* and *M* as a predictor of *Y* along with *X* and *M*: $Y = i_1 + b_1X + b_2M + b_3XM + e_Y$.

The key interest of this test was to test b_3 , along with an inferential test. If b_3 is not statistically different from zero (*via* a confidence interval test for b_3 that straddles zero), this means that the effect of trait EI is not dependent on perceived social support. But if b_3 is statistically significantly different from zero, it could be concluded that the effect of trait EI on resilience depends on perceived social support.

To ensure the magnitude of the discrepancy in resilience between different trait EI levels was subject to sampling error at each and every value of M (perceived social support), a follow up "probing an interaction" test was carried out. Since the perceived social support scale is a quantitative variable, a common strategy when probing an interaction is to use picka-point approach. According to Hayes (2013), this approach could "estimate the conditional effect of X on Y when M is equal to mean, a standard deviation below the mean, and a standard deviation above the mean" (p. 236). However, since it is arbitrary to use plus and minus one standard deviation from the mean to represent "low," "moderate," and "high" on the moderator, the Johnson-Neyman (JN) technique was applied as well. The JN technique might generate a single solution within the range of the measurement of the moderator to indicate a statistically significant transition point in the observed moderators. It is also possible to have no solution within the range of the moderators. This could either mean the conditional effect of X on Y was statistically significant across the entire range of the moderator, or the conditional effect of X on Y was not statistically significant anywhere in the observed distribution of the moderator.

Advanced Moderated Analysis

Moderated moderation model is an advanced moderation model that was used to answer the second research question—whether the magnitude of the moderation by perceived social support of the effect of trait EI on adolescents' resilience depends upon school type (W). Two identical moderated moderation models were used to assess the three-way interaction among trait EI, perceived social support (from family and friends respectively), and school type. A conceptual model of this analysis is presented in **Figure 2**.

PROCESS, model 3 is built to simplify the estimation of a moderated moderation model. Model 3 identified the outcome variable Y (resilience), focal predictor X (trait EI), the primary moderator M (perceived social support), and secondary moderator W (school type). PROCESS calculated all the necessary products, estimated the best-fitting ordinary least square (OLS) regression model, and probed the interaction. For probing the interaction, the pick-a-point approach was used to select the value of perceived social support on its low, moderate, and high level (mean and plus/minus one SD from mean), and assessed whether school type moderates trait EI's effect on resilience, conditioned on these selected values of perceived social support. The Johnson-Neyman (JN) technique was applied here as well to generate a single solution within the range of the measurement of the moderator to indicate a statistically significant transition point in the observed moderators.

RESULTS

Moderation Analysis

To investigate the effects of trait Emotional Intelligence on resilience by perceived social support from Family and Friends, respectively, two identical moderation analyses were conducted, using PROCESS model 1 in SPSS (version 22). In the first analysis, the interaction between trait EI and perceived social support from Family (b_3) was not statistically significant, t(489) = 0.56, p > 0.05, 95% CI (-0.02; 0.04). Based on data from the current sample, then, Chinese adolescents' trait EI's impact on resilience was not moderated by their perceived social support from family. In the second analysis, the interaction between trait EI and perceived social support from friends emerged as a significant predictor, t(489) = 2.31, p < 0.05, 95% CI (0.01; 0.06), $R^2 = 0.60, F(3,489) = 243.04$, p < 0.001 (Supplementary Table S3); and the R^2 had a statistically significant change due to the interactions, F(1,489) = 5.32, p = 0.022, changing $R^2 = 0.0044$. This means the moderation component of the model explained about 60% of the variance in resilience. The result indicated that the effect of adolescents' trait EI on their resilience level depends on their perceived social support from friends. Figure 3 illustrates the interaction by depicting the regression lines of the relationship between trait EI and resilience at high, medium and low (+1 SD, mean, -1 SD) scores of the subscale score of MSPSS Friends. The fan pattern of the figure showed that Perceived Social Support from Friends functioned as a magnifier for the positive relationship noted in the research literature between adolescents' trait EI level and their resilience. The highest level of resilience occurred in individuals who reported high trait EI and high perceived social support from friends. Overall, then, the moderation analyses results indicated that perceived social support from friends, but not from family, enhanced the relationship between Chinese adolescents' trait Emotional Intelligence and resilience.

Advanced Moderation Analysis

To understand if the moderation by gender of perceived social support differs in the effect of trait EI on resilience, two moderated moderation analyses were conducted through PROCESS model 3 on SPSS (version 22). The regression coefficients for both of the three-way interactions were not statistically significant [when perceived social support from family was employed as one of the moderators, t(485) = 0.22, p = 0.82; and when perceived social support from friends was used as one of the moderators, t(485) = -1.48, p = 0.14]. This means the magnitude of the moderation by perceived social support of trait EI on resilience level did not depend on gender.

When investigating if the moderation by school type of perceived social support differs in the effect of trait EI on resilience, there was no evidence of a three-way interaction among trait EI, perceived social support from family, and school type on resilience level, t(485) = -1.10, p = 0.27. However, there was a statistically significant interaction among trait EI, perceived social support from friends, and school type on resilience level, t(485) = -2.19, R^2 increase = 0.004, F(1,485) = 4.78, p = 0.03 (**Supplementary Table S4**). This means that the magnitude of the moderation by perceived







social support from friends on trait EI depended closely on school type, which impacted adolescents' resilience level.

When probing the interaction using the pick-a-point approach, the visual representation of this model (Figure 4) shows that the effect of trait EI on resilience was consistently positive, and there was a statistically significant school type difference when perceived social support was at a low $[\theta_{(XM \rightarrow Y)|W=4.01} = 0.20]$, p = 0.0049] to moderate level $[\theta_{(XM \to Y)|W=5.42} = 0.11, p = 0.0027].$ However, when perceived social support was at a high level $[\theta_{(XM \rightarrow Y)|W=6.83} = 0.02, p = 0.8099]$, the school type difference was not statistically significant. To be more specific, there was a statistically significant difference in the effect of trait EI on resilience between students with boarding school experience and day school experience among those whose perceived social support from friends score was less than 5.46. Above this score, school experience did not moderate the effect of trait EI on resilience. Practically speaking, when perceived social support from friends was in the low to moderate range, trait EI was more strongly associated with resilience among boarding school students than among day school students. This result partially validated the hypothesis that school type would impact the relationship between trait EI, perceived social support, and resilience. This finding also has practical implications for school selection, as well as clinical implications, providing a rationale for targeting students with lower social support from friends.

DISCUSSION

The results of this study indicate that perceived social support from friends, but not from family, served a moderating role between trait EI and resilience. In addition, for adolescents whose perceived social support from friends was at a low to moderate level, there was a statistically significant difference in the effect of trait EI on resilience level between students with boarding school experience and those with day school experience. The reasons for these results will be discussed in a subsequent section of the paper.

The Moderator Role of Perceived Friend Support for Adolescents

Perceived social support serves an important role in people's lives, especially for adolescents, whose developmental goals include, but are not limited to, becoming independent from parents, establishing closer connections with a peer group, forming close friendships, and developing a romantic relationship (Pfeiffer et al., 2016). Consistent with this, the findings that emerged from this study demonstrate that perceived social support from friends is more influential than family for adolescents at this stage of their development. To be specific, for adolescents who have similar levels of trait EI, the higher the friend support they perceived, the more resilient they were in facing adversity and challenge. The powerful influence of perceived friend support replicated what had been found previously. Specifically, friend support exceeded the importance of parent support for students in late adolescence (Bokhorst et al., 2010), and friendship was rated as the most important source of social support among a group of Asian immigrant adolescents (Thomas and Baek Choi, 2006). The reasons behind the weighty role perceived friend support played in this study might be related to adolescents' developmental need of having a sense of intimacy with and support from friends (Furman and Buhrmester, 1992). The great intimacy among peers can satisfy their need to be recognized socially (Collins and Laursen, 2004), and feeling supported by their peers, especially reciprocal friendship, can give them a sense of belonging, which, in turn, increases their courage to face adversity and decrease their aggressive behavior towards challenges (Ciairano et al., 2007). However, this finding does not mean that perceived social support from family is not important. Parental support has been shown to play a critical role in children's development and serves as a foundation for their sense of secure attachment (Bowlby, 1969/1982). Research also supports the idea that when children have better attachment and perceived high social support from parents when they are young, they are more likely to perceive and seek peer support in their adolescence (Szwedo et al., 2017). Moreover, when family creates a high stress environment, supportive friendship appeared not to have a positive impact on adolescents' expectation for success and sense of belonging (Ciairano et al., 2007). Therefore, supportive parents and positive family environment, even though secondary in importance to peer support during adolescence, continues to be an important factor that should not be ignored.

Since the current study reveals that the higher the perceived friend support, the stronger the positive relationship between trait EI and resilience, it is vital to increase adolescents' awareness of social support from their social network, especially from their peers. To increase one's perceived social support, utilizing gratitude practice has been found to be one evidencebased strategy (Wood et al., 2008). In related fashion, keeping gratitude journals and reflecting upon simple moments that one perceives as a gift (Emmons and McCullough, 2003) can also increase one's perceived social support. It is recommended that mental health professionals, teachers, and parents intentionally provide opportunities for adolescents to try these strategies so as to enhance their ability to feel supported by others.

School Type Selection Impact on Adolescents' Development

Another result from the current study reveals that, for students who have lower perceived friend support, boarding school experience (e.g., attending boarding school or mixed type school with staying at school during the week as an option) was a better choice for those who had high trait EI (total trait EI score equal to or greater than 4.5). To understand this finding, students' trait emotional intelligence and school culture need to be evaluated together. First, students with higher trait EI are more likely to have stronger ability to regulate their emotions and manage their relationships with others (Zolkoski and Bullock, 2012). Though some of these students do not perceive high friend support, they can still manage their interpersonal relationships well, fit into the boarding school environment, and seek additional support. Second, school and teacher support are important protective factors in a student's life. While Chinese day school teachers devote most of their attention on students' academic performance (Zhang et al., 2013), boarding school teachers are involved in students' daily lives, in addition to their regular role, and offer more resources to students. Thus, boarding school students spend more quality time with supportive teachers and school personnel (Tian et al., 2013). This explained the higher resilience level that boarding school students with high trait EI presented, compared to day school students, even though their perceived friend support was at the low to medium level (Zolkoski and Bullock, 2012).

Nevertheless, for students who obtained scores indicative of a similar level of perceived friend support (lower than 5.46), but with lower trait EI, day school was a better choice. These students were more likely to feel overwhelmed in boarding school environments that promote independence, autonomy, and assertiveness; some of them might even be bullied or experience other relational victimization (Pfeiffer and Pinquart, 2014). Due to their inadequate social skills and their higher levels of emotionality, for these students, a boarding school's environment becomes a risk factor that might potentially decrease adolescents' sense of school belongingness and increase their feelings of loneliness. On the contrary, day school offers a contained and time-limited space for students to focus on academics in school and recover after school, which makes day school a better choice that can slightly increase their resilience.

Implications

As the first study to explore the role school type played among trait EI, perceived social support, and resilience, it has implications for parents and mental health professionals. For parents, this study provides some guidance on school selection for their children, which includes considering their emotional intelligence level and their perceived friend support as two important factors. In general, adolescents with high perceived friend support would fit in any type of school and have a high resilience level. However, when perceived friend support is lower, adolescents with higher trait EI are more resilient in a boarding school environment, while adolescents with lower trait EI fit better in day school environment. This result validates Qualter and his colleagues' finding that students with average to high EI cope better with school transition than students with low EI (Qualter et al., 2007). Therefore, parents should evaluate adolescents' trait EI level and their perception of the friend support they would likely receive in school before making this school choice decision, so that they can create an optimal fit in the school environment and enhance their psychological well-being. Nevertheless, if boarding school is a choice that has already been made, and

adolescents were having some adjustment difficulties and revealing psychological distress, parents can consider helping adolescents to learn some emotional intelligence strategies, so that they can improve their skills in facing these challenges (Qualter et al., 2007).

Furthermore, school professionals play a significant role in providing prevention and intervention to cultivate students' psychological development (Van Ryzin, 2011). One of the fundamental differences between boarding school and day school experience is the level of emotional support and quality time school professionals provide to students. School professionals, no matter what school setting they are in, are recommended to form positive relationships with students, be good role models in their lives, and enhance adolescents' feelings of worthiness and belonging. They can also encourage students to write gratitude journals and keep regular contact with parents and friends in order to foster a smooth adaptation to the new environment. For students who are lacking adequate abilities in emotion regulation, stress management, and social interaction, school mental health professionals can provide individual counseling or group counseling services to teach students skills that would allow them to be more emotionally intelligent and to be more prepared for the inevitable difficult times.

Limitations and Future Directions

Beyond the implications, there are some areas needing improvement in future studies. First, only two types of social support (from friends or family) were examined in this study, and the data were all collected through a self-report format. Due to the vital role that teacher support and support from other social resources play in an adolescents' life (Van Ryzin, 2011), future studies should at least consider using measures that include perceived social support from teacher as an important variable. Future studies should also collect data that extends beyond the self-report format. Parents and teachers' feedback regarding students' emotional intelligence and resilience, and support they provide to students, might be interesting moderators to examine. Second, this study included adolescents from 13 to 16 years old (mean = 13.9, SD = 0.71), an age period that did not well represent the entire adolescent stage. Since adolescents experience dramatic changes in terms of their emotion regulation abilities, their ability to solve problems or establish relationships, there might be a different trend between preadolescents, early adolescents, and late adolescents. Future studies can therefore consider making a comparison between different adolescent age groups. Third, even though the five schools selected in this study may represent normal middle schools in Hangzhou, each school and even the randomly selected classes have their unique culture. For instance, some schools or classes have a more liberal environment than the others, or some have formed a more supportive and collaborative classroom environment. Since these subcultures were not examined in this study, it can be an important piece that impacts adolescents' development. Last but not least, the cultural diversity within China requires

special considerations regarding of the generalizability of the research results. Hangzhou is the fourth-largest metropolitan area in China and attracts people from all over the country. Population demographics in Hangzhou are much more diverse than those from the western or more rural areas of China. Therefore, the findings and conclusions of this study may only be applicable to students from eastern, metropolitan areas of China. To form a well-rounded understanding of the connection between Chinese adolescents' trait EI, perceived social support, resilience, and school type, future research can replicate this study, but increase generalizability by selecting adolescents with a broader age range from western and lessdeveloped parts of China. In addition, future studies can consider collecting information regarding students' family socioeconomic status, parents' educational level, and early parent-child attachment style as variables controlled before analyzing data, in order to better understand the complex interactions among adolescents' trait EI, perceived social support, and resilience.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Indiana University Bloomington, with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Indiana University Bloomington.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SC is the sole author who initiated this study, collected data, ran the data analysis, and completed the manuscript.

FUNDING

I recently received funding support by "the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities" in China.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special thanks to Jack Cummings, Ph.D., Joel Wong, Ph.D., Dubravka Svetina, Ph.D., and Rebecca Martinez, Ph.D., from Indiana University who provided substantial constructive feedback and guided the author in completing the study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01299/ full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Armstrong, A. R., Galligan, R. F., and Critchley, C. R. (2011). Emotional intelligence and psychological resilience to negative life events. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 51, 331–336. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2011.03.025
- Bar-On, R. M. (2006). The Bar-On model of emotional-social intelligence (ESI). Psicothema 18, 13–25.
- Behaghel, L., Chaisemartin, C., and Gurgand, M. (2017). Ready for boarding? The effects of a boarding school for disadvantaged students. Am. Econ. J. Appl. Econ. 9, 140–164. doi: 10.1257/app.20150090
- Bokhorst, C. L., Sumter, S. R., and Westenberg, P. M. (2010). Social support from parents, friends, classmates, and teachers in children and adolescents aged 9 to 18 years: who is perceived as most supportive? *Soc. Dev.* 19, 417–426. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00540.x
- Bowlby, J. (1969/1982). Attachment and loss, vol. 1. (New York: Basic Books).
- Boyatzis, R. E., Goleman, D., and Rhee, K. (2000). "Clustering competence in emotional intelligence: insights from the emotional competence inventory (ECI)" in *Handbook of emotional intelligence*. eds. R. Bar-On, and J. D. Parker (San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass), 343–362.
- Bramston, P., and Patrick, J. (2007). Rural adolescents experiencing an urban transition. *Aust. J. Rural Health* 15, 247–251. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1584.2007.00897.x
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (2005). "Ecological systems theory (1992)" in Making human beings human: Bioecological perspectives on human development. ed. U. Bronfenbrenner (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Ltd), 106–173.
- Canty-Mitchell, J., and Zimet, G. D. (2000). Psychometric properties of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support in urban adolescents. *Am. J. Community Psychol.* 28, 391–400. doi: 10.1023/A:1005109522457
- Chan, D. W. (2005). Self-perceived creativity, family hardiness, and emotional intelligence of Chinese gifted students in Hong Kong. *Prufrock J.* 16, 47–56. doi: 10.4219/jsge-2005-471
- Chen, S. (2017). Chinese adolescents' emotional intelligence, perceived social support, and resilience. doctoral dissertation. (Indiana, US: Indiana University).
- Cherniss, C. (2010). Emotional intelligence: toward clarification of a concept. Ind. Organ. Psychol. 3, 110–126. doi: 10.1111/j.1754-9434.2010.01231.x
- Chou, K. (2000). Assessing Chinese adolescents' social support: the multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 28, 299–307. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00098-7
- Ciairano, S., Rabaglietti, E., Roggero, A., Bonino, S., and Beyers, W. (2007). Patterns of adolescent friendships and psychological adjustment and antisocial behavior: the moderating role of family stress and friendship reciprocity. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 31, 415–428. doi: 10.1177/0165025407080573
- Collins, W. A., and Laursen, B. (2004). Changing relationships, changing youth interpersonal contexts of adolescent development. J. Early Adolesc. 24, 55–62. doi: 10.1177/0272431603260882
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika* 16, 297–334. doi: 10.1007/BF02310555
- Demaray, M. K., and Malecki, C. K. (2002). The relationship between perceived social support and maladjustment for students at risk. *Psychol. Sch.* 39, 305–316. doi: 10.1002/pits.10018
- Eker, D., and Arkar, H. (1995). Perceived social support: psychometric properties of the MSPSS in normal and pathological groups in a developing country. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 30, 121–126. doi: 10.1007/ BF00802040
- Emmons, R. A., and McCullough, M. E. (2003). Counting blessings versus burdens: experimental studies of gratitude and subjective well-being in daily life. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 84, 377–389. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.84.2.377
- Furman, W., and Buhrmester, D. (1992). Age and sex in perceptions of networks of personal relationships. *Child Dev.* 63, 103–115. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.1992. tb03599.x
- Gallagher, E. N., and Vella-Brodrick, D. A. (2008). Social support and emotional intelligence as predictors of subjective well-being. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 44, 1551–1561. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.01.011
- Gan, Y., and Yu, J. (2011). "中国青少年心理韧性量表"的概化理论研究 [The theoretical perspective of the Chinese resilience scale for adolescences]. *J. Hubei Univ. Philos. Soc. Sci.* 38, 125–128.
- Gómez-Baya, D., and Mendoza, R. (2018). Trait emotional intelligence as a predictor of adaptive responses to positive and negative affect during adolescence. *Front. Psychol.* 9:12. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02525

- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. Guilford Press.
- Hodges, J., Sheffield, J., and Ralph, A. (2016). Staff and boarders perspectives of the boarding environment. *J. Child Fam. Stud.* 25, 1045–1056. doi: 10.1007/s10826-015-0287-3
- Hu, Y. Q., and Gan, Y. Q. (2008). Development and psychometric validity of the resilience scale for Chinese adolescents. *Acad. Psychol. Sin.* 40, 902–912. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1041.2008.00902
- Jacobson, N. C., and Newman, M. G. (2016). Perceptions of close and group relationships mediate the relationship between anxiety and depression over a decade later. *Depress. Anxiety* 33, 66–74. doi: 10.1002/da.22402
- Jowkar, B. (2007). The mediating role of resilience in the relationship between general and emotional intelligence and life satisfaction. *Contemp. Psychol.* 2, 3–12.
- Klineberg, E., Clark, C., Bhui, K. S., Haines, M. M., Viner, R. M., Head, J., et al. (2006). Social support, ethnicity and mental health in adolescents. *Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol.* 41, 755–760. doi: 10.1007/ s00127-006-0093-8
- Malecki, K. C., and Demary, K. M. (2002). Measuring perceived social support: development of the child and adolescent social support scale (CASSS). *Psychol. Sch.* 39, 1–18. doi: 10.1002/pits.10004
- Mander, D. J., and Lester, L. (2017). A longitudinal study into indicators of mental health, strengths and difficulties reported by boarding students as they transition from primary school to secondary boarding schools in Perth, Western Australia. J. Psychol. Couns. Sch. 27, 139–152. doi: 10.1017/jgc.2017.1
- Martin, P., and Brown, B. (2008). The school environment and adolescent wellbeing: Beyond academics. Research brief. Publication #2008-26. (Washington, DC: Child Trends).
- Martin, A. J., Papworth, B., Ginns, P., and Liem, G. A. D. (2014). Boarding school, academic motivation and engagement, and psychological well-being: a large-scale investigation. Am. Educ. Res. J. 51, 1007–1049. doi: 10.3102/0002831214532164
- Martin, A. J., Papworth, B. A., Ginns, P., and Nejad, H. (2012). Academic buoyancy, academic resilience, and adaptability: how students deal with difficulty and change. *Lights Out* 5, 4–6.
- Martin, A. J., Papworth, B., Ginns, P., and Malmberg, L. E. (2015). Motivation, engagement, and social climate: An international study of boarding schools. *J. Educ. Psychol.* 108, 772–787. doi: 10.1037/edu0000086
- Maulding, W. S., Peters, G. B., Roberts, J., Leonard, E., and Sparkman, L. (2012). Emotional intelligence and resilience as predictors of leadership in school administrators. J. Leadersh. Stud. 5, 20–29. doi: 10.1002/jls.20240
- Mavroveli, S., Petrides, K. V., Rieffe, C., and Bakker, F. (2007). Trait emotional intelligence, psychological well-being and peer-rated social competence in adolescence. Br. J. Dev. Psychol. 25, 263–275. doi: 10.1348/ 026151006X118577
- Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China. (2017). The overview of China's education The overall development of the whole country's education in 2016. Available at: http://www.moe.gov.cn/jyb_sjzl/s5990/201711/t20171110_318862.html (Accessed March 10, 2019).
- Norris, F. H., and Kaniasty, K. (1996). Received and perceived social support in times of stress: a test of the social support deterioration deterrence model. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 71, 498–511. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.71.3.498
- Palmer, B., Donaldson, C., and Stough, C. (2002). Emotional intelligence and life satisfaction. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 33, 1091–1100. doi: 10.1016/ S0191-8869(01)00215-X
- Petrides, K. V. (2006). Deriving factor scores from the TEIQue-SF. *Webnote #2.* Available at: http://www.ioe.ac.uk/schools/phd/kpetrides/teique1.htm (Accessed Sep 13, 2016).
- Petrides, K. V. (2009). "Psychometric properties of the trait emotional intelligence questionnaire (TEIQue)" in Assessing emotional intelligence. eds. J. D. A. Parker, D. H. Saklofske, and C. Stough (USA: Springer), 85–101.
- Petrides, K. V. (2010). Trait emotional intelligence theory. Ind. Organ. Psychol. 3, 136–139. doi: 10.1111/j.1754-9434.2010.01213.x
- Petrides, K. V., Sangareau, Y., Furnham, A., and Frederickson, N. (2006). Trait emotional intelligence and children's peer relations at school. *Soc. Dev.* 15, 537–547. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2006.00355.x
- Pfeiffer, J. P., and Pinquart, M. (2014). Bullying in German boarding schools: a pilot study. Sch. Psychol. Int. 35, 580–591. doi: 10.1177/0143034314525513

- Pfeiffer, J. P., Pinquart, M., and Krick, K. (2016). Social relationships, Prosocial behaviour, and perceived social support in students from boarding schools. *Can. J. Sch. Psychol.* 31, 279–289. doi: 10.1177/0829573516630303
- Poulou, M. S. (2010). The role of trait emotional intelligence and social and emotional skills in students' emotional and behavioural strengths and difficulties: a study of Greek adolescents' perceptions. *Int. J. Emot. Educ.* 2, 30–47.
- Qualter, P., Whiteley, H. E., Hutchinson, J. M., and Pope, D. J. (2007). Supporting the development of emotional intelligence competencies to ease the transition from primary to high school. *Educ. Psychol. Pract.* 23, 79–95. doi: 10.1080/02667360601154584
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., and Demaray, M. K. (2008). Gender differences in the relationship between perceived social support and student adjustment during early adolescence. *Sch. Psychol. Q.* 23, 496–514. doi: 10.1037/1045-3830.23.4.496
- Salovey, P., and Mayer, J. D. (1989). Emotional intelligence. Imagin. Cogn. Pers. 9, 185–211.
- Saklofske, D. H., Austin, E. J., Mastoras, S. M., Beaton, L., and Osborne, S. E. (2012). Relationships of personality, affect, emotional intelligence and coping with student stress and academic success: Different patterns of association for stress and success. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 22, 251–257. doi: 10.1016/j. lindif.2011.02.010
- Schaverien, J. (2015). "Boarding school syndrome: the psychological trauma of the "privileged" child" in *Boarding school syndrome: The psychological trauma* of the "privileged" child. ed. J. Schaverien (London: Routledge, Taylor and Francis Inc), 1–247. doi: 10.4324/9781315716305
- Schneider, T. R., Lyons, J. B., and Khazon, S. (2013). Emotional intelligence and resilience. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 55, 909–914. doi: 10.1016/j. paid.2013.07.460
- Skodol, A. E. (2010). "The resilient personality" in *Handbook of adult resilience*. eds. J. W. Reich, A. J. Zautra, and J. Stuart Hall (New York, US: The Guilford Press), 112–125.
- Song, L. J., Huang, G. H., Peng, K. Z., Law, K. S., Wong, C. S., and Chen, Z. (2010). The differential effects of general mental ability and emotional intelligence on academic performance and social interactions. *Intelligence* 38, 137–143. doi: 10.1016/j.intell.2009.09.003
- Stillman, S. B., Stillman, P., Martinez, L., Freedman, J., Jensen, A. L., and Leet, C. (2018). Strengthening social emotional learning with student, teacher, and schoolwide assessments. J. Appl. Dev. Psychol. 55, 71–92. doi: 10.1016/j. appdev.2017.07.010
- Summerfeldt, L. J., Kloosterman, P. H., Antony, M. M., and Parker, J. D. (2006). Social anxiety, emotional intelligence, and interpersonal adjustment. J. Psychopathol. Behav. Assess. 28, 57–68. doi: 10.1007/s10862-006-4542-1
- Sy, T., Tram, S., and O'Hara, L. A. (2006). Relation of employee and manager emotional intelligence to job satisfaction and performance. J. Vocat. Behav. 68, 461–473. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2005.10.003
- Szwedo, D. E., Hessel, E. T., Loeb, E. L., Hafen, C. A., and Allen, J. P. (2017). Adolescent support seeking as a path to adult functional independence. *Dev. Psychol.* 53, 949–961. doi: 10.1037/dev0000277
- Thomas, M., and Baek Choi, J. (2006). Acculturative stress and social support among Korean and Indian immigrant adolescents in the United States. J. Sociol. Soc. Welf. 33, 123–144.
- Tian, L., Liu, B., Huang, S., and Huebner, E. S. (2013). Perceived social support and school well-being among Chinese early and middle adolescents: the mediational role of self-esteem. *Soc. Indic. Res.* 113, 991–1008. doi: 10.1007/ s11205-012-0123-8

- Tugade, M. M., and Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). Resilient individuals use positive emotions to bounce back from negative emotional experiences. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 86, 320–333. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.86.2.320
- Van Ryzin, M. J. (2011). Protective factors at school: reciprocal effects among adolescents' perceptions of the school environment, engagement in learning, and hope. J. Youth Adolesc. 40, 1568–1580. doi: 10.1007/s10964-011-9637-7
- Wagnild, G. M., and Young, H. M. (1993). Development and psychometric evaluation of the resilience scale. J. Nurs. Meas. 1, 165–178.
- Wen, Y., Liu, Q., Zhang, F., Huang, K., Lu, J., Guo, X., et al. (2015). Mental resilience tested with the resilience scale for chinese adolescents (RSCA) in Chinese children: a meta-analysis. *Chin. Ment. Health J.* 29, 826–832.
- Wong, D. F. K. (2008). Differential impacts of stressful life events and social support on the mental health of Mainland Chinese immigrant and local youth in Hong Kong: a resilience perspective. *Br. J. Soc. Work.* 38, 236–252. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bcl344
- Wood, A. M., Maltby, J., Gillett, R., Linley, P. A., and Joseph, S. (2008). The role of gratitude in the development of social support, stress, and depression: two longitudinal studies. *J. Res. Pers.* 42, 854–871. doi: 10.1016/j. jrp.2007.11.003
- Wu, D. (2012). 义务教育"择校"困境博弈均衡分析 [Analysis of game equilibrium of the compulsory educational "social choice" dilemma]. Edu. Sci. 教育科学 28, 6-12.
- Xi, J. (2011). 住校还是走读,这是一个问题 [Attending boarding school or day school is a question to consider]. *Fam. Edu. China* 中华家教 8, 19-20.
- Xi, J., Zeng, Y., and Zuo, Z. (2015). An overview of ideology on resilience in China. *Chin. J. Clin. Psych.* 23, 555–559.
- Zhang, W., Li, H., Gong, Y., and Ungar, M. (2013). Stressful events and depression among Chinese adolescents: the mitigating role of protective factors. *Sch. Psychol. Int.* 34, 501–513. doi: 10.1177/0143034312472760
- Zhang, J., and Norvilitis, J. M. (2002). Measuring Chinese psychological wellbeing with Western developed instruments. J. Pers. Assess. 79, 492–511. doi: 10.1207/S15327752JPA7903_06
- Zhou, D. D., Jin, H. Y., Yan, C. P., He, Q. Y., Xiao, W. K., Li, H. L., et al. (2011). Relationship between resilience, meta-mood and goal orientation among senior middle school students. J. Xinxiang Med. Coll. 6, 19–25.
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., and Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. J. Pers. Assess. 52, 30–41. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2
- Zolkoski, S. M., and Bullock, L. M. (2012). Resilience in children and youth: a review. *Child Youth Serv. Rev.* 34, 2295–2303. doi: 10.1016/j. childyouth.2012.08.009
- Zucchetti, G., Candela, F., Sacconi, B., and Rabaglietti, E. (2015). Friendship quality and school achievement: a longitudinal analysis during primary school. J. Appl. Sch. Psychol. 31, 1–18. doi: 10.1080/15377903.2015.1084963

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Moderating Effect of Mindfulness on the Mediated Relation Between Critical Thinking and Psychological Distress via Cognitive Distortions Among Adolescents

Michael Ronald Su and Kathy Kar-man Shum*

Department of Psychology, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam, Hong Kong

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Félix Neto, University of Porto, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Lisa PytlikZilig, University of Nebraska System, United States Carolin Hahnel, German Institute for International Educational Research (LG), Germany

> *Correspondence: Kathy Kar-man Shum kkmshum@hku.hk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 11 December 2018 Accepted: 07 June 2019 Published: 26 June 2019

Citation:

Su MR and Shum KK-m (2019) The Moderating Effect of Mindfulness on the Mediated Relation Between Critical Thinking and Psychological Distress via Cognitive Distortions Arnong Adolescents. Front. Psychol. 10:1455. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01455 Critical thinking has been widely regarded as an indispensable cognitive skill in the 21st century. However, its associations with the affective aspects of psychological functioning are not well understood. This study explored the interrelations between trait mindfulness, critical thinking, cognitive distortions, and psychological distress using a moderated mediation model. The sample comprised 287 senior secondary school students (57% male and 43% female) aged 14-19 from a local secondary school in Hong Kong. The results revealed that high critical thinking was significantly associated with high levels of psychological distress when mindful awareness was low among adolescents. Trait mindfulness was found to moderate the indirect effects of critical thinking on psychological distress via cognitive distortions as the mediator. Specifically, in low trait mindfulness conditions, critical thinking was found to associate positively with cognitive distortions and psychological distress. Such associations were not observed in high trait mindfulness conditions. The findings reveal that though critical thinking has positive associations with cognitive functioning, its associations with affective well-being might be negative. The results also suggest that mindfulness might play an important role in preventing the possible psychological distress associated with critical thinking. Educational implications relating to the fostering of critical thinking and mindful awareness are discussed.

Keywords: mindfulness, critical thinking, cognitive distortions, psychological distress, moderated mediation

INTRODUCTION

Critical Thinking as a 21st Century Skill

With the fast-paced technological advances, the rise of the "knowledge economy," and the information overload brought about by the internet, educators from all over the world have been re-evaluating the skill sets that are vital for people to thrive in the 21st century. Critical thinking is one of the most frequently reported and cited 21st century skills (Ananiadou and Claro, 2009;

Dede, 2010). Research has shown that critical thinking is associated with numerous positive cognitive outcomes such as academic attainment (Bitner, 1991), cognitive performance (Witt, 2002), decision-making abilities (Shin, 1998), and decreased cognitive bias and heuristic thinking (Facione and Facione, 2001). It has been found to be a better predictor of life decisions than intelligence (Butler et al., 2017). The benefits of critical thinking are particularly prominent in the 21st century when the internet has become the essential vehicle of information. Anyone can now create "information" online. It is critical thinking that allows people to judge the truthfulness, credibility, and bias of information they come across in online environments (Leu et al., 2014) and synthesize the information into a coherent knowledge base (Brand-Gruwel and Stadtler, 2011). In addition, as scientific research and findings are becoming more accessible to the general public, a certain degree of scientific literacy is highly desirable, if not essential. Such scientific literacy can be developed by learning the skills and techniques in critical thinking (Britt et al., 2014). Critical thinking has also been shown to be useful in social and interpersonal problem solving and decision making (Ku, 2009).

The benefits of critical thinking are well researched and established in the cognitive and, more recently, the social domains. However, less is known about the relation between critical thinking and the affective aspects of psychological functioning. The goal of our study is to explore such possible relations. As critical thinking skills have been endorsed and promoted by various education systems around the world (Australian Council for Educational Research, 2002; Association of American Colleges and Universities, 2005), the findings of our study may have important implications for the educational practices across the globe regarding the development of critical thinking skills among students, especially adolescents. This is because the development of higher order cognitive processes is believed to be most active in late adolescence and early adulthood (Sowell et al., 1999). The development of critical thinking is found to be less mature in children (Giedd et al., 1999) and many critical thinking inventories have suggested minimum age for administration (Halpern, 2003; Ennis et al., 2005).

Critical thinking is broadly defined as "reasonable reflective thinking that is focused on deciding what to believe and do" (Ennis, 1987, p.10). Halpern (2003) provides a more elaborate definition by referring to it as "purposeful, reasoned, and goal-directed... thinking involved in solving problems, formulating inference, calculating likelihoods, and making decisions (p.6)." In this sense, the word critical is not meant to imply "criticism" or "fault-finding" but careful evaluation or judgment that aims at improving the thinking process (Halpern, 1998). Critical thinking is considered to be a trait instead of a state. A trait is thought to be a personal characteristic that remains comparatively stable across time and situations, whereas a state is considered to reflect one's adaptation to a specific circumstance (Hamaker et al., 2007). For the current study, the working definition of critical thinking is based on the conceptualization of Ennis (1987) which has a narrower focus on one's ability to make inferences based on (1) induction, (2)

credibility of sources and observation, (3) deduction, and (4) assumption identification.

Possible Relations Between Critical Thinking and Affective Functioning

Very few research studies have explored the relation between critical thinking and its effect on affective functioning. Among these studies, Scott (1983) empirically explored the relation between critical thinking performance and state anxiety level in 85 women (aged 18-60) prior to experiencing breast biopsy and 6 to 8 weeks post-procedure. Only participants later found to have benign conditions were included and post-tested. The results showed that state anxiety and critical thinking ability were not significantly correlated pre- or 6-8 weeks post- biopsy. Scott did notice a negative relation between critical thinking performance and state anxiety in participants from the high-anxiety subgroup. It was hypothesized that after reaching a certain level of anxiety, critical thinking ability begins to decline as a function of high anxiety. However, no proper moderation analysis with state anxiety as the moderator was conducted. Also, the criterion for classifying participants into the high anxiety subgroup was not provided. It appears questionable to analyze the relationship of a variable after dissecting it into extreme groups without sound justifications.

Irwin and Bassham (2003) theorize that critical thinking might influence affective functioning based on the theory of cognitive therapy. Cognitive therapy maintains that dysfunctional or maladaptive thinking is the root cause of psychological distress (Beck, 1976; Beck and Weishaar, 2000). Dysfunctional thinking is characterized by the presence of systematic errors in reasoning, also known as cognitive distortions, which in turn compromises people's mood and behaviors. Common cognitive distortions include arbitrary inference, false dichotomy, selective abstraction, overgeneralization, etc (Beck, 1967, 1976; Beck and Weishaar, 2000). Empirically, cognitive distortions have been shown to be associated with depression, anxiety, and other affective symptoms (Leung and Poon, 2001; McGrath and Repetti, 2002; de Oliveira et al., 2015). Moreover, gender differences have been observed in various forms of psychological distress in which females were significantly over-represented (Hankin and Abramson, 2001; McLean et al., 2011).

Irwin and Bassham (2003) scrutinized ten cognitive distortions proposed by Beck (1967, 1976) and concluded that they each exhibit and epitomize at least one logical fallacy – an erroneous pattern of reasoning for arriving at the conclusion of an argument (Van Eemeren et al., 2009). The ability to identify and avoid making logical fallacy is indeed one of the key attributes of a critical thinker (Halpern, 2003). Although Irwin and Bassham (2003) made no claim that cognitive distortions are the results of weak reasoning ability, it raises the question of whether people with high critical thinking skills in general would experience fewer and less intense cognitive distortions and perhaps have better affective well-being. The point of particular interest here is whether critical thinkers can direct or generalize their critical thinking ability to evaluate their own thoughts and emotions.

The Role Mindfulness Plays

The conceptual overlap of critical thinking and cognitive distortions has not been directly explored in the existing literature. One construct that is frequently associated with critical thinking and cognitive distortions, respectively, is metacognition. It is simply defined as "the monitoring and control of thought" (Martinez, 2006, p. 696). Kuhn (1999) views critical thinking as one of the sub-categories of metacognition known as "metacognitive knowledge" which can aid in the monitoring of thought. Scherer-Dickson (2004) postulates that cognitive distortions are both monitored and controlled by metacognition.

Recent research has highlighted the intricate relation between mindfulness and metacognition (Jankowski and Holas, 2014). Mindfulness is defined as one's conscious awareness of the present moment in a non-judgmental manner (Kabat-Zinn, 1994). It is grounded in a perceptual, rather than cognitive or emotional manifestation of the current moment as it is. Shapiro et al. (2006) propose that mindfulness can bring about mental shifts in perspective which allow us to perceive our experience with enhanced clarity and objectivity. Such a shift in perspective is not only found to help regulate affects and behaviors but is also therapeutic in that it allows us to step back and observe our thoughts objectively without being controlled by them. Mindfulness can be measured as a trait or disposition (Brown and Ryan, 2003). Significant negative correlations have been demonstrated between trait mindfulness and depression (Cash and Whittingham, 2010), rumination (Raes and Williams, 2010), cognitive reactivity (Raes et al., 2009), social anxiety (Rasmussen and Pidgeon, 2011), and general psychological symptoms (Baer et al., 2006).

Cognitive distortions refer to both the frequency and intensity in which one engages in illogical thinking patterns (de Oliveira et al., 2015). As critical thinkers are good at evaluating arguments, making decisions, and solving problems, they should be less likely to commit thinking errors frequently, and intensely. However, this might not be the case for critical thinkers who are low in mindfulness. When people are too drowned in their thoughts and feelings (i.e., low in mindfulness), their metacognitive regulation ability is impaired (Jankowski and Holas, 2014), and they are more likely to commit cognitive distortions (Schütze et al., 2010). Critical thinkers are no exception. Even though critical thinkers know declaratively that cognitive distortions are illogical in theory, those with low mindfulness might still fall prey to committing cognitive distortions in everyday life due to their compromised metacognitive regulatory skills. Knowing and doing can be two different things. Furthermore, when critical thinkers with low mindfulness are unaware of their compromised critical thinking ability and continue to be self-assured in their judgment and decision, they are likely to believe in the cognitive distortions more strongly, which can then inflate their overall level of cognitive distortions.

The Current Study

The current study explored the interrelations between critical thinking, cognitive distortions, mindfulness, and psychological distress. Specifically, this study hypothesized that:

- (1) Mindfulness moderates the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress. At low mindfulness, high critical thinking would predict high psychological distress, whereas the opposite direction of association would be expected at high mindfulness (i.e., negative relation between critical thinking and psychological distress).
- (2) Cognitive distortions mediate the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress, moderated by mindfulness (see **Figure 1**). We postulate that at low mindfulness, critical thinking would more strongly predict cognitive distortions, which in turn predicts psychological distress. If the hypotheses of the present study hold true, high critical thinking ability could potentially be associated with psychological well-being when coupled with low mindfulness.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedures

The participants of this study consisted of 287 senior secondary school students (57% male and 43% female) from a local secondary school in Hong Kong. Ages ranged from 14 to 19 years, with a mean of 15.58 (SD = 0.85). Voluntary informed consent was obtained from the participants, their parents, and the school principal. Participants were guaranteed anonymity and confidentiality. Approval to conduct the study was granted by the research ethics committee at the university. Each participant attended a 40-minute session in group format in their respective classrooms to complete the measures during regular school hours. They were first allowed 15 min to fill out a questionnaire, which included demographic information (age, gender, and grade level), as well as measures of cognitive distortions, psychological distress, and mindfulness. They were then asked to complete the critical thinking assessment within a time limit of 25 min.

Measures

Cognitive Distortions Questionnaire

Cognitive distortions were measured using the *Cognitive Distortions Questionnaire* (CD-Quest; de Oliveira et al., 2015).



It is a 15-item six-point Likert scale ranging from "0" to "5" which assesses one's overall level of cognitive distortions based on self-reported frequency and intensity of cognitive distortions committed during the past week. An example item on dichotomous thinking (also called all-or-nothing, black-and-white, or polarized thinking) reads: "I view a situation, a person or an event in "either-or" terms, fitting them into only two extreme categories instead of on a continuum." The scoring for each item captured both the frequency of commission (from No to Almost all of the time) and the intensity of belief (from A little to Very much) (see Table 1). Higher scores indicate higher levels of cognitive distortions. The CD-Quest was translated by the first author into Chinese. A back-translation procedure was conducted to ensure the accuracy of the translation. Internal consistency reliability for the sample as measured by Cronbach's alpha was 0.90.

Depression Anxiety Stress Scales

The 21-item version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21; Lovibond and Lovibond, 1995) was used to assess the psychological distress of the participants by measuring their level of depression, anxiety, and stress as three separate domains in the forms of cognitive, emotional, and physiological symptoms during the past week. Each domain consists of seven items. Self-report responses from the participants were scored on a four-point Likert scale (from "0" = Never, "1" = Sometimes, "2" = Often, to "3" = Almost Always), with higher scores indicating more anxiety, depression, and stress symptoms. Sample items include "I found it hard to wind down" and "I was aware of dryness of my mouth." The Chinese version of the measure translated by Chan (2005) was used. Internal consistency reliabilities for the sample as measured by Cronbach's alpha in the domains of depression, anxiety, and stress were 0.86, 0.76, and 0.81, respectively.

Mindful Attention Awareness Scale

The Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS; Brown and Ryan, 2003) was used to measure the participants' trait mindfulness. It is a 15-item self-report Likert scale. Responses were scored on a six-point scale ranging from "1" (Almost Always), "2" (Very Frequently), "3" (Somewhat Frequently), "4" (Somewhat Infrequently), "5" (Very Infrequently) to "6" (Almost Never). Higher scores indicate higher mindfulness. A sample item reads "I find myself preoccupied with the future or the past." The Chinese version of the MAAS translated by Zhang (2014) was used.

TABLE 1 | Example of the scoring format for cognitive distortions questionnaire (CD-Quest).

Frequency	No	Occasionally	Much of the time	Almost all of the time
Intensity				
l believe it	0	-	-	-
A little	-	1	2	3
Much	-	2	3	4
Very much	-	3	4	5

Internal consistency reliability for the sample as measured by Cronbach's alpha was 0.87.

Cornell Critical Thinking Test

A shortened version of the Cornell Critical Thinking Test Level X (CCTT; Ennis et al., 2005) was used to assess the critical thinking abilities of the participants. The test assessed four subscales of critical thinking: (1) Induction (Hypothesis Testing), (2) Credibility of Sources & Observation, (3) Deduction, and (4) Assumption Identification. Induction (Hypothesis Testing) refers to one's ability to generalize from specific instances to form broad conceptual statements. Participants were asked in each item to judge if a fact supported a hypothesis, went against the hypothesis, or neither supported nor went against the hypothesis. Credibility of Sources & Observation measures the ability to decide whether or the extent to which one accepts an assertion without direct access to the basis of that assertion. In each of the items, participants were required to decide if one statement was more believable than the other or both were equally believable. Deduction is the ability to apply general rules to particular instances. Participants were asked to choose in each item the conclusion that followed necessarily from a given premise. Assumption identification is the ability to recognize assumptions which are the statements that fill the gaps in reasoning. Participants were asked in each item to identify an assumption which was taken for granted from a statement.

The original version of CCTT has 71 multiple-choice items and requires around 50 min to complete. Due to the time constraint imposed by the school for the data collection procedure, the use of the original version of CCTT was considered unfeasible. As a result, the CCTT was trimmed down to 33 items and the students were required to finish the items in 25 min. The full score for the test was 33 as each correct answer was scored one point. Five example questions with answers were provided to help the participants better understand the question format. Twenty-six undergraduate research interns (23% male and 77% female) were invited to complete the original 71-item CCTT in a pilot study (full score = 71). The internal consistency reliabilities of the overall CCTT score and those of the subscales of Induction, Credibility of Sources & Observation, Deduction, and Assumption Identification for the pilot sample as measured by Kuder-Richardson Formula 20 (KR-20) were 0.68, 0.63, 0.28, 0.54, and 0.31, respectively. The average score of the interns in the pilot was 48.08 (SD = 5.99, Min = 34, Max = 58). The interns' quantitative performance and qualitative feedback were used to inform the difficulties of the items. The selection of the 33 items was guided by the original item-to-subscale ratio, the items' level of difficulty, and resemblance to other items within the same subscale based on the professional judgment of the authors. Excluding example questions, the numbers of items in the subscales of Induction (Hypothesis Testing), Credibility of Sources & Observation, Deduction, and Assumption Identification were 10, 11, 7, and 5, respectively. The CCTT was translated by the first author into Chinese. A back-translation procedure was conducted to ensure the accuracy of the translation. Internal consistency reliability for the CCTT as measured by KR-20 was 0.58. The KR-20 for the subscales of Induction, Credibility of Sources & Observation, Deduction, and Assumption Identification were 0.30, 0.35, 0.30, and 0.21, respectively.

Data Analysis

Structural equation modeling (SEM) was used to examine the hypothesized moderation and moderated mediation using IBM SPSS Amos version 25. Before testing the structural models, descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations of the study variables were computed. Proportions of missing data in the current study ranged from 0.1% (questionnaire data) to 0.8% (CCTT data). Little's test indicated that the questionnaire data (χ^2 = 939.53, df = 949, p = 0.58) and CCTT data (χ^2 = 934.16, df = 953, p = 0.66) were all missing completely at random (MCAR). It is a statistical test that employs maximum likelihood estimation to assess if the missing values are related to any variables under study. A non-significant result on Little's test indicates that there are no patterns in the missing data (i.e., MCAR). Mean imputation was used to replace the missing questionnaire data whereas missing data in the CCTT was scored as zero. SEM was used to test the proposed moderation and moderated mediation involving critical thinking and psychological distress as latent variables. Critical thinking was indicated by Induction, Credibility of Sources & Observation, Deduction, and Assumption Identification, whereas psychological distress was indicated by Depression, Anxiety, and Stress. Sum scores of the critical thinking subscales, cognitive distortions, mindfulness, and the subscales of psychological distress were entered as manifest variables. Model fit was assessed using chi-square test (χ^2), comparative fit index (CFI), and incremental fit index (IFI), and root-mean squared error of approximation (RMSEA). For the cut-offs of the fit indices, CFI and IFI values larger than 0.95 (Bollen, 1989; Bentler, 1990) and RMSEA values less than 0.05 (Kline, 2004) are generally believed to indicate good model fit. To compare the moderation and moderated mediation models with the main effect models, the Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Browne-Cudeck Criterion (BCC) were also examined. Lower AIC and BCC values suggest better model fit. The significances of the direct and indirect effects were evaluated using bias-corrected bootstrap confidence intervals based on 1000 bootstrapping samples (Hayes, 2013). To further explore the moderating effect of mindfulness in the hypothesized models, the participants were categorized based on the MAAS z-scores into low mindfulness (1 SD below mean; n = 44), mid mindfulness (between -1 SD to +1 SD; n = 197), and high mindfulness (1 SD above mean; n = 47) subgroups. Multigroup moderation analyses (Byrne, 2016) were conducted using AMOS to examine differences in the strength of prediction under low and high mindfulness conditions. The interaction effects of the moderated mediation models were illustrated using the Johnson-Neyman plots, which help visualize the linear relationship between the independent and dependent variables across low and high mindfulness conditions.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

All raw data results are shown in Supplementary Table S1. The means, standard deviations, and the zero-order correlations among variables are shown in Table 2. Descriptive results showed that the overall CCTT score was modestly and positively correlated with anxiety (r = 0.12, p = 0.02) and stress (r = 0.10, p = 0.045). Cognitive distortions were found to be moderately and positively correlated with depression (r = 0.51, p < 0.001), anxiety (r = 0.54, p < 0.001), and stress (r = 0.63, p < 0.001) but negatively correlated with mindfulness (r = -0.54, p < 0.001). However, no significant correlations were observed between critical thinking and the measures of cognitive distortions, mindfulness, and depression. Gender was found to correlate significantly with anxiety (r = 0.17, p < 0.01) and stress (r = 0.15, p < 0.01). Age was found to correlate significantly with cognitive distortions (r = -0.13, p < 0.05). As such, gender and age were included as control variables in subsequent analyses.

Moderation Effect of Mindfulness on the Relation Between Critical Thinking and Psychological Distress

Figure 2 shows the structural equation model on the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress with age and gender controlled for. The model was a good fit to the data with χ^2 (26) = 32.73, p = 0.17; CFI = 0.99; IFI = 0.99; RMSEA = 0.03; AIC = 88.73; BCC = 90.76. The relation between critical thinking and psychological distress was not significant (B = 0.15, p = 0.08). The alternative model with psychological distress predicting critical thinking showed a slightly weaker model fit, with χ^2 (26) = 37.99, p = 0.06; CFI = 0.98; IFI = 0.98; RMSEA = 0.04; AIC = 93.99; BCC = 96.01.

Figure 3 shows the moderation effect of mindfulness. The interaction between mindfulness and critical significantly predicted psychological thinking distress (B = -0.16, p = 0.01), indicating a significant moderation effect of mindfulness on the relation between critical thinking and distress. Based on the multigroup analyses with mindfulness as the moderator, critical thinking was only significantly and positively associated with psychological distress when mindfulness was low (B = 0.51, p = 0.01). Figure 4 shows the interaction effect in which the positive relation between critical thinking and psychological distress was stronger for low mindfulness than high mindfulness.

Moderation Effect of Mindfulness on the Relation Between Critical Thinking and Psychological Distress as Mediated by Cognitive Distortions

The structural equation model on the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress as mediated by cognitive distortions with age and gender controlled for is shown in **Figure 5**. The mediation model was an acceptable fit to the

TABLE 2 Descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations for the variables.

Variable	M (SD)	Possible score range	Reliability measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1. CD-Quest	23.88 (14.25)	0–75	0.90 (α)	_											
2. CCTT	16.71 (4.13)	0–33	0.58 (KR-20)	0.08	_										
3. CCTT induction (hypothesis testing)	5.12 (1.73)	0–10	0.30 (KR-20)	0.04	0.65**	_									
4. CCTT credibility of sources & observation	5.94 (1.90)	0–11	0.35 (KR-20)	0.06	0.76**	0.29**	_								
5. CCTT deduction	3.46 (1.45)	0–7	0.30 (KR-20)	0.11*	0.63**	0.16**	0.31**	—							
6. CCTT assumption identification	2.19 (1.20)	0–5	0.21 (KR-20)	-0.03	0.54**	0.14**	0.22**	0.24**	_						
7. MAAS	59.50 (12.12)	6–90	0.87 (α)	-0.54**	-0.03	-0.05	-0.05	0.04	- 0.00	_					
8. DASS-21 depression	5.37 (4.23)	0–21	0.86 (α)	0.51**	0.07	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.02	- 0.47**	-				
9. DASS-21 anxiety	5.09 (3.55)	0–21	0.76 (α)	0.54**	0.12*	0.05	0.07	0.08	0.12*	- 0.50**	0.72**	-			
10. DASS-21 stress	6.66 (4.10)	0–21	0.81 (α)	0.63**	0.10*	0.07	0.03	0.11*	0.06	- 0.52**	0.72**	0.76**	-		
11. Age	15.58 (.85)	_	-	-0.13*	-0.09	-0.16**	-0.02	- 0.07	0.04	- 0.05	- 0.03	- 0.02	- 0.06	_	
12. Gender	-	_	_	0.05	0.00	-0.04	-0.02	0.07	0.02	0.07	0.07	0.17**	0.15*	** 0.0)7 —

CD-Quest, cognitive distortions questionnaire; CCTT, cornell critical thinking test; MAAS, mindful attention awareness scale; DASS, depression anxiety stress scales.*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.



FIGURE 2 Structural equation model indicating the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress after controlling for age and gender. Standard path coefficients are shown (**p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001).

data with χ^2 (34) = 55.04, p = 0.01; CFI = 0.97; IFI = 0.97; RMSEA = 0.05; AIC = 117.04; BCC = 119.51. The indirect effect of critical thinking on psychological distress via cognitive distortions was non-significant [B = 0.08, BCCI (-0.02, 0.17)].

On testing the moderation effect of mindfulness (**Figure 6**), interaction of mindfulness and cognitive distortions significantly predicted psychological distress (B = -0.11, p = 0.02), whereas mindfulness X critical thinking marginally predicted cognitive distortions (B = -0.10, p = 0.08). The indirect effect of critical thinking on psychological distress via cognitive distortions was only significant at low mindfulness [B = 0.21, BCCI (0.09,

0.41)]. **Figure** 7 shows the moderated effect of mindfulness on the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress as mediated by cognitive distortions in low mindfulness condition. At low mindfulness, increases in critical thinking were significantly associated with increases in cognitive distortions, which in turn predicted higher psychological distress. As the direct effect of critical thinking on psychological distress [B = 0.30, BCCI (0.004, 0.54)] was significant, incomplete mediation via cognitive distortions took place. Johnson-Neyman plots demonstrating the cross-over interaction effect of critical thinking and mindfulness on cognitive distortions and that of





cognitive distortions and mindfulness on psychological distress are shown in **Figures 8**, **9**.

DISCUSSION

The aim of the current study is to explore the interrelations between critical thinking, cognitive distortions, mindfulness, and psychological distress. We hypothesized that there existed a moderated mediation among the variables. Results from the current study supported Hypothesis 1 that mindfulness moderated the relation between critical thinking and measures of psychological distress. The findings relating to Hypothesis 2 showed that the relation between the study variables was more nuanced than the original hypothesis. In low mindfulness conditions, critical thinking was positively associated with cognitive distortions which could in turn give rise to psychological distress in the form of anxiety, depression, and stress. The moderating roles of mindfulness tested in the hypotheses were clearly demonstrated.

What is of particular interest is one possible interpretation of the findings. Critical thinkers are believed to have good metacognitive knowledge (Kuhn, 1999). However, metacognitive knowledge is insufficient in itself in reducing cognitive distortions without effective metacognitive regulation. Mindfulness brings about mental shifts in perspective (Shapiro et al., 2006) which is thought to enhance metacognitive regulation (Wells, 2000). As such, though critical thinkers have good metacognitive knowledge, but when coupled with low mindfulness, they might still fall victim to cognitive distortions.

As suggested in the introduction, the reason why critical thinkers who are low in mindfulness might experience more overall cognitive distortions is because they are unaware that their good critical thinking ability only serves them well in monitoring but not in regulating their cognition. When critical thinkers fall into thinking traps, they might still continue to be self-assured in their judgment and believe in the cognitive distortions even more strongly, as their self-efficacy on critical thinking is high due to their previous successful experiences. Since the construct of cognitive distortions consists of both a frequency and an intensity component, increase in either component can inflate the overall level of cognitive distortions.

Both Hypotheses 1 and 2 predicted that at high mindfulness, the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress would be negative. As mentioned earlier, mindfulness was hypothesized to allow a critical thinker to step back from his or her own consciousness and view accurately his or her thoughts from a third person's perspective. However, our results revealed that the predicted negative relation between critical thinking and psychological distress at high mindfulness was not significant. We propose here three plausible explanations for the non-significant results observed which are related to the properties of the sample, the overconfidence and self-assuredness of critical thinkers, and the complexity of cognitive distortions.

First of all, the overall level of trait mindfulness among this sample of adolescents might not be sufficiently high for the effect of mindfulness to become apparent in the said relation. As seen from the moderation results, the positive associations of critical thinking with psychological distress indeed



FIGURE 5 | Structural equation model indicating the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress as mediated by cognitive distortions after controlling for age and gender. Standardized path coefficients are shown (*p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).







weakened with increases in mindfulness. Similar decreases in the strength of correlations were also observed in the moderated mediation models. The Johnson-Neyman plot (**Figure 8**) shows that the positive relation between critical thinking and cognitive distortions declines with increases in mindfulness. It is possible that when the trait mindfulness level of the overall sample is high

enough, the relation between critical thinking and psychological distress could be significantly negative. However, as our sample was not representative of the population, we were unable to determine if the trait mindfulness measure of the sample is at a level comparable with that of the population. Trait mindfulness has been shown to increase with age (Shook et al., 2017). Future



FIGURE 8 | Johnson-Neyman plot showing the interaction effect of critical thinking and mindfulness on cognitive distortions.



studies may test the mindfulness-moderated effect of critical thinking on psychological well-being among older age groups using representative samples to further examine this postulation.

Second, the possible adverse effect of critical thinking on promoting cognitive distortions – which may be related to critical thinkers' overconfidence and self-assuredness – might have overweighed its beneficial effect in alleviating cognitive distortions through the identification of logical fallacies (Irwin and Bassham, 2003). Exercising critical thinking to correct logical fallacies could to some extent prevent cognitive distortions by enhancing metacognitive knowledge. However, its effect might be overshadowed by the plausible problem relating to critical thinkers' self-assuredness, which might further undermine metacognitive regulation in low mindfulness conditions. If mindfulness is low, critical thinkers may not be aware that their metacognitive knowledge is insufficient to contribute to effective metacognitive regulation, but rather continue to be self-assured in their critical thinking due to their previous successful experiences.

Third, cognitive distortions do not exclusively represent logical fallacies. Having high critical thinking and high trait mindfulness might allow one to recognize and rectify the illogicality of cognitive distortions, but their underlying assumptions and beliefs might not be addressed. According to Beck (2011), cognitive distortions are the manifestation of people's rigid and unrealistic appraisal of themselves and others. If this is indeed the case, tackling logical fallacies per se might not suffice to eliminate cognitive distortions. For instance, the cognitive distortion called dichotomous thinking exemplifies the logical fallacy of false dilemma which presumes that only two alternatives exist when there are in fact more. However, the underlying assumption giving rise to dichotomous thinking might be due to a way of evaluating oneself or others in either all good or all bad terms with nothing in between. In this case, only resolving the logical fallacy might not be enough to challenge one's unrealistic appraisal of oneself or others.

Limitations and Future Directions

The current study has several limitations that are worth noting. First, the internal consistency of the critical thinking measures used in the study was low, with a KR-20 of 0.58. The findings in this study should be interpreted with caution. The low internal consistency might be due to the trimming down of the original 71-item scale into a 33-item one. Test performances of undergraduate research interns in the pilot study were used to inform the trimming down of the test items. Preferably, secondary school students should have been assessed instead. Moreover, the scale had not been validated in the local Hong Kong population. Further studies should adopt critical thinking scales with better reliability and validity to assess critical thinking. However, we wish to highlight that according to the test manual of the CCTT, Ennis et al. (2005) point out that critical thinking tests in general have lower internal consistencies than other constructs due to the heterogeneity of critical thinking. Verburgh et al. (2013) demonstrated in a validation study of the CCTT and Halpern critical thinking assessment (HCTA) that the internal consistencies of the full CCTT and HCTA were as low as 0.52 and 0.49 and that of the subscales of CCTT and HCTA were as low as 0.30 and 0.34, respectively.

Furthermore, the study of Scott (1983) was inconclusive in showing that anxiety might be the independent variable giving rise to impaired critical thinking. We are unable to rule out this alternative explanation due to the correlational nature of our study. Nevertheless, our results showed that the increases in psychological distress, as opposed to Scott's supposition, was associated with higher critical thinking performance. A possible explanation could be that a certain degree of psychological distress serves as a catalyst for self-reflection, keeps the brain alert (Kirby et al., 2013), and boosts cognitive performance. The causal relations among critical thinking, cognitive distortions, and psychological distress await further investigation using experimental designs through critical thinking training.

Finally, although the definition of critical thinking makes it clear that it is different from "criticism" or "fault-finding," there might exist a certain degree of overlap. After all, a good critical thinker is likely to be able to detect more faults in oneself or others than his or her less critical counterparts. The relations between critical thinking, self-criticism, and criticism toward others can be further explored.

Conclusion and Implications

Critical thinking is a highly sought after 21st century skill that allows people to make good judgment and decisions. Its benefits on people's cognitive functioning have been well-documented. However, less is known about its impact on people's affective functioning. This study revealed that high critical thinking skills were associated with high psychological distress in low mindfulness conditions. Cognitive distortions were shown to be the path through which critical thinking was associated with psychological distress in low mindfulness conditions. When trait mindfulness was low, high critical thinking was significantly associated with high cognitive distortions and high psychological distress.

The findings of the current study are impactful as they suggest that in low states of mindfulness, critical thinking might lead to cognitive distortions which in turn give rise to psychological distress. From an educational point of view, critical thinking skills are indispensable skills to be taught to students. The key here is to maximize the benefits of critical thinking on cognitive functioning while minimizing the negative associations critical thinking has on psychological well-being. From the results of this study, it can be seen that mindfulness might benefit critical thinkers in terms of their psychological well-being. Recent research has shown that trait mindfulness can be enhanced through mindfulness-based intervention such as the b ("Dot be") Curriculum developed by the Mindfulness in Schools Project

REFERENCES

- Ananiadou, K., and Claro, M. (2009). 21st Century Skills and Competences For New Millennium Learners in OECD Countries, OECD Education Working Papers, No. 41. Paris: OECD.
- Association of American Colleges and Universities (2005). Liberal Education Outcomes: A Preliminary Report on Student Achievement in College. Washington, DC: AAC&U.
- Australian Council for Educational Research (2002). *Graduate Skills Assessment: Stage one Validity Study.* Canberra: Department of Education, Science and Training.
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Hopkins, J., Krietemeyer, J., and Toney, L. (2006). Using self-report assessment methods to explore facets of mindfulness. *Assessment* 13, 27–45. doi: 10.1177/1073191105283504
- Beck, A. T. (1967). Depression: Causes and Treatment. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Beck, A. T. (1976). *Cognitive Therapy and Emotional Disorders*. New York, NY: International Universities Press.
- Beck, A. T., and Weishaar, M. (2000). "Cognitive therapy," in *Current Psychotherapies*, 6th Edn, eds R. J. Corsini and D. Wedding (Itasca, IL: F.E. Peacock), 241–271.

(Kuyken et al., 2013). We therefore wish to argue that mindfulness-based training should perhaps become an integral part of students' development of social-emotional competency in schools in order to enhance their overall psychological well-being.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the institutional research committee of The University of Hong Kong.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS conceived the idea, carried out the implementation, and wrote the manuscript. KS supervised the project and helped in analyzing the data and writing the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Prof. Shui-fong Lam for her invaluable comments and suggestions in the early stage of this project. We also thank our dedicated laboratory team assistants at the Curriculum and Learning Laboratory, The University of Hong Kong.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2019.01455/full#supplementary-material

TABLE S1 | Raw data results of the study.

- Beck, J. S. (2011). Cognitive Behavior Therapy: Basics and Beyond. New York, NY: Guilford press.
- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychol. Bull.* 107, 238–246. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Bitner, B. L. (1991). Formal operational reasoning modes: Predictors of critical thinking abilities and grades assigned by teachers in science and mathematics for students in grades nine through twelve. J. Res. Sci. Teach. 28, 265–274. doi: 10.1002/tea.3660280307
- Bollen, K. A. (1989). A new incremental fit index for general structural equation models. Sociol. Methods Res. 17, 303–316. doi: 10.1177/00491241890170 03004
- Brand-Gruwel, S., and Stadtler, M. (2011). Solving information-based problems: evaluating sources and information. *Learn. Instruct.* 21, 175–179. doi: 10.1016/ j.learninstruc.2010.02.008
- Britt, M. A., Richter, T., and Rouet, J. F. (2014). Scientific literacy: the role of goal-directed reading and evaluation in understanding scientific information. *Educ. Psychol.* 49, 104–122. doi: 10.1080/00461520.2014. 916217
- Brown, K. W., and Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 84, 822–848. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822

- Butler, H. A., Pentoney, C., and Bong, M. P. (2017). Predicting real-world outcomes: critical thinking ability is a better predictor of life decisions than intelligence. *Think. Skills Creativ.* 25, 38–46. doi: 10.1016/j.tsc.2017. 06.005
- Byrne, B. M. (2016). Structural Equation Modeling With AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Cash, M., and Whittingham, K. (2010). What facets of mindfulness contribute to psychological well-being and depressive, anxious, and stress-related symptomatology? *Mindfulness* 1, 177–182. doi: 10.1007/s12671-010-0023-4
- Chan, C. (2005). *Chan Chinese Translation of DASS*. Available at: http://www2.psy. unsw.edu.au/dass/Chinese/calais.htm (accessed July 17, 2017).
- de Oliveira, I. R., Seixas, C., Osório, F. L., Crippa, J. A. S., de Abreu, J. N., Menezes, I. G., et al. (2015). Evaluation of the psychometric properties of the cognitive distortions questionnaire (CD-Quest) in a sample of undergraduate students. *Innovat. Clin. Neurosci.* 12, 20–27.
- Dede, C. (2010). "Comparing frameworks for 21st century skills," in 21st Century Skills: Rethinking How Students Learn, eds J. Bellance and R. Brandt (Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press), 51–76.
- Ennis, R. H. (1987). "A taxonomy of critical thinking dispositions and abilities," in *Teaching Thinking Skills: Theory and Practice*, eds J. B. Baron and R. J. Sternberg (New York, NY: Freeman & Co.), 9–26.
- Ennis, R. H., Millman, J., and Tomko, T. N. (2005). *Cornell Critical Thinking Test, Level X*, 5th Edn. Seaside, CA: The Critical Thinking Company.
- Facione, N. C., and Facione, P. A. (2001). Analyzing explanations for seemingly irrational choices: linking argument analysis and cognitive science. *Int. J. Appl. Philos.* 15, 267–286. doi: 10.5840/ijap200115217
- Giedd, J. N., Blumenthal, J., Jeffries, N. O., Castellanos, F. X., Liu, H., Zijdenbos, A., et al. (1999). Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 861–863. doi: 10.1038/13158
- Halpern, D. F. (1998). Teaching critical thinking for transfer across domains: disposition, skills, structure training, and metacognitive monitoring. Am. Psychol. 53:449. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.53.4.449
- Halpern, D. F. (2003). Thought and Knowledge: An Introduction to Critical Thinking. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Hamaker, E. L., Nesselroade, J. R., and Molenaar, P. C. (2007). The integrated trait-state model. J. Res. Personal. 41, 295–315. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2006.04.003
- Hankin, B. L., and Abramson, L. Y. (2001). Development of gender differences in depression: an elaborated cognitive vulnerability-transactional stress theory. *Psychol. Bull.* 127, 773–796. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.6.773
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Irwin, W., and Bassham, G. (2003). Depression, informal fallacies, and cognitive therapy: the critical thinking cure? *Inquiry* 21, 15–21. doi: 10.5840/ inquiryctnews200321335
- Jankowski, T., and Holas, P. (2014). Metacognitive model of mindfulness. Conscious. Cogn. 28, 64–80. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2014.06.005
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1994). Wherever You Go, There You are: Mindfulness Meditation in Everyday Life. New York, NY: Hyperion.
- Kirby, E. D., Muroy, S. E., Sun, W. G., Covarrubias, D., Leong, M. J., Barchas, L. A., et al. (2013). Acute stress enhances adult rat hippocampal neurogenesis and activation of newborn neurons via secreted astrocytic FGF2. *eLife* 2:e00362. doi: 10.7554/elife.00362
- Kline, R. B. (2004). Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling. New York, NY: Guildford.
- Ku, K. Y. (2009). Assessing students' critical thinking performance: urging for measurements using multi-response format. *Think. Skills Creat.* 4, 70–76. doi: 10.1016/j.tsc.2009.02.001
- Kuhn, D. (1999). A developmental model of critical thinking. *Educ. Res.* 28, 16–26. doi: 10.2307/1177186
- Kuyken, W., Weare, K., Ukoumunne, O. C., Vicary, R., Motton, N., Burnett, R., et al. (2013). Effectiveness of the mindfulness in schools programme: non-randomised controlled feasibility study. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 203, 126–131. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.113.126649
- Leu, D. J., Zawilinski, L., Forzani, E., and Timbrell, N. (2014). "Best practices in teaching the new literacies of online research and comprehension," in *Best Practices in Literacy Instruction*, eds L. B. Gambrell and L. M. Morrow (New York, NY: Guilford), 343–364.

- Leung, P. W., and Poon, M. W. (2001). Dysfunctional schemas and cognitive distortions in psychopathology: a test of the specificity hypothesis. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 42, 755–765. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00772
- Lovibond, S. H., and Lovibond, P. F. (1995). Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales, 2nd Edn. Sydney: Psychology Foundation.
- Martinez, M. E. (2006). What is metacognition? *Phi Delta Kappan* 87, 696–699. doi: 10.1177/003172170608700916
- McGrath, E. P., and Repetti, R. L. (2002). A longitudinal study of children's depressive symptoms, self-perceptions, and cognitive distortions about the self. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 111:77. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.111.1.77
- McLean, C. P., Asnaani, A., Litz, B. T., and Hofmann, S. G. (2011). Gender differences in anxiety disorders: prevalence, course of illness, comorbidity and burden of illness. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 45, 1027–1035. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011. 03.006
- Raes, F., Dewulf, D., Van Heeringen, C., and Williams, J. M. G. (2009). Mindfulness and reduced cognitive reactivity to sad mood: Evidence from a correlational study and a non-randomized waiting list controlled study. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 47, 623–627. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2009.03.007
- Raes, F., and Williams, J. M. G. (2010). The relationship between mindfulness and uncontrollability of ruminative thinking. *Mindfulness* 1, 199–203. doi: 10.1007/ s12671-010-0021-6
- Rasmussen, M. K., and Pidgeon, A. M. (2011). The direct and indirect benefits of dispositional mindfulness on self-esteem and social anxiety. *Anx. Stress Coping* 24, 227–233. doi: 10.1080/10615806.2010.515681
- Scherer-Dickson, N. (2004). Current developments of metacognitive concepts and their clinical implications: mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression. *Counsel. Psychol. Q.* 17, 223–234. doi: 10.1080/09515070410001728253
- Schütze, R., Rees, C., Preece, M., and Schütze, M. (2010). Low mindfulness predicts pain catastrophizing in a fear-avoidance model of chronic pain. *Pain* 148, 120–127. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2009.10.030
- Scott, D. W. (1983). Anxiety, critical thinking and information processing during and after breast biopsy. Nurs. Res. 32, 24–29. doi: 10.1097/00006199-198301000-00006
- Shapiro, S. L., Carlson, L. E., Astin, J. A., and Freedman, B. (2006). Mechanisms of mindfulness. J. Clin. Psychol. 62, 373–386. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20237
- Shin, K. R. (1998). Critical thinking ability and clinical decision-making skills among senior nursing students in associate and baccalaureate programmes in Korea. J. Adv. Nurs. 27, 414–418. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.1998.00499.x
- Shook, N. J., Ford, C., Strough, J., Delaney, R., and Barker, D. (2017). In the moment and feeling good: age differences in mindfulness and positive affect. *Transl. Issues Psychol. Sci.* 3, 338–347. doi: 10.1037/tps0000139
- Sowell, E. R., Thompson, P. M., Holmes, C. J., Jernigan, T. L., and Toga, A. W. (1999). In vivo evidence for post-adolescent brain maturation in frontal and striatal regions. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 859–861. doi: 10.1038/13154
- Van Eemeren, F., Garssen, B., and Meuffels, B. (2009). Fallacies and Judgments of Reasonableness. New York, NY: Springer.
- Verburgh, A., François, S., Elen, J., and Janssen, R. (2013). The assessment of critical thinking critically assessed in higher education: a validation study of the CCTT and the HCTA. *Educ. Res. Int.* 2013, 1–13. doi: 10.1155/2013/198920
- Wells, A. (2000). Emotional Disorders and Metacognition: Innovative Cognitive Therapy. Chichester: Wiley.
- Witt, L. A. (2002). The interactive effects of extroversion and conscientiousness on job performance. J. Manag. 28, 835–851. doi: 10.1016/s0149-2063(02)00188-5
- Zhang, C. Q. (2014). Development and Validation of Instruments for Assessing Mindfulness and Decentering in Chinese Athletes. Doctoral thesis, Hong Kong Baptist University, Hong Kong.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Su and Shum. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Social Support and Emotional Intelligence as Protective Resources for Well-Being in Moroccan Adolescents

Esther Lopez-Zafra^{1*}, Manuel Miguel Ramos-Álvarez², Karima El Ghoudani¹, Octavio Luque-Reca³, José María Augusto-Landa¹, Benaissa Zarhbouch⁴, Smail Alaoui⁴, Daniel Cortés-Denia¹ and Manuel Pulido-Martos¹

¹ Department of Psychology, Social Psychology, University of Jaén, Jaén, Spain, ² Department of Psychology, Methodology of Behavioral Sciences, University of Jaén, Jaén, Spain, ³ Faculty of Education and Psychology, Francisco de Vitoria University, Pozuelo de Alarcón, Spain, ⁴ Department of Psychology, Faculty of Human Sciences – Dhar El Mahraz, Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah University, Fez, Morocco

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Youssef Aboussaleh, Ibn Tofail University, Morocco Encarnación Soriano, University of Almería, Spain

> *Correspondence: Esther Lopez-Zafra elopez@ujaen.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 10 May 2019 **Accepted:** 17 June 2019 **Published:** 10 July 2019

Citation:

Lopez-Zafra E, Ramos-Álvarez MM, El Ghoudani K, Luque-Reca O, Augusto-Landa JM, Zarhbouch B, Alaoui S, Cortés-Denia D and Pulido-Martos M (2019) Social Support and Emotional Intelligence as Protective Resources for Well-Being in Moroccan Adolescents. Front. Psychol. 10:1529. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01529 This study aimed to test a structural model to examine the protective role of psychosocial variables, such as social support, emotional intelligence and their interaction, on the cognitive dimension of subjective positive well-being (life satisfaction) and negative well-being (depression) in Moroccan adolescents. The participants consisted of 1277 students (571 men, 694 women and 12 missing values) with a mean age of 16.15 years (SD = 2.22; range = 9 to 23) who attended 26 public schools in different territories of Morocco. These students were in secondary education (n = 893) and high school (n = 378) (6 missing values). The scales for measuring the variables of interest had to be adapted and validated as a previous step for the further proposal of a model of relations. Statistical analyses were conducted using structural equation modeling (SEM) to test the proposed model. The model that optimally adjusted the data confirmed the protective role of social support in the well-being of Moroccan adolescents. Consistent with previous studies, social support was directly related to well-being. However, it also modulated levels of satisfaction with life. Likewise, the inclusion of emotional intelligence as an additional protective factor contributed to the explanation of the well-being mechanisms in adolescents. In addition to direct associations with the levels of social support, satisfaction with life and depression (negative in the latter case), emotional intelligence participated in a complex chain affecting life satisfaction and life satisfaction affecting depression. Moreover, the interaction of emotional intelligence with social support was confirmed to determine levels of life satisfaction in adolescents. Specifically, social support multiplied the effects of the relationship between satisfaction with life and emotional intelligence in cases of moderate and high levels in Moroccan adolescents. This study fills a gap in the literature by adapting and further analyzing several scales with Moroccan samples of

66

adolescents and by proposing and verifying a relational model that can help researchers and teachers to more precisely clarify these relations according to their context. The enhancement of protective factors, such as social support and emotional intelligence, will promote healthy youth development, thus creating healthier societies in the future.

Keywords: adolescents, emotional intelligence, life satisfaction, social support, depression

INTRODUCTION

Adolescence is generally considered a dynamic and complex age period. Furthermore, there are differences among countries depending on culture (Arnett, 2018), and thus, the results of studies about this period of life may not be generalized to all cultures. There is a wide body of research about adolescence and its implications for psychological boundaries in the United States and Europe (Jackson and Goossens, 2006), along with the relations among well-known psychological constructs in Western countries (such as emotional intelligence or well-being), whereas there is a dearth of studies in other cultures, such as those of northern Africa. In Morocco, adolescence (sinn al-murahaga) is not a widely recognized stage of life. Only in recent decades is it usually associated with the years that coincide with high school education, and it is distinguished by the development of aql, a term referring to social responsibility (Davis and Davis, 2012). Typical behaviors of this stage begin with puberty in the mid-teens for both sexes (beginning earlier in girls than in boys) and extend until marriage, coinciding with the years of training in and learning adult roles; these years are also marked by a lack of economic independence (Gregg, 2005). In this period of life, youth development includes feelings of positivity or negativity and consideration of the consequences of one's actions in adulthood. Their satisfaction with life as a positive aspect of well-being or the absence of depression as a suppression of negative well-being could be affected by other variables. In general, the role of social support is accepted as a protective factor for well-being, but we propose the exploration of the protective role of emotional intelligence to further contribute to knowledge about their relations in Moroccan adolescents.

Definitions of subjective well-being distinguish an affective and a cognitive component (Diener et al., 1999). The affective component is an individual's (actual or perceived) hedonic balance (i.e., the balance between pleasant affect and unpleasant affect). The cognitive component is an individual's life satisfaction (i.e., global evaluations of one's life according to subjectively determined standards) (Pavot and Diener, 2008) and is related to health predictors such as favorable self-reported health, social support and positive health behaviors (Koivumaa-Honkanen et al., 2004). However, other empirical studies suggest that positive and negative components of well-being are influenced by different factors that are not simply the opposite ends of a continuum (Chamberlain, 1988). In fact, we posit that it is necessary to study both positive and negative components of well-being and the variables that could affect them. For example, life satisfaction as a positive component of well-being can be determined by diverse factors, such as self-esteem, income, social support, individualism versus collectivism, and cultural

homogeneity, among others (Diener and Diener, 1995). Thus, social support could predict life satisfaction, but we could also wonder about their relationship in adolescence. Studies on adolescence highlight that life satisfaction constitutes a relevant predictor of psychological adjustment variables such as depression (Evans et al., 2005; Proctor et al., 2009). Thus, previous empirical evidence suggests that having high levels of life satisfaction protects adolescents against the development of psychological disorders (Proctor et al., 2009). One of the disorders that has increased dramatically during adolescence and poses potential danger (i.e., from affecting academic performance to influencing decisions to commit suicide) is depression (Brière et al., 2013). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), depression is a medical disease related to negative psychosocial outcomes, characterized mainly by symptoms such as sadness, loss of interest or inability to experience pleasure, feelings of guilt and low personal worth, appetite and/or sleep disturbances or concentration problems (World Health Organization, 2017a). Depressive symptomatology constitutes one of the main threats to which teens around the world are exposed (World Health Organization, 2017b).

In the case of Arab adolescents, the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) estimates that approximately 25% of cases of disability and premature death are due to mental and behavioral disorders, and depression ranks first (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation [IHME], 2013). In addition, depression is expected to become the main mental health problem among adolescents in Arab countries (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation [IHME], 2013). In fact, studies conducted in countries such as Jordan or Saudi Arabia find a prevalence of depression in adolescents between 30 and 38% (Al-Gelban, 2007; Raheel, 2015; Dardas et al., 2018). Although it is fundamental to explore risk factors that increase the probability of Arab adolescents experiencing depressive symptomatology (Dardas et al., 2018) and the cognitive variables that are responsible for the increase in depression experienced during the adolescence stage (Abela and Hankin, 2008), the tradition of investigating protective factors that attenuate or eliminate the influence of risk factors on depression is less developed (i.e., resilience, Carbonell et al., 2002 or life satisfaction, Lyons et al., 2014). There are several studies confirming an association between life satisfaction and depression in adolescents in Western countries (Gilman and Huebner, 2006) and among Arab teenagers (Abdel-Khalek, 2009; Abdel-Khalek and Eid, 2011). To further understand this relationship in depth, it is essential to clarify its directionality, both in young and adult populations (Lyons et al., 2014). In this sense, longitudinal studies have confirmed the predictive role of life satisfaction in depression in adult samples (Koivumaa-Honkanen et al., 2004; Boyraz et al., 2014) and adolescents (Huebner et al., 2000; Haranin et al., 2007; Lyons et al., 2014). Based on these aspects, we propose the following:

Hypothesis 1. Life satisfaction is negatively related to depression in Moroccan adolescents.

Social support has long been known to exert considerable influence on wellbeing (Thoits, 2011). Social support is defined, in a broad sense, as the set of human and material resources available to an individual to help them overcome a certain crisis situation (Lin, 1986) and cope with stress (Cohen, 2004). These resources can be real or only perceived and are based on two types of social support: structural social support, which has to do with the closest quantitative resources (i.e., family and friends), and qualitative social support, whose purpose is to help the individual in their performance (i.e., work team, teachers, and counselors) (Cobb, 1976; Gottlieb, 1983).

Social support is hypothesized to protect well-being both directly, through the benefits of social relationships, and indirectly, as a buffer against stressful circumstances (Gariépy et al., 2016). The *direct approach* posits that positive perceptions of social support have a direct positive effect on health and well-being, regardless of stress (Berkman et al., 2000). Thus, the mere fact of being in a supportive social network of family and friends could directly improve general health and well-being (Uchino, 2004), contributing to life satisfaction, mainly the support received by family and friends (Castellá Sarriera et al., 2015). Furthermore, support from parents and classmates increases adolescents' well-being and school environment (Rueger et al., 2010).

However, despite the well-established importance of these sources of support for adolescents (Criss et al., 2009), they may also function in a different way. In fact, two meta-analyses aiming to shed light on this point found different results. Rueger et al. (2016) found that family and general peer support emerged as the strongest sources of support, followed by teacher and close friend support, whereas Chu et al. (2010) found that teacher support emerged as the strongest correlate of well-being, followed by family and peer support. Thus, regardless of the source of social support, it is important to perceive social support to have positive life satisfaction, and thus, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Hypothesis 2. Perceived social support is positively related to life satisfaction in Moroccan adolescents.

In the general population, the systematic review by Santini et al. (2015) provides some confirmation that perceived social support plays important protective roles against depression. Additionally, the systematic review by Gariépy et al. (2016) found that parents, teachers and family were sources of support who were most consistently found to be protective against depression in children and adolescents, whereas findings were less consistent for support from friends and general perceived support. Moreover, in adolescents, parental support is important to buffer the positive association between depression and adolescents' reports of suicidal ideation (Fredrick et al., 2018). In fact, the association between depression and suicidal ideation was not significant for students with high parental support, regardless of gender. In sum, support from parents and family is, more than any other source, most consistently related to a youth's protection from depression (Gariépy et al., 2016), proving to be effective in the mitigation of stress perceptions and depressive symptomology (Crutcher et al., 2018). Thus, we consider the following:

Hypothesis 3. Perceived social support is negatively related to depression in Moroccan adolescents.

In recent years, the emergence of positive psychology has promoted the study of emotional abilities that could impact life satisfaction or depression, such as emotional intelligence. Under the ability model paradigm, emotional intelligence comprises the individual differences that occur when meaning is given to the emotional patterns present in people's lives and how those patterns are used to reason and solve problems (Salovey and Mayer, 1990; Mayer and Salovey, 1997). It covers the abilities to perceive and express emotions, to take into account the emotions when thinking or making decisions, to understand and identify emotions and to regulate emotions in oneself and in others (Mayer and Salovey, 1997; Mayer et al., 2000). Although the personality and dispositional attributes targeted by the mixed/trait models also contribute to reasoning and problem solving, they should not be confused with emotional intelligence as a mental ability that is discrete and measurable (Mayer et al., 2008a).

Emotional intelligence plays a key role at the adaptive level, and its usefulness has been demonstrated in different contexts (social, academic, and labor) (Mayer et al., 2008b; Zeidner et al., 2008), showing solid relationships with levels of well-being (Zeidner et al., 2012). In the meta-analysis conducted by Sánchez-Álvarez et al. (2016) regarding the contribution of emotional intelligence to subjective well-being, the authors conclude that emotional intelligence is consistently and positively related to subjective well-being, and the effect sizes are higher when emotional intelligence is evaluated through self-report measures; this result coincides with those of previous review works, such as Martins et al. (2010). Moreover, the study by Sánchez-Álvarez et al. (2016) highlights a higher effect of emotional intelligence on the cognitive than on the affective dimension of well-being (Palmer et al., 2002), which could be justified by the higher temporal stability of both variables (emotional intelligence and the subjective well-being cognitive dimension) vs. the affective component (Sánchez-Álvarez et al., 2016), along with the implication of meta-cognition processes that would share the evaluations of emotional intelligence and cognitive judgments on the general subjective level (Mayer and Stevens, 1994). Thus, we propose the following:

Hypothesis 4. Emotional intelligence is positively related to life satisfaction (cognitive dimension of subjective wellbeing) in Moroccan adolescents.

Emotional intelligence also preserves the well-being of adolescents due to its relationships with depressive symptomatology (Balluerka et al., 2013; Resurrección et al., 2014). One explanation is that emotional intelligence reduce the experimentation and duration of negative emotions (Mikolajczak et al., 2009a; Zeidner et al., 2009), and thus, these emotional abilities act as protective factors against the development of psychological maladjustment (Mayer and Salovey, 1997), enabling effective selection of coping strategies and conditioning their effectiveness (Davis and Humphrey, 2012). Thus, we propose the following:

Hypothesis 5. Emotional intelligence is negatively related to depression in Moroccan adolescents.

As previously mentioned, social support can provide a source of buffering of the negative effects that adverse conditions have on well-being. They also enhance the development of adolescents' well-being. In fact, young people at these ages depend to a large extent on different forms of social support and how they affect different spheres of life (Stanton-Salazar and Spina, 2005). For example, promoting adaptive career development by increasing their confidence in their emotional skills, which would impact their expectation of social support (Fabio and Kenny, 2012). Thus, it would be expected that emotional intelligence would allow young people to establish and maintain closer social relationships as well as obtain higher levels of social support (Saarni, 1999). In fact, studies using different procedures of evaluating emotional abilities have found similar results; that is, emotional intelligence is related to social support (Ciarrochi et al., 2001, 2002b) and to the quality of interpersonal relationships (Lopes et al., 2003). However, there is a lack of studies in Moroccan samples. Thus, we propose the following:

Hypothesis 6. Emotional intelligence is positively related to perceived social support in Moroccan adolescents.

Even when emotional intelligence consistently shows relationships with subjective well-being (Sánchez-Álvarez et al., 2016) and levels of depression in adolescents (Balluerka et al., 2013; Resurrección et al., 2014), there is a lack of knowledge about the mechanisms through which these relationships are established. The consideration of emotional intelligence as a variable that interacts with the perception of environmental elements in the explanation of health levels is a constant in research (Ciarrochi et al., 2002a; Slaski and Cartwright, 2003). For example, in work contexts, it has shown an invigorating role that allows for a better interpretation and understanding of the social keys and more positive and adaptive responses (Jordan et al., 2002). In areas other than work, Gallagher and Vella-Brodrick (2008) demonstrated in a sample of adults from the general population that emotional intelligence interacted with the levels of received social support by increasing the resulting levels of subjective well-being. However, in adolescents who are in an academic context, there are other variables that may affect the relationship between social support and well-being, for example, health variables such as social stress, anxiety or depression (Demaray and Malecki, 2002). In this sense, the second approach has focused on the stress-buffering hypotheses (Vaux, 1988), which posits that social support suppresses the deleterious effects of stress to promote or maintain good health (Glozah, 2013). The results under this paradigm show, in children and adolescents,

that social support is a buffer for stress and positively correlates with well-being (Malecki and Demaray, 2006). Furthermore, social support both directly and indirectly affects depressive symptoms and significantly mediates the effects of undesirable life events (Lin et al., 1999). Bearing these comments in mind and the above-mentioned result about the dramatically increased depression in adolescents that has affected a wide range of college students (Hunt and Eisenberg, 2010), we consider the possible protective effect of social support on depression. Stemming from these results, we could expect that Moroccan adolescents with high levels of emotional intelligence place greater value on the interaction experiences resulting from the social support received from different sources than do adolescents with lower emotional intelligence levels, further leading to greater life satisfaction (cognitive dimension of subjective well-being) and lower levels of depression. Thus, emotional intelligence would have an interaction role with social support in the final result of life satisfaction and depression. Specifically, we propose:

Hypothesis 7. Emotional intelligence interacts with social support in determining levels of life satisfaction in Moroccan adolescents.

Hypothesis 8. Emotional intelligence interacts with social support in determining levels of depression in Moroccan adolescents.

In sum, our study pays attention to the protective role that social support, emotional intelligence and their interaction may have in life satisfaction and depression in Moroccan adolescents. This is a novel approach to a sample that has received little attention. The hypothesized model is schematized in **Figure 1**.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The participants in this study consisted of 1277 students (571 men and 694 women, and 12 missing values) with a mean age = 16.15 (SD = 2.22; range = 9–23 years old) who belonged to 26 public schools in different territories of Morocco. The sample comprised 69.9% secondary education students (n = 893; 15.3%



first course; 14.7% second course; 19.7% third course; and 20.2% fourth course) and 29.6% high school students (n = 378; 7.8% first course and 21.8% second course). The remaining 0.5% (n = 6) was missing values. The mean grade of the students in the previous year was 12.84 (over 20; SD = 2.56; range = 5.00–19.99). In the family context, the students had more than four siblings (18.1%), four siblings (19.3%), three siblings (23.3%), two siblings (24.7%), one sibling (12.6%), and no siblings (1%). The remaining 1.2% was missing values.

The mean age of fathers was 49.75 years (SD = 8.10; range = 30-89), whereas mothers' mean age was 42.07 years (SD = 6.99; range = 26-84). With respect to the parents' educational level, 20% of fathers had no education, whereas 22.4% completed primary studies, 15.4% graduated from secondary education, 20.3% graduated from high school, and 18.7% had university studies. The remaining 3.1% were missing values. For mothers, 36.6% had no education, and the distribution of mothers in the remaining educational levels was as follows: primary studies (17.8%); graduated from secondary education (16.4%); graduated from high school (14.3%); and completed university studies (12.6%). The remaining 2.3% were missing values. With respect to the parents' work, fathers were mostly self-employed (32.7%), worked as civil servants (22.5%), or were employees (12.2%), followed by working as farmers (7.3%), being unemployed (6.3%) or holding other unspecified jobs (15.5%), and 3.5% of missing values. Mothers were mostly unemployed but devoted to their houses (72.7%), followed by working as civil servants (8.2%), being self-employed (7%), being employed (4.3%), working as farmers (0.7%), or having unspecified work (5.4%). The remaining 1.7% was missing values.

As a previous step before administering the questionnaires, two processes were carried out. First, once the scales that conformed to the battery were decided, then based on the guidelines by Hambleton and De Jong (2003), all of the scales were revised by experts in the Arabic language and in psychology and were further analyzed in group discussions to test their adequacy among Moroccan adolescents, as suggested by Willgerodt (2003) or Vogt et al. (2004), among others. Due to the content analyses and considering the difficulties and limitations found in other studies with Moroccan samples (i.e., El Rhazi et al., 2009 or Hoopman et al., 2009), several modifications were included. Then, a pilot analysis with Moroccan adolescents was carried out, and other modifications were considered. First, all the scales reduced their number of anchors in the Likert scale. This decision pursued to eliminate the bias of the central response tendency or acquiescence. Thus, the instrument to assess social support was reduced to 2 points (yes or no), and the instruments for emotional intelligence and life satisfaction were reduced to 4- and 6-point Likert scales, respectively, from totally disagree to totally agree. Furthermore, several items were linguistically adapted to a simpler form of standard Arabic in all scales, except for the instrument evaluating satisfaction with life, which needed no further changes.

Ethical permission was obtained from the Department of Psychology and was approved by the Research and Ethics Committee at the Faculty of Letters and Human Sciences-Dhar el Mehraz of the University of Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah in Fez (Morocco). Once the investigators were allowed to conduct the study, they applied for permission from the responsible parties of the Regional Academy of Education and Training to allow them access to the public schools. The administrative and education officials approved the questionnaire and procedure to be administered at the public schools and gave the investigators a letter to present at the schools. At each school, an internal committee composed of the school personnel, informed the families in a meeting by a written letter with the explanation of the study to obtain parental consent for all participants. Parents verbally consented when they agreed, in case they did not, they had to give the letter back with the petition to be excluded. All parents agreed to allow their children to participate and schools reported the researches with this information. The Ethics Committee approved all consent procedures and how to obtain the parental consent.

In total, twenty-six schools from the region participated in the study. A group of 26 collaborators (24 women and two men) were distributed into two groups (14 and 12 participants, respectively) to be instructed about the scales, the meaning of items and the procedure to administer the questionnaires. They were also instructed to follow the ethical procedure guidelines approved by the Ethic Committee and the Regional Academy of Education and Training. Each seminar lasted 2 h. Then, the collaborators went to the schools in two sessions to have all the scales completed during school hours. Pupils answered the questionnaires individually in the classroom. Students in Morocco are not accustomed to completing questionnaires, and collaborators had to read the questions and sometimes explain the items. Anonymity of the responses and voluntary participation were ensured.

Measures

Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support-Arab American (MSPSS-AA). This is the adaptation of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS; Zimet et al., 1988) to Arabic for Arab-American adolescent samples (Ramaswamy et al., 2009). This adaptation included some modifications to culturally adapt the scale: (a) the reduction of the Likert scale from 7 to 3 points; (b) the inclusion of school personnel as a source of social support; and (c) the omission of other significant people as a source of social support due to their romantic nature. As a result, the MSPSS-AA is composed of 12 items comprising three sources of support, namely, family, friends and school personnel, with three response options: in disagreement, neutral, and in agreement. The MSPSS-AA obtained adequate reliability indices for the three subscales: family ($\alpha = 0.63$; i.e., my family is close to me when I need them), friends ($\alpha = 0.75$; i.e., my friends try to help me), and school personnel ($\alpha = 0.72$; i.e., I talk with the school counselor about my problems) (Ramaswamy et al., 2009). Further modifications were included in our study (see procedure above).

Wong and Law Emotional Intelligence Scale (WLEIS; Wong and Law, 2002). The WLEIS is considered a short instrument comprising 16 items that are scored on a 7-point Likert scale and that measure four competencies with four items each: self-emotional appraisal (SEA), which refers to the perception of own emotions; others' emotional appraisal (OEA), which refers to the perception of the emotions of others; use of emotions (UOE), which refers to the ability of individuals to make use of their emotions by directing them toward constructive activities and personal performance; and regulation of emotions (ROE), the ability of people to regulate their emotions, which will enable a more rapid recovery from psychological distress. The internal consistencies of the competencies in the original version are 0.87, 0.90, 0.84, and 0.83 Cronbach values, respectively (Wong and Law, 2002). The authors initially proposed this instrument for the study of emotional intelligence in the workplace. However, its use has spread to other contexts in which relationships occur (Lopez-Zafra and Gartzia, 2014). For example, it has been successfully adapted and used with Moroccan women by El Ghoudani et al. (2018). We use this adaptation to analyze its usefulness with Moroccan adolescents but further revise it for use among adolescents (see procedure above).

Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS; Diener et al., 1985). We revised the Arabic version of the SWLS by Ayyash-Abdo and Sánchez-Ruiz (2012) used with a sample of Lebanese undergrads. This scale comprised 5 items rated on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*), with higher values representing greater satisfaction. One example item is the following: In most ways, my life is close to my ideal. This measure is considered suitable for research and clinical purposes in Arabic-speaking communities showing an adequate alpha coefficient ($\alpha = 0.79$) in the adaptation study. Our Moroccan version included some adaptations (see procedure above).

Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II; Beck et al., 1996). The BDI-II is a 21-item inventory that assesses depressive symptomatology. Each item is rated on a scale ranging from 0 (*normal*) to 3 (*most severe*), with summary scores ranging between 0 and 63. The BDI-II yielded high internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.93$ among college students; Beck et al., 1996). Adequate content and factorial validity have been demonstrated, and it

provides diagnostic discrimination. For this study, we use the version for Arab samples by Hamdi (2013). This scale has been used with the adult population; thus, we reviewed the scale for Moroccan adolescents (see procedure above).

Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using structural equation modeling (SEM) to test the proposed model. All were performed using GNU R software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2019) with lavaan, semTools, semPlot, data.table, shiny, HH, irr, vegan, psychometric, psych, GPArotation, Rcsdp, corrplot, parallel, crayon, non-nest2, ltm, CMC, matrixStats, and RMediation libraries. In all cases, a significant difference was determined with a probability = 0.05.

Given the presence of missing values, and in order to avoid interpretive problems related to the normality of the data, the estimation method was based on the *MLF* estimator (Maximum Likelihood Estimation based on the first-order derivatives) and *ml* missing methods (case-wise Maximum Likelihood estimation). In fact, all the conclusions were verified in a convergent manner with other robust estimation methods (e.g., maximum likelihood estimation asymptotically equal to the robust Yuan-Bentler test statistic) (see Rosseel, 2012).

For each model estimated, we report the following recommended goodness-of-fit indices: model chi-square (χ^2) with degrees of freedom (df) and probability; the ratio χ^2 value by its degrees of freedom; Hoelter's Critical N (CN); the Bentler comparative fit index (CFI); Bollen's incremental fit index (IFI); the non-normed fit index (NNFI, also known as the Tucker-Lewis index, or TLI); the standardized root mean square residual (SRMR); the Steiger-Lind root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and Confidence Interval of RMSEA; Akaike's information criterion (AIC); the sample-size-adjusted Bayesian information criterion (BIC); and the most recent indexes, the gamma hat index (γ -Hat) and the adjusted gamma hat index (adj γ -Hat), which have been shown to be resistant to

Scale	M (SD)	Range	%NA	Cronbach's α	OmegaT	OmegaH
MSPSS.F1 Family	7.16 (1.05)	4–8	2.3	0.61	0.62	0.62
MSPSS.F2 Friends	3.54 (0.68)	2–4	1.6	0.48	0.58	0.58
MSPSS.F3 School	5.66 (1.28)	4–8	3.7	0.61	0.62	0.62
MSPSS.TT	16.35 (2.03)	10–20	5.6	0.61	0.69	0.68
WLEIS.F1 Self	9.53 (1.79)	3–12	2.7	0.60	0.62	0.62
WLEIS.F2 Others	12.26 (2.41)	4-16	1.8	0.67	0.68	0.68
WLEIS.F3 Regulation	13.34 (2.20)	4-16	3.2	0.68	0.68	0.69
WLEIS.F4 Use	11.52 (2.91)	4-16	1.2	0.71	0.72	0.71
WLEIS.TT	46.64 (6.57)	18–60	6.8	0.79	0.84	0.83
BDI.F1 Cognitive	25.04 (7.52)	15–57	13.4	0.87	0.88	0.88
BDI.F2 Somatic	7.98 (2.68)	5–20	6.3	0.69	0.67	0.65
BDI.Total	32.85 (9.42)	20–77	15.8	0.89	0.90	0.90
SWLS	21.62 (5.36)	5–30	2.7	0.80	0.80	0.80

MSPSS, Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support; WLEIS, Wong and Law Emotional Intelligence Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory-II; SWLS, Satisfaction With Life Scale; F, name of the factor; TT, total score; NA, no answer/lost values. The α -values < 0.7 obtained for some scales are considered acceptable in the initial phases of research and the development of evaluation instruments (Guilford, 1954).
sample size, model complexity, and model misspecification (Fan and Sivo, 2007). A reasonable guideline is to examine the RMSEA (see below) for the null model (null or independence, e.g., all the variables in the model to have variation but no correlation) and make sure that is not smaller than 0.158, which is especially useful for high sample sizes. This rule allows for the decision of whether incremental (or relative) measures of fit (e.g., IFI, TLI, and NFI) may be informative (Kenny, 2015). The details on the recommended thresholds for each of the goodness-of-fit statistics are included in the **Tables 3**, **4**.

Furthermore, modification indices analysis and their power approach for model fit evaluation were run through the library miPowerFit to debug the final model. This library starts from the estimates of modification indexes of the library lavaan and allows us to include two approaches in a convergent way, namely, that of Saris et al. (2009) from power changes and that based on the confidence intervals of the expected parameter changes (Kelley and Pornprasertmanit, 2016). In the analysis of the moderating effects, we opted for probing latent interaction from products of indicators using residual centering (see Geldhof et al., 2013). In the mediational analysis, the bias-corrected bootstrap method was used to detect mediated effects in SEM to avoid the problems arising from the assumptions about the distribution of the coefficient of interest (Valente et al., 2015).

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Means, standard deviations and reliability coefficients for the psychometric measures are presented in **Table 1**. Pearson product correlations among variables included in the current study are presented in **Table 2**.

Measurement Model

Despite all the scales had adequate initial psychometric properties, due to the adaptation to the Moroccan culture, basic analyses of their properties at the item level were carried out. Mainly an analysis of discrimination (item-test correlation) and reliability of each item were performed, as well as the analysis of saturation from McDonald's omega estimates (see Zinbarg et al., 2005). The latter did not allow assuring that all the items contributed to the measurement model, that is, to load at least to one of the factors that compounded the original factorial structure and / or to contribute to a general dimension. This analysis led us to omit items 7 (When the situation gets worse, I rely on my friends) and 12 (I can talk with my friends about my problems) of the MSPSS scale to measure social support. Also item 13 (I always know if I am happy or not) of the WLEIS scale to measure emotional intelligence and item 21 regarding to sex relations of the BDI-II scale for depression were eliminated.

In order to estimate the reliability of the scales, given the categorical format of the items, we opted for the omega index; which has also shown conceptual advantages over the alpha index (see Revelle and Zinbarg, 2008; Sijtsma, 2008). More specifically, **Table 1** collects both the total, that is, the greatest lower bounds as estimates of a reliability of a test, (see omegaT column) and

Dimensions/items	-	0	e	4	ß	9	7	œ	6	9	÷	12	13	14	15	16	17
(1) MSPSS.F1 Family	-																
(2) MSPSS.F2 Friends	0.09**	-															
(3) MSPSS.F3 School	0.22**	0.06*	Ļ														
(4) MSPSS.TT	0.70**	0.42**	0.77**	-													
(5) WLEIS.F1 Self	0.25**	0.09**	0.17**	0.27**	-												
(6) WLEIS.F2 Others	0.00	0.13**	0.08**	0.09**	0.26**	-											
(7) WLEIS.F3 Regulation	0.31**	0.06	0.17**	0.29**	0.46**	0.26**	-										
(8) WLEIS.F4 Use	0.28**	0.02	0.16**	0.25**	0.46**	0.12**	0.41**	-									
(9) WLEIS.TT	0.30**	0.11**	0.20**	0.32**	0.73**	0.58**	0.74**	0.76**	-								
(10) BDIF1 Cognitive	-0.41**	-0.08**	-0.17**	-0.34**	-0.31**	-0.02	-0.33**	-0.31**	-0.35**								
(11) BDI.F2 Somatic	-0.26**	-0.05	-0.17**	-0.26**	-0.24**	0.01	-0.25**	-0.22**	-0.25**	0.64**							
(12) BDI.TT	-0.40**	-0.07*	-0.19**	-0.35**	-0.30**	-0.01	-0.32**	-0.30**	-0.34**	0.98**	0.79**	-					
(13) SWLS.1	0.25**	0.01	0.18**	0.24**	0.27**	0.01	0.19**	0.22**	0.24**	-0.29**	-0.20**	-0.28**	-				
(14) SWLS.2	0.47**	0.07*	0.19**	0.39**	0.29**	0.04	0.29**	0.28**	0.32**	-0.43**	-0.30**	-0.42**	0.44**	÷			
(15) SWLS.3	0.38**	0.07*	0.15**	0.32**	0.34**	0.08**	0.35**	0.30**	0.37**	-0.43**	-0.30**	-0.42**	0.38**	0.62**	÷		
(16) SWLS.4	0.35**	0.04	0.22**	0.34**	0.22**	0.09**	0.26**	0.23**	0.28**	-0.34**	-0.23**	-0.33**	0.37**	0.54**	0.55**	-	
(17) SWLS.5	0.25**	0.02	0.22**	0.28**	0.17**	-0.01	0.16**	0.21**	0.19**	-0.27**	-0.17**	-0.26**	0.32**	0.41**	0.43**	0.48**	-
(18) SWLS.TT	0.45**	0.05	0.26**	0.42**	0.33**	0.06*	0.33**	0.32**	0.36**	-0.47**	-0.32**	-0.45**	0.64**	0.79**	0.78**	0.79**	0.74**

the hierarchical (amount of variance attributable to one common factor for all of the items, see omegaH column) variants of the omega index. However, we also provide the Cronbach alpha index, in order to facilitate comparability with other studies (see Table 1). The reliability estimates for our Moroccan sample showed values similar to those observed in the original studies (see section "Measures"). Despite some of the scales have alpha values between 0.6 and 0.7, reflecting a questionable internal consistency (Hair et al., 2014; DeVellis, 2017), these values could also be a consequence of the small number of items that compose these scales (Cortina, 1993).

Once the adequacy of all the measures was verified, it was found that the measurement model that included all the constructs enunciated as latent variables (social support, depression, emotional intelligence, and satisfaction with life) showed a good fit to the data (see Table 3).

In addition, all the parameters associated with the definition of latent variables were significant, thus confirming their statistical relevance from the indicator variables. On the other hand, when the measurement model was estimated, the freedom to freely intercorrelate all the latent variables allowed us to rule out the presence of extreme interrelations among the latent traits (the interrelation of greater magnitude was 0.754 with an average of 0.590), thus avoiding possible problems of multicollinearity (see Byrne, 2009). In the original studies on which the present study is based, all the measures that showed factorial structure exhibited non-orthogonal factors (see section "Materials and Methods"), and those of the global measurement model, mentioned above, were programmed to allow the factors to be oblique. In this way, potential problems of interpretation of the structural model due to item parceling were discarded (see Bandalos and Finney, 2001).

Structural Model

To analyze the effect of emotional intelligence on well-being measures, life satisfaction and depression, we started with a general structural model that assumes the possible modulating effect through the interaction of emotional intelligence with social support (see Figure 2). The pathways that allowed us to test our hypotheses, with direct pathways as well as two-way pathways for moderation, were then added to this model.

The chi-square difference test indicated that model specifications significantly improved model fit $[\chi^2(2) = 7.32]$, p = 0.03] compared to the initial measurement model. In addition, the parameters associated with modulation (see E.1 and E.2 pathways, Figure 2) also led to significantly improved model fit $[\chi^2(2) = 8.34, p = 0.02]$ compared to the reference model that lacked such parameters. This starting model (Figure 1) provided a good fit to the data (see Table 4).

The results support the core idea of the statistical relevance of the possible modulating effects of emotional intelligence with social support. However, as shown in Figure 2, only the pathway from interaction to life satisfaction was significant (E2: $\beta = 0.125$, se = 0.040, z = 3.120, p = 0.002) but not the pathway to depression (E1: $\beta = -0.030$, se = 0.037, z = -0.802, p = 0.422). See details on the interactions in Figures 3, 4. A final model identical to the original model was defined, except for the omission of the nonsignificant emotional intelligence and support social interaction

TABLE 3 Goodness of fit indices for the measurement models.	t indices for the m	neasurement	t models.										
	χ ² (df)	٩	Ratio (<2)	Hoelter CN (>200)	CFI, IFI (>=0.95)	TLI, NNFI (>=0.95)	SRMR (<=0.08)	RMSEA [95% CI of RMSEA] (<=0.06)	Baseline RMSEA (>0.158)	AIC	Adj BIC	γ-Hat (>=0.95)	Adj y-Hat (>=0.95)
MSPSS-3-Factor model	77.59 (32)	<0.001	2.42	758+	0.96+	0.95+	0.03+	0.03 [0.02-0.04]*	0.1471	12510	12575	+66.0	+66.0
WLEIS-4-Factor model	304.62 (86)	<0.001	3.54	455+	0.94	0.93	0.04+	0.045 [0.04-0.05]*	0.1719+	44189	44286	0.98+	-0.97 +
SWLS- Unidimensional	42.43 (5)	<0.001	8.49	332+	0.98+	+96.0	0.02+	0.08 [0.06-0.10]	0.3910+	20355	20384	+66.0	+96.0
BDI-II-2-Factor model	304.62 (86)	<0.001	3.54	455+	0.94	0.93	0.04+	0.045 [0.04-0.05]*	0.1719+	44189	44286	0.98+	-0.97 +
General model	298.15 (85)	<0.001	3.51	461+	0.95+	0.95+	0.04+	0.045 [0.04–0.05]*	0.1987+	64091	64158	0.98+	0.97+
MSPSS, Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support, WLES, Wong and Law Emotional Intelligence Scale; SWLS, Satisfaction With Life Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory-II; <i>x</i> ² , chi square; df, degrees of freedom; p, level of signification; CN, critical N; CFI, comparative fit index; ITI, tucker lewis index; NNH, non-normed fit index; SRMR, standardized root mean square residual; RMSEA, root mean square error of approximation; CN, critical N; CFI, comparative fit index; ITI, tucker lewis index; NNH, non-normed fit index; adj y-Hat, adjusted gamma hat index. "Indicative that the RMSEA is significant at 0.05. In all variants, "+" is indicative that the statistic meets the recommended thresholds of good fit: <i>p</i> (<i>x</i> ²) ≥ 0.05, <i>x</i> ² /df ≤ 2, [GFI CFI, IFI, NNFI] ≥ 0.95, SRMR ≤ 0.08, and RMSEA ≤ 0.06 (Hu and Bentler, 1999), [<i>y</i> -Hat, adjusted gamma bat index. "Indicative that the RMSEA is significant at 0.05. In all variants, "+" is indicative that the statistic meets the recommended thresholds of good fit: <i>p</i> (<i>x</i> ²) ≥ 0.05, <i>x</i> ² /df ≤ 2, [GFI CFI, IFI, NNFI] ≥ 0.95, SRMR ≤ 0.08, and RMSEA ≤ 0.06 (Hu and Bentler, 1999), [<i>y</i> -Hat, adj <i>y</i> -Hat, adj <i>y</i> -Hat, adj <i>x</i> -Hat index." Indicative that the statistic meets the recommended thresholds of good fit: <i>p</i> (<i>x</i> ²) ≥ 0.05, <i>x</i> ² /df ≤ 2, [GFI CFI, IFI, NNFI] ≥ 0.95, SRMR ≤ 0.08, and RMSEA ≤ 0.06 (Hu and Bentler, 1999), [<i>y</i> -Hat, adj <i>y</i> -Hat, adj <i>y</i> -Hat, adj <i>x</i> -Hat] ≥ 0.95 (Fan and Sivo, 2007), Hoelter CN > 200 (Kenny, 2015). These threshold values have been included together with the indices therefore their interpretation.	I Scale of Perceiv nification; CN, crit. roximation; CI, cc 35. In all variants, t, adj γ -Hat] ≥ 0.5	ed Social St ical N; CFI, . infidence int "+" is indice 35 (Fan and	upport; WLŁ comparative terval; AIC, <i>,</i> ative that the Sivo, 2007),	IS, Wong and i of the index; IFI, in Akaike informati statistic meets Hoeiter CN > .	Law Emotional cremental fit in on criterion; B. the recommer 200 (Kenny, 20	Intelligence Sc dex; TLI, tucker IC, Bayesian inf nded thresholds 715). These thre	ale; SWLS, Si lewis index; I ormation crite of good fit: pl ishold values i	Wong and Law Emotional Intelligence Scale; SWLS, Satisfaction With Life Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory-II; χ^2 , chi square; df, degrees index; IFI, incremental fit index; TLI, tucker lewis index; NNHF, non-normed fit index; SRMR, standardized root mean square residual; RMSEA, root ke information criterion; BIC, Bayesian information criterion; γ +Hat, gamma hat index; adj γ +Hat, adjusted gamma hat index. *Indicative that the tistic meets the recommended thresholds of good fit: $p(\chi^2) \ge 0.05$, $\chi^2/df \le 2$, [GFI CFI, IFI, NNFI] ≥ 0.95 , SRMR ≤ 0.08 , and RMSEA ≤ 0.06 (Hu other correction). These thresholds of good fit: $p(\chi^2) \ge 0.05$, $\chi^2/df \le 2$, [GFI CFI, IFI, NNFI] ≥ 0.95 , SRMR ≤ 0.08 , and RMSEA ≤ 0.06 (Hu other correction).	le; BDI, Beck I lex; SRMR, sta lex; adj y-H t index; adj y-H (GFI CFI, IFI, NI ether with the ii	Depression andardized n Hat, adjuste NFI] ≥ 0.95, ndices them	Inventory-II; <i>X</i> oot mean squ d gamma hat SRMR ≤ 0.0 iselves to faci	⁽² , chi square, lare residual; H index. *Indice 8, and RMSE/ litate their inte	df, degrees $RMSEA$, root titive that the $A \ge 0.06$ (H u pretation.



in the prediction of the levels of depression (see **Figure 5**). This final model produced a good fit (see **Table 4**).

The final model adjustment is equivalent to the starting model of the interaction; if anything, general indicators improve. The analysis based on modification confirmed that there is no misspecification in any of the parameters included in the final model.

In sum, the results show that emotional intelligence has an effect on life satisfaction, both direct (despite not strictly significant but rather approaching significance; G pathway, $\beta = 0.144$, se = 0.078, z = 1.847, p = 0.065) and indirect (interacting with social support; E pathway, $\beta = 0.123$, se = 0.039, z = 3.189, p < 0.001). See effect in Figure 3. When emotional intelligence is low, the relationship between social support and life satisfaction is practically null and in fact the slope is not statistically significant ($\beta = 0.065$, se = 0.219, z = 0.297, p = 0.767), whereas with an intermediate value in emotional intelligence, a positive relationship emerges ($\beta = 0.594$, se = 0.113, z = 5.232, p < 0.001), and maximum levels of emotional intelligence enhance this relationship ($\beta = 1.122$, se = 0.229, z = 4.894, p < 0.001). The pathways between emotional intelligence and life satisfaction have the strongest effects. The results show both the influence of emotional intelligence on social support (F pathway, **Figure 5**: β = 0.609, se = 0.046, *z* = 13.224, *p* < 0.001) and of social support on life satisfaction (see A pathway, **Figure 5**: $\beta = 0.665$, se = 0.080, z = 8.317, p < 0.001).

Moreover, emotional intelligence also has an effect on depression, but it is exclusively a direct effect (C pathway, **Figure 5**: $\beta = -0.176$, se = 0.050, z = -3.490, p < 0.001). As mentioned above, a modulating effect was ruled out, but a timely mediational analysis allowed us to discard a mediation effect from

social support to the relation between emotional intelligence and depression ($\beta = -0.189$, se = 0.820, z = -0.230, p = 0.818). In fact, the graph in Figure 4 reveals the parallelism between the slopes for the social support depression regression at different levels of emotional intelligence. The net effect of emotional intelligence is to decrease levels of depression (see the parallel negative regression functions of Figure 4). For the prediction of depression, it also affects social support (B pathway, Figure 5: $\beta = -0.309$, se = 0.090, z = -3.443, p < 0.001) according to a moderately high value. Finally, the two well-being variables are directly related (D pathway, **Figure 5**: $\beta = -0.223$, se = 0.069, z = -3.261, p < 0.001). In this sense, we ruled out the possible mediated effect of the association between EI and depression through satisfaction with life, as it was not significant ($\beta = -0.032$, se = 0.138, z = -0.233, p = 0.816), and the mediation effect from social support to depression through satisfaction was discarded $(\beta = -0.149, se = 0.586, z = -0.254, p = 0.800)$. That is, all types of mediation from satisfaction to depression were discarded, either from EI or from social support.

DISCUSSION

Due to the importance that social support has on the prediction of satisfaction with life and depression in other subsamples, the interest of testing a model of relations in Moroccan adolescents is clear. Moreover, this study contributes by adding emotional intelligence as a protector variable for positive well-being (life satisfaction) and negative well-being (depression). For the sake of clarity in the following, we revise the results according to each hypothesis.

	χ ² (df)	đ	Ratio (<2)	Hoelter CN (>200)	CFI, IFI, TLI, NNFI (>=0.95)	SRMR (<=0.08)	нмзеа [93% си of RMSEA] (<=0.06)	Baseline RMSEA (>0.158)	AIC	Adj BIC	γ-Hat (>=0.95)	Adj <i>y</i> -Hat (>=0.95)
Starting model	328.87 (143)	0.001	2.30	667+	0.96+	0.03+	0.035 [0.03-0.04]*	0.1598+	86326	86417	0.98+	0.98+
Final model	329.36 (144)	0.001	2.29	671+	-96-0	0.03+	0.035 [0.03-0.04]*	0.1598+	86325	86414	0.98+	0.98+

which are the RMSEA is significant at 0.05. In all variants, "+" is indicative that the statistic meets the recommended thresholds of good fit: $p(\chi^2) \ge 0.05$, $\chi^2/df \le 2$, [GH CFI, IFI, NNFI] ≥ 0.95 , SRMR ≤ 0.08 . and RMSEA ≤ 0.06 (Hu and Bentler, 1999), [y-Hat, adj y-Hat] ≥ 0.95 (Fan and Sivo, 2007), Hoelter CN > 200 (Kenny, 2015). For details see note on Table

Hypothesis 1, in which an inverse relationship between life satisfaction and depression was proposed, was supported by our results. Thus, in line with previous results in adults (Koivumaa-Honkanen et al., 2004; Boyraz et al., 2014) and adolescents (Huebner et al., 2000; Haranin et al., 2007; Lyons et al., 2014), our results show that levels of life satisfaction inversely predict levels of depression in Moroccan adolescents. The logic of this relationship could be based on the postulates of Beck's cognitive theory of depression (Beck, 1976), which asserts that the maintenance of a series of negative cognitive self-schemas (beliefs about oneself, life and the future), together with the presence of cognitive biases (i.e., attention, memory), increases an individual's vulnerability to depression in the future (Beck and Dozois, 2011). Thus, given that life satisfaction constitutes a global cognitive assessment (positive or negative to a greater or lesser degree) of individuals' lives, it is logical that adolescents who maintain negative vital evaluations are those with greater depressive symptomatology and vice versa. Some authors suggest that it would be during the first years of life when these selfschemas would be established as adverse events are experienced, thus determining, along with other variables, one's vulnerability to depression (Evans et al., 2005). This perspective would highlight the relevance of promoting adequate levels of life satisfaction to mental health in children and adolescents. In hypotheses 2 and 3, we considered the relationship of social

In hypotheses 2 and 3, we considered the relationship of social support with life satisfaction (positively) and depression (in a negative way). These relations are confirmed by the structural model obtained. Well-being is promoted by relations with other relevant people. This well-being implies a higher life satisfaction and a lower level of depression when social support is high. This is in agreement with previous results in other samples finding that social support increases the perceptions of well-being (Thoits, 2011) both directly and indirectly by reducing stress and other negative symptoms. Regarding depression, perceived social support protects against depression in adults (Santini et al., 2015), as well as in children and adolescents (Gariépy et al., 2016), but this study is the first to analyze this relation in a sample of Moroccan adolescents.

As for hypothesis 4, in which we predicted a positive relation between emotional intelligence and life satisfaction, the structural model confirms a significant positive relation. Our results coincide with previous works that have shown consolidated relationships between both constructs (Sánchez-Álvarez et al., 2016) and between emotional intelligence levels and the wellbeing of people in general (Zeidner et al., 2012). Adolescents with higher levels of emotional intelligence use adaptive strategies when dealing with uncomfortable or difficult situations (Mikolajczak et al., 2009b), which lead them to experience positive emotions when these strategies are appropriate and, similarly, to the management of negative emotions, which finally favors the preservation of a positive cognitive assessment of life in general (Palmer et al., 2002). As Schutte et al. (2002) stated, "those who are able to understand and regulate their emotions should be able to generally maintain a better outlook on life" (p. 770).

Regarding hypothesis 5, in which we predicted a negative relationship between emotional intelligence and depression, the results related to the adjustment of the model also confirm this

TABLE 4 | Goodness of fit indices for the measurements for the structural model



hypothesis and therefore coincide with previous studies carried out with adolescents (Balluerka et al., 2013; Resurrección et al., 2014). Surely, the most emotionally intelligent adolescents use more effective coping strategies, which would lead them to lower levels of depression (Davis and Humphrey, 2012). In addition, they cushion the negative effect that critical vital events have on psychological maladjustment (Cha and Nock, 2009).

Our results also confirm hypothesis 6, in which a positive relationship between emotional intelligence and social support was predicted. Different studies have found similar results (Ciarrochi et al., 2001, 2002b; Balluerka et al., 2013), showing the importance of emotional intelligence in the processes of social adaptation and in the development of interpersonal relationships (Lopes et al., 2003). In fact, it has been found that both self-report and performance measures of EI contributed to the explanation of social support beyond the effects of personality (Fabio and Kenny, 2012).

Results showed a significant interaction of emotional intelligence with social support in determining levels of life satisfaction was predicted in Moroccan adolescents, thus supporting hypothesis 7. This moderating role of emotional intelligence, in interaction with different environmental variables, has already been shown in previous studies (Ciarrochi et al., 2002a;



Slaski and Cartwright, 2003). Moreover, our results are in agreement with Gallagher and Vella-Brodrick (2008). They showed, in adults, that high levels of emotional intelligence contributed to the maintenance of high levels of well-being. Emotional intelligence, taking into account that social support is a buffer for stress and positively correlates with wellbeing (Malecki and Demaray, 2006), would contribute to the development of coping strategies that would ultimately preserve and enhance levels of life satisfaction.

The results of the adjustment of the model do not confirm an interaction of the emotional intelligence with the levels of social support in the explanation of the levels of depression in Moroccan adolescents. This implies that hypothesis 8 was not supported. Thus, alternative ways of action to those proposed by Gallagher and Vella-Brodrick (2008) should be considered. Beyond the effect that emotional intelligence can exert on levels of depression from its direct effects on levels of satisfaction with life, a mediational model in which emotional intelligence acts directly and indirectly (through its effect on levels of social support) on the levels of depression of adolescents is neither confirmed by the structural model tested in this study. This mediational model has been successfully tested in other studies (Zeidner and Matthews, 2016), confirming the key role of social support as a factor that F = 0.61 (0.05)***

Emotional

Intelligence

D = -0.22 (0.07)**

Depression



0.14 (0.08)

 $C = -0.18 (0.05)^{\circ}$

FIGURE 5 | Final Model of structural relations. See notes in Figure 2.

B = -0.31 (0.09)**

In sum, our hypotheses are mainly supported. As shown in **Figure 5**, life satisfaction and depression, as well as social support and depression, are negatively related. Thus, the higher one's life satisfaction and social support are, the lower his or her depression. Moreover, emotional intelligence has a direct effect on life satisfaction and interacts with social support. This finding implies that higher levels of emotional intelligence are related to a higher level of social support, and the greater the social support is, the greater the life satisfaction. Furthermore, emotional intelligence and social support separately also have direct effects on depression. Finally, social support also buffers depression, but there is no interaction effect.

These results are in agreement with those found in other samples showing that social support and emotional intelligence play a protective role in depression and the cognitive component of subjective well-being (life satisfaction). However, the analysis of their behavior in Moroccan adolescents is of great interest due to the contributions that these results have on the development of the educational Moroccan system. Education has been one of the main concerns of Moroccan authorities, given its impact on the formation of future generations and their access to an active life, along with their contribution to the growth of the country. As an example of this importance of education, the percentage of illiteracy has dropped from 54.9% in 1982 to 36.7% in 2012. Furthermore, the budget for education comprised 22.5% of the total budget in 2018, which was an increase of 9% from 2017 (Ministère de l'Economie et des Finances, 2018). These advances must be accompanied by improvements in quality. These improvements can be made in two major areas: cognitive and emotional development. The former has received a special emphasis to the detriment of the latter, which has been almost forgotten by educational practitioners. However, despite the need for the international recognition of emotional abilities in educational programs (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2018), the lack of training of Moroccan teachers in this regard makes it impossible to implement them.

Furthermore, the absence of standardized instruments in Arabic to evaluate the variables of interest makes it difficult to know how the variables relate. This study fills this gap by adapting and further analyzing several scales with Moroccan samples of adolescents and by proposing and verifying a relational model that can help researchers and teachers to more precisely clarify these relations according to their context. For example, for interventions in families and in schools, social support may be a fruitful goal, as research on the mediating role that depression can play in academic outcomes suggests important secondary benefits to depression prevention programs in school settings (Rueger et al., 2016). The same can be said about interventions that include emotional intelligence, as both variables have shown to be protective resources against depression, in addition to their beneficial effects on life satisfaction. The enhancement of protective factors, such as social support and emotional intelligence, promotes healthy youth development, thus creating healthier societies in the future.

However, despite the contribution of this study related to its analysis of a Moroccan sample of adolescents and its testing of a model of relations in which we prove that social support and emotional intelligence are protective factors of well-being, positively in increasing life satisfaction and in reducing depression, this study is not absent of limitations. The data collection process occurred much more slowly than expected. The participants were not accustomed to responding to questionnaires, and thus, they had difficulty in understanding the response procedure. To reduce the impact of this lack of knowledge, surveyors were instructed to remember the manner of response to Likert scales and the meaning of the anchors. Moreover, the neutral anchors were suppressed to reduce the acquiescence response style, as suggested by previous studies (i.e., El Rhazi et al., 2009). Another limitation is related to the absence of control of other dimensions as personality or cognitive abilities that have been related to emotional intelligence. In fact, we tried to control the influence of cognitive abilities (see Brackett and Mayer, 2003) by including the test RAVEN widely used to assess general intelligence. However, in this study, results discarded the possibility of interpreting the results observed in structural models through variation with cognitive factors.

Finally, our study is the cross-sectional design. Thus, in the future, longitudinal studies could allow for the examination of the benefits of the development of these personal variables, such as social support and emotional intelligence, to increase life satisfaction and to reduce depression in adolescents.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical permission was obtained from the Department of Psychology and approved by the Committee at the Faculty of

Letters and Human Sciences-Dhar el Mehraz of the University of Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah in Fez (Morocco). Once the researches received the permission to conduct the study, they applied for permission to the responsible of the Regional Academy of Education and Training, to allow the access to public schools. The administrative and education officials approved the questionnaire and procedure to be administered at public schools and gave the researches a letter to be presented at schools. In each school an internal committee composed by the school personnel informed the families and obtained their verbal consent.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EL-Z, MP-M, KE, JA-L, and BZ conceived and designed the study. BZ, KE, and SA adapted the scales to Moroccan, trained the surveyors, and collected the data. DC-D processed the data and helped with the references. MMR-Á carried out the measurements and data analyses, contributed to the conceptual

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Khalek, A. M. (2009). Religiosity, subjective well-being, and depression in Saudi children and adolescents. *Ment. Health Relig. Cult.* 12, 803–815. doi: 10.1080/13674670903006755
- Abdel-Khalek, A. M., and Eid, G. K. (2011). Religiosity and its association with subjective well-being and depression among Kuwaiti and Palestinian Muslim children and adolescents. *Ment. Health Relig. Cult.* 14, 117–127. doi: 10.1080/ 13674670903540951
- Abela, J. R. Z., and Hankin, B. L. (2008). "Cognitive vulnerability to depression in children and adolescents: a developmental psychopathology perspective," in *Handbook of Depression in Children and Adolescents*, eds J. R. Z. Abela and B. L. Hankin (New York, NY: Guilford), 35–78.
- Al-Gelban, K. S. (2007). Depression, anxiety and stress among Saudi adolescent school boys. J. R. Soc. Promot. Health 127, 33–37. doi: 10.1177/ 1466424007070492
- Arnett, J. J. (2018). *Adolescence and Emerging Adulthood: A Cultural Approach*, 6th Edn. New York, NY: Pearson Education.
- Ayyash-Abdo, H., and Sánchez-Ruiz, M. J. (2012). Subjective wellbeing and its relationship with academic achievement and multilinguality among Lebanese university students. *Int. J. Psychol.* 47, 192–202. doi: 10.1080/00207594.2011. 614616
- Balluerka, N., Aritzeta, A., Gorostiaga, A., Gartzia, L., and Soroa, G. (2013). Emotional intelligence and depressed mood in adolescence: a multilevel approach. *Int. J. Clin. Health Psychol.* 13, 110–117. doi: 10.1016/S1697-2600(13) 70014-0
- Bandalos, D. L., and Finney, S. J. (2001). "Item parceling issue in structural equation modeling," in Advanced Structural Equation Modeling: New Developments and Techniques, eds G. A. Marcoulides and R. E. Shumaker (Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 269–296.
- Beck, A. T. (1976). Cognitive Therapy and the Emotional Disorders. New York, NY: International Universities Press.
- Beck, A. T., and Dozois, D. J. A. (2011). Cognitive therapy: current status and future directions. Annu. Rev. Med. 62, 397–409. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-052209-100032
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., and Brown, G. K. (1996). Manual for the Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II). San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- Berkman, L. F., Glass, T., Brissette, I., and Seeman, T. E. (2000). From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium. Soc. Sci. Med. 51, 843–857. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00065-4
- Boyraz, G., Waits, J. B., and Felix, V. A. (2014). Authenticity, life satisfaction, and distress: a longitudinal analysis. J. Couns. Psychol. 61, 498–505. doi: 10.1037/ cou0000031

model, and interpreted the data. EL-Z, MP-M, MMR-Á, JA-L, KE, OL-R, and DC-D drafted the manuscript. EL-Z integrated and coordinated the study. All authors provided substantial contributions to the work and critically revised the manuscript, approved its final version, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of this work and its integrity.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the University of Jaén and Caja Rural de Jaén through a cooperation project (References: CPC-2016-A-04 and CPC-2018-A-06).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge Rosario Expósito for her support in data processing and comments on a previous draft of this manuscript.

- Brackett, M. A., and Mayer, J. D. (2003). Convergent, discriminant, and incremental validity of competing measures of emotional intelligence. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 29, 1147–1158. doi: 10.1177/0146167203254596
- Brière, F. N., Pascal, S., Dupéré, V., and Janosz, M. (2013). School environment and adolescent depressive symptoms: a multilevel longitudinal study. *Pediatrics* 131, e702–e708. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-2172
- Byrne, B. M. (2009). Structural Equation Modeling with AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming, 2nd Edn. London: Routledge.
- Carbonell, D. M., Reinherz, H. Z., Giaconia, R. M., Stashwick, C. K., Paradis, A. D., and Beardslee, W. R. (2002). Adolescent protective factors promoting resilience in young adults at risk for depression. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work J.* 19, 393–412.
- Castellá Sarriera, J., Bedin, L., Calza, T., Abs, D., and Casas, F. (2015). Relationship between social support, life satisfaction and subjective well-being in Brazilian adolescents. Univ. Psychol. 14, 459–474. doi: 10.11144/Javeriana.upsy14-2.rbss
- Cha, C., and Nock, M. (2009). Emotional intelligence is a protective factor for suicidal behavior. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 48, 422–430. doi: 10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181984f44
- Chamberlain, K. (1988). On the structure of subjective well-being. Soc. Indic. Res. 20, 581–604. doi: 10.1007/BF03359559
- Chu, P. S., Saucier, D. A., and Hafner, E. (2010). Meta-analysis of the relationships between social support and well-being in children and adolescents. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 29, 624–645. doi: 10.1521/jscp.2010.29.6.624
- Ciarrochi, J., Chan, A. Y. C., and Bajgar, J. (2001). Measuring emotional intelligence in adolescents. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 31, 1105–1119. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00) 00207-5
- Ciarrochi, J., Deane, F., and Anderson, S. (2002a). Emotional intelligence moderates the relationship between stress and mental health. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 32, 197–209. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00012-5
- Ciarrochi, J., Deane, F. P., Wilson, C. J., and Rickwood, D. (2002b). Adolescents who need help the most are the least likely to seek it: the relationship between low emotional competence and low intention to seek help. *Br. J. Guid. Couns.* 30, 173–188. doi: 10.1080/03069880220128047
- Cobb, S. (1976). Social support as a moderator of life stress. *Psychosom. Med.* 38, 300-314. doi: 10.1097/00006842-197609000-00003
- Cohen, S. (2004). Social relationships and health. Am. Psychol. 59, 676-684. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.59.8.676
- Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. J. Appl. Psychol. 78, 98–104. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.78.1.98
- Criss, M. M., Shaw, D. S., Moilanen, K. L., Hitchings, J. E., and Ingoldsby, E. M. (2009). Family, neighborhood, and peer characteristics as predictors of child adjustment: a longitudinal analysis of additive and mediation models. *Soc. Dev.* 18, 511–535. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2008.00520.x

- Crutcher, B., Moran, R. N., and Covassin, T. (2018). Examining the relationship between social support satisfaction and perceived stress and depression in athletic training students. *Athl. Train. Educ. J.* 13, 168–174. doi: 10.4085/ 1302168
- Dardas, L. A., Silva, S. G., Smoski, M. J., Noonan, D., and Simmons, L. A. (2018). The prevalence of depressive symptoms among Arab adolescents: findings from Jordan. *Public Health Nurs.* 35, 100–108. doi: 10.1111/phn.12363
- Davis, D. A., and Davis, S. S. (2012). "Morocco," in Adolescent Psychology Around the World, ed. J. J. Arnett (Hove: Psychology Press), 47–59.
- Davis, S. K., and Humphrey, N. (2012). The influence of emotional intelligence (EI) on coping and mental health in adolescence: divergent roles for trait and ability EI. J. Adolesc. 35, 1369–1379. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.05.007
- Demaray, M. K., and Malecki, C. K. (2002). The relationship between perceived social support and maladjustment for students at risk. *Psychol. Sch.* 39, 305–316. doi: 10.1002/pits.10018
- DeVellis, R. F. (2017). Scale Development: Theory and Applications, 4th Edn. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Diener, E., and Diener, M. (1995). Cross-cultural correlates of life satisfaction and self-esteem. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 68, 653–663. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.68.4.653
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., and Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. J. Pers. Assess. 49, 71–75. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13
- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., Lucas, R. E., and Smith, H. L. (1999). Subjective well-being: three decades of progress. *Psychol. Bull.* 125, 276–302.
- El Ghoudani, K., Pulido-Martos, M., and Lopez-Zafra, E. (2018). Measuring emotional intelligence in Moroccan Arabic: the Wong and Law Emotional Intelligence Scale. *Rev. Psicol. Soc.* 33, 174–194. doi: 10.1080/02134748.2017. 1385243
- El Rhazi, K., Nejjari, C., Serhier, Z., Tachfouti, N., Berraho, M., Zakaria, Y., et al. (2009). Difficultés de l'adaptation transculturelle des échelles de mesure en santé dans les pays du sud: exemple de la validation du St-George Respiratory Questionnaire au Maroc [Cross-cultural adaptation difficulties in health quality of life scales for developing countries: example of St-George Respiratory Questionnaire validation in Morocco]. *Rev. Épidémiol. Santé Publique* 57, 179–189. doi: 10.1016/j.respe.2008.11.005
- Evans, J., Heron, J., Lewis, G., Araya, R., Wolke, D., and Alspac Study Team (2005). Negative self-schemas and the onset of depression in women: longitudinal study. Br. J. Psychiatry 186, 302–307. doi: 10.1192/bjp.186.4.302
- Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. (2012). Emotional intelligence and perceived social support among Italian high school students. J. Career Dev. 39, 461–475. doi: 10.1177/0894845311421005
- Fan, X., and Sivo, S. A. (2007). Sensitivity of fit indices to model misspecification and model types. *Multivariate Behav. Res.* 42, 509–529. doi: 10.1080/ 00273170701382864
- Fredrick, S. S., Demaray, M. K., Malecki, C. K., and Dorio, N. B. (2018). Can social support buffer the association between depression and suicidal ideation in adolescent boys and girls? *Psychol. Sch.* 55, 490–505. doi: 10.1002/pits.22125
- Gallagher, E. N., and Vella-Brodrick, D. A. (2008). Social support and emotional intelligence as predictors of subjective well-being. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 44, 1551– 1561. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.01.011
- Gariépy, G., Honkaniemi, H., and Quesnel-Vallee, A. (2016). Social support and protection from depression: systematic review of current findings in Western countries. Br. J. Psychiatry 209, 284–293. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.115.169094
- Geldhof, G. J., Pornprasertmanit, S., Schoemann, A. M., and Little, T. D. (2013). Orthogonalizing through residual centering: extended applications and caveats. *Educ. Psychol. Meas.* 73, 27–46. doi: 10.1177/0013164412445473
- Gilman, R., and Huebner, E. S. (2006). Characteristics of adolescents who report very high life satisfaction. J. Youth Adolesc. 35, 293–301. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9036-7
- Glozah, F. N. (2013). Effects of academic stress and perceived social support on the psychological wellbeing of adolescents in Ghana. Open J. Med. Psychol. 2, 143–150. doi: 10.4236/ojmp.2013.24022
- Gottlieb, B. H. (1983). Social Support Strategies: Guidelines for Mental Health Practice, Vol. 7. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications, Inc. doi: 10.1177/ 109019818501200109
- Gregg, G. S. (2005). *The Middle East: A Cultural Psychology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Guilford, J. P. (1954). *Psychometric Methods*, 2nd Edn. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., and Anderson, R. E. (2014). *Multivariate Data Analysis*, 7th Edn. Essex: Pearson Education.
- Hambleton, R. K., and De Jong, J. H. A. L. (2003). Advances in translating and adapting educational and psychological tests. *Lang. Test.* 20, 127–134. doi: 10.1191/0265532203lt247x
- Hamdi, A. (2013). محمد الشيخ لولاد مكتبة. (2) المعانيس و الاختيارات موسوعة العظيم عبد الله عبد معندي (2) المعاييس و الاختيارات موسوعة العظيم عبد الله عبد معندي (2) و Encyclopedia of Tests and Measurements (2)]. Egypt. (Dubai: Awlad Elsheikh Library).
- Haranin, E. C., Huebner, E. S., and Suldo, S. M. (2007). Predictive and incremental validity of global and domain-based adolescent life satisfaction reports. J. Psychoeduc. Assess. 25, 127–138. doi: 10.1177/073428290629 5620
- Hoopman, R., Terwee, C. B., Muller, M. J., Öry, F. G., and Aaronson, N. K. (2009). Methodological challenges in quality of life research among Turkish and Moroccan ethnic minority cancer patients: translation, recruitment and ethical issues. *Ethn. Health* 14, 237–253. doi: 10.1080/13557850802398832
- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- Huebner, E. S., Funk, B. A., and Gilman, R. (2000). Cross-sectional and longitudinal psychosocial correlates of adolescent life satisfaction reports. *Can. J. Sch. Psychol.* 16, 53–64. doi: 10.1177/082957350001600104
- Hunt, J., and Eisenberg, D. (2010). Mental health problems and help-seeking behavior among college students. J. Adolesc. Health 46, 3–10. doi: 10.1016/j. jadohealth.2009.08.008
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation [IHME] (2013). Human Development Network, The World Bank. The Global Burden of Disease: Generating Evidence, Guiding Policy — Sub-Saharan Africa Regional Edition. Seattle, WA: IHME.
- Jackson, S., and Goossens, L. (2006). *Handbook of Adolescent Development*. New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Jordan, P., Ashkanasy, N., and Härtel, C. (2002). Emotional intelligence as a moderator of emotional and behavioral reactions to job insecurity. Acad. Manag. Rev. 27, 361–372. doi: 10.2307/4134384
- Kelley, K., and Pornprasertmanit, S. (2016). Confidence intervals for population reliability coefficients: evaluation of methods, recommendations, and software for homogeneous composite measures. *Psychol. Methods* 21, 69–92. doi: 10. 1037/a0040086
- Kenny, D. A. (2015). Measuring Model Fit. Available at: http://davidakenny.net/ cm/fit.htm (accessed November 24, 2015).
- Koivumaa-Honkanen, H., Kaprio, J., Honkanen, R., Viinamäki, H., and Koskenvuo, M. (2004). Life satisfaction and depression in a 15-year followup of healthy adults. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 39, 994–999. doi: 10.1007/s00127-004-0833-6
- Lin, N. (1986). "Conceptualizing social support," in Social Support, Life Events, and Depression, eds N. Lin, A. Dean, and W. Ensel (London: Academic Press), 17–30.
- Lin, N., Ye, X., and Ensel, W. M. (1999). Social support and depressed mood: a structural analysis. J. Health Soc. Behav. 40, 344–359.
- Lopes, P. N., Salovey, P., and Straus, R. (2003). Emotional intelligence, personality, and the perceived quality of social relationships. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 35, 641–658. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00242-8
- Lopez-Zafra, E., and Gartzia, L. (2014). Perceptions of gender differences in selfreport measures of emotional intelligence. Sex Roles 70, 479–495. doi: 10.1007/ s11199-014-0368-6
- Lyons, M. D., Otis, K. L., Huebner, E. S., and Hills, K. J. (2014). Life satisfaction and maladaptive behaviors in early adolescents. *Sch. Psychol. Q.* 29, 553–566. doi: 10.1037/spq0000061
- Malecki, C. K., and Demaray, M. K. (2006). Social support as a buffer in the relationship between socioeconomic status and academic performance. Sch. Psychol. Q. 21, 375–395. doi: 10.1037/h0084129
- Martins, A., Ramalho, N., and Morin, E. (2010). A comprehensive meta-analysis of the relationship between emotional intelligence and health. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 49, 554–564. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.05.029
- Mayer, J. D., Roberts, R. D., and Barsade, S. G. (2008a). Human abilities: emotional intelligence. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 59, 507–536. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.59. 103006.093646
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., and Caruso, D. R. (2008b). Emotional intelligence: new ability or eclectic traits? *Am. Psychol.* 63, 503–517. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63. 6.503

- Mayer, J. D., and Salovey, P. (1997). "What is emotional intelligence?," in *Emotional Development and Emotional Intelligence: Educational Implications*, eds P. Salovey and D. J. Sluyter (New York, NY: Harper Collins), 3–34.
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., and Caruso, D. (2000). "Models of emotional intelligence," in *Handbook of Intelligence*, ed. R. J. Sternberg (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 396–420. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511807947.019
- Mayer, J. D., and Stevens, A. A. (1994). An emerging understanding of the reflective (meta-) experience of mood. J. Res. Pers. 28, 351–373. doi: 10.1006/jrpe.1994. 1025
- Mikolajczak, M., Petrides, K. V., Coumans, N., and Luminet, O. (2009a). The moderating effect of trait emotional intelligence on mood deterioration following laboratory-induced stress. *Int. J. Clin. Health Psychol.* 9, 455–477.
- Mikolajczak, M., Petrides, K. V., and Hurry, J. (2009b). Adolescents choosing selfharm as an emotion regulation strategy: the protective role of trait emotional intelligence. Br. J. Clin. Psychol. 48, 181–193. doi: 10.1348/014466508X386027
- Ministère de l'Economie et des Finances (2018). Social Indicators Education and Formation [Data File]. Available at: https://www.finances.gov.ma/Docs/depf/ 2014/Indic_Soc_Education_formation_ES_2014.xls (accessed March 8, 2019).
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2018). *The Future of Education and Skills. Education 2030.* Available at: https://www.oecd.org/education/2030/E2030%20Position%20Paper%20(05.04.2018).pdf (accessed March 8, 2019).
- Palmer, B., Donaldson, C., and Stough, C. (2002). Emotional intelligence and life satisfaction. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 33, 1091–1100. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(01) 00215-X
- Pavot, W., and Diener, E. (2008). The Satisfaction With Life Scale and the emerging construct of life satisfaction. J. Posit. Psychol. 3, 137–152. doi: 10.1080/ 17439760701756946
- Proctor, C. L., Linley, P. A., and Maltby, J. (2009). Youth life satisfaction: a review of the literature. J. Happiness Stud. 10, 583–630. doi: 10.1007/s10902-008-9110-9
- Raheel, H. (2015). Depression and associated factors among adolescent females in Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: a cross-sectional study. *Int. J. Prev. Med.* 6, 90–97. doi: 10.4103/2008-7802.165156
- Ramaswamy, V., Aroian, K. J., and Templin, T. (2009). Adaptation and psychometric evaluation of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support for Arab American adolescents. Am. J. Community Psychol. 43, 49–56. doi: 10.1007/s10464-008-9220-x
- Resurrección, D. M., Salguero, J. M., and Ruiz-Aranda, D. (2014). Emotional intelligence and psychological maladjustment in adolescence: a systematic review. J. Adolesc. 37, 461–472. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2014.03.012
- Revelle, W., and Zinbarg, R. E. (2008). Coefficients Alpha, Beta, Omega, and the glb: comments on Sijtsma. *Psychometrika* 74:145. doi: 10.1007/s11336-008-9102-z
- Rosseel, I. (2012). lavaan: an R package for structural equation modeling. J. Stat. Softw. 48, 1–36. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01521
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., and Demaray, M. K. (2010). Relationship between multiple sources of perceived social support and psychological and academic adjustment in early adolescence: comparisons across gender. J. Youth Adolesc. 39, 47–61. doi: 10.1007/s10964-008-9368-6
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., Pyun, Y., Aycock, C., and Coyle, S. (2016). A metaanalytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in childhood and adolescence. *Psychol. Bull.* 142, 1017–1067. doi: 10.1037/bul0000058
- Saarni, C. (1999). Developing Emotional Competence. New York, NY: Guilford.
- Salovey, P., and Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. Imagin. Cogn. Pers. 9, 185-211. doi: 10.2190/DUGG-P24E-52WK-6CDG
- Sánchez-Álvarez, N., Extremera, N., and Fernández-Berrocal, P. (2016). The relation between emotional intelligence and subjective well-being: a metaanalytic investigation. J. Posit. Psychol. 11, 276–285. doi: 10.1080/17439760. 2015.1058968
- Santini, Z. I., Koyanagia, A. I., Tyrovolasa, S., Mason, C., and Haroa, J. M. (2015). The association between social relationships and depression: a systematic review. J. Affect. Disord. 175, 53–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.049
- Saris, W. E., Satorra, A., and van der Veld, W. M. (2009). Testing structural equation models or detection of misspecifications. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 16, 561–582. doi: 10.1080/10705510903203433
- Schutte, N. S., Malouff, J., Simunek, M., Hollander, S., and McKenley, J. (2002). Characteristic emotional intelligence and emotional well-being. *Cogn. Emot.* 16, 769–785. doi: 10.1080/02699930143000482

- Sijtsma, K. (2008). On the use, the misuse, and the very limited usefulness of Cronbach's Alpha. *Psychometrika* 74, 107–120. doi: 10.1007/s11336-008-9101-0
- Slaski, M., and Cartwright, S. (2003). Emotional intelligence training and its implications for stress, health and performance. *Stress Health* 19, 233–239. doi: 10.1002/smi.979
- Stanton-Salazar, R. D., and Spina, S. U. (2005). Adolescent peer networks as a context for social and emotional support. *Youth Soc.* 36, 379–417. doi: 10.1177/ 0044118X04267814
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. *J. Health Soc. Behav.* 52, 145–161. doi: 10.1177/0022146510 395592
- Uchino, B. N. (2004). Social Support and Physical Health: Understanding the Health Consequences of Relationships. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Valente, M. J., Gonzalez, O., Miočević, M., and MacKinnon, D. P. (2015). A note on testing mediated effects in structural equation models: reconciling past and current research on the performance of the test of joint significance. *Educ. Psychol. Meas.* 76, 889–911. doi: 10.1177/0013164415618992
- Vaux, A. (1988). Social Support: Theory, Research, and Intervention. New York, NY: Praeger Publishers.
- Vogt, D. S., King, D. W., and King, L. A. (2004). Focus groups in psychological assessment: enhancing content validity by consulting members of the target population. *Psychol. Assess.* 16, 231–243. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.16.3.231
- Willgerodt, M. A. (2003). Using focus groups to develop culturally relevant instruments. West. J. Nurs. Res. 25, 798–814. doi: 10.1177/019394590325 6708
- Wong, C. S., and Law, K. S. (2002). The effects of leader and follower emotional intelligence on performance and attitude: an exploratory study. *Leadersh. Q.* 13, 243–274. doi: 10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00099-1
- World Health Organization (2017a). Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization (2017b). Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!): Guidance to Support Country Implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Zeidner, M., and Matthews, G. (2016). Ability emotional intelligence and mental health: social support as a mediator. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 99, 196–199.
- Zeidner, M., Matthews, G., and Olenick-Shemesh, D. (2016). Cognitive-social sources of wellbeing: differentiating the roles of coping style, social support, and emotional intelligence. *J. Happiness Stud.* 17, 2481–2501. doi: 10.1007/s10902-015-9703-z
- Zeidner, M., Matthews, G., and Roberts, R. (2012). The emotional intelligence, health, and well-being nexus: what have we learned and what have we missed? *Appl. Psychol. Health Well Being* 4, 1–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-0854.2011. 01062.x
- Zeidner, M., Matthews, G., and Roberts, R. D. (2009). What we Know About Emotional Intelligence: How it Affects Learning, Work, Relationships, and our Mental Health. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Zeidner, M., Roberts, R. D., and Matthews, G. (2008). The science of emotional intelligence: current consensus and controversies. *Eur. Psychol.* 13, 64–78. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040.13.1.64
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., and Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. J. Pers. Assess. 52, 30–41. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2
- Zinbarg, R. E., Revelle, W., Yovel, I., and Li, W. (2005). Cronbach's α, Revelle's β, and Mcdonald's ωH: their relations with each other and two alternative conceptualizations of reliability. *Psychometrika* 70, 123–133. doi: 10.1007/ s11336-003-0974-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lopez-Zafra, Ramos-Álvarez, El Ghoudani, Luque-Reca, Augusto-Landa, Zarhbouch, Alaoui, Cortés-Denia and Pulido-Martos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bullied Adolescent's Life Satisfaction: Personal Competencies and School Climate as Protective Factors

Susana Lázaro-Visa, Raquel Palomera*, Elena Briones, Andrés A. Fernández-Fuertes and Noelia Fernández-Rouco

Department of Education, University of Cantabria, Santander, Spain

Although adolescence has been defined as a stage of vulnerability, due to the biopsychosocial changes that happen throughout this developmental stage, it is also one of growth. Some of the core personal competencies that have been identified to promote positive development at this stage while simultaneously preventing risks are: (1) a positive sense of self, (2) self-regulation, (3) decision-making skills, (4) a moral system of belief, and (5) prosocial connectedness. There are many factors and contexts that influence adolescent development. The school climate, for example, has the capacity to promote positive development and life satisfaction, yet on the other hand, it is a context within which different forms of violence, such as bullying, can occur. The principal aim of this study, therefore, is to analyze the influence that bullying has on one's life satisfaction, while taking into account participants' socio-demographic characteristics (i.e., gender and developmental stage), their core personal competencies (i.e., problem solving strategies, empathy, emotional repair, self-esteem, and values), and the school climate. To obtain data, a hierarchical regression analysis was conducted with a sample of 647 Spanish students (53.3% female), ranging in age from preadolescence (10-13 years old; 60.3%) to mid-adolescence (14-18 years old; 39.7%), and belonging to diverse socio-economic contexts (15.3% rural) and schools (32.1% public). After gaining informed consent from both the participants and their parents, students completed the survey voluntarily, and under anonymity. Initially results show that gender, developmental stage, and having been bullied were predictors of participants' levels of life satisfaction. When the core personal competencies were also considered in data analysis process, self-esteem, emotional repair, and social values were those demonstrating significant effects on one's life satisfaction; moreover, being bullied was a significant predictor too. Finally, after taking school climate into account, only this variable as well as self-esteem and emotional repair were significant predictors of life satisfaction: the other assessed variables were no longer found to be significant predictors (i.e., gender, developmental stage, being bullied, and social values). These results have important implications for education objectives, methodologies, and school functioning: school climate, selfesteem and emotional repair seem to be particularly important for promoting student life satisfaction and for preventing the negative consequences associated with being bullied.

Keywords: life satisfaction, bullying, personal competencies, school climate, adolescence, self-esteem, emotion regulation, well-being

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Vicente J. Llorent, Universidad de Córdoba, Spain Carolina Yudes, University of Málaga, Spain

> *Correspondence: Raquel Palomera palomerr@unican.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 13 April 2019 **Accepted:** 04 July 2019 **Published:** 18 July 2019

Citation:

Lázaro-Visa S, Palomera R, Briones E, Fernández-Fuertes AA and Fernández-Rouco N (2019) Bullied Adolescent's Life Satisfaction: Personal Competencies and School Climate as Protective Factors. Front. Psychol. 10:1691. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01691

INTRODUCTION

There is a certain consensus in the consideration of subjective well-being as a complex and multidimensional construct created from perceptions, evaluations, and aspirations about one's own life (Casas, 2011; Kaye-Tzadok et al., 2017). It includes cognitive and affective assessments of people in respect to their own lives, the circumstances affecting them, and the contexts in which they live (Savahl et al., 2018). Subjective well-being can be measured across multiple domains (Campbell et al., 1976; cited in Casas et al., 2014). Among these, life satisfaction expresses the most cognitive component (Kaye-Tzadok et al., 2017), with subjective well-being being the facet on which most research has been focused (Ben-Arieh et al., 2017). Such cognitive and affective evaluations are affected by life circumstances and the social context in which people are living (Savahl et al., 2018).

Despite the increase in publications in recent years about subjective well-being, the amount of research conducted on adolescents is far from the volume of evidence collected on adults (Casas, 2011; Ben-Arieh et al., 2017); also worth noting is that when researching adolescence, more attention has been paid to deficits, risks and problems than to positive development, and growth at this stage (Gademann et al., 2010). Nonetheless, available data consistently show negative relationships between personal well-being and life satisfaction with respect to adolescent problem behaviors, aggressive behavior, or adaptation to school (Lent et al., 2009; Valois et al., 2009). Although the previous studies' results are inconclusive, a significant decrease in reported levels of life satisfaction between the ages of 11 and 16 (Casas, 2011) can be noted. This could be related to the multiple changes that occur throughout this developmental stage. Females report lower levels of life satisfaction than males, particularly in reference to appearance, bodies, health, free time, and self-confidence (Kaye-Tzadok et al., 2017).

There are various approaches to the relationship among subjective adolescent well-being, personal or social competencies, and the school context. For instance, Guerra and Bradshaw (2008) state that adolescent healthy adjustment is related to five core personal competencies: a positive sense of self, self-control, decision-making skills, a moral system of belief, and prosocial connectedness; in addition, they point out that their promotion "provides a connection between positive youth development and risk prevention programming" (p. 1). Along the same line, previous studies framed in the context of adolescent positive development or in the study of their strengths (see Scales et al., 2016) tend to identify internal and external factors labeled strengths or assets, which play a protective role by increasing the probability of developing healthy trajectories in adolescence (Curran and Wexler, 2017). Internal factors include future expectations, self-control and decision-making (Curran and Wexler, 2017), social competence, positive values, self-esteem, and self-regulation (Calmeiro et al., 2018). The relationship between empathy and well-being has scarcely been demonstrated in studies with youth (Shanafelt et al., 2005) and adolescent subjects. In their work regarding assets and subjective quality of life, Valois et al. (2009) indicate that adolescents with lower levels of empathy present lower

levels of life satisfaction. Recently, Taylor et al. (2017) have organized these competencies more systematically into selfawareness (e.g., recognition of emotions and values), selfmanagement (e.g., emotional regulation), social awareness (e.g., empathy), relationship skills, and responsible decision making. These competencies appear to be related to success in both school and life in general. Some of these variables have come to light in studies on resilience as well, highlighting factors that could facilitate adolescent adaptation despite their having lived through extreme risk situations, such as violence (Hinduja and Patchin, 2017). Few studies, however, explore the relationship between these competencies and life satisfaction (Valois et al., 2009). Among the contextual variables, we know that school climate is considered to be one of the most significant predictors of student psychological adjustment in general (Voight and Nation, 2016), specifically related to the social climate. Schools that promote the positive development of their pupils are characterized by their ability to facilitate positive links between pupils and teachers. This is done by promoting a climate of affection and security with clear rules and limits via affective proximity in interpersonal relations, and finally by fostering student participation and a feeling of belonging to the center, thereby generating opportunities for the development of personal, and social-emotional skills (Oliva et al., 2011b; Pertegal and Hernando, 2015). It is associated with adolescent wellbeing, academic outcomes, lower levels of bullying behavior, and positive attitudes toward interpersonal violence (Bradshaw et al., 2013; Espelage et al., 2014; Low and Van Ryzin, 2014; Benbenishty et al., 2016; Konishi et al., 2017; Rezapour et al., 2019). In turn, the results show that improvements made to the school climate correspond to greater awareness of the issue of bullying (Waasdorp et al., 2012), whereas a perceived hostile school climate corresponds to less intervention in bullying situations (Yoon et al., 2016).

We are aware, on the other hand, that subjective well-being can be affected by various situations experienced by adolescents, including school victimization (Savahl et al., 2018; Zych et al., 2018; Varela et al., 2019). Bullying is defined as "a phenomenon of intentional aggression by one or more persons upon another or others in a way that is both repeated and maintained over time, and in which a power imbalance exists between the aggressor and the victim" (Olweus, 1993, p. 9). There are developmental variations in bullying behaviors: its prevalence seems to increase in late elementary school, peak in middle school, and decline in high school, although certain forms, such us cyberbullying may increase in high school (Olweus, 1993; Bradshaw et al., 2007). Research carried out in recent decades shows that bullying significantly affects the health of victims. Menesini and Salmivalli (2017) have reviewed a number of studies carried out in different countries: the results show negative physical, psychological, relational and general well-being consequences, and highlight the relationship between these and poor school achievement, loneliness, and the internalization of problems. The deterioration of mental health in victims of bullying is especially reflected by an increased risk of anxiety and depression (Ttofi et al., 2011; Evans and Smokowski, 2015), as well as behavioral difficulties such as increased criminal behavior (Sapouna and Wolke, 2013).

The study of bullying in relation to perceived life satisfaction has only recently begun to be addressed. Available results show that bullying tends to have a negative impact on subjective adolescent well-being: lower levels of life satisfaction tends to be observed in adolescents who have suffered cyberbullying as opposed to those who have not been bullied (Arnarsson et al., 2019), as well as lower average levels of well-being in preadolescent bullying victims, with victimization being the variable posing the greatest negative impact to well-being (Alcántara et al., 2019). Similarly, Savahl et al. (2018) show the negative relationship between subjective well-being and bullying in preadolescents from different countries.

Recently, some studies have incorporated the analysis of the protective role that contextual and personal variables play on the well-being of bullied adolescents, as stated in the review study carried out by Zych et al. (2019). Among the personal variables studied, Casas et al. (2015) point out to the role of emotional intelligence as a possible protective factor against face to face bullying, finding that high levels of emotional attention and low levels of clarity and reparation are able to anticipate victimization. Likewise, Elipe et al. (2012) found that victims exhibited higher levels of emotional attention and lower levels of emotional reparation. These results do not appear to be conclusive given that subsequent studies found no significant differences with respect to clarity and emotional reparation, though greater emotional attention was in fact observed among victims of bullying (Beltrán-Catalán et al., 2018). Personal factors such as prosocial connectedness, self-esteem, self-concept, and decisionmaking skills are pointed out as protector variables against victimization in the review study of 18 meta-analyzes (Zych et al., 2019). Jackson et al. (2017) point out the complex relationship between protective factors and victimization, emphasizing the interaction that exists between individual, and contextual factors. Factors such as gender and personality type could mediate the relationship between individual protective factors and being bullied. Overbeek et al. (2010) highlight the protective role that self-esteem plays in victims of bullying, though this is mediated by the personality type of the adolescent - presenting as a predictor for over-controlling adolescents. The results of Sapouna and Wolke (2013) indicate that a high selfesteem and a high social connection are related to emotional and behavioral resilience in adolescent victims of bullying; in addition, males demonstrate greater emotional resilience while females demonstrate greater behavioral resilience. There are even fewer results regarding the protective role that empathy could potentially play among victims of bullying. The results regarding the association between empathy and the role of the aggressor have been contradictory (Jolliffe and Farrington, 2006), although most studies conclude that there is no relationship between representing high levels of empathy and being bullied (Zych et al., 2019). Moreover, while there are more studies focused on risk factors that lead to bullying, studies attempting to highlight the core personal competencies as protective factors against bullying in adolescence are rather limited in current literature (Méndez et al., 2017; Zych et al., 2018).

Among the contextual variables, the protective role of the school climate as it relates to the well-being of adolescent victims

of bullying has been addressed. Miranda et al. (2019) show how the support received from adults within the context of the home and school allows for improved levels of well-being in adolescent victims of bullying, as opposed to those who perceive less support. This is especially true when the support, or lack thereof, stems from the family nucleus. Other results show that regardless of the school climate, being a victim of bullying in adolescence is associated with lower levels of well-being as compared to those who have not experienced this situation, although general wellbeing is lower in adolescents who perceive the school climate to be worse (Alcántara et al., 2019). The complex relationship between school climate and bullying does, nevertheless, need to be clarified (Bradshaw et al., 2013; Acosta et al., 2019).

In conclusion, although the personal competencies and school climate can play an important role in fostering well-being, at present there are still very few results on the extent of the protective role they play in the subjective well-being of adolescent bullying victims. In this paper we explore the approach to core personal competencies based on Guerra and Bradshaw's (2008) proposal, which defines five basic competencies essential for healthy adjustment in adolescents: a positive sense of self, selfregulation, decision-making skills, a moral system of belief, and prosocial connectedness. The central assumption is that those who are more skilled in self-management and interpersonal relationships would be less willing to be involved in risky behaviors throughout childhood and adolescence (Tolan et al., 2016). Although school climate dimensions may be organized differently in the various theoretical approaches (Konishi et al., 2017), in this study it will be considered from a more social perspective, including only the most common dimensions that have been found to be closely related to academics, sociability, physical security and affective bonding, and well-being in early adolescence (Lester and Cross, 2015).

Currently, it is not yet clear what role school climate may have on the subjective well-being of adolescent bullying victims, particularly when taking into account the personal competencies of adolescents. Research underlines, on the one hand, that academic proficiency is important for positive adolescent development, yet on the other hand, it highlights that such proficiency is negatively associated with greater internalized, and externalized problems throughout this stage (Pertegal et al., 2010). Despite this, few studies look specifically at these findings in relation to subjective well-being and school violence, or more specifically, in relation to bullying. Existing research does not consider, furthermore, what happens during preadolescence. That is to say that early adolescence and preadolescence are not incorporated into the research, which is especially remarkable considering that research on bullying and cyberbullying is extensive both nationally and internationally.

Taking the background into account, this research aims to analyze the impact that being bullied has on the life satisfaction of a sample of students between 10 and 18 years old. In addition, given that they would undoubtedly influence life satisfaction, certain variables will be also taken into account: the sociodemographic characteristics (i.e., gender and developmental stage) of select participants, certain personal factors (i.e., the core personal competencies: problem solving strategies, empathy, emotional repair, self-esteem, and values), as well as one contextual factor (i.e., the school climate).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of seven Spanish schools selected by incidental sampling participated in the study with the following socio-economic environments taken into consideration: rural (15.3% of the sample), semi-urban (42.1%), and urban (42.6%). The sample is composed of a total of 693 students (mean age: 12.98, SD: 1.78) from the last cycle of primary education (10–13 years; 60.3% preadolescents) and secondary education (14–18 years; 39.7% adolescents), balanced by gender (women: 53.3%; men: 43.8%).

Instruments

Socio-Demographic Questionnaire

Gender, course, and date of birth were first asked to fill.

European Bullying Intervention Project Questionnaire (EBIPQ; Ortega-Ruiz et al., 2016)

This is an instrument composed by 14 items to measure bullying: half evaluate aggressions suffered as a victim (bullied) and the other half those committed as an aggressor (buller). The items refer to aggressions such as hitting, insulting, threatening, stealing, profanity, exclusion, or the spreading of rumors. The elements present a response modality that graduates the frequency of occurrence of the behaviors that took place in the last 2 months (0 = Never; 1 = Yes, once or twice; 2 = Yes, once or twice a month; 3 = Yes, about once a week; and 4 = Yes, more than once a week). In this work we have only used the victim variable. The reliability of this instrument in the validation study was adequate as it was in this study (alpha = 0.80).

Social Attitudes and Cognitive Strategies (SACS; Moraleda et al., 2004)

This instrument evaluates 9 social attitudes and 10 social thinking strategies among 12–17 year old students. Within the strategies of social thinking, we have used a comprehensive score to measure decision making skills, more specifically, problem solving strategies, which is derived from four subscales corresponding to the four steps of the process: observation and retention of relevant information regarding social situations, search for alternative solutions to resolve social conflict, anticipation, and understanding of the consequences that may result from social behavior, and selection of appropriate means for the ends pursued in social conduct. The adolescents indicated via a 7-point likert scale the extent to which they agree with the content of the sentence. The original study showed adequate reliability across the board as it did here (alpha = 0.82).

Basic Empathy Scale (BES; Jolliffe and Farrington, 2006)

In order to assess prosocial connectedness, the scale selected for this study is the 9-item shortened version of the original 20item scale, that was validated for use in the Spanish adolescent population by Oliva et al. (2011a). The items are distributed in two scales, one corresponding to affective empathy, comprised of four items; and another corresponding to cognitive empathy with the remaining items. Adolescents responded on a 5-point likert scale based on the extent to which they agree with the proposed statements. The internal consistency of the validation complies with satisfactory psychometric properties, here the reliability to affective empathy (alpha = 0.77) and cognitive empathy (alpha = 0.73), and to full scale (alpha = 0.79) seem adequate.

Trait Meta Mood Scale (TMMS; Salovey et al., 1995)

This twenty-four-item questionnaire is designed to assess the behavioral trends and perceptions that people have regarding their ability to deal with emotions, the clarity with which they perceive those emotions, and their ability to repair their emotional states. In this study we have used only the reparation of negative emotional states subscale (e.g., "Although I feel bad, I will do my best to think happy thoughts") to assess self-regulation competence. Subjects had to assess each assertion about themselves with a likert scale of 1–5 that represents their level of agreement with each item. The scale has been adapted and validated for a Spanish adolescent population (Salguero et al., 2010), and it has demonstrated adequate internal consistency. The alpha reliability of emotional repair subscale in this study was 0.84.

Rosenberg Self Esteem Scale (RSS; Rosenberg, 1965)

The Spanish teen adaptation of Atienza et al. (2000) has been used, exhibiting adequate psychometric properties. It consists of 10 items which evaluate the overall assessment of positive sense of self, specifically self-esteem as it relates to feelings of respect, and acceptance of oneself (e.g., "I am capable of doing things as well as other people") which are scored using a 4-point likert scale according to the extent of accordance. Its reliability in this study, as well as in the original version, was adequate (alpha = 0.83).

Values for Adolescent Positive Development Scale (VAPDS; Antolín et al., 2011)

This scale assesses participants' moral system of belief through asking the importance that adolescents attach to a set of values associated with positive development at this stage. It consists of 24 items grouped into 8 subscales: social commitment, prosociality, justice and equality, honesty, integrity, responsibility, social recognition, and hedonism. These are further grouped into three scales: social values, personal values, and individualistic values. The students had to answer by means of a 7-point likert scale indicating the degree of importance they attach to each sentence (1 = not at all important, 7 = extremely important). In the original study, adequate reliability and validity of the scales was achieved, as well as in this study (alpha were 0.88, 0.84, and 0.77, respectively).

School Climate and Functioning Scale (SCFS; Oliva et al., 2011a)

The version which measures student perception has been used. This likert-7 scale (i.e., 1 = totally false, 7 = totally true), is made up of 30 items that measure four factors related to the climate and functioning of the school: climate, which includes the degree to which pupils perceive the relationships among peers as good, and the perception of the school climate as safe (e.g., "there is a good rapport among everyone in this school"); links, which, on the one hand, assess the degree to which students have a feeling of belonging and satisfaction with their school and, on the other hand, assess perceived teacher support (e.g., "teachers are available to address each student's individual doubts"); clarity of norms and values that, on the one hand, analyses the degree to which students perceive the limits to be clear with regard to existing school norms, and, on the other hand, quantifies the perception of coherence in the promotion of school values on the part of teachers (e.g., "all students know the limits and rules that must be respected in this centre"); and empowerment and positive opportunities, which involves valuing the school's resources and facilities as opportunities, offering activities aimed at the students along with their perception of the influence these activities have on the life of the school, or of participation being fostered (e.g., "when there is a conflict, students have an opinion and participate in its resolution"). The instrument allows the use of either a global score (i.e., the average of scores across the four factors), or multiple scores applied from the individual factor: in this work the former was chosen. In its original version, the said global factor obtained high reliability as it is in our study (alpha = 0.79).

Personal Well-Being Index (Cummins et al., 2003)

This scale is made up of seven items of which a person uses an eleven-point scale (where 0 = completely dissatisfied and 10 = completely satisfied) to evaluate, in a relatively generic and abstract way, degree of satisfaction with a given aspect of life. A global life satisfaction factor is obtained, in this case by averaging the scores. It has been tested with a Spanish population beginning at 12 years of age, and demonstrates good psychometric properties (see Casas et al., 2011) as it was in this study (alpha = 0.86).

Procedure

The study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethics approval was obtained from the University of Cantabria Research Projects Ethics Committee. Data was collected upon obtaining informed and written consent from all participating student's parents and the students themselves. Throughout the course of a 50-min classroom session and in the presence of a researcher, the students were reminded of the study objectives and were asked to voluntarily and anonymously fill in the various questionnaires, acknowledging that they would be free to withdraw from the study at any time. All the instruments used have proved to be valid and reliable within the Spanish population, both in their original version and in their adaptations, when applied.

Data Analysis

A correlational study was carried out with the aim of finding results according to the proposed objectives. We first proceeded to dichotomize the variable of the victim of bullying to distinguish the students who had not suffered bullying (71.6%) from those who had (28.4%). This variable has been categorized using the third quartile, which implies that it has been scored at least in two items and in the case of one of them, with high frequency (4 or 5), or in five items with minimal frequency (2), in line with expert consensus on frequency of occurrence (Nansel et al., 2001; Solberg and Olweus, 2003; Volk et al., 2006; quoted in Díaz-Aguado et al., 2013). We then proceeded to standardize those variables measured with Likert scales using the z-score formula. Comparing scores is easier in this way, given that different scales were used in their measurement. Cohen et al. (2003), furthermore, have recommended this procedure to carry out hierarchical regression analysis in order to maintain unambiguous interpretations of the effects. After the descriptive analyses, we carried out correlation analyses depending on the type of variable used, identifying correlations among the variables being studied that proved significant (Table 1). Of the correlation analyses selected were: Pearson (relationship between linearly related variables), Biserial-punctual (conducted with the Pearson correlation formula with the exception that one of the variables is dichotomous) or Phi (relationship between two dichotomous variables). A hierarchical step-by-step regression analysis was then carried out (Gelman and Hill, 2006) to determine the effects the different variables studied had on life satisfaction (criterion variable). In the first step, developmental stage, gender, and being bullied were introduced. In the second step, the core personal competencies were inserted: problem solving strategies, empathy (affective and cognitive), emotional repair, self-esteem, and values (social, personal and individualistic). Finally, school climate was entered in the third step.

RESULTS

Preliminary Analysis

Table 1 presents the correlations among the variables of the study. As expected, life satisfaction correlates positively and significantly with the core personal competences with the exception of affective empathy, with which no significant relationship was found. As for the correlations between the variables that make up the core personal competences (i.e., problem solving strategies, cognitive, and affective empathy, emotional repair, self-esteem, social, personal, and individualistic values), all were found to relate positively and significantly to each other, with the exception of problem solving strategies which was found to be negatively related to affective empathy and individualistic values, and had no relation to cognitive empathy, social, or personal values. Affective empathy showed no association with self-esteem, nor was a relation established between cognitive empathy, and individualistic values.

On the other hand, the stage presents a significant and negative relationship with that of problem solving strategies, emotional repair, self-esteem, social values, climate, and personal well-being: older participants present lower scores in these variables. Gender, on the other hand, is significantly and positively related to problem solving strategies, affective and cognitive empathy, and social and personal values. This means <u></u>

₽

÷

9

ດ

00

ø

ŝ

4

c

2

-

8. Self-esteem	-0.16***	-0.06	-0.27***	0.25***	-0.01	0.10*	0.44***						
9. Social values	-0.17***	0.14***	-0.05	0.04	0.36***	0.33***	0.34***	0.10**					
10. Personal values	-0.05	0.13**	-0.09*	-0.01	0.23***	0.28***	0.28***	0.20***	0.67***				
11. Individualistic values	-0.02	-0.01	0.09*	-0.30***	0.10**	0.07	0.15***	0.11**	0.29***	0.37***			
12. School climate	-0.26***	-0.06	-0.23***	0.12**	0.09*	0.13**	0.34***	0.37***	0.32***	0.34***	0.11**		
13. Life satisfaction	-0.15***	-0.08*	-0.22***	0.12**	0.07	0.14**	0.42***	0.56***	0.22***	0.22***	0.15***	0.46***	
Mean	0.40	0.55	0.28	0.00	0.00	0.01	-0.00	-0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	-0.00
SD	0.49	0.50	0.45	0.99	1.00	1.00	0.99	0.98	1.00	0.99	1.00	1.00	0.98
*** < 0.001 **n < 0.01 **n < 0.05 Pevalonmental stade (0. preadolescence: 1. adolescence) geoder (0. male: 1. famale) and buillied (0. pot buillied: 1. buillied; are dichotomized variables the scores of the other	0.05 Developm	nental stade (C	neadolescen	ce. 1 adolesce	ance) dender	() male: 1 fe	illi d pud piili	ed (0 not hulli	ed: 1 hullied)	are dichoton	altariahla	s the scores	of the other

0.28***

0.41*** 0.17***

-0.04 \$60.0

0.08*

-0.07*

-0.10*

-0.19***

Cognitve empathy Affective empathy Problem solving

ю. . 0 Emotional repair

~

-0.08*

0.05

0.28*** 0.15***

-0.17**

0.10*

-0.08* -0.03 0.03

0.02

0.05

that females score higher in these variables. Gender showed a significant and negative relationship as well with emotional repair and life satisfaction; with males scoring higher in both variables in this case. As for being a victim of bullying, the significant and negative correlation with problem solving strategies, emotional repair, self-esteem, personal values, school climate and personal well-being can be seen, with those who have suffered bullying being the ones who score the lowest among these variables. In addition, being a victim of bullying correlates significantly and positively with cognitive empathy and with individualistic values; that is, bullying victims score higher on cognitive empathy, and individualist values.

Regression Analysis

A hierarchical regression analysis has been performed to predict life satisfaction. The main effects of this stage, gender and bullying, were the predictor variables in the first step. In the second step, variables related to personal competencies (i.e., problem solving strategies, cognitive and affective empathy, emotional repair, self-esteem and personal, social, and individualistic values) were added to the regression. In step 3, the school climate variable was introduced. The results are presented in Table 2.

Step 1 shows that greater life satisfaction is predicted by not having been bullied, being preadolescent, and being male. The variables in step 2 explain an additional 28% of the variance in life satisfaction: both emotional repair and self-esteem as well as social values have the expected positive effect on life satisfaction. Finally, the results of step 3 indicate that, when the school climate is taken into account in the life satisfaction prediction, only the positive effects of emotional repair and self-esteem remain consistent, while the effects of the stage in question, gender, not having been bullied, and even social values appear to have

TABLE 2 | Hierarchical multiple regression analysis: Standardized regression coefficients

Predictor variable	Li	fe satisfactio	on
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Developmental stage (0, preadolescence; 1, adolescence)	-0.15***	-0.04	-0.01
Gender (0, male; 1, female)	-0.07*	-0.06	-0.05
Victim (0, not bullied; 1, bullied)	-0.22***	-0.10**	-0.06
Problem solving		-0.01	-0.02
Affective empathy		0.02	0.01
Cognitive empathy		0.02	0.02
Emotional repair		0.14***	0.11**
Self-esteem		0.43***	0.38***
Social values		0.11*	0.08
Personal values		0.01	-0.04
Individualistic values		0.05	0.05
School climate			0.26***
R ²	0.03	0.36	0.41
R ² change	0.08	0.29	0.05

***p < 0.001; **p < 0.01; *p < 0.05.

TABLE 1 | Correlations and descriptive statistics of study variables

Developmental stage

Variable

Gender 3. Bullied

d.

variables were rescaled using the z-score formula. These standardized variables have a mean of zero and a SD of 1.

vanished. The complete model explains 41% of the variance in life satisfaction.

DISCUSSION

This paper was focused on predicting life satisfaction of students (male and female) enrolled in compulsory education (the last cycle of primary education, preadolescents; and secondary education, adolescents), who could have suffered from bullying. With this purpose, the predictive power of some personal factors (i.e., five core personal competencies: problem solving strategies, empathy, emotional repair, self-esteem, and values) and some contextual ones (i.e., the school climate), was analyzed. All these factors are known to be essential to healthy adjustment (Guerra and Bradshaw, 2008; Voight and Nation, 2016). Nonetheless, as previously stated, no strong line of research exists in regards to the multidimensional approach proposed by Guerra and Bradshaw (2008). For instance, there little research has been conducted on the core personal competencies invariance across age groups, the interrelations among these competencies, or their predictive power in specific situations such as having been bullied (Tolan et al., 2016; Zych et al., 2018).

The main results of this study demonstrated that a negative impact on life satisfaction (i.e., a key component of subjective well-being) is more likely if you: have been a victim of bullying (vs. not having been a victim), are an adolescent (vs. preadolescent), and are female (vs. male). When the core personal competencies were taken into consideration to account for changes in life satisfaction, being bullied remained as a significant predictor, while self-esteem, emotional repair and social values emerged newly as significant predictors, too. Finally, after introducing school climate in the regression analysis, selfesteem and emotional repair continued being predictors of life satisfaction, and school climate emerged as a predictor too.

Previous literature pointed out that individuals with high core personal competencies might present higher levels of life satisfaction due to the frequency of having experienced pleasant or positive emotions, that is to say, people with better core competencies are more satisfied because they experience positive emotions more frequently that those who do not (Extremera and Rey, 2018). In addition, the core personal competencies are foundational to a wide array of positive developmental processes and are essential to healthy development and thriving (Metzger et al., 2018). School climate is one of the most relevant aspects for psychological health in students (Voight and Nation, 2016), associated not only with well-being, but also with bullying behavior and attitudes against it (Benbenishty et al., 2016; Konishi et al., 2017).

These results are consistent with those recently presented regarding the negative impact that being bullied has on one's wellbeing (Arnarsson et al., 2019). Previous studies have identified a decrease in life satisfaction throughout adolescence (Harris et al., 2018), with an even greater impact among those who have been a victim of violence (Olweus and Breivik, 2014), and especially those who are female. With respect to this last conclusion, it has been determined that among females, life satisfaction depends more on having a quality social support (Saphire-Bernstein and Taylor, 2013). It has been found, furthermore, that girls who were bullied tend to show lower levels of well-being than boys (Siegel et al., 2009). Therefore, the results of this work seem to point out a situation of intersectionality in the explanation of life satisfaction.

In reference to subjective well-being, generally speaking, the positive relationship between this variable and the personal core competencies is supported by previous studies (Valois et al., 2009; Curran and Wexler, 2017). In present research the relationship is more vague in the case of empathy, which does not appear to be related to life satisfaction (i.e., affective empathy) or in which the correlation is weak (i.e., cognitive empathy) (Table 1). In the few studies that have taken this variable into account when assessing adolescent or youth life satisfaction, those participants who were perceived as less empathetic also demonstrated lower levels of life satisfaction (Valois et al., 2009; Lachmann et al., 2018). Nevertheless, it has been suggested that empathy could predict adolescents' life satisfaction only indirectly through positive and negative emotions (Lu et al., 2019), variables that were not assessed in this study. When core competencies are not activated, however, and when one resorts, for example, to the use of preventative (and not proactive) coping strategies during hardship, satisfaction with life tends to be lower (Lyons et al., 2016).

Regarding the core personal competencies and consistent with previous works (Sánchez-Álvarez et al., 2015; Calmeiro et al., 2018), self-esteem, emotional repair, and social values demonstrated the expected positive effect on life satisfaction; however, as previously stated, social values cease to be significant when the school climate is introduced in the regression. It is interesting to note that some core personal competencies did not prove to be predictors of life satisfaction in the sample studied (i.e., problem solving strategies, cognitive empathy, affective empathy, personal values, and individualist values). Given that previous studies have determined these relationships (Bobowik et al., 2011; Cenkseven-Önder and Çolakkadioglu, 2013; Schipper and Petermann, 2013; Choi et al., 2016; Lachmann et al., 2018), it could be deduced that emotional repair, self-esteem and social values prevail over the explanatory contribution of other variables. In particular, self-esteem presents the greatest positive relationship with subjective well-being; in fact, the relationship between adolescent self-esteem and satisfaction with life has been the object of recurrent study, with a solid positive relationship having been established between the two (Campbell, 1981; Palacios et al., 2015). Emotional repair and social values are also important predictors of life satisfaction among the sample studied; perhaps this is due to the fact that adolescent life satisfaction is more closely related to the use of adaptive strategies such as the ability to regulate one's emotional state, and social values (e.g., other-oriented goals), as has been previously suggested (Sánchez-Álvarez et al., 2015; Blau et al., 2018; Rey et al., 2019). However, this assertion should be verified via additional studies.

Finally, in previous studies school climate and life satisfaction were found to be negatively related to victimization (Martínez-Ferrer et al., 2011), and our results seem to confirm that the perceived school climate is an aspect of particular relevance of students life satisfaction (Suldo et al., 2013), including in situations in which someone is being bullied; the help and support of peers and teachers could prevent incidences of bullying, and as well as diminish the negative effect that bullying has on well-being (Flaspohler et al., 2009; Miranda et al., 2019; Rezapour et al., 2019; Varela et al., 2019; Zych et al., 2019).

On a practical level, these findings suggest the importance of considering the overall context and not just individual aspects, interpreting it as a network of elements that work in synergy, though at the same time poses some challenges. In this respect, the results of this work illustrate the importance of taking care of minors' self-esteem and their capacity for emotional recovery without disregarding the role that school climate plays. Lastly, the importance of teachers, parents and peers in preventing and/or stopping bullying experiences, as well as in mitigating the negative impact of being bullied on life satisfaction (Sung et al., 2018; Miranda et al., 2019; Zych et al., 2019) is recognized; as Savahl et al. (2018) pointed out, "practitioners, teachers, and caregivers of children need to be aware that even though children may demonstrate reasonable levels of life satisfaction, they may be victims of bullying, and thus at risk for the associated negative outcomes" (p. 15). Finally, having effective social support might directly result in increased levels of well-being. Development of emotional skills increases not only current, but also future wellbeing, given that having more personal resources tends to result in an increase of social support, as was concluded in previous research dealing with older populations (Rey et al., 2019).

Limitations and Future Directions

In interpreting the results of this work, certain limitations need to be taken into account. The use of self-reports as a method of data collection may increase response bias, though this is the most common form of information collection in this area, and among this population (Gilman and Huebner, 2003). While the use of multiple sources of information (e.g., teachers, parents, and peers, etc.) would address this constraint, though this analytical strategy was not possible given the design of the current study. Moreover, in this research the core personal competencies were measured separately by different instruments and without calculating the total score in the construct, as has been done previously (e.g., Denham et al., 2009): design of an instrument to assess the core personal competencies as a construct would accordingly be beneficial in future studies. In addition, transversal design prevents us from being able to make explanatory causal statements over time; it does, however, allow us to establish relationships at a given point in time between variables that have not yet been explored. Likewise, the type of sampling carried out dictates that potential generalizations of these results must be made with caution: it is unclear if these findings are applicable to other samples of students or autonomous communities of Spain. Finally, not having qualitative data makes in-depth analysis of some of the results obtained quite difficult, especially with respect to their origin. All these issues should be addressed through additional studies.

Despite its limitations, this work contributes to the scientific literature in that (1) it establishes a connection between the core personal competencies, the school climate, and life satisfaction, both for those who are victims of bullying and those who are not, as well as for both males and females in their final cycle of primary school (preadolescents) and secondary school (adolescents); (2) it emphasizes the importance of emotional repair and self-esteem in the explanation of life satisfaction, which thereby offers vital information for the development of educational actions; and (3) it highlights the role of the school climate, evidencing the important function of the school as a community for the promotion of life satisfaction from within the school climate.

These results point to future trends insofar as they emphasize the need to promote a positive school climate, which inevitably involves the entire educational community, while meanwhile calling on institutions to make policy decisions that point in this direction. This would contribute not only to healthier environments, but also to more satisfied citizens. In keeping with the above, it would be beneficial to develop work that incorporates other voices, such as those of teachers, administrative staff, management teams, and families in order to have a more comprehensive view of the educational community. At the same time, longitudinal studies would make it possible to explore the way such a community functions over time.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethics approval was obtained from the University Research Ethics Committee. Data was collected upon obtaining informed written consent from participating centers, families, and the students themselves. Throughout the course of a 50min classroom session and in the presence of a researcher, the students were reminded of the study objectives and were asked to voluntarily and anonymously fill in the various questionnaires, acknowledging that they would be free to withdraw from the study at any time.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in data acquisition. SL-V and RP carried out the work. SL-V wrote and revised the first draft of the manuscript. RP and EB analyzed and described the data. AF-F and NF-R explained the results. All authors revised the work critically for important intellectual content, and approved the final version to be published.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Vicerrectorado de Investigación y Transferencia de Conocimiento from the University of Cantabria, Spain (Ref. No. 11.VU04.64662).

REFERENCES

- Acosta, J., Chinman, M., Ebener, P., Malone, P., Phillips, A., and Wilks, A. (2019). Understanding the relationship between perceived school climate and bullying: a mediator analysis. *J. Sch. Violence* 18, 200–215. doi: 10.1080/15388220.2018. 1453820
- Alcántara, S. C., González-Carrasco, M., Montserrat, C., Casas, F., Viñas-Poch, F., and Pereira, D. (2019). Peer violence, school environment and developmental contexts: its effects on well-being. *Ciên. Saúde Colet.* 24, 509–522. doi: 10.1590/ 1413-81232018242.013020171
- Antolín, L., Oliva, A., Pertegal, M. A., and López-Jiménez, A. M. (2011). Desarrollo y validación de una escala de valores para el desarrollo positivo adolescente. *Psicothema* 23, 153–159. doi: 10.1037/t16329-000
- Arnarsson, A., Nygren, J., Nyholm, M., Torsheim, T., Augustine, L., Bjereld, Y., et al. (2019). Cyberbullying and traditional bullying among Nordic adolescents and their impact on life satisfaction. *Scand. J. Public Health* doi: 10.1177/ 1403494818817411 [Epub ahead of print].
- Atienza, F. L., Moreno, Y., and Balaguer, I. (2000). Análisis de la dimensionalidad de la Escala de Autoestima de Rosenberg en una muestra de adolescentes valencianos. *Rev. Psicol. Univ. Tarraconensis* 22, 29–42.
- Beltrán-Catalán, M., Zych, I., Ortega-Ruiz, R., and Llorent, V. J. (2018). Victimisation through bullying and cyberbullying: emotional intelligence, severity of victimisation and technology use in different types of victims. *Psicothema* 30, 183–188. doi: 10.7334/psicothema20 17.313
- Ben-Arieh, A., Dinisman, T., and Rees, G. (2017). A comparative view of children's subjective well-being: findings from the second wave of the ISCWeB project. *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 80, 1–2. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2017. 06.068
- Benbenishty, R., Avi-Astor, R., Roziner, I., and Wrabel, S. L. (2016). Testing the causal links between school climate, school violence, and school academic performance: a cross-lagged panel autoregressive model. *Educ. Res.* 45, 197–206. doi: 10.3102/0013189X166 44603
- Blau, I., Goldberg, S., and Benolol, N. (2018). Purpose and life satisfaction during adolescence: the role of meaning in life, social support, and problematic digital use. J. Youth Stud. doi: 10.1080/13676261.2018.1551614
- Bobowik, M., Basabe, N., Páez, D., Jiménez, A., and Bilbao, M. A. (2011). Personal values and well-being among Europeans, Spanish natives and immigrants to Spain: does the culture matter? *J. Happiness Stud.* 12, 401–419. doi: 10.1007/ s10902-010-9202-1
- Bradshaw, C. P., Sawyer, A. L., and O'Brennan, L. M. (2007). Bullying and peer victimization at school: perceptual differences between students and school staff. Sch. Psychol. Rev. 36, 361–382.
- Bradshaw, C. P., Waasdorp, T. E., Goldweber, A., and Johnson, S. L. (2013). Bullies, gangs, drugs, and school: understanding the overlap and the role of ethnicity and urbanicity. *J. Youth Adolesc.* 42, 220–234. doi: 10.1007/s10964-012-9863-9867
- Calmeiro, L., Camacho, I., and Gaspar, M. (2018). Life satisfaction in adolescents: the role of individual and social health assets. *Span. J. Psychol.* 21, 1–8. doi: 10.1017/sip.2018.24
- Campbell, A. (1981). The Sense of Well-Being in America. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, doi: 10.1093/sf/61.1.332
- Casas, F. (2011). Subjetive social indicators and child and adolescent well-being. *Child Indic. Res.* 4, 555–575. doi: 10.1007/s12187-010-9093-z
- Casas, F., Sarriera, J. C., Abs, D., Coenders, G., Alfaro, J., Saforcada, E., et al. (2011). Subjective indicators of personal well-being among adolescents. Performance and results for different scales in Latin-language speaking countries: a contribution to the international debate. *Child Indic. Res.* 5, 1–28. doi: 10.1007/ s12187-011-9119-9111
- Casas, F., Sarriera, J. C., Alfaro, J., González, M., Figuer, C., Abs da Cruz, D., et al. (2014). Satisfacción escolar y bienestar subjetivo en la adolescencia: poniendo a prueba indicadores para su medición comparativa en Brasil, Chile y España. Suma Psicol. 21, 70–80. doi: 10.1016/S0121-4381(14) 70009-8
- Casas, J. A., Ortega-Ruiz, R., and Del Rey, R. (2015). Bullying: the impact of teacher management and trait emotional intelligence. *Br. J. Educ. Psychol.* 85, 407–423. doi: 10.1111/bjep.12082

- Cenkseven-Önder, F., and Çolakkadioglu, O. (2013). Decision-making and problem-solving as a well-being indicator among adolescents. *Educ. Res. Rev.* 8, 720–727.
- Choi, D., Minote, N., Sekiya, T., and Watanuki, S. (2016). Relationships between trait empathy and psychological well-being in Japanese university students. *Psychology* 7, 1240–1247. doi: 10.4236/psych.2016.79126
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., and Aiken, L. S. (2003). Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 3rd Edn. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers, doi: 10.4324/9780203774441
- Cummins, R. A., Eckersley, R., Lo, S. K., Okerstrom, E., Hunter, B., and Da-vern, M. (2003). Australian Unity Well-being Index: Cumulative Psychometric Record. Report 9.0. Melbourne, VIC: Australian Centre on Quality of Life.
- Curran, T., and Wexler, L. (2017). School-based positive youth development: a systematic review of the literature. *J. Sch. Health* 87, 71–80. doi: 10.1111/josh. 12467
- Denham, S. A., Wyatt, T. M., Bassett, H. H., Echeverría, D., and Knox, S. S. (2009). Assessing social-emotional development in children from a longitudinal perspective. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health 63, 137–152.
- Díaz-Aguado, M. J., Martínez Arias, R., and Martín Babarro, J. (2013). Bullying among adolescents in Spain. Prevalence, participant roles and characteristics attributable to victimization by victims and aggressors. *Rev. Educ.* 362, 348–379. doi: 10.4438/1988-592X-RE-2011-362-164
- Elipe, P., Ortega, R., Hunter, S. C., and del Rey, R. (2012). Perceived emotional intelligence and involvement in several kinds of bullying. *Psicol. Conduct.* 20, 169–181.
- Espelage, D. L., Low, S. K., and Jimerson, S. R. (2014). Understanding school climate, aggression, peer victimization, and bully perpetration: contemporary science, practice, and policy. *Sch. Psychol. Q.* 29, 233–237. doi: 10.1037/ spq0000090
- Evans, C. B. R., and Smokowski, P. R. (2015). Theoretical explanations for bullying in school: how ecological processes propagate perpetration and Victimization. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work J.* 33, 365–375. doi: 10.1007/s10560-015-0432-432
- Extremera, N., and Rey, L. (2018). Core self-evaluations are associated with judgments of satisfaction with life via positive but not negative affect. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 130, 112–116. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2018.03.054
- Flaspohler, P. D., Elfstrom, J. L., Vanderzee, K. L., and Sink, H. E. (2009). Stand by me: the effects of peer and teacher support in mitigating the impact of bullying on quality of life. *Psychol. Sch.* 46, 636–649. doi: 10.1002/pits.20404
- Gademann, A. M., Schonert-Reichl, K. A., and Zumbo, B. D. (2010). Investigating validity evidence of the Satisfaction with Life Scale Adapted for children. Soc. Indic. Res. 96, 229–247. doi: 10.1007/s11205-009-9474-9471
- Gelman, A., and Hill, J. (2006). Data Analysis Using Regression and Multilevel/Hierarchical Models. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, doi: 10.1017/cbo9780511790942
- Gilman, R., and Huebner, S. (2003). A review of life satisfaction research with children and adolescents. *Sch. Psychol. Q.* 18, 192–205. doi: 10.1521/scpq.18. 2.192.21858
- Guerra, N. G., and Bradshaw, C. P. (2008). Linking the prevention of problem behaviors and positive youth development: core competencies for positive youth development and risk prevention. *New Dir. Child Adolesc. Dev.* 122, 1–17. doi: 10.1002/cd.225
- Harris, M. A., Wetzel, E., Robins, R. W., Donnellan, M. B., and Trzesniewski, K. H. (2018). The development of global and domain self-esteem from ages 10 to 16 for Mexican-origin youth. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 42, 4–16. doi: 10.1177/ 0165025416679744
- Hinduja, S., and Patchin, J. W. (2017). Cultivating youth resilience to prevent bullying and cyberbullying victimization. *Child Abuse Negl.* 73, 51–62. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.09.010
- Jackson, V., Chou, S., and Browne, K. (2017). Protective factors against child victimization in the school and community: an exploratory systematic review of longitudinal predictors and interacting variables. *Trauma Violence Abuse* 18, 303–321. doi: 10.1177/1524838015611675
- Jolliffe, D., and Farrington, D. P. (2006). Development and validation of the basic empathy scale. J. Adolesc. 29, 589–611. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2005. 08.010
- Kaye-Tzadok, A., Kim, S. S., and Main, G. (2017). Children's subjective well-being in relation to gender - What can we learn from dissatisfied children? *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 80, 96–104. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.06.058

- Konishi, C., Miyazaki, Y., Hymel, S., and Waterhouse, T. (2017). Investigating associations between school climate and bullying in secondary schools: multilevel contextual effects modeling. *Sch. Psychol. Int.* 38, 240–263. doi: 10.1177/0143034316688730
- Lachmann, B., Sindermann, C., Sariyska, R. Y., Luo, R., Melchers, M. C., Becker, B., et al. (2018). The role of empathy and life satisfaction in internet and smartphone use disorder. *Front. Psychol.* 9:398. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018. 00398
- Lent, R. W., Taveira, M. C., Sheu, H., and Singley, D. (2009). Social cognitive predictors of academic adjustment and life satisfaction in Portuguese college students: a longitudinal análisis. J. Vocat. Behav. 74, 190–198. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb. 2008.12.006
- Lester, L., and Cross, D. (2015). The relationship between school climate and mental and emotional wellbeing over the transition from primary to secondary school. *Psychol. Well Being* 5:9. doi: 10.1186/s13612-015-0037-8
- Low, S., and Van Ryzin, M. (2014). The moderating effects of school climate on bullying prevention efforts. *Sch. Psychol. Q.* 29, 306–319. doi: 10.1037/ spq0000073
- Lu, C., Jiang, Y., Zhao, X., and Fang, P. (2019). Will helping others also benefit you? Chinese adolescents' altruistic personality traits and life satisfaction. *J. Happiness Stud.* 1–19. doi: 10.1007/s10902-019-00134-6
- Lyons, M. D., Huebner, E. S., and Hills, K. J. (2016). Relations among personality characteristics, environmental events, coping behavior and adolescents' life satisfaction. J. Happiness Stud. 17, 1033–1050. doi: 10.1007/s10902-015-9630-z
- Martínez-Ferrer, B., Moreno-Ruiz, D., Amador, L. V., and Orford, J. (2011). School victimization among adolescents. An analysis from an ecological perspective. *Psychosoc. Intervent.* 20, 149–160. doi: 10.5093/in2011v20n2a3
- Méndez, I., Ruiz-Esteban, C., and López-García, J. J. (2017). Risk and protective factors associated to peer school victimization. *Front. Psychol.* 8:441. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00441
- Menesini, E., and Salmivalli, C. (2017). Bullying in schools: the state of knowledge and effective interventions. *Psychol. Health Med.* 22, 240–253. doi: 10.1080/ 13548506.2017.1279740
- Metzger, A., Alvis, L. M., Oosterhoff, B., Babskie, E., Syvertsen, A., and Wray-Lake, L. (2018). The intersection of emotional and sociocognitive competencies with civic engagement in middle childhood and adolescence. J. Youth Adolesc. 47, 1663–1683. doi: 10.1007/s10964-018-0842-5
- Miranda, R., Oriol, X., Amutio, A., and Ortúzar, H. (2019). Bullying en la adolescencia y satisfacción con la vida: ¿puede el apoyo de los adultos de la familia y de la escuela mitigar este efecto? *Rev. Psicodidáct.* 24, 39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.psicod.2018.07.001
- Moraleda, M., González, A., and García-Gallo, J. (2004). Actitudes y Estrategias Cognitivas Sociales. Madrid: TEA Ediciones.
- Oliva, A., Antolín, L., Pertegal, M. A., Ríos, M., Parra, A., Hernando, A., et al. (2011a). *Instrumentos Para la Evaluación del Desarrollo Positivo Adolescente y Los Activos Que lo Promueven*. Sevilla: Departamento de Psicología Evolutiva y de la Educación.
- Oliva, A., Reina, M., Hernando, A., Antolín, L., Pertegal, M. A., Parra, A., et al. (2011b). *Activos Para el Desarrollo Positivo y la Salud Mental en la Adolescencia*. Sevilla: Junta de Andalucía.
- Olweus, D. (1993). Bullying at School: What We Know and What We Can Do. Oxford: Blackwell, doi: 10.1002/pits.10114
- Olweus, D., and Breivik, K. (2014). "Plight of victims of school bullying: The opposite of well-being," in *Handbook of Child Well-being: Theories, Methods* and Policies in Global Perspective, eds A. Ben-Arieh, F. Casas, I. Frønes, and J. E. Korbin (Dordrecht: Springer), 2593–2616. doi: 10.1007/978-90-481-9063-8_100
- Ortega-Ruiz, R., Del Rey, R., and Casa, J. A. (2016). Evaluar el bullying y el cyberbullying validación española del EBIP-Q y del ECIP-Q. *Psicol. Educ.* 22, 71–79. doi: 10.1016/j.pse.2016.01.004
- Overbeek, G., Zeevalkink, H., Vermulst, A., and Scholte, R. H. (2010). Peer victimization, self-esteem, and ego resilience types in adolescents: a prospective analysis of person-context interactions. *Soc. Dev.* 19, 270–284. doi: 10.1111/j. 1467-9507.2008.00535.x
- Palacios, E. G., Echaniz, I. E., Fernández, A. R., and De Barrón, I. C. O. (2015). Personal self-concept and satisfaction with life in adolescence, youth and adulthood. *Psicothema* 27, 52–58. doi: 10.7334/psicothema2014.105

- Pertegal, M. A., and Hernando, A. (2015). "El contexto escolar como promotor del desarrollo positivo adolescente," in *Desarrollo Positivo Adolescente*, ed. A. Oliva (Madrid: Síntesis), 59–80.
- Pertegal, M. A., Oliva, A., and Hernando, A. (2010). Los programas escolares como promotores del desarrollo positivo adolescente. *Cult. Educ.* 22, 53–66. doi: 10.1174/113564010790935169
- Rey, L., Extremera, N., and Sánchez-Álvarez, N. (2019). Clarifying the links between perceived emotional intelligence and well-being in older people: pathways through perceived social support from family and friends. *Appl. Res. Qual. Life* 14, 221–235. doi: 10.1007/s11482-017-9588-9586
- Rezapour, M., Khanjani, N., and Mirzai, M. (2019). Exploring associations between school environment and bullying in Iran: multilevel contextual effects modeling. *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 99, 54–63. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.01. 036
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). Society and the Adolescent Self-image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, doi: 10.1126/science.148.3671.804
- Salguero, J. M., Fernandez-Berrocal, P., Balluerka, N., and Aritzeta, A. (2010). Measuring perceived emotional intelligence in the adolescent population: psychometric properties of the trait meta-mood scale. *Soc. Behav. Pers. Int. J.* 38, 1197–1209. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2010.38.9.1197
- Salovey, P., Mayer, J. D., Goldman, S. L., Turvey, C., and Palfai, T. P. (1995). "Emotional attention, clarity, and repair: Exploring emotional intelligence using the Trait Meta-Mood Scale," in *Emotion, Disclosure, & Health*, ed. J. W. Pennebaker (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 125–154. doi: 10.1037/10182-006
- Sánchez-Álvarez, N., Extremera, N., and Fernández-Berrocal, P. (2015). Maintaining life satisfaction in adolescence: affective mediators of the influence of perceived emotional intelligence on overall life satisfaction judgments in a two-year longitudinal study. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1892. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01892
- Saphire-Bernstein, S., and Taylor, S. E. (2013). "Close relationships and happiness," in Oxford Handbook of Happiness, eds I. Boniwell, S. A. David, and A. C. Ayers (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 821–833. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/ 9780199557257.013.0060
- Sapouna, M., and Wolke, K. D. (2013). Resilience to bullying victimization: the role of individual, family and peer characteristics. *Child Abuse Negl.* 37, 997–1006. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.05.009
- Savahl, S., Montserrat, C., Casas, F., Adams, S., Tiliouine, H., Benninger, E., et al. (2018). Children's experiences of bullying victimization and the influence on their subjective well-being: a multinational comparison. *Child Dev.* 90, 414–431. doi: 10.1111/cdev.13135
- Scales, P., Benson, P., Oesterle, S., Hill, K., Hawkins, D., and Pashak, T. (2016). The dimensions of successful Young adult development: a conceptual and measurement framework. *Appl. Dev. Sci.* 20, 150–174. doi: 10.1080/10888691. 2015.1082429
- Schipper, M., and Petermann, F. (2013). Relating empathy and emotion regulation: do deficits in empathy trigger emotion dysregulation? *Soc. Neurosci.* 8, 101–107. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2012.761650
- Shanafelt, T. D., West, C., Zhao, X., Novotny, P., Kolars, J., Habermann, T., et al. (2005). Relationship between increased personal well-being and enhanced empathy among internal medicine residents. *J. Gen. Intern. Med.* 20, 559–564. doi: 10.1007/s11606-005-0102-108
- Siegel, R. S., La Greca, A. M., and Harrison, H. M. (2009). Peer victimization and social anxiety in adolescents: prospective and reciprocal relationships. J. Youth Adolesc. 38, 1096–1109. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2012.761650
- Suldo, S. M., Thalji-Raitano, A., Hasemeyer, M., Gelley, C. D., and Hoy, B. (2013). Understanding middle school students life satisfaction: does school climate matter? *Appl. Res. Qual. Life* 8, 169–182. doi: 10.1007/s11482-012-9185-9187
- Sung, Y. H., Chen, L. M., Yen, C. F., and Valcke, M. (2018). Double trouble: the developmental process of school bully-victims. *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 91, 279–288. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.06.025
- Taylor, R., Oberle, E., Durlak, J., and Weissberg, R. (2017). Promoting positive youth development through school-based social and emotional learning interventions: a meta-analysis of follow-up effects. *Child Dev.* 88, 1156–1171. doi: 10.1111/cdev.12864
- Tolan, P., Ross, K., Arkin, N., Godine, N., and Clark, E. (2016). Toward an integrated approach to positive development: implications for

intervention. Appl. Dev. Sci. 20, 214–236. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.114 6080

- Ttofi, M. M., Farrington, D. P., Lösel, F., and Loeber, R. (2011). Do the victims of school bullying tend to become depressed later in life? A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. J. Aggress. Confl. Peace Res. 3, 63–73. doi: 10.1108/17596591111132873
- Valois, R. F., Zulling, K. J., Huebner, E. S., and Drane, J. W. (2009). Youth developmental assets and perceived life satisfaction: is there a relationship? *Appl. Res. Qual. Life* 4, 315–331. doi: 10.1007/s11482-009-9083-9089
- Varela, J. J., Sirlopú, D., Melipillán, R., Espelage, D., Green, J., and Guzmán, J. (2019). Exploring the influence school climate on the relationship between school violence and adolescent subjective well-being. *Child Indic. Res.* 1–16. doi: 10.1007/s12187-019-09631-9
- Voight, A., and Nation, M. (2016). Practices for improving Secondary School Climate: a systematic review of the research literature. Am. J. Commun. Psychol. 58, 174–191. doi: 10.1002/ajcp.12074
- Waasdorp, T. E., Bradshaw, C. P., and Leaf, P. J. (2012). The impact of schoolwide positive behavioral interventions and supports on bullying and peer rejection. A Randomized Controlled Effectiveness Trial. *Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med.* 166, 149–156. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics. 2011.755

- Yoon, J., Sulkowski, M. L., and Bauman, S. A. (2016). Teachers' responses to bullying incidents: effects of teacher characteristics and contexts. J. Sch. Violence 15, 91–113. doi: 10.1080/15388220.2014.963592
- Zych, I., Beltrán-Catalán, M., Ortega-Ruiz, R., and Llorent, V. J. (2018). Social and emotional competencies in adolescents involved in different bullying and cyberbullying roles. *Rev. Psicodidáctica* 23, 86–93. doi: 10.1016/j.psicod.2017. 12.001
- Zych, I., Farrington, D. P., and Ttofi, M. M. (2019). Protective factors against bullying and cyberbullying: a systematic review of meta-analyses. *Aggress. Violent Behav.* 45, 4–19. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2018.06.008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lázaro-Visa, Palomera, Briones, Fernández-Fuertes and Fernández-Rouco. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Forgiving Adolescents: Far From Depression, Close to Well-Being

Barbara Barcaccia^{1,2*}, Susanna Pallini¹, Andrea Pozza³, Michela Milioni¹, Roberto Baiocco⁴, Francesco Mancini^{2,5} and Giovanni Maria Vecchio¹

¹ Department of Education, Roma Tre University, Rome, Italy, ² Associazione di Psicologia Cognitiva (APC) and Scuola di Psicoterapia Cognitiva srl (SPC), Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence, Florence, Italy, ⁴ Department of Developmental and Social Psychology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Department of Human Sciences, Guglielmo Marconi University, Rome, Italy

Forgiveness has been proven to be an effective way of regulating negative affect and decreasing depression. This study aimed at examining the relationship among constructs particularly relevant to adolescents' well-being, including forgivingness (dispositional forgiveness) anger, depression and Hedonic Balance (HB). Specifically, using a structural equation modelling approach, the fully mediational role of the different facets of anger in the relationship between forgiveness and depression was tested in 773 adolescents, of which 69% girls. Results showed that forgivingness was positively and negatively related to, respectively, HB and depression, through a general effect of anger, suggesting that more forgiving adolescents had higher HB and lower depression as they reported a lower general tendency to experience anger. Forgivingness was also positively related both to HB and to depression through the mediation of all the facets of Anger. Moreover, only for HB, a specific effect of Anger-control was found, suggesting that more forgiving adolescents had higher HB as they reported higher strategies to control anger in a functional manner. The model invariance was supported across gender. Our results suggest that forgiveness is a significant protective factor against depression for adolescents, helping them to effectively control and manage anger, thus fostering emotional health. An important clinical implication of our study regards the potential of forgiveness as a resource for well-being in therapy: among the various possible protective factors in adolescence, forgiveness has the added advantage that it can be fostered in clinical settings, and working on forgiveness in psychotherapy or in counselling could decrease adolescent depression and improve well-being.

Keywords: depression, forgiveness, anger, adolescence, well-being

INTRODUCTION

Adolescence is a critical period for the emergence of depressive symptoms, which can be viewed as a failure to accomplish the developmental task of regulating emotions (Cummings and Davies, 1996; Ahmed et al., 2015; Allen and Tan, 2016). This task is a particularly important one in light of the fact that adolescents have been found to experience more intense mood swings and emotional reactions to social stimuli than people of other ages, because of the hormonal changes associated with this developmental stage of life (Nelson et al., 2005). According to their ability to regulate emotions,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Ebru Taysi, Süleyman Demirel University, Turkey María Angeles Peláez-Fernández, University of Málaga, Spain

> *Correspondence: Barbara Barcaccia barbara.barcaccia@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 10 April 2019 **Accepted:** 11 July 2019 **Published:** 24 July 2019

Citation:

Barcaccia B, Pallini S, Pozza A, Milioni M, Baiocco R, Mancini F and Vecchio GM (2019) Forgiving Adolescents: Far From Depression, Close to Well-Being. Front. Psychol. 10:1725. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01725 they can have normal mood swings, or in some cases, they can experience moods and behaviours characterised by destructive anger and depression (Garnefski et al., 2005; Eysenck and Derakshan, 2011).

Regarding anger, Brunner and Spielberger (1979) consider it a multifaceted construct, implying several components. Trait Anger is a stable tendency to experience anger; State Anger corresponds to the intensity of angry feelings at a particular time; Anger Expression-Out implies the expression of angry feelings towards other persons or objects in the environment, whereas Anger Expression-In implies the maladaptive suppression of angry feelings. Anger encompasses also an adaptive component, Anger-Control, i.e., the capacity to control angry feelings by preventing the expression of anger or regulating angry feelings by calming down. In adolescence research, anger has been positively correlated to depression in both normal (Deffenbacher et al., 1996; Balsamo, 2010) and clinical populations (Fava and Rosenbaum, 1999; Koh et al., 2002). A strong association has been found between Anger Expression-Out/Anger Expression-In and depressive manifestations (Bridewell and Chang, 1997). Also, according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), a diagnosis of a major depressive episode "requires that a child or adolescent exhibits one of the two key features: depressed or *irritable mood* and a loss of interest or pleasure" (Goldstein and DeVries, 2017, p.153).

According to the attachment theory, the link between anger and depression seems to be related to the perception of having been hurt by another person, where one initially experiences anger, sometimes causing them to break the relation with that person, and subsequently experiences depression as a result of the ruptured relationship (Bowlby, 1979; Horwitz, 2004).

As damage to interpersonal relationships is related to anger and depression, the ability to repair relationships through forgiveness could be related to well-being and to the reduction of anger and depression (Akhtar and Barlow, 2016). Enright et al. (1998, pp. 47–48) defined forgiveness as "a willingness to abandon one's right to resentment, negative judgement and indifferent behaviour towards one who has unjustly hurt us." State-forgiveness (forgiving a specific offence) can be distinguished from trait-forgiveness, or *forgivingness*, an enduring tendency to forgive transgressions across situations and over time (Roberts, 1995). Across all ages, higher forgivingness is associated with lower levels of depression (Burnette et al., 2009) and anger (Fehr et al., 2010) and with higher levels of well-being (Toussaint and Webb, 2005).

Forgiveness has been proven to be an effective way of regulating negative affect (Worthington and Scherer, 2004; Barcaccia et al., 2018b). When people forgive, there is both a reduction of angry and resentful emotions, thoughts and behaviours, and an increase of the positive and benevolent ones towards the offending person (Wade et al., 2014). Affect regulation implies Hedonic Balance (HB), i.e., the balance between negative and positive emotions, the affective component of subjective well-being (Kahneman, 1999; Diener, 2000; Schimmack et al., 2002; Kahneman and Krueger, 2006).

The relationship between forgiveness, depression, and wellbeing is well-established (e.g., Toussaint and Webb, 2005; Burnette et al., 2009; Fehr et al., 2010). Increasing forgiveness leads to a reduction in depressive manifestations (e.g., Akhtar and Barlow, 2018). It has also been reported that promoting forgiveness increases Anger-Control and reduces Trait Anger and Anger Expression-Out/Anger Expression-In (Fitzgibbons, 1986; Gambaro, 2003; Harris et al., 2006; Wilkowski et al., 2010; Akhtar and Barlow, 2018).

There is a small number of studies investigating gender covariations in the relationship between forgivingness and psychological health outcomes (Miller and Worthington, 2015). According to meta-analyses (e.g., Fehr et al., 2010), females are typically more forgiving than males, whereas males are more vengeful than females.

Regarding gender differences in anger regulation strategies among adolescents, mixed results have been reported, with some studies showing no differences (e.g., Eschenbeck et al., 2007) and other studies showing females to have lower anger control strategies (Wong et al., 2018).

Study Aims and Hypotheses

Therefore, it is important to investigate how one's difficulty to forgive could be related to anger and depression: the inability to forgive increases anger, and persistent anger can, in turn, destroy interpersonal relationships, exposing one to feelings of failure and isolation, facilitating the onset of depressive symptoms. Based on these considerations, we intend to test a model that encompasses forgivingness, anger, depressive symptomatology and HB. While some authors have found an inverse relationship between forgivingness and depression (Burnette et al., 2009), forgivingness and anger (Watson et al., 2017), and between depression and anger (Balsamo, 2010), surprisingly no study has investigated, so far, the mediational role of anger in the relationship between forgivingness and depression.

Given that the inability to forgive is related to anger, and anger is related to depression, it is reasonable to posit that an unforgiving attitude is related to depression, with the mediational role of anger, and that forgivingness is related to HB, with the mediational role of anger control. To provide a more rigorous test of the hypothesised associations among the variables, we tested two alternative models as recommended by Quintana and Maxwell (1999), where depression/HB and anger facets, respectively, were considered as the independent variables.

It may be hypothesised that the inability to forgive others may increase Trait Anger and dysfunctional strategies like either expressing anger towards other persons or suppressing it.

On one hand, expressing anger towards other persons/objects or suppressing/holding anger in may lead to a range of cognitive, emotional and behavioural depressive responses like loneliness, hopelessness, feelings of guilt, low self-concept, self-blame and social withdrawal. On the other hand, the ability to forgive others may increase the capacity to control anger through functional cognitive, emotional and behavioural coping strategies; this may reduce depressive responses and increase HB by enhancing self-confidence and self-esteem, interpersonal adjustment and trust in others (Wai and Yip, 2009). Due to the small number of available studies and the mixed literature findings about gender covariations in the relationship between forgivingness and psychological health, we also tested whether the model was invariant across gender.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The current study included 773 middle- and high-school students (69% females), ranging in age from 12 to 18 ($M_{age} = 15.6$ years, SD = 2.00). This study has been approved by the ethics committee of the Department of Developmental and Social Psychology, Sapienza University of Rome, and it has been performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments. All the students completed the self-report questionnaires collectively during classes. Permission was obtained from the institutional school committees. In conformity with the Italian law, written informed consent was collected from students of legal age and from parents of underage students.

Measures

The *Trait Forgivingness Scale* (TFS; Berry et al., 2005) assesses dispositional forgiveness. It contains 10 items (sample item: *I try to forgive others even when they don't feel guilty for what they did*) to which participants report their agreement on a five-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree). The psychometric properties of the Italian TFS have been recently validated (Barcaccia et al., 2018a), suggesting a 7-item scale. Cronbach's alpha for our study was 0.71.

The State Trait Anger Expression Inventory-2 Child and Adolescent (STAXI-2 C/A; Brunner and Spielberger, 1979) is a 35-item self-report scale. The State Anger Scale measures the intensity of angry feelings at a particular time (sample item: I feel I am angry), whereas the Trait Anger Scale measures individual disposition to experience anger as a personality characteristic (sample item: I am a hot-headed person). Anger Expression-Out measures the expression of anger toward other people or objects in the environment engaging in verbal or physically aggressive behaviours (sample item: I show my anger). Anger Expression-In measures the extent to which angry feelings are held in or suppressed (sample item: I get mad inside, but do not show it). Anger-Control assesses the ability to control the inward or outward expression of angry feelings (sample item: I try to calm my angry feelings). Participants respond using a 4-point scale, ranging from 1 (Hardly ever) to 3 (Often). Alpha coefficients ranged from 0.68 to 0.85 for the total and the subscales, similar to the original version (Brunner and Spielberger, 1979).

Hedonic Balance (HB) was assessed using the PANAS (Watson et al., 1988), a 20-item scale developed to measure two higherorder dimensions of self-rated positive and negative affect. The Positive Affect section includes terms such as "active," "enthusiastic," whereas the Negative Affect section includes terms such as "afraid," "hostile." Participants reported the intensity in which they have generally experienced each emotion on a 5point scale, from 1 (never/not at all) to 5 (always/very much). Intensity of HB was evaluated by subtracting the negative affect score from the positive affect score. Intensity of HB is considered an indicator of subjective well-being, as suggested by findings on affect measurement and well-being (Schimmack et al., 2002).

The *Children's Depression Inventory* (CDI; Kovacs, 1992) is a 27-item scale evaluating depressive symptoms in children and adolescents from 8 to 17 years old. Participants rate themselves based on how they feel and think, with each statement being identified with a rating from 0 to 2. Cronbach's alpha for our sample was 0.84.

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Preliminary correlational analyses were calculated through the SPSS 25 software. Correlation coefficients values were interpreted according to Cohen et al. (2014) as follows:0 < r < |0.30| = weak;|0.30| < r < |0.50| = moderate; |0.50| < r < |0.70| = strong;r > |0.70| = very strong.

Structural Equation Analysis

In the present study, Mplus Version 8.1 (Muthén and Muthén, 1997–2017) was used to estimate the hypothesised model.

All variables were included in the model as single indicator latent variables by estimating the error terms from the reliability of the measures (Kline, 2015). The following indices were applied to evaluate the fit of the tested models: χ2 statistic, Tucker and Lewis Index (TLI), Comparative Fit Index (CFI), and the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA). We accepted TLI and CFI values higher than 0.95 (Hu and Bentler, 1999) and RMSEA lower than 0.06 (Browne and Cudeck, 1993) as thresholds for good fit. We also used Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) to evaluate model fit, with lower values indicating a better fit (Kline, 2015). Burnham and Anderson (2004) suggested "as a rule of thumb" that models with $\Delta AICi \leq 2$ have substantial support; models with $4 \leq \Delta AICi \leq 7$ have considerably less support; models with $\Delta AICi \geq 10$ have essentially no support.

In order to test the moderating effects of gender, we used multiple-group structural equation modelling (Muthén and Muthén, 2008). The equivalence between male and female groups was evaluated by imposing identical unstandardized estimates for paths (we refer to this model as the gender-constrained model). Finally, as suggested by Bollen (1989), we tested the plausibility of these equality constraints with the chi-squared difference test ($\Delta \chi^2$) between nested models (i.e., the gender- constrained model vs. the unconstrained model).

Mediation Analysis

In order to estimate mediation effects, we adhered to the procedures suggested by MacKinnon et al. (2004) using the Asymmetric Confidence Interval Method (ACI). We examined the hypothesised pattern of influences by estimating the following paths: (1) from forgivingness to Trait-Anger, Anger Expression-Out, Anger Expression-In and Anger

Control; (2) from Trait-Anger, Anger Expression-Out, Anger Expression-In and Anger Control to HB; (3) from Trait-Anger, Anger Expression-Out, Anger Expression-In and Anger Control to depression. In addition, the four dimensions of anger were allowed to covary as were HB and depression.

RESULTS

Descriptive and Correlational Analyses

Results of one-way ANOVA by gender are reported in Table 1.

Correlational analyses are reported in **Table 2**. In both males and females Forgivingness is negatively correlated to Trait Anger and Expression anger-out and depression, positively with Anger control and HB. Trait anger and Anger Expression-out are negatively correlated with HB and positively with depression. Anger control is positively correlated with HB and negatively with depression.

Structural Equation Modelling

We preliminarily tested a model encompassing the path of gender and age on forgivingness and we found that the model did not show a good fit: $\chi^2_{(14)} = 209.462$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.83, TLI = 0.58, RMSEA = 0.13 (95% CI:0.12–0.15), AIC = 30304.119. Thus, this model is not influenced by gender and age.

Subsequently, we tested a multi-group model (**Table 3**) encompassing both direct and indirect effects $\chi^2_{(0)} = 0$, p = 0.00, CFI = 1.00, TLI = 1.00, RMSEA = 0.00 (95% CI:0.00-0.00), AIC = 30129.38. Thus, the direct effect of forgivingness on depression and HB was not significant.

The gender-unconstrained model without the direct effects showed a good fit: $\chi^2_{(4)} = 3.569$, p = 0.46, CFI = 1.00, TLI = 1.00, RMSEA = 0.00 (95% CI:0.000–0.073), AIC = 30124.950. We examined the gain in fit achieved by imposing equality constraints across genders. This model fitted the data well, $\chi^2_{(22)} = 33.07$, p = 0.06, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.98, RMSEA = 0.036 (95% CI:0.000–0.060), AIC = 30118.451. However, the change in fit between the gender-unconstrained versus the constrained model was

TABLE 1 | Means, standard deviations, and sex differences for forgivingness, anger, HB and depression for males and females.

	Ma	les	Fem	ales		
Variable	м	SD	М	SD	F(1,773)	р
1. Forgivingness	22.12	5.36	21.73	5.22	3.50	0.34
2. Trait Anger	18.27	3.72	19.65	3.67	22.91*	0.000
3. Anger Expression-Out	8.00	2.30	8.38	2.41	4.27*	0.039
4. Anger Expression-In	9.60	2.31	9.36	2.49	1.60	0.207
5. Anger Control	11.35	2.38	10.94	2.48	4.50*	0.034
6. Hedonic Balance	11.70	9.24	7.14	9.72	37.54*	0.000
7. Depression	39.74	7.07	45.24	6.98	101.56*	0.000

*p < 0.05. F = F ratio from one-way analyses of variance; within the parentheses are the degrees of freedom and the number of participants.

not significant: $\Delta \chi^2_{(18)} = 29.500$, p = 0.05, $\Delta CFI = 0.01$ (Cheung and Rensvold, 2002).

We removed the equality constraints across genders in the correlation between Anger-Out and Anger Control, supporting the tenability of the constraints imposed across male and female groups.

In Figure 1 we show the best fitting constrained model.

The anger facets were all related to each other, except for Trait-Anger with Expression Anger-In. HB and depression were also significantly and negatively related.

Mediation Effect Modelling

The total indirect effect of the STAXI dimensions was statistically significant (the 95% asymmetric lower and upper CI limits did not include zero), thus supporting mediation of the conjoint effect of the STAXI subscales. A significant specific indirect effect was found only for Anger Control. Regarding depression, a significant total indirect effect of the STAXI dimensions was found, whereas indirect specific effects were not found (see **Figure 1**).

All the mediated paths were found to be equal for males and females. The model accounted for a similar proportion of variability for males and females. Specifically, for males, *R*-squared were 7% for Trait-anger, 4% for Anger Control, 5% for Expression Anger-In, 13% for Expression Anger-Out, 30% for depression and 34% for HB; for females, *R*-squared were 7% for Trait-anger, 2% for Anger Control, 8% for Expression Anger-In, 12% for Expression Anger-Out, 15% for depression and 34% for HB.

Alternative Models

Two alternative models (AM) were tested. Since the two AMs were not nested in the hypothesised model, Δ AIC was used to compare their fit. In AM1, we considered depression and HB as independent variables, the four anger facets as mediators, and forgivingness as the outcome. This model showed acceptable fit: $\chi^2(22) = 68.477$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.95, TLI = 0.91, RMSEA = 0.07 (95% CI:0.05–0.09), AIC = 30.153.858,; however, lower CFI and TLI values and higher RMSEA and AIC values than the hypothesised model (Δ AIC = 35.407) indicated that it was a worse approximation to the data. In this model, HB predicted all four anger facets, while depression predicted Trait-anger and Expression anger-out in males and Anger-control also in females; at the same time only Trait-anger predicted Forgivingness.

In AM2, we considered the anger facets as independent variables, forgivingness as the mediator, and depression and HB as the outcomes. The AM2 showed a worse fit than the hypothesised model as suggested by the fit indices: χ^2 (28) = 307.345, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.71, TLI = 0.57, RMSEA = 0.16 (95% CI:0.14–0.18), AIC = 30.380,726, and by a higher AIC (Δ AIC = 262,275). In this model, only the path linking Forgivingness to depression was statistically significant. For all the two AMs, the information deriving from the Δ AIC indicated that they had poor empirical support (Δ AIC \geq 10) compared to the hypothesised mediational model.

TABLE 2 | Zero-order correlations among measures of TFS, STAXI, HB, and CDI for males and females.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Forgivingness	1	-0.31**	-0.28**	0.08	0.27**	0.16*	-0.23**
2. Trait Anger	-0.31**	1	0.52**	0.04	-0.14*	-0.26**	0.26**
3. Anger Expression-Out	-0.33**	0.54**	1	-0.34**	-0.29**	-0.26**	0.18**
4. Anger Expression-In	0.13**	-0.04	-0.31**	1	0.28**	-0.03	0.06
5. Anger Control	0.19**	-0.18**	-0.35**	0.22**	1	0.21**	-0.19**
6. Hedonic Balance	0.17**	-0.36**	-0.27**	-0.19**	0.30**	1	-0.46**
7. Depression	-0.24**	0.45**	0.30**	0.12**	-0.16**	-0.56**	1

The correlation coefficients above the diagonal are for males; the correlation coefficients below the diagonal are for females. **p < 0.01; *p < 0.05.

TABLE 3 | Path coefficients of the full mediational model.

				Depend	lent variable: H	ledonic Bala	ance (Y)		
					Direct eff	fect (b _i)			
Independent variable	Mediators	Coe	fficient		SE		p		
		Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females		
Forgivingness		-0.073	-0.068	0.043	0.040	0.091	0.091		
				S	pecific indirec	t effects (a _i b	p _i)		
		Coe	fficient		p	Lo	ower	Up	per
		Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females
Forgivingness	Trait-Anger	0.140	0.140	0.696	0.696	-0.450	-0.450	0.731	0.731
	Anger Expression-In	-0.182	-0.182	0.338	0.338	-0.495	-0.495	0.130	0.130
	Anger Expression-Out	0.063	0.063	0.913	0.913	-0.888	-0.888	1.014	1.014
	Anger Control	0.162	0.162	0.024	0.024	0.044	0.044	0.280	0.280
					Total indirect	effect (a _i b _i)			
	Anger facets	0.183	0.183	0.012	0.012	0.063	0.063	0.302	0.302
				Dep	endent variable	e: Depressio	n (Y)		
					Direct eff	fect (b _i)			
Independent variable	Mediators	Coet	fficient		SE		p		
		Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females		
Forgivingness		0.011	0.008	0.052	0.039	0.837	0.837		
				S	pecific indirec	t effects (a _i b	9i)		
		Coet	fficient		p	Lo	ower	Up	per
		Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females
Forgivingness	Trait-Anger	-0.224	-0.224	0.584	0.584	-0.899	-0.899	0.450	0.450
	Anger Expression-In	0.056	0.056	0.801	0.801	-0.312	-0.312	0.425	0.425
	Anger Expression-Out	0.061	0.061	0.929	0.929	-1.068	-1.068	1.190	1.190
	Anger Control	-0.031	-0.031	0.651	0.651	-0.143	-0.143	0.081	0.081
					Total indirect	effect (a _i b _i)			
	Anger facets	-0.138	-0.138	0.019	0.019	-0.235	-0.235	-0.041	-0.041



DISCUSSION

The present study was the first investigation examining the relationship among forgivingness, anger, HB and depression in adolescents. Using a structural equation modelling approach, our results showed that forgivingness was positively and negatively related, respectively, to HB and depression, through a general effect of anger facets, suggesting that adolescents with higher forgivingness had higher HB and lower depression as they reported a lower general tendency towards anger. These results are consistent with previously reviewed literature highlighting the association between forgivingness and both depression (Brown, 2003; Burnette et al., 2009; Barcaccia et al., 2017, 2018b) and anger (Watson et al., 1988; Fehr et al., 2010; Barcaccia et al., 2018a). In addition, our findings expand on the existing literature in that they evidence a mediational model encompassing the relationship between forgivingness and HB and depression, with the general mediational effect of anger.

Another key-finding of our study was that forgivingness was positively related only to HB, through a specific effect of Anger-Control, suggesting that more forgiving adolescents had higher HB, as they had more functional strategies to control anger effectively. Thus, adolescents who have a higher ability to forgive others might report a higher subjective well-being (i.e., HB) because they have functional cognitive, emotional and behavioural strategies to regulate anger. This result was consistent with experimental data showing that increasing forgiveness leads to an increase in anger cognitive control skills, which in turn increases well-being (Wilkowski et al., 2010).

The lack of a mediational effect of all the other anger facets is, however, in contrast with our hypotheses; the present data

also suggest that forgiveness might foster HB, specifically by increasing the ability of adolescents to regulate anger in a functional way, and not specifically by reducing Trait-Anger, or dysfunctional anger regulation strategies such as suppressing it or expressing it out towards other people/objects. Another result in contrast with our hypotheses was the lack of a direct effect of forgivingness on HB and depression. This evidence was not consistent with previous literature about the relationship between forgivingness and HB/depression suggesting that the capacity to forgive others may directly protect adolescents from depression and promote his/her wellbeing through a more functional mode of anger regulation.

We also found no evidence about the effect of gender in the model as the multigroup analysis supported gender invariance. This result is in line with those studies reporting no evidence of gender differences in the covariations between anger regulation and psychological health (e.g., Eschenbeck et al., 2007).

Our findings can be explained by hypothesising that dispositional forgiveness reduces the general effect of anger on HB helping individuals to refrain from negatively and depressively judging their inner experiences, such as emotions and thoughts (Barcaccia et al., 2019). Forgivingness may act as a protective factor against the detrimental effects of dysfunctional behaviours triggered by anger, such as aggressive acting-outs, outbursts of anger (Paciello et al., 2017), severing ties with friends, and ruminating about others as dangerous, which in turn can lead to depressive feelings of loneliness and guilt regarding the disruption of interpersonal relations (Deffenbacher et al., 1996). Moreover, given the association between inflated responsibility beliefs and depression (Pozza and Dèttore, 2014), forgivingness may be hypothesised to reduce depression by attenuating adolescents' inflated sense of duty/obligation/responsibility about the necessity of expressing vigorously one's rage and frustration, thus helping adolescents to let go of anger rather than holding onto it. Consistent with previous research, the fact that forgivingness is inversely related to depression and directly to HB when anger is well regulated, suggests that dispositional forgiveness may include a set of emotional regulation skills such as emotional intelligence and perspective-taking (Rizkalla et al., 2008; Carvalho et al., 2010). The lack of an indirect effect of forgivingness on depression/HB through the other dysfunctional anger facets may suggest that the model could be improved by including other dysfunctional anger regulation strategies as mediators such as angry rumination, which has been found to be related to lower forgivingness and lower affect regulation (Berry et al., 2005). Future studies could include other dysfunctional strategies to cope with anger as mediators in the pathway from forgivingness to HB/depression.

Our findings offer several implications for the well-being of adolescents. First, school-based programs on forgiveness could promote a more benevolent attitude in confronting with slights and interpersonal ruptures, thereby preventing depression and increasing well-being. Such programs could promote functional regulation skills, such as emotional intelligence, empathy, and perspective taking (Onal and Yalcin, 2017); they can be easily delivered in group settings, making them particularly suitable for school contexts (Worthington et al., 2016). An important clinical implication of our study regards the potential of forgiveness as a resource for well-being in therapy: among the various possible protective factors in adolescence, forgiveness has the added advantage that it can be fostered in clinical settings, and working on forgiveness in psychotherapy or in counselling could decrease adolescent depression and improve well-being.

Our study presents some limitations, firstly regarding the use of self-reported measures, and secondly because of the cross-sectional nature of our data. Nevertheless, regarding the first limitation, it must be noted that forgivingness, anger, and depression are private cognitive-emotive states that are necessarily accessible through report by the individuals who hold these beliefs and experience these emotional tonalities. However, it is certainly true that future studies could strengthen the investigation of these topics by relying upon multiple methods and informants across different situations, to minimise possible biases due to self-reporting and reputation. Regarding the cross-sectional nature of this study, future research could also investigate whether forgivingness is a protective factor for the onset of depression from a longitudinal perspective. On this basis, educational programs aimed at increasing adolescents' capacity to forgive by productively processing their feelings of anger, could act as preventive strategies for depression. In fact, forgivingness education programs have been proven effective in increasing forgivingness and decreasing anger and depression (e.g., Enright et al., 2007). Our findings are based on a large sample of Italian adolescents, thus future studies could explore these dimensions also in other cultural contexts.

Obviously, depression has more facets than those considered in this study: one cannot exclude the possibility that other personal or situational factors moderate or mediate the relationship between forgivingness and depression. Future studies could also take into account the quality of the interpersonal relationships in which the offences occurred, and to what extent the individual feels helpless and impotent in the face of such offences, given the debate on the importance of helplessness and hopelessness in both the genesis and the maintenance of depression (Bastounis et al., 2016).

Overall, these results offer notable indications for mental health professionals, as well as for educators: helping young people to forgive is not to be considered strictly as a facet of moral education, as it can represent a useful contribution in enhancing emotional and psychological health in adolescents, preventing the onset of depression by helping them to effectively manage anger. Forgivingness implies a balanced consideration of oneself and the other, and the consequent balance is not solely cognitive, but mainly emotional. In this perspective, emotional regulation and a balanced consideration of self and others appear to be two sides of the same coin.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study has been approved by the Ethics Committee of the Department of Developmental and Social Psychology, Sapienza University of Rome. and all procedures have been performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments, and in conformity with the Italian law. We gathered written informed consent from all participants. All the students completed the paper–pencil self-report questionnaires collectively during classes. Permission was obtained from the institutional school committees. In conformity with the Italian law, informed consent was collected from students of legal age and from parents of underage students. Pupils were assured that participation was optional and that their responses would remain anonymous.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BB had the initial idea, collected data, and drafted the manuscript. SP gave substantial contribution to the design of the work and revised it critically for its intellectual content. AP contributed to the conception and design of the study and assisted in the statistical analysis. MM assisted in the statistical analyses. RB organised the database. FM revised the work. GV performed the statistical analyses and co-wrote the first draft of the manuscript. BB, SP, AP, MM, RB, and GV wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, S. P., Bittencourt-Hewitt, A., and Sebastian, C. L. (2015). Neurocognitive bases of emotion regulation development in adolescence. *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.* 15, 11–25. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2015.07.006
- Akhtar, S., and Barlow, J. (2016). Forgiveness therapy for the promotion of mental well-being. a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Trauma Violence Abuse* 19, 1–17. doi: 10.1177/1524838016637079
- Akhtar, S., and Barlow, J. (2018). Forgiveness therapy for the promotion of mental well-being: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Trauma Violence Abuse* 19, 107–122. doi: 10.1177/1524838016637079
- Allen, J. P., and Tan, J. (2016). "The multiple facets of attachment in adolescence," in Handbook of Attachment: Theory, Research, and Clinical Applications, 3rd Edn. eds J. Cassidy and P. R. Shaver (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 399–415.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edn. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Press. doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Balsamo, M. (2010). Anger and depression: evidence of a possible mediating role for rumination. *Psychol. Rep.* 106, 3–12. doi: 10.2466/PR0.106.1.3-12
- Barcaccia, B., Baiocco, R., Pozza, A., Pallini, S., Mancini, F., and Salvati, M. (2019). The more you judge the worse you feel. A judgemental attitude towards one's inner experience predicts depression and anxiety. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 138, 33–39. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2018.09.012
- Barcaccia, B., Milioni, M., Pallini, S., and Vecchio, G. M. (2018a). Resentment or forgiveness? The assessment of forgivingness in Italian adolescents. *Child Indic. Res.* 11, 1407–1423. doi: 10.1007/s12187-017-9483-6
- Barcaccia, B., Pallini, S., Baiocco, R., Salvati, M., Saliani, A. M., and Schneider, B. (2018b). Forgiveness and friendship protect adolescent victims of bullying from emotional maladjustment. *Psicothema* 30, 427–433. doi: 10.7334/ psicothema2018.11
- Barcaccia, B., Schneider, B. H., Pallini, S., and Baiocco, R. (2017). Bullying and the detrimental role of un-forgiveness in adolescents' wellbeing. *Psicothema* 29, 217–222. doi: 10.7334/psicothema2016.251
- Bastounis, A., Callaghan, P., Banerjee, A., and Michail, M. (2016). The effectiveness of the Penn Resiliency Programme (PRP) and its adapted versions in reducing depression and anxiety and improving explanatory style: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Adolesc. 52, 37–48. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.07.004
- Berry, J. W., Worthington, E. L., O'Connor, L. E., Parrott, L., and Wade, N. G. (2005). Forgivingness, vengeful rumination, and affective traits. J. Pers. 73, 183–226. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00308.x
- Bollen, K. A. (1989). A new incremental fit index for general structural equation models. Sociol. Methods Res. 17, 303–316. doi: 10.1177/004912418901700 3004
- Bowlby, J. (1979). The Making and Breaking of Affectional Bonds. London: Tavistock Publications.
- Bridewell, W. B., and Chang, E. C. (1997). Distinguishing between anxiety, depression, and hostility: relations to anger-in, anger-out, and anger control. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 22, 587–590. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(96)00224-3
- Brown, R. P. (2003). Measuring individual differences in the tendency to forgive: construct validity and links with depression. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 29, 759– 771. doi: 10.1177/0146167203029006008
- Browne, M. W., and Cudeck, R. (1993). "Alternative ways of assessing model fit," in *Testing Structural Equation Models*. eds K.A. Bollen and J.S. Long. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Brunner, T. M., and Spielberger, C. D. (1979). State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory-2 Child and Adolescent (Staxi-2 C/A). Lutz, FL: PAR.
- Burnette, J. L., Davis, D. E., Green, J. D., Worthington, E. L., and Bradfield, E. (2009). Insecure attachment and depressive symptoms: the mediating role of rumination, empathy, and forgiveness. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 46, 276–280. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.10.016
- Burnham, K. P., and Anderson, D. R. (2004). Multi-model inference understanding AIC and BIC in model selection. Sociol. Methods Res. 33, 261–304. doi: 10.1177/ 0049124104268644
- Carvalho, D., Neto, F., and Mavroveli, S. (2010). Trait emotional intelligence and disposition for forgiveness. *Psychol. Rep.* 107, 526–534. doi: 10.2466/02.09.20. 21.PR0.107.5.526-534

- Cheung, G. W., and Rensvold, R. B. (2002). Evaluating goodness-of-fit indexes for testing measurement invariance. *Struct. Equ. Modeling* 9, 233–255. doi: 10.1097/NNR.0b013e3182544750
- Cohen, P., West, S. G., and Aiken, L. S. (2014). Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cummings, E. M., and Davies, P. (1996). Emotional security as a regulatory process in normal development and the development of psychopathology. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 8, 123–139. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400007008
- Deffenbacher, J. L., Oetting, E. R., Lynch, R. S., and Morris, C. D. (1996). The expression of anger and its consequences. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 34, 575–590. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(96)00018-16
- Diener, E. (2000). Subjective well-being: the science of happiness and a proposal for a national index. Am. Psychol. 55, 34–43. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.34
- Enright, R. D., Freedman, S., and Rique, J. (1998). "The psychology of interpersonal forgiveness" in *Exploring Forgiveness*. eds R. D. Enright and J. North (Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin press), 46–62.
- Enright, R. D., Knutson, J. A., Holter, A. C., Baskin, T., and Knutson, C. (2007). Waging peace through forgiveness in Belfast, Northern Ireland II: educational programs for mental health improvement of children. J. Res. Educ. 17, 63–78.
- Eschenbeck, H., Kohlmann, C. W., and Lohaus, A. (2007). Gender differences in coping strategies in children and adolescents. J. Individ. Diff. 28, 18–26. doi: 10.1027/1614-0001.28.1.18
- Eysenck, M. W., and Derakshan, N. (2011). New perspectives in attentional control theory. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 50, 955–960. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.08.019
- Fava, M., and Rosenbaum, J. F. (1999). Anger attacks in patients with depression. J. Clin. Psychiatry 60, 21–24.
- Fehr, R., Gelfand, M. J., and Nag, M. (2010). The road to forgiveness: a metaanalytic synthesis of its situational and dispositional correlates. *Psychol. Bulletin.* 136, 894–914. doi: 10.1037/a0019993
- Fitzgibbons, R. P. (1986). The cognitive and emotive uses of forgiveness in the treatment of anger. *Psychother. Theor. Res. Pract. Train.* 23, 629–633. doi: 10. 1037/h0085667
- Gambaro, M. E. (2003). School-Based Forgiveness Education in the Management of Trait Anger in Early Adolescents. Doctoral dissertation. University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI.
- Garnefski, N., Kraaij, V., and van Etten, M. (2005). Specificity of relations between adolescents' cognitive emotion regulation strategies and internalizing and externalizing psychopathology. J. Adolesc. 28, 619–631. doi: 10.1016/j. adolescence.2004.12.009
- Goldstein, S., and DeVries, M. (eds). (2017). Handbook of DSM-5 Disorders in Children and Adolescents. Cham: Springer International Publishing. doi: 10. 1007/978-3-319-57196-6
- Harris, A. H., Luskin, F., Norman, S. B., Standard, S., Bruning, J., Evans, S., et al. (2006). Effects of a group forgiveness intervention on forgiveness, perceived stress, and trait-anger. J. Clin. Psychol. 62, 715–733. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20264
- Horwitz, L. (2004). The capacity to forgive: intrapsychic and developmental perspectives. J. Am. Psychoanal. Assoc. 53, 485–511. doi: 10.1177/ 00030651050530021401
- Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cut-off criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Modeling* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- Kahneman, D. (1999). "Objective happiness," in Well-being: The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology, eds D. Kahneman, E. Diener, and N. Schwarz (New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation), 1–23.
- Kahneman, D., and Krueger, A. B. (2006). Developments in the measurement of subjective well-being. J. Econ. Perspect. 20, 3–24.
- Kline, R. B. (2015). Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling. New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Koh, K. B., Kim, C. H., and Park, J. K. (2002). Predominance of anger in depressive disorders compared with anxiety disorders and somatoform disorders. J. Clin. Psychiatry 63, 486–490. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v63n0604
- Kovacs, M. (1992). Children's Depression Inventory. North Tonawanda, NY: Multi-Health System.
- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., and Williams, J. (2004). Confidence limits for the indirect effect: distribution of the product and resampling methods. *Multivariate Behav. Res.* 39, 99–128. doi: 10.1207/s15327906mbr3901_4

- Miller, A. J., and Worthington, E. L. (2015). "Sex, forgiveness, and health," in *Forgiveness and Health*, eds L. Toussaint, E. Worthington, and D. R. Williams (Dordrecht: Springer), doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-9993-5
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (1997–2017). *Mplus User's Guide*. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (2008). *Mplus (Version 5.1)*. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Nelson, E. E., Leibenluft, E., McClure, E. B., and Pine, D. S. (2005). The social re-orientation of adolescence: a neuroscience perspective on the process and its relation to psychopathology. *Psychol. Med.* 35, 163–174. doi: 10.1017/S003329170400391
- Onal, A. A., and Yalcin, I. (2017). Forgiveness of Others and Self-Forgiveness: the predictive role of cognitive distortions, empathy, and rumination. *Eurasian J. Educ. Res.* 68, 97–120.
- Paciello, M., Muratori, P., Ruglioni, L., Milone, A., Buonanno, C., Capo, R., et al. (2017). Personal values and moral disengagement promote aggressive and rule breaking behaviours in adolescents with disruptive behaviour disorders: a pilot study. Int. J. Offender Ther. Comp. Criminol. 61, 46–63.
- Pozza, A., and Dèttore, D. (2014). Are inflated responsibility beliefs specific to OCD? Meta-analysis of the relations of responsibility to OCD, anxiety disorders, and depression symptoms. *Clin. Neuropsychiatry* 11, 170–181.
- Quintana, S. M., and Maxwell, S. E. (1999). Implications of recent developments in structural equation modeling for counseling psychology. *Couns. Psychol.* 27, 485–527.
- Rizkalla, L., Wertheim, E. H., and Hodgson, L. K. (2008). The roles of emotion management and perspective taking in individuals' conflict management styles and disposition to forgive. J. Res. Pers. 42, 1594–1601.

Roberts, R. C. (1995). Forgivingness. Am. Philos. Q. 32, 289-306.

- Schimmack, U., Radhakrishnan, P., Oishi, S., Dzokoto, V., and Ahadi, S. (2002). Culture, personality, and subjective well-being: integrating process models of life satisfaction. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 82:582. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.82. 4.582
- Toussaint, L., and Webb, J. R. (2005). "Theoretical and empirical connections between forgiveness, mental health, and well-being," in *Handbook of Forgiveness*, ed. E. L. Worthington Jr. (New York, NY: Routledge), 349–362.
- Wade, N. G., Hoyt, W. T., Kidwell, J. E., and Worthington, E. L. Jr. (2014). Efficacy of psychotherapeutic interventions to promote forgiveness:

a meta-analysis. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 82, 154-170. doi: 10.1037/a003 5268

- Wai, S. T., and Yip, T. H. J. (2009). Relationship among dispositional forgiveness of others, interpersonal adjustment and psychological well-being: implication for interpersonal theory of depression. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 46, 365–368. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.11.001
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54, 1063–1070. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Watson, H., Rapee, R., and Todorov, N. (2017). Forgiveness reduces anger in a school bullying context. J. Interpers. Violence 32, 1642–1657. doi: 10.1177/ 0886260515589931
- Wilkowski, B. M., Robinson, M. D., and Troop-Gordon, W. (2010). How does cognitive control reduce anger and aggression? The role of conflict monitoring and forgiveness processes. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 98, 830–840. doi: 10.1037/a001 8962
- Wong, T. K., Konishi, C., and Zhao, K. (2018). Anger and anger regulation among adolescents: a consideration of sex and age differences. *Can. J. Behav. Sci.* 50, 1–8. doi: 10.1037/cbs0000089
- Worthington, E. L., Griffin, B. J., Lavelock, C. R., Hughes, C. M., Greer, C. L., Sandage, S. J., et al. (2016). "Interventions to promote forgiveness are exemplars of positive clinical psychology," in *The Wiley Handbook of Positive Clinical Psychology*, eds A. M. Wood and J. Johnson (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons), 365–380.
- Worthington, E. L., and Scherer, M. (2004). Forgiveness is an emotion-focused coping strategy that can reduce health risks and promote health resilience: theory, review, and hypotheses. *Psychol. Health* 19, 385–405. doi: 10.1080/ 0887044042000196674

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Barcaccia, Pallini, Pozza, Milioni, Baiocco, Mancini and Vecchio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Psychological Well-Being During Adolescence: Stability and Association With Romantic Relationships

Mercedes Gómez-López, Carmen Viejo* and Rosario Ortega-Ruiz

Department of Psychology, Universidad de Córdoba, Córdoba, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Barbara Barcaccia, Roma Tre University, Italy Diego Gomez-Baya, University of Huelva, Spain

> ***Correspondence:** Carmen Viejo cviejo@uco.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 12 April 2019 Accepted: 16 July 2019 Published: 02 August 2019

Citation:

Gómez-López M, Viejo C and Ortega-Ruiz R (2019) Psychological Well-Being During Adolescence: Stability and Association With Romantic Relationships. Front. Psychol. 10:1772. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01772 The concept of well-being is complex and is in common use not only in the area of health but also in the field of human development. Well-being depends on both the individual and the environment, and during childhood and adolescence, the environmental factor can be decisive. Family, school, and peers are widely recognized as significant contexts for successful development, but romantic context is also undoubtedly important. Romantic relationships constitute a new dimension in the adolescent's social life, but little attention so far has been paid to their importance in well-being. Defined as developmental tasks, they have been associated both positive and negative outcomes, although their impact on well-being has not yet been clarified. This study uses a eudaimonic approach to evaluate four dimensions of psychological well-being: self-acceptance, positive interpersonal relationships, autonomy, and life development, and has a two-fold objective: (1) to analyze adolescents' levels of psychological well-being and their stability over time, and (2) to analyze the association between romantic relationships and adolescents' psychological well-being. Using a longitudinal design, we analyzed data from a sample of 747 adolescents from Andalusia (Spain) between 13 and 17 years old (50.5% girls, mean age wave 1 = 14.55, SD = 0.84). The results revealed medium to high levels of psychological well-being, which remained stable throughout the time of the study, and an increase in wave 2 only in positive interpersonal relationships dimension. The Structural Equation Modeling analysis showed romantic relationships as a predictor of psychological well-being, having a positive link with positive interpersonal relationships and with life development, and a negative link with autonomy and self-acceptance. These results are discussed in terms of the need to use approaches focused on the specific characteristics and evolution of well-being during adolescence, as well as on the importance of considering romantic relationships as developmental assets which have the potential to influence well-being during these years.

Keywords: self-acceptance, positive interpersonal relationships, autonomy, life development, longitudinal study, structural equation modeling

INTRODUCTION

Psychology has traditionally conceptualized individuals in terms of psychopathology, dysfunction, and failure (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). It has been focused on repairing damage following a disease model of human functioning, paying little attention to the building of positive qualities (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). In this sense, adolescence has not been an exception. Since it was established as an empirical field of study at the beginning of the twentieth century, it has been normally viewed as a period of life beset with problems and difficulties (Steinberg and Morris, 2001), collecting research large amount of data related to risk factors, problem behavior, and prevention formulas (Oliva et al., 2010; Dvorsky et al., 2018). As a result, knowledge about aspects related to optimal functioning and positive development during these years is significantly smaller (Huebner et al., 2009), contributing to the conception that a healthy adolescence is one without problems (Oliva et al., 2010). However, different perspectives have emerged and advocate understanding it from a broader and more balanced perspective, considering that optimal functioning during adolescence is more than the absence of problems, difficulties or pathologies (Lerner et al., 2005; Seligman, 2008). These include positive psychology, which considers the potential of adolescents to achieve a healthy and successful development, adopting a well-being-oriented approach (Seligman et al., 2009).

CONCEPTUALIZATION OF WELL-BEING

The emergence and growth of positive psychology has led to an increase in well-being research, which has produced two theoretical approaches: hedonic and eudaimonic (Ryan and Deci, 2001). The hedonic view reflects the notion of well-being as an outcome, consisting of an internal state of pleasure or happiness, and focuses on subjective well-being (Ryan and Deci, 2001; Pavot and Diener, 2008; Ryan et al., 2008). From this perspective, well-being is defined in terms of experiencing high levels of positive affect, low levels of negative affect, and a high degree of satisfaction with life (Deci and Ryan, 2008). The eudaimonic view, on the other side, posits that well-being consists of more than just happiness. Eudaimonic theories consider that not all desires - outcomes that a person might value - would lead to well-being when they are achieved (Ryan and Deci, 2001). From this point of view, well-being is not an outcome or final state, but a process of fulfilling human potentials (Deci and Ryan, 2008). It concerns to positive functioning and to the development of capacities and virtues (Ryan and Deci, 2001; Ryan et al., 2008). In this field, Ryff's multidimensional model of psychological well-being has received the most empirical support (Ryff, 2014). According to this approach, well-being is made up of six dimensions: (1) autonomy, or the ability to regulate our own behavior, resist social pressure, and follow our convictions, even if they go against the general opinion; (2) environmental mastery, or the ability to manage the context and daily activities; (3) personal growth, which includes a continuous process of developing our own potential, the ability to be open to new experiences and the feeling of improving over time; (4) positive relationships with others, defined as the establishment of close, trusting and meaningful bonds with others, as well as showing concern for the well-being of others, and the expression of empathy, affection, and intimacy; (5) purpose in life, or setting objectives and goals which give meaning and direction to our lives; and (6) selfacceptance, or the ability to have a positive attitude and feelings of satisfaction and acceptance of ourselves, including both our good and bad qualities. Each of these dimensions represents what it means to be healthy, well and fully functioning, and articulates the different challenges that people face in their effort to achieve positive functioning (Ryff and Singer, 2008). In other words, people try to view themselves positively although they are aware of their own limitations (self-acceptance), seek to maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships (positive relations with others), develop a sense of self-determination and personal authority in their interaction with the context (autonomy), make the most of their own talents and abilities to achieve their goals (personal growth), manage their environment to meet their needs (environmental mastery), and find meaning in the effort they make and the challenges they encounter in life (purpose in life) (Keyes et al., 2002).

According to previous studies analyzing the effects of hedonic and eudaimonic activities on well-being, eudaimonic seem to produce more long-term effects than hedonic (Steger et al., 2008; Huta and Ryan, 2010). Research suggests that hedonically motivated activity makes people feel good at the immediate or short-term time scale; that is, it may increase levels of pleasure or satisfaction perceived while it is being carried out, but it may not lead to positive affect or high life satisfaction in the long run (Huta and Ryan, 2010). On the contrary, eudaimonic activity may have more cumulative and enduring effects on well-being (Steger et al., 2008; Huta and Ryan, 2010). For example, cultivating trusting and healthy relationships can create a resource that increases people's quality of life (Gable et al., 2004). As people build resources such as feelings of mastery, competence or better relationships, they are more likely to perceive their life as satisfying and meaningful (Steger et al., 2008). In other words, eudaimonic activity is especially likely to build durable resources, leading to more fulfilled people with stable levels of well-being (Steger et al., 2008).

THE STUDY OF ADOLESCENT WELL-BEING

Previous research, mainly focused on the adult population, has shown that psychological well-being is a reliable predictor of health and long-term positive adjustment (Ryff, 2017). People with higher levels of well-being suffer fewer illnesses, have an increased life expectancy and engage in more healthy behavior (for a review, see Ryff, 2017). However, longitudinal studies have also shown that dimensions such as personal growth and purpose in life tend to decline as we get older (Clarke et al., 2000; Springer et al., 2011). Although research focused on adolescence is limited, a number of longitudinal studies have been found providing evidence about the evolution of well-being in this period. The World Health Organization (WHO), through the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) study, collects data every 4 years about children aged 11, 13, and 15 in over 40 North American and European countries, understanding well-being in terms of satisfaction with life (Inchley et al., 2016). As regards gender, the results of this research showed that well-being in adolescents decreased with age in both sexes, and that boys generally showed better levels of satisfaction with life than girls (Inchley et al., 2016). One of the conclusions of HBSC study stresses the importance of interpersonal relationships in adolescent well-being and states that peers and parents play a key role as protective assets in young people's lives. Along the same lines, the research carried out by Patalay and Fitzsimons (2018) in a sample of 9,553 adolescents aged 11 and 14, found well-being to be highly unstable, and suggested that girls were more likely to experience a decline in well-being over time. Well-being was measured in terms of satisfaction with different domains of life, including school, family, friends, schoolwork, appearance, and life as a whole (Patalay and Fitzsimons, 2018). Important predictors of these results were lower family income, a poorer relationship with parents, lower school connectedness, and greater cognitive ability. Booker et al. (2018) also found a decline in well-being over time, especially among girls. To measure well-being, authors used happiness with six domains of life (i.e., friends, family, appearance, school, schoolwork, and life as a whole) as a key variable and included a measure of emotional and behavioral problems (Booker et al., 2018). According to these authors, girls as they grow up tended increasingly to compare themselves socially with others and perceive that the others are better than them, which could lead to lower levels of well-being compared to boys (Booker et al., 2018). In contrast, Lerkkanen et al. (2018), examining patterns and dynamics of pattern change of 1,666 students' psychological well-being, found that the different profiles of well-being (e.g., high, average, low well-being profile) tended to improve over time, and that future expectations or aspirations were a critical variable. Although this study claims to analyze psychological well-being, it is necessary to clarify that it does not follow a eudaimonic approach. Well-being was operationalized to consist of school enjoyment, future educational aspirations, (absence of) school burnout, self-esteem, and (absence of) externalizing and internalizing problems. Meade and Dowswell (2016) also reported that the general well-being of adolescents, in terms of Health-Related Quality of life (HRQoL), usually remained relatively stable over time, although, again, gender differences were found, with worse predictions for girls. According to the authors, the change in personal standards used to self-assess quality of life accounts for these differences. The HRQoL construct represented the overall well-being of the participants, measured through five dimensions: physical well-being, psychological wellbeing, autonomy and parents' relations, social support and peers, and school environment. Focusing on psychological well-being, it was assessed using hedonic elements, such as positive emotions, satisfaction with life, and the absence of loneliness and sadness. Finally, from a sociodemographic point of view, Ottová-Jordan et al. (2015), analyzing data from HBSC study, found different tendencies depending on the country. For example, in countries such as Spain, Croatia or Greece, the cohorts showed a steady decrease in well-being (satisfaction with life); in Denmark, Finland or Norway, there was a linear increase, while in Austria, Canada or Scotland, there was a clear U-shaped trend (Ottová-Jordan et al., 2015). The authors attribute these results to circumstances such as concerns about the future, high expectations set by their context (family, school, and peers), school pressure, or country-specific characteristics (e.g., economic situation, unemployment rates, social insecurity), which can result in higher levels of perceived stress.

Despite this evidence, it can be observed that these studies mainly adopt a hedonic perspective. As far as we know, there are only a few cross-sectional studies which adopt a eudaimonic approach to the study of adolescent well-being. Fernandes et al. (2010) developed a validation of the Ryff's scales for Portuguese adolescents, achieving a new version with good adjustment indices. The age of the participants was between the ages of 10 and 18 years old, and their well-being levels were mediumhigh in all the dimensions in study 2; however, lower scores were obtained in study 1. In another work (Fernandes et al., 2011), researchers focused on the relationship between school satisfaction and psychological well-being of 698 adolescents between 12 and 18 years old, finding a positive correlation between both variables. Psychological well-being was measured using Ryff's scales. Well-being scores showed medium-high levels, with the highest corresponding to positive relationships with others and personal growth. Loera-Malvaez et al. (2008) also adapted Ryff's scales for Mexican adolescents, while Opree et al. (2018) did the same for children ages 8-12, finding medium scores in all dimensions. Ruini et al. (2009) tested the efficacy of a school program for the promotion of psychological wellbeing in adolescent with a mean age of 14.4 years. The results showed medium scores in all dimensions prior to intervention, finding an increase in personal growth in the follow-up. Finally, Vescovelli et al. (2014) described the psychological well-being of 150 adolescents aged 13-19, and its relationship to distress and prosocial behavior. Well-being was again measured with Ryff's scales, obtaining participants medium scores in all dimensions. No significant differences emerged according to gender and age did not show a significant effect as well.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it has been previously established that research regarding the judgements of children and adolescent about their life satisfaction has received an increasing amount of attention (Huebner, 2004), but that psychological well-being at these stages remains an unexplored field of research (Opree et al., 2018) which has gathered less empirical effort (Ryff, 2014). For these reasons, to obtain a rigorous scientific knowledge of how well-being operates during adolescent years, empirical research must include not only perceptions about global satisfaction with life or affective balance, but also the role of the quest for meaning, self-realization and the efforts young people make to thrive, flourish, and achieve optimal development (Ryff, 2014). To this end, this study focuses on four of the six dimensions of Ryff's psychological well-being model: self-acceptance, positive relations with others (renamed positive interpersonal relationships), autonomy, and personal growth (renamed life development) (see Viejo et al., 2018, for a review).

THE IMPORTANCE OF ROMANTIC RELATIONSHIPS FOR ADOLESCENT WELL-BEING

The establishment of mutually beneficial relationships between adolescents and their context is an important component for positive development and well-being during this period (Geldhof et al., 2013). Up to now, great efforts have been made to analyze how the relationships adolescents have with their school, family, neighborhood or their peers, in general, can contribute positively to their development (Benson and Faas, 2014), and it has been suggested that an optimal healthy development can be achieved if the strengths which adolescents possess can be matched by the resources existing in these contexts (Geldhof et al., 2013). However, another more specific social context has received little empirical attention: romantic relationships (Steinberg and Morris, 2001).

Romantic relationships are a key component and prevalent part of social development (Carver et al., 2003; Connolly and McIsaac, 2009). Fully embedded in the adolescents' context (Collins and Van Dulmen, 2006) are dyadic in nature and distinctive in character. Unlike other types of relationships, such as friendships, they are commonly marked by mutual expressions of affection, a unique intensity and generally involve powerful attraction and a sexual component between their protagonists (Collins, 2003; Collins et al., 2009; Furman and Collins, 2009). Previous studies have shown that adolescents have clear conceptions of the properties that distinguish romantic relationships from friendships (Connolly et al., 2004); in other words, whereas romantic relationships are conceived in terms of passion and commitment, friendships are characterized by affiliation (Connolly et al., 1999). Defined as "on-going voluntary interactions that are mutually acknowledged, rather than identified by only one member of a pair", the term "romantic relationships" refers to romantic status, and to the connection between two partners (Collins, 2003; Collins and Van Dulmen, 2006; Collins et al., 2009; Connolly and McIsaac, 2009).

In the change from early adolescence to late adolescence, romantic relationships play an increasingly important role (Furman, 2002) and provide an important context of support, companionship, and intimacy (Bouchey and Furman, 2003; Shulman et al., 2011), with romantic partners becoming one of the main emotional bonds (Collins and Van Dulmen, 2006; Collins et al., 2009; Connolly and McIsaac, 2009). Some studies have identified romantic relationships as contexts with a strong potential to promote positive adaptation and high levels of well-being (Collins and Van Dulmen, 2006; Furman et al., 2009; Kansky and Allen, 2018). Romantic involvement, the quality of the relationship or the positive sexually related experiences within a romantic relationship, all seem to promote lower rates of alienation and isolation, a better self-image, better future expectations, higher levels of self-esteem, and a greater level of commitment in later relationships (Ciairano et al., 2006; Viejo et al., 2015; Hensel et al., 2016). High levels of well-being are also associated with the ability to maintain beneficial interpersonal relationships, have a greater number of friends or take part in more social activities (Diener and Seligman, 2002). However, it is also necessary to admit that they can be a challenge (Larson et al., 1999; Davila, 2008), in the sense that they represent new contexts in which adolescents have no previous experience and for which they may lack the strategies needed to manage them successfully. Research suggests that the influence of romantic relationships on well-being depends largely on the level of competence and skills which these adolescents already possess (Davila et al., 2017), as well as on the way the learning process evolves; in other words, how adolescents response to a task improves each time it is repeated (Miller and Geraci, 2011).

Given this evidence, it seems certain that empirical interest in adolescent romantic relationships has increased in the last decade, as stated previously by some authors (e.g., Furman and Collins, 2009). Nevertheless, there are two main difficulties when the research goal is to understand their association to adolescent well-being: on the one hand, most of the research about this topic has been addressed in adult population (e.g., Kamp Dush and Amato, 2005; Demir, 2010). On the other hand, existing research focused on adolescence has been mainly guided by a deficit perspective, linking romantic relationships to a whole range of negative outcomes, such as emotional disorders, substance use, poor school performance or internalizing, and externalizing behaviors (e.g., Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2001; Ackard and Neumark-Sztainer, 2002; Callahan et al., 2003; Cui et al., 2012; Viejo et al., 2015). Although there has been an increase in the amount of studies analyzing well-being during adolescence and its association with romantic relationships, it is not possible to state unequivocally that they adopt the framework provided by positive psychology regarding to the empirical approach to well-being. Studies analyzing subjective wellbeing seem to be aligned with positive psychology postulates, since it can be observed the use of satisfaction with life or positive and negative affect as measurement constructs (e.g., Moksnes and Haugan, 2015; Kansky et al., 2016). However, research focusing on psychological well-being has frequently used symptoms of depression and anxiety as indicators of well-being (e.g., Callahan et al., 2003; Bauermeister et al., 2010; Baams et al., 2014; Miller, 2014). These data suggest that accurate scientific knowledge about the role of romantic relationships in adolescent well-being is still sparse and reveal the need for a more balanced approach to the study of this developmental task, given its potential to influence well-being of boys and girls (Kansky and Allen, 2018). At the same time, bring to light the need to make rigorous empirical efforts in the study of wellbeing, especially psychological well-being, usually understood as the absence of clinical symptoms.

THE PRESENT STUDY

Given the lack of empirical research on adolescent well-being, especially in relation to longitudinal data, the first aim of this work was to analyze adolescents' level of psychological wellbeing and its stability over time. In addition, since there are no studies, as far as we know, that analyze the relationship between romantic relationships and well-being including an eudaimonic approach, the second aim of this study was to analyze the association between romantic relationship status and adolescents' psychological well-being. Based on the literature presented in previous sections, two hypotheses were proposed:

Hypothesis 1: Participants will show moderate levels of psychological well-being at time 1, with no significant gender differences. At time 2, scores for all dimensions will decrease, and participants will show gender differences.

Hypothesis 2: Romantic relationships will significantly predict adolescent psychological well-being, showing a positive association with self-acceptance, positive interpersonal relationships and life development dimensions, and negative with autonomy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

At wave 1, the sample consisted of 747 adolescents (50.5% girls, 49.5% boys), attending both public and private schools in the Autonomous Community of Andalusia (Spain), whose age ranged from 13 to 17 years old (mean age = 14.55; SD = 0.84) ($N_{wave 2}$ = 743; age range 13–18 years; mean age = 15.12; SD = 0.87).

The schools which took part were selected using random probabilistic sampling, stratified by conglomerates, single-stage and with proportional affixation (Cea D'Ancona, 2004). The strata established were the geographical area (Eastern or Western Andalusia), the school ownership (private or public), and the inhabitants (<10,000 inhabitants, 10,001-100,000 and >100,000). To measure the number of schools needed, the total sample obtained was divided by the formula proposed by Cea D'Ancona (2004), between the average number of students per group given in the statistics provided by the Andalusian Government's Ministry of Education, choosing only one class per course and taking into account the fact that towns with under 3,000 inhabitants only had one class per academic course. The final total was 28 schools, with an assumed sampling error of 2.5% and an additional 15% to compensate for any data losses. Finally, the schools were randomly selected.

Measurements

Psychological Well-Being

Psychological well-being was measured through the Brief Scale of Psychological Well-Being for Adolescents (BSPWB-A) (Viejo et al., 2018). This instrument consists of and adaptation for adolescents of the psychological well-being scales developed by Ryff (2014), validated in Spanish. The scale contains 20 items evaluated on a Likert scale of six points (1 = completely disagree to 6 = completely agree), which measures the degree

of agreement with different questions relating to four dimensions: self-acceptance (e.g., *In general, I feel confident and positive about myself*) ($\alpha_{wave 1} = 0.85$; $\alpha_{wave 2} = 0.89$); positive interpersonal relationships ($\alpha_{wave 1} = 0.68$; $\alpha_{wave 2} = 0.76$); autonomy (e.g., *I often change my mind about decisions if my friends or family disagree*) ($\alpha_{wave 1} = 0.79$; $\alpha_{wave 2} = 0.80$); and life development (e.g., *I think everything we experience is an opportunity to grow and to become a better person*) ($\alpha_{wave 1} = 0.79$; $\alpha_{wave 2} = 0.82$). It is required to highlight that *positive interpersonal relationships* dimension does not perform any measure related to romantic relationships. It is focused in friendships and relationships in general (e.g., *I know that I can trust my friends, and they know that they can trust me; I do not have many people who want to listen when I need to talk*).

Romantic Relationship Status

Participants' romantic relationship status was measured using one item from an adapted version of the Dating Questionnaire developed by Connolly et al. (2004). This instrument has been previously used with Spanish adolescents (Ortega et al., 2008; Sánchez et al., 2008; Viejo et al., 2015). Adolescents were asked to indicate their romantic relationship status (current romantic relationship; past romantic relationship, but not current; never had a romantic relationship) by specifying which of the responses best described their current status (i.e., In this moment I have a partner; Currently I do not have a partner, but I have had a partner in the last 2 months; Currently I am not dating with anyone, but I have had a partner more than 2 months ago; I have never been dating with anyone).

Procedure

Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the Comité de Bioética y Bioseguridad de la Universidad de Córdoba (Bioethics and Biosafety Committee of the University of Cordoba) and developed in accordance with the considerations of the Declaration of Helsinki and the Spanish Society of Psychology. The study was approved by the school boards, and the consent obtained from the parents of the participants was both written and informed. Participants were visited and the anonymous, confidential and voluntary nature and the objective of the study were explained before the survey was taken. The data were collected in two waves, with the first in October 2015 and the second in May 2016. The questionnaire was conducted during school hours and filled in individually by each participant. The average time required to complete the questionnaires was approximately 20 min. For both waves, the data collection process was conducted by specialized personnel from outside the schools, who followed a strict procedure in the administration, processing, and use of the collected data.

Data Analysis

Descriptive analysis and comparison of means were carried out using SPSS 20.0 statistical software. Regarding the first

research aim, these analyses took into account the participants' gender, and Student's *t*-test for related samples was used, as this test is robust in cases of non-compliance with normality (Schmider et al., 2010). In relation to the second aim, comparisons of means were performed according to romantic relationship status, therefore Chi-Square test was applied.

Due to the characteristics of the questionnaires, some of them were not fully completed. Because missing data or attrition may lead to parameter bias (Nicholson et al., 2015), it is necessary to know why these data are missing. A distinction is made between three general processes that may cause missing data: missing completely at random (MCAR), missing at random (MAR), and missing not at random (MNAR) (Rubin, 1976; Little and Rubin, 1989; Little, 1992). According to Nicholson et al. (2015), Little's MCAR test distinguishes whether missing observations are MCAR or dependent on other variables (MAR), providing a global test statistic by simultaneously testing for mean differences across all variables. This test uses a chi-squared statistic to summarize the standardized mean difference between each variable's subgroup means and the overall mean. A significant chi-squared would suggest a significant deviation in mean differences on one or more variables between subgroups, and consequently a rejection of the null hypothesis that the data are MCAR (Nicholson et al., 2015).

In order to analyze the association between romantic relationship status and psychological well-being, the second aim was addressed by carrying out an analysis of Structural Equation Models (SEM) using the EQS 6.2 software. Here, following the recommendations of Springer and Hauser (2006), the items were identified as categorical, in order to estimate the model more accurately. Taking into account the nature of the variables and the absence of normality, the Least Squares (LS) estimation method with robust correction was used (Bryant and Satorra, 2012). In addition, the Lagrange Multiplier Test (LM Test) was performed to evaluate the statistical feasibility of specifying restrictions in the model (Byrne, 2006). One of the applications of this test is to assess the appropriateness of establishing error covariances, previously freely estimated, to identify which parameters would lead to a significantly betterfitting model (Byrne, 2006). To do that, if any of the univariate tests yield statistically significant results, LM test proceeds with a multivariate test of fixed parameters. As such, it uses a forward stepwise procedure that selects, through a series of incremental univariate tests, the next parameter to be added to the multivariate test, that is, the next fixed parameter that provides the largest increase in the multivariate χ^2 statistic (see Bentler, 2006 for a review). To evaluate the model, the Satorra-Bentler parameter values were used, corrected by a robust covariance matrix, since these have been proven to provide the best adjustment indices (Bentler, 2006). In addition to the Satorra-Bentler Chi-square and its probability value (p), other fit indices used were the CFI (Comparative Fix Index), NFI (Normality Fix Index), NNFI (Non-Normality Fix Index) $(\geq 0.90 \text{ suitable}, \geq 0.95 \text{ optimum})$, and RMSEA (Root Mean Square Error of Approximation) (≤ 0.08 adequate, ≤ 0.05 optimal) (Hu and Bentler, 1999).

RESULTS

Attrition Analyses

At wave 1, Little's MCAR test showed a non-significant chi-squared [$\chi^2 = 233$ (1), p = 0.63]. Regarding wave 2, similar results were obtained [$\chi^2 = 859$ (3), p = 0.83]. These results confirm completely at random nature of the missing data and it was therefore decided not to exclude them from the analyses.

Psychological Well-Being During Adolescence: A Longitudinal Analysis

The first aim of this work was to analyze the level of psychological well-being during adolescence and its stability over time. As regards the overall scores, the correlations of paired samples reflected a positive association between both waves for all the dimensions, with moderate values ranging from 0.39 (positive interpersonal relationships) to 0.57 (selfacceptance) (Table 1). In all dimensions, the scores obtained represented medium-high levels of psychological well-being, given that they were greater than four points on a scale of 1-6. In both wave 1 and 2, the highest values corresponded to life development, and the lowest to autonomy (Table 2); the only significant differences were found in positive interpersonal relationships, which increased in time 2 [t (670) = -2.26, p = 0.024]. As regards the participants' gender, the results showed the same tendency. The correlations found between both times showed a moderate, positive relationship between all the dimensions, with values ranging from 0.38 (positive interpersonal relationships in girls) to 0.60 (self-acceptance in girls) (Table 1). Both boys and girls showed higher levels of positive interpersonal relationships, autonomy and life development in wave 2, as well as lower levels of self-acceptance. Again, the results indicated mediumhigh values of well-being in all dimensions; in both wave 1 and 2, boys and girls had the lowest scores in autonomy, and the highest scores in self-acceptance (boys) and in life development (girls) (Table 2). The t-test for related samples showed that there were no significant differences between measurements in the first and second waves in boys, and so the scores were stable over time. In girls, significant differences were only found with respect to positive interpersonal relationships [t (344) = -1.99], p = 0.048].

	-	elf- ptance	interp	sitive ersonal onships	Auto	nomy	-	.ife opment
Wave 1- Wave 2	r	sig	r	sig	r	sig	r	sig

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.41

0.31

0.51

TABLE 1 Psychological well-being correlations for paired samples

0.39

0.41

0.38

Overall

Boys

Girls

0.57

0.52

0.60

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.40

0.39

0.42

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

The Association Between Romantic Relationships and Psychological Well-Being in Adolescence

The secondary aim of this work was to analyze the association between romantic relationships and the psychological well-being of adolescents. To do this, the data corresponding to wave 1 were used. Romantic relationship status was recoded and identified by the labels *current romantic relationship, past romantic relationship*, and *never romantic relationship*. The results showed that 27% of the participants had a current romantic relationship, 36.9% had a relationship in the past, but did not have it in the present, and 30.9% had never had a romantic relationship (missing cases = 5.1%). Descriptive statistics of psychological well-being according to romantic status can be observed in **Table 3**. The results of Chi-Square test showed no significant differences between the means of psychological well-being dimensions in relation to participants' romantic relationship status.

Regarding to SEM analyses, the results obtained enabled us to establish a model in which romantic relationship status was found to be a reliable predictor of adolescent psychological well-being. Relationships between psychological well-being dimensions were established starting from a saturated model, in which correlation indices between all the dimensions were examined. Thereafter, introducing the predictor variable (romantic relationship status), several models were tested. Finally, we obtained a model in which direct associations between life development and self-acceptance, self-acceptance and positive interpersonal relationships, and positive interpersonal relationships and autonomy were the only ones that led to an adjusted model. Additionally, the Lagrange Multiplier Test (LM Test) was performed to explore the restrictions which could improve the model. Following the results provided for the stepwise procedure of this test and focusing on univariate increment statistics, that is, χ^2 values that stood apart from the rest and probabilities <0.05, eight covariances were finally established between the measurement errors of the items 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, and 22.

A Mardia coefficient value of 121,9652 indicated that the data did not comply with the assumption of multivariate normality. The final model showed good adjustment indices, χ^2 S-B = 757.0835; df = 174; p < 0.001; NFI = 0.941; NNFI = 0.951; CFI = 0.959; RMSEA = 0.059 [90% CI (0.053, 0.064)] (Figure 1). The results showed that there was a direct relationship between romantic relationship status and the four measurements of well-being assessed. A positive association with positive interpersonal relationships ($\beta = 0.34$; p < 0.05) and life development ($\beta = 0.50$; p < 0.05) was found and a negative one with self-acceptance ($\beta = -0.47$; p < 0.05) and autonomy ($\beta = -0.47$; p < 0.05). Likewise, it was found that life development was directly and positively related to selfacceptance ($\beta = 0.77$; p < 0.05), self-acceptance to positive interpersonal relationships ($\beta = 0.64$; p < 0.05), and positive interpersonal relationships to autonomy ($\beta = 0.74$; p < 0.05). These data showed that the dimensions where romantic relationship status had a greater impact were self-acceptance, autonomy, and life development, while its influence on positive interpersonal relationships was significant, but weaker. According to these results, adolescents who had a current or past romantic relationship were more likely to experience lower levels of autonomy and self-acceptance, but higher levels of life development and positive interpersonal relationships, compared to those who had never had a romantic relationship. In addition, higher levels of life development were associated with greater self-acceptance, higher levels of self-acceptance with better interpersonal relationships, and better interpersonal relationships with greater autonomy. As for the magnitude of the relationships

	Self-acceptance	Positive interpersonal relationships	Autonomy	Life development
Wave 1				
Overall ($n = 747$)	4.77 (0.89)	4.69 (0.96)	4.03 (1.07)	4.87 (0.95)
Boys (n = 367)	4.90 (0.83)	4.67 (0.93)	4.03 (1.07)	4.76 (0.99)
Girls (n = 375)	4.64 (0.94)	4.71 (0.99)	4.03 (1.08)	4.97 (0.89)
Wave 2				
Overall $(n = 747)$	4.73 (0.99)	4.79 (1.01)*	4.08 (1.09)	4.88 (0.96)
Boys (n = 367)	4.85 (0.95)	4.74 (1.01)	4.10 (1.07)	4.84 (0.99)
Girls ($n = 375$)	4.61 (1.03)	4.83 (1.00)*	4.07 (1.12)	4.92 (0.92)

*p < 0.05; missing data ranged from 4.82% (n = 36) to 5.62% (n = 42) across all variables.

TABLE 3 | Means (SD) of psychological well-being by romantic relationship status.

	Self-acceptance	Positive interpersonal relationships	Autonomy	Life development
Current romantic relationship	4.79 (0.89)	4.70 (0.96)	3.92 (1.12)	4.90 (1.09)
Past romantic relationship	4.72 (0.94)	4.77 (0.94)	3.96 (1.14)	4.93 (0.85)
Never romantic relationship	4.82 (0.67)	4.60 (0.98)	4.16 (0.94)	4.83 (0.83)

Missing data = 38 (5.1%).


between the variables, the explained variance (R^2) for each of these relationships was from 25 to 57% (**Figure 1**).

DISCUSSION

Despite the evidence that the majority of adolescents overcome the challenges of this vital period without experiencing major social, emotional or behavioral difficulties (Steinberg and Morris, 2001), there are significantly fewer studies on adolescent wellbeing than those performed in the adult population (Huebner et al., 2009). Likewise, longitudinal studies regarding adolescent well-being adopt mainly a hedonic perspective, analyzing subjective well-being mostly in terms of satisfaction with life or affect balance (e.g., Inchley et al., 2016; Meade and Dowswell, 2016; Lerkkanen et al., 2018; Patalay and Fitzsimons, 2018), while only a few cross-sectional studies have been found adopting a eudaimonic approach (e.g., Loera-Malvaez et al., 2008; Ruini et al., 2009; Fernandes et al., 2010, 2011; Vescovelli et al., 2014; Opree et al., 2018). For these reasons, the first objective of this work was to analyze the level of psychological well-being during adolescence and its stability over time.

Psychological Well-Being During Adolescence and Its Stability Over Time

The results obtained showed medium-high general levels in the four categories measured: *self-acceptance, positive interpersonal relationships, autonomy, and life development* (Viejo et al., 2018). These values remained stable, with the exception of positive interpersonal relationships, whose scores increased in wave 2. The adolescents who took part in the study maintained a positive perception of themselves over time, considered themselves capable of regulating their own behavior and felt that they were developing their potential. As time progressed, they considered themselves more capable of establishing close, trusting and meaningful relationships with other people, characterized by the expression of empathy, affection, and intimacy. The stability we found in psychological well-being did not allow us to support Hypothesis 1, according to which participants' scores of well-being would decrease in time 2. These results may be related to studies claiming that eudaimonic activities produce longer-lasting effects on well-being, and that eudaimonic well-being is more stable and durable than hedonic well-being (Steger et al., 2008; Huta and Ryan, 2010). Nonetheless, this should be interpreted with caution, as no comparisons have been made in this study between the two types of wellbeing. On the other hand, results obtained go against the results of previous research in the adult population, which indicates that the levels of personal growth (termed life development in this study) decrease during this stage (Clarke et al., 2000; Springer et al., 2011). This is surprising, because although no significant differences were found between the two waves, the highest levels of psychological well-being found in this study corresponded to this dimension (life development) - with the exception of the boys in wave 1, who scored more high in self-acceptance, in both wave 1 and 2. Longitudinal studies with adolescent samples also provide contradictory results to those found in this research. The HBSC study (Inchley et al., 2016) and Patalay and Fitzsimons (2018) reported poor stability for well-being, which tended to decrease over time, while other authors found improvements or stable scores for well-being as time progressed (Meade and Dowswell, 2016; Lerkkanen et al., 2018). These results, however, must be taken with caution, since they focus mainly on hedonic variables (e.g., satisfaction with life). Despite the fact that we have not found longitudinal research which measures eudaimonic wellbeing in the same way, some cross-sectional studies have used Ryff's psychological well-being scales (2014). Again, the results obtained are inconsistent compared to previous findings. Portuguese adolescents, for instance, showed both lower (Fernandes et al., 2010, study 1) and similar (Fernandes et al., 2010, study 2; Fernandes et al., 2011) levels of psychological well-being, while Dutch adolescents (Opree et al., 2018) and Italians (Ruini et al., 2009; Vescovelli et al., 2014) produced lower scores. This could be related to the data obtained by Ottová-Jordan et al. (2015), who found differences between the different countries analyzed.

As regards the participants' gender, both boys and girls showed medium-high levels of well-being in all the categories evaluated; however, the boys felt more self-satisfaction than the girls, while the latter showed a greater feeling of improvement and development of their self-potential, in indicators which remained stable. As time progressed, the girls reported higher levels of positive interpersonal relationships. This result partially supports Hypothesis 1 formulations that stated the absence of gender differences at time 1 but not in the follow-up. Previous cross-sectional studies using similar measurements did not find any significant differences according to the participants' gender (Vescovelli et al., 2014), while longitudinal studies which analyzed well-being in terms of satisfaction with different areas of life (e.g., friends, family, appearance, school, school work, and life as a whole) found contradictory results, indicating that girls showed a greater tendency to lose well-being compared to

boys (Inchley et al., 2016; Meade and Dowswell, 2016; Booker et al., 2018; Patalay and Fitzsimons, 2018). Research in adult samples showed similar results to those found in this work, with women scoring higher than men in positive relationships with others and in life development (originally termed "personal growth" by Ryff) (Keyes et al., 2002; Lindfors et al., 2006; Ryff and Singer, 2008).

All together, these results suggest, in line with other studies, that well-being during adolescence has its own idiosyncrasy (Casas, 2010), which should be studied from approaches focused on its evolution and specific characteristics. In this regard, it is necessary to highlight as a key aspect the type of measurement used to evaluate it. The contradictory results produced by research could point to the need to develop a theoretical framework in which the empirical data would enable us to understand adolescent well-being as a whole. In addition, the differences shown in the studies in different countries may indicate the need to take cultural factors into consideration.

Psychological Well-Being and Romantic Relationships During Adolescence

According to the specialized literature, well-being during adolescence is strongly influenced by the contexts in which adolescents develop (Geldhof et al., 2013; Inchley et al., 2016), and there is currently a sufficient body of scientific evidence on the impact of peers, parents, the neighborhood or the school on positive development (Benson and Faas, 2014). However, romantic relationships, despite being a particularly relevant context for adolescent well-being (Collins and Van Dulmen, 2006), have received little empirical attention (Steinberg and Morris, 2001; Collins, 2003). The secondary aim of this work therefore focused on analyzing the impact of these relationships on adolescent psychological well-being.

The results obtained show that romantic relationship status is a strong predictor of the four dimensions of psychological well-being measured. Participants with current or past romantic relationships showed better levels of positive interpersonal relationships and life development, while those who had never had a romantic relationship had higher levels of selfacceptance and autonomy. These results partially support Hypothesis 2, according to which romantic relationships will significantly predict adolescent psychological well-being, showing a positive association with self-acceptance, positive interpersonal relationships and life development dimensions, and negative with autonomy. The challenging nature of romantic relationships could account for the negative association found between romantic relationships and selfacceptance and autonomy dimensions. Following the postulates of the stress and coping model (Larson et al., 1999), adolescents may not have sufficient resources or coping strategies to deal with the demands of these new contexts, and since they do not feel capable of responding effectively, this could increase the risk of negative consequences (Davila, 2008), such as a more negative image of themselves and their own abilities. Some authors have suggested that novice learners can learn to develop awareness of their own metacognitive deficit (Miller and Geraci, 2011), in which the effect of the learning curve is especially important (i.e., the improvement in task response effectiveness as it is repeated). It is obvious that a novice clearly takes time to adjust to a new task and requires a settling-in time until the adjusted response is obtained (Mayer, 2011). As adolescents become involved in these new social exchanges and become aware of the skills, abilities, and competencies required, they may feel insecure and underestimate their ability to cope with them, which may lead to an achievement plateau which sows an element of doubt in their minds about their own competence. It is reasonable, therefore, to deduce that romantic relationships have differential effects on the psychological well-being of adolescents, since the learning involved is usually self-taught and the immediate context is rarely involved. This could be linked to the results of previous research, which has found associations between romantic relationships and physical and mental problems (Davila et al., 2016). Other studies have associated romantic relationships to another type of negative consequences, such as violence within the couple, substance use, poor school performance or internalizing and externalizing behaviors (e.g., Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2001; Ackard and Neumark-Sztainer, 2002; Callahan et al., 2003; Cui et al., 2012; Viejo et al., 2015). However, in the specific filed of well-being, it is important to emphasize that no studies has been found analyzing the influence of romantic relationships in adolescent well-being following a eudaimonic approach. Studies focused on psychological well-being frequently understand it as the absence of depression and anxiety symptoms (e.g., Callahan et al., 2003; Bauermeister et al., 2010; Baams et al., 2014; Miller, 2014) and associate adolescent romantic relationships mainly with high levels of them (Callahan et al., 2003; Miller, 2014). These results are contradictory to the findings of this work, probably due to the measures used and the different approaches to the study of well-being. The large disparity between the conceptualization of psychological well-being as a multidimensional construct focused on what means to be healthy, well and fully functioning (Ryff and Singer, 2008), and the opposite one, which understand it mostly in terms of absence of illness or mental disorders, makes the task of drawing conclusions particularly difficult.

Besides this, the data obtained could point to a double reading of the impact of romantic relationships on adolescent well-being. Thus, the higher rates of life development and positive interpersonal relationships in the participants with romantic relationships could lead us to the idea that their challenging nature can equally lead to positive outcomes. As well as to being a developmental challenge, they can also act as a stimulating context in which to acquire skills for coping and managing interpersonal relationships. Therefore, as adolescents become involved in these types of relationships, they may eventually feel that they are improving and developing their potential and increasing their capacity to maintain close, trusting relationships based on empathy. These findings are consistent with those from other research, which has shown that romantic relationships provide a context of great intimacy, support, and importance for their protagonists (Demir, 2010; Shulman et al., 2011) and are a source of emotional connection and social integration (Meirer and Allen, 2008). It is also important to stress the links found between autonomy, romantic relationships, and positive interpersonal relationships. While romantic relationships were negatively related to autonomy, positive interpersonal relationships had a positive link; in other words, maintaining satisfactory relationships with peers had positive effects on the adolescents' ability to feel independent and follow their own convictions, while romantic relationships had the opposite effect. These results could point to the distinctive nature of romantic relationships in comparison to other types of relationships, such as friendship (Collins, 2003; Collins et al., 2009). They seem to have a specific influence on adolescent well-being, fact that suggests the need to understand them as specific phenomena with their own characteristics.

Altogether, this calls for a need to take actions to promote healthy relationships; in other words, a need for training young people to manage and acquire the skills they need to maintain satisfactory relationships (Davila et al., 2017). Maintaining romantic relationships requires specific abilities which differ from those learned and used in other types of interpersonal relationships (Shulman et al., 2011). From this point of view adolescence, a stage in which erotic-sentimental interest begins and the first romantic relationships take place can be seen as the best period to start taking this kind of steps (Shulman et al., 2011).

Limitations and Future Directions

One limitation of this work is that, despite of being a longitudinal study, the follow-up period was relatively brief. On the other hand, the consideration of participants' romantic status through a cross-sectional design, calls for further longitudinal studies taking into account the impact of specific characteristics of romantic experience on adolescent well-being, such as the duration of the relationships, the content of the interactions or the romantic status changes. Therefore, cross-lagged path analyses would be very useful to compare the prospective relationships between romantic relationships and well-being. Concerning the possible gender and age moderation in the association between romantic relationships and adolescent well-being, in future studies, it would be appropriate to carry out multigroup analyses that help to clarify this issue. In addition, it is also suitable to control other variables, such as relationships with parents and peers. Besides that, the use of self-reports on aspects related to well-being could be affected by a positivist bias, that is, the tendency to overestimate the real values of well-being (Cummins, 1998). Future studies in populations outside Spain could also further our understanding of adolescent well-being and help us to draw more general conclusions about how it works and about its characteristics. Finally, without denying the significance of studying the implications of romantic relationships for adolescents' mental illness, the confusing scenario found with respect to psychological well-being conceptualization suggests the need to continue making empirical efforts to consolidate a shared language in well-being arena, as well as to strengthen the notion that mental health is not the mere albescence of mental illness (Seligman, 2008).

CONCLUSIONS

The reduced amount of studies in comparison with adulthood, in both romantic relationships and eudaimonic well-being, suggests that further research is required to help shed light on the functioning, characteristics, and associations of these two phenomena during adolescence. This study provides empirical support for the view of adolescence as a period with good levels of well-being, as well as providing evidence of its stability. Furthermore, it reinforces the consideration of romantic relationships as essential contexts for adolescent well-being (Collins and Van Dulmen, 2006; Connolly and McIsaac, 2009). In this sense, it is important to emphasize that the practical implications of research on romantic relationships in adolescence and well-being must take into account the fundamental importance of the contexts in which adolescents develop. A greater involvement of parents, teachers, clinician, and adults in general would be essential to achieve optimal results. Romantic relationships have an effect on the well-being of adolescents, and the issue of how we, as members of the adult world, can help ensure that this effect is positive should not be avoided (Collins, 2003). Most parents, teachers, and clinicians will probably have to deal on a daily basis with issues related to romantic relationships of their children, students or patients and may feel overwhelmed or constrained in their capacity to provide guidance (Florsheim, 2003). In this regard, it is crucial that adults acquire knowledge about how to help adolescents to maintain healthy romantic relationships (Florsheim, 2003), given their significant influence on adolescent well-being.

Particularly in relation to well-being, a change of mindset about adolescence is also considered necessary. It is essential that the potentialities of adolescents, their positive qualities, their capacity to achieve a successful adjustment, and feel high levels of well-being be taken into account in the different areas with the potential to promote a positive development during these years: family, school, community, clinical practice, and scientific research. Only under this positive vision of adolescence, it will be possible to design and develop research and intervention programs encouraging knowledge and involvement of adults in adolescent romantic context, promoting

REFERENCES

- Ackard, D. M., and Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2002). Date violence and date rape among adolescents: associations with disordered eating behaviors and psychological health. *Child Abuse Negl.* 26, 455–473. doi: 10.1016/ S0145-2134(02)00322-8
- Baams, L., Bos, H. M. W., and Jonas, K. J. (2014). How a romantic relationship can protect same-sex attracted youth and young adults from the impact of expected rejection. J. Adolesc. 37, 1293–1302. doi: 10.1016/j. adolescence.2014.09.006
- Bauermeister, J. A., Johns, M. M., Sandfort, T. G. M., Eisenberg, A., Grossman, A. H., and D'Augelli, A. R. (2010). Relationship trajectories and psychological wellbeing among sexual minority youth. *J. Youth Adolesc.* 39, 1148–1163. doi: 10.1007/s10964-010-9557-y
- Benson, M. J., and Faas, C. (2014). Assessing adolescent contexts: measures of families, peers, schools and neighborhoods. *Int. J. Child Adolesc. Health* 7, 57–82.

well-being of boys and girls and teaching them about how to successfully manage their relationships, thus creating social and empirical means to promote a positive adjustment in these years leading to adulthood.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Declaration of Helsinki and the Spanish Society of Psychology. The protocol was approved by the Comité de Bioética y Bioseguridad de la Universidad de Córdoba (Bioethics and Biosafety Committee of the University of Cordoba). The study was approved by the school boards, and the consent obtained from the parents of the participants was both written and informed.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This research was funded by Plan Nacional, España, into the frame of the national project "Competencia Socio-Moral y Ecología del Grupo de Iguales en la Violencia entre Escolares: un Estudio Longitudinal y Transaccional" [PSI2016-74871-R].

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Eva Romera for the project management and all the participants involved in this research.

- Bentler, P. M. (2006). EQS 6 structural equations program manual. Encino, CA, USA: Multivariate Software Inc. ISBN 1-885898-03-7.
- Booker, C. L., Kelly, Y. J., and Sacker, A. (2018). Gender differences in the associations between age trends of social media interaction and well-being among 10-15 year olds in the UK. *BMC Public Health* 18, 1–12. doi: 10.1186/ s12889-018-5220-4
- Bouchey, H., and Furman, W. (2003). "Dating and romantic experiences in adolescence" in *The Blackwell handbook of adolescence*. eds. G. R. Adams and M. D. Berzonsky (Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishers), 313–329.
- Bryant, F. B., and Satorra, A. (2012). Principles and practice of scaled difference Chi-Square testing. *Struct. Equ. Modeling* 19, 372–398. doi: 10.1080/10705 511.2012.687671
- Byrne, B. (2006). Structural equation modeling with EQS. Basic concepts, applications, and programming. New York: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Callahan, M. R., Tolman, R. M., and Saunders, D. G. (2003). Adolescent dating violence victimization and psychological well-being. J. Adolesc. Res. 18, 664–681. doi: 10.1177/0743558403254784

- Carver, K., Joyner, K., and Udry, R. (2003). "National estimates of adolescent romantic relationships" in Adolescent romantic relations and sexual behavior: Theory, research, and practical implications. ed. P. Florsheim (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers), 23–56.
- Casas, F. (2010). El bienestar personal: Su investigación en la infancia y la adolescencia. *Encuentros En Psicol. Soc.* 5, 85–101.
- Cea D'Ancona, M. A. (2004). Análisis multivariable. Teoría y práctica en la investigación social. Síntesis: Madrid.
- Ciairano, S., Bonino, S., Kliewer, W., Miceli, R., and Jackson, S. (2006). Dating, sexual activity, and well-being in italian adolescents. J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol. 35, 275–282. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp3502
- Clarke, P. J., Marshall, V. W., Ryff, C. D., and Rosenthal, C. J. (2000). Well-being in Canadian seniors: findings from the Canadian study of health and aging. *Can. J. Aging* 19, 139–159. doi: 10.1017/S0714980800013982
- Collins, W. A. (2003). More than myth: the developmental significance of romantic relationships during adolescence. J. Res. Adolesc. 13, 1–24. doi: 10.1111/1532-7795.1301001
- Collins, W. A., and Van Dulmen, M. (2006). "The course of true love(s). Origins and pathways in the development of romantic relationships" in *Romance and sex in adolescence and emerging adulthood: Risks and opportunities.* eds. A. C. Crouter and A. Booth (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers), 63–86.
- Collins, W. A., Welsh, D., and Furman, W. (2009). Adolescent romantic relationships. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 60, 631–652. doi: 10.1146/annurev. psych.60.110707.163459
- Connolly, J., Craig, W., Goldberg, A., and Pepler, D. (1999). Conceptions of cross-sex friendships and romantic relationships in early adolescence. J. Youth Adolesc. 28, 481–494. doi: 10.1023/A:1021669024820
- Connolly, J., Craig, W., Goldberg, A., and Pepler, D. (2004). Mixed-gender groups, dating, and romantic relationships in early adolescence. J. Res. Adolesc. 14, 185–207. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2004.01402003.x
- Connolly, J. A., and McIsaac, C. (2009). "Romantic relationships in adolescence" in *Handbook of adolescent psychology*. eds. R. M. Lerner and L. Steinberg (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons), 104–151.
- Cui, M., Ueno, K., Fincham, F. D., Donnellan, M. B., and Wickrama, K. A. S. (2012). The association between romantic relationships and delinquency in adolescence and young adulthood. *Pers. Relat.* 19, 354–366. doi: 10.1111/j. 1475-6811.2011.01366.x
- Cummins, R. (1998). The second approximation to an international standard for life satisfaction. Soc. Indic. Res. 43, 307–334. doi: 10.1023/A:1006831107052
- Davila, J. (2008). Depressive symptoms and adolescent romance: theory, research, and implications. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 2, 26–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2008.00037.x
- Davila, J., Capaldi, D., and La Greca, A. (2016). "Adolescent/young adult romantic relationships and psychopathology" in *Developmental Psycholopathology*. 3rd Edn. ed. D. Cicchetti (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons), 631–664.
- Davila, J., Mattanah, J., Bhatia, V., Latack, J. A., Feinstein, B. A., Eaton, N. R., et al. (2017). Romantic competence, healthy relationship functioning, and well-being in emerging adults. *Pers. Relat.* 24, 162–184. doi: 10.1111/pere.12175
- Deci, E., and Ryan, R. (2008). Hedonia, eudaimonia, and well-being: an introduction. J. Happiness Stud. 9, 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9018-1
- Demir, M. (2010). Close relationships and happiness among emerging adults. J. Happiness Stud. 11, 293–313. doi: 10.1007/s10902-009-9141-x
- Diener, E., and Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). Very happy people. *Psychol. Sci.* 13, 81–84. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.00415
- Dvorsky, M. R., Kofler, M. J., Burns, G. L., Luebbe, A. M., Garner, A. A., Jarrett, M. A., et al. (2018). Factor structure and criterion validity of the five Cs model of positive youth development in a multi-university sample of college students. J. Youth Adolesc. 48, 537–553. doi: 10.1007/ s10964-018-0938-y
- Fernandes, H. M., Vasconcelos-Raposo, J., Bertelli, R., and Almeida, L. (2011). Satisfação escolar e bem-estar psicológico em adolescentes portugueses. *Rev. Lusófona Educ.* 18, 155–172. Available at: http://www.scielo.mec.pt/pdf/rle/ n18/n18a11.pdf
- Fernandes, H. M., Vasconcelos-Raposo, J., and Teixeira, C. M. (2010). Preliminary analysis of the psychometric properties of Ryff's scales of psychological well-being in Portuguese adolescents. *Span. J. Psychol.* 13, 1032–1043. doi: 10.1017/S1138741600002675

- Florsheim, P. (2003). "Adolescent romantic and sexual behavior: what we know and where we go from here" in *Adolescent romantic relationships and sexual behavior. Theroy, research and implications.* ed. P. Florsheim (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers), 371–385.
- Furman, W. (2002). The emerging field of adolescent romantic relationships. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 11, 177–180. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00195
- Furman, W., and Collins, A. (2009). "Adolescent romantic relationships and experiences" in *Handbook of peer interactions, relationships and groups*. eds. K. Rubin, W. M. Bukowski and B. Laursen (New York: The Guildford Press), 341–360.
- Furman, W., Low, S., and Ho, M. J. (2009). Romantic experience and psychosocial adjustment in middle adolescence. J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol. 38, 75–90. doi: 10.1080/15374410802575347
- Gable, S. L., Reis, H. T., Impett, E. A., and Asher, E. R. (2004). What do you do when things go right? The intrapersonal benefits of sharing positive events. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 87, 228–245. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.87.2.228
- Geldhof, G. J., Bowers, E. P., and Lerner, R. M. (2013). Special section introduction: thriving in context: findings from the 4-h study of positive youth development. *J. Youth Adolesc.* 42, 1–5. doi: 10.1007/s10964-012-9855-7
- Hensel, D. J., Nance, J., and Fortenberry, J. D. (2016). The association between sexual health and physical, mental, and social health in adolescent women. J. Adolesc. Health 59, 416–421. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.06.003
- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 6, 1–55.
- Huebner, E. (2004). Research on assessment of life satisfaction of children and adolescents. *Soc. Indic. Res.* 66, 3–33. doi: 10.1023/B:SOCI.000 0007497.57754.e3
- Huebner, E. S., Gilman, R., and Furlong, M. J. (2009). "A conceptual model for research in positive psychology in children and youth" in *Handbook of positive psychologu in schools*. 1st Edn. eds. R. Gilman, E. S. Huebner and M. J. Furlong (New York: Routledge), 3–8.
- Huta, V., and Ryan, R. M. (2010). Pursuing pleasure or virtue: the differential and overlapping well-being benefits of hedonic and eudaimonic motives. J. Happiness Stud. 11, 735–762. doi: 10.1007/s10902-009-9171-4
- Inchley, J., Currie, D., Young, T., Samdal, O., Torsheim, T., Augustson, L., et al. (Eds.) (2016). "Growing up unequal gender and socioeconomic differences in young people's health and well-being: health behaviour in school-aged children study" in *International report from the 2013/2014 survey*. (Geneva: World Health Organization).
- Kamp Dush, C. M., and Amato, P. R. (2005). Consequences of relationship status and quality for subjective well-being. J. Soc. Pers. Relat. 22, 607–627. doi: 10.1177/0265407505056438
- Kansky, J., and Allen, J. P. (2018). Long-term risks and possible benefits associated with late adolescent romantic relationship quality. J. Youth Adolesc. 47, 1531–1544. doi: 10.1007/s10964-018-0813-x
- Kansky, J., Allen, J. P., and Diener, E. (2016). Early adolescent affect predicts later life outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.: Health Well-Being* 8, 192–212. doi: 10.1111/ aphw.12068
- Keyes, C., Shmotkin, D., and Ryff, C. D. (2002). Optimizing well-being: the empirical encounter of two traditions. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 82, 1007–1022. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.82.6.1007
- Larson, R. W., Clore, G., and Wood, G. A. (1999). "The emotions of romantic relationships: do they wreak havoc on adolescents?" in *The development of romantic relationships in adolescence*. eds. W. Furman, B. B. Brown and C. Feiring (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press), 19–49.
- Lerkkanen, M., Nurmi, J., Vasalampi, K., Virtanen, T., and Torppa, M. (2018). Changes in students' psychological well-being during transition from primary school to lower secondary school: a person-centered approach. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 69, 138–149. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2018.12.001
- Lerner, R. M., Almerigi, J. B., Theokas, C., and Lerner, J. V. (2005). Positive youth development: a view of the issues. J. Early Adolesc. 25, 10–16. doi: 10.1177/0272431604273211
- Lindfors, P., Berntsson, L., and Lundberg, U. (2006). Factor structure of Ryff's psychological well-being scales in Swedish female and male white-collar workers. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 40, 1213–1222. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.10.016
- Little, R. J. (1992). Regression with missing X's: a review. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 87, 1227-1237. doi: 10.2307/2290664

- Little, R. J., and Rubin, D. B. (1989). The analysis of social-science data with missing values. *Sociol. Methods Res.* 18, 292–326. doi: 10.1177/00491 24189018002004
- Loera-Malvaez, N., Balcázar-Nava, P., Trejo-González, L., Gurrola-Peña, G. M., and Bonilla-Muñoz, M. P. (2008). Adaptacion de la escala de bienestar psicologico de Ryff en adolescentes preuniversitarios. *Rev. Neurol. Neurocir. Psiquiat.* 41, 69–86.
- Mayer, R. E. (2011). Applying the science of learning. Boston: Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.
- Meade, T., and Dowswell, E. (2016). Adolescents' health-related quality of life (HRQoL) changes over time: a three year longitudinal study. *Health Qual. Life Outcomes* 14, 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12955-016-0415-9
- Meirer, A., and Allen, G. (2008). Intimate relationships development during the transition to adulthood: differences by social class. *New Dir. Child Adoles*. 119, 25–39. doi: 10.1002/cd.207
- Miller, B. (2014). What are the odds: an examination of adolescent interracial romance and risk for depression. *Youth Soc.* 49, 1–23. doi: 10.1177/0044 118X14531150
- Miller, T. M., and Geraci, L. (2011). Unskilled but aware: reinterpreting overconfidence in low-performing students. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. 37, 502–506. doi: 10.1037/a0021802
- Moksnes, U., and Haugan, L. (2015). Stressor experience negatively affects life satisfaction in adolescents: The positive role of sense of coherence. *Qual. Life. Res.* 24, 2473–2481. doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-0977-8
- Nicholson, J., Deboeck, P. R., and Howard, W. (2015). Attrition in developmental psychology: a review of modern missing data reporting and practices. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 41, 143–153. doi: 10.1177/0165025415618275
- Oliva, A., Ríos, M., Antolín, L., Parra, Á., Hernando, Á., and Pertegal, Y. (2010). Más allá del déficit: construyendo un modelo de desarrollo positivo adolescente. *Infanc. Aprendiz.* 33, 223–234. doi: 10.1174/021037010791114562
- Opree, S., Buijzen, M., and van Reijmersdal, E. (2018). Development and validation of the psychological well-being scale for children (PWB-c). *Soc. Forces* 8:18. doi: 10.3390/soc8010018
- Ortega, R., Ortega-Rivera, F. J., and Sánchez, V. (2008). Violencia sexual entre compañeros y violencia en parejas adolescentes. *Int. J. Psych. Psychol. Ther.* 8, 63–72.
- Ottová-Jordan, V., Smith, O. R., Gobina, I., Mazur, J., Augustine, L., Cavallo, F., et al. (2015). Trends in multiple recurrent health complaints in 15-year-olds in 35 countries in Europe, North America and Israel from 1994 to 2010. *Eur. J. Pub. Health* 25, 24–27. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckv015
- Patalay, P., and Fitzsimons, E. (2018). Development and predictors of mental ill-health and wellbeing from childhood to adolescence. *Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol.* 53, 1311–1323. doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1604-0
- Pavot, W., and Diener, E. (2008). The satisfaction with life scale and the emerging construct of life satisfaction. J. Posit. Psychol. 3, 137–152. doi: 10.1080/174 39760701756946
- Rubin, D. B. (1976). Inference and missing data. *Biometrika* 63, 581-592. doi: 10.1093/biomet/63.3.581
- Ruini, C., Ottolini, F., Tomba, E., Belaise, C., Albieri, E., Visani, D., et al. (2009). School intervention for promoting psychological well-being in adolescence. J. Behav. Ther. Exp. Psy. 40, 522–532. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2009.07.002
- Ryan, R., and Deci, E. (2001). On happiness and human potentials: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 52, 141–166. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- Ryan, R., Huta, V., and Deci, E. (2008). Living well: a self-determination theory perspective on eudaimonia. J. Happiness Stud. 9, 139–170. doi: 10.1007/ s10902-006-9023-4
- Ryff, C. D. (2014). Psychological well-being revisited: advances in the science and practice of eudaimonia. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 83, 10–28. doi: 10.1159/000353263

- Ryff, C. D. (2017). Eudaimonic well-being, inequality, and health: recent findings and future directions. *Int. Rev. Econ.* 64, 159–178. doi: 10.1007/ s12232-017-0277-4
- Ryff, C. D., and Singer, B. H. (2008). Know thyself and become what you are: a eudaimonic approach to psychological well-being. *J. Happiness Stud.* 9, 13–39. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9019-0
- Sánchez, V., Ortega-Rivera, F. J., Ortega-Ruiz, R., and Viejo, C. (2008). Las relaciones sentimentales en la adolescencia: satisfacción, conflictos y violencia. *Esc. Psicol.* 2, 97–109.
- Schmider, E., Ziegler, M., Danay, E., Beyer, L., and Bühner, M. (2010). Is it really robust?: reinvestigating the robustness of ANOVA against violations of the normal distribution assumption. *Methodology* 6, 147–151. doi: 10.1027/1614-2241/a000016
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2008). Positive health. Appl. Psychol. 57, 3–18. doi: 10.1111/j. 1464-0597.2008.00351.x
- Seligman, M. E. P., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: an introduction. Am. Psychol. 55, 5–14. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.5
- Seligman, M. E. P., Ernst, R. M., Gillham, J., Reivich, K., and Linkins, M. (2009). Positive education: positive psychology and classroom interventions. *Oxf. Rev. Educ.* 35, 293–311. doi: 10.1080/03054980902934563
- Shulman, S., Davila, J., and Shachar-Shapira, L. (2011). Assessing romantic competence among older adolescents. J. Adolesc. 34, 397–406. doi: 10.1016/j. adolescence.2010.08.002
- Springer, K. W., and Hauser, R. M. (2006). An assessment of the construct validity of ryff's scales of psychological well-being: method, mode, and measurement effects. Soc. Sci. Res. 35, 1080–1102. doi: 10.1016/j.ssresearch. 2005.07.004
- Springer, K. W., Pudrovska, T., and Hauser, R. M. (2011). Does psychological well-being change with age? Longitudinal tests of age variations and further exploration of the multidimensionality of Ryff's model of psychological well-being. Soc. Sci. Res. 40, 392–398. doi: 10.1016/j.ssresearch.2010.05.008
- Steger, M. F., Kashdan, T. B., and Oishi, S. (2008). Being good by doing good: daily eudaimonic activity and well-being. J. Res. Pers. 42, 22–42. doi: 10.1016/j. jrp.2007.03.004
- Steinberg, L., and Morris, A. S. (2001). Adolescent development. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 52, 83–110. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.83
- Vescovelli, F., Albieri, E., and Ruini, C. (2014). Self-rated and observer-rated measures of well-being and distress in adolescence: an exploratory study. *Springerplus* 30:490. doi: 10.1186/2193-1801-3-490
- Viejo, C., Gómez-López, M., and Ortega-Ruiz, R. (2018). Adolescents' psychological well-being: a multidimensional measure. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15:2325. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15102325
- Viejo, C., Ortega-Ruiz, R., and Sánchez, V. (2015). Adolescent love and wellbeing: the role of dating relationships for psychological adjustment. J. Youth Stud. 18, 1219–1236. doi: 10.1080/13676261.2015.1039967
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Siebenbruner, J., and Collins, W. A. (2001). Diverse aspects of dating: associations with psychosocial functioning from early to middle adolescence. J. Adolesc. 24, 313–336. doi: 10.1006/jado.2001.0410

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Gómez-López, Viejo and Ortega-Ruiz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Sexting Among Adolescents: The Emotional Impact and Influence of the Need for Popularity

Rosario Del Rey^{1*}, Mónica Ojeda¹, José A. Casas², Joaquín A. Mora-Merchán¹ and Paz Elipe³

¹Department of Educational and Developmental Psychology, Universidad de Sevilla, Seville, Spain, ²Department of Psychology, Universidad de Córdoba, Cordoba, Spain, ³Department of Psychology, Universidad de Jaén, Jaen, Spain

Sexting refers to the exchange of sexual content material via technological devices. The definitions of this phenomenon vary greatly, mainly, depending on the types of sexting: primary and secondary. Besides the above, there is no common perspective on whether sexting is a risk behavior that entails some type of impact by itself or not and, in such a case, whether this impact varies according to gender. In addition, the need to be popular has shown to be a factor that could increase the probability of being involved in sexting. The present study analyzes the potential emotional impact of sexting as well as the effect of the need for popularity on this phenomenon and if it varies according to gender. The sample comprised 2,356 high school students (46.8% female, 53.2% male; age range 11-18 years old, M = 13.72; SD = 1.31) belonging to 12 compulsory secondary education (ESO) schools from the south of Spain. To assess sexting implication, four questions were presented to participants (sending, receiving, forwarding, and receiving sexts via intermediary). Scales, self-report, about emotional impact (depressed, annoyed, and active) and need for popularity were also applied. The results obtained show that, although sexting has a clear emotional impact on adolescents, it does not appear to generate a negative impact among those involved, at least in the short term. Concretely, this phenomenon seems to trigger emotions related to activation in boys and girls (I feel lively, energetic, satisfied, ready, determined, active). Additionally, with respect to the need for popularity, its relevance, specially, in relation to active emotional impact has been confirmed by the analyses. Statistical models found for boys and girls were similar. In addition, some differences in emotional impact by gender were found, girls feeling more depressed and annoyed in secondary sexting, and boys more active regarding both types of sexting.

Keywords: sexting, emotional impact, popularity, adolescents, risk factors

INTRODUCTION

The digital world has opened up a host of opportunities in adolescent social life. The use of electronic media for sharing and exchanging content of a sexual nature has become another form of intimate sexual communication attuned to today's technology-driven society (Döring, 2014). In general terms, sexting refers to the exchange of sexual material *via* a technological device

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Dora Bianchi, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Michelle F. Wright, Pennsylvania State University, United States

> *Correspondence: Rosario Del Rey delrey@us.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 12 April 2019 Accepted: 24 July 2019 Published: 21 August 2019

Citation:

Del Rey R, Ojeda M, Casas JA, Mora-Merchán JA and Elipe P (2019) Sexting Among Adolescents: The Emotional Impact and Influence of the Need for Popularity. Front. Psychol. 10:1828. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01828

114

(Van Ouytsel et al., 2015). However, sexting definitions vary much depending on the behavior in question, the type of material, and whether sexting is restricted to sexual content or also encompasses erotic content (Barrense-Dias et al., 2017). The conceptual delimitations range from more restrictive ones which exclusively identify sexting as sending one's own sexually explicit images (Wolak et al., 2012; Ybarra and Mitchell, 2014; Choi et al., 2016; Marume et al., 2018) to more comprehensive ones which include other behaviors that cover the dissemination of sexual content to third parties, such as sending, receiving, and forwarding sexually suggestive and explicit photos, videos, and text messages (Mitchell et al., 2012; Villacampa, 2017). The different between these two kind of conceptual delimitations support the categorization of primary and secondary sexting (Calvert, 2009; Schmitz and Siry, 2011). In the first case, minors send sexts between two people and do not share any further. In secondary sexting, someone shares sexts and they are forwarded beyond the intended recipient. It is relevant to mention that primary sexting tends to be consensual (with some exceptions like sextortion), but secondary sexting is likely to be non-consensual having a greater impact (Lievens, 2014), when freedom of choice is sometimes not an option (Walker and Sleath, 2017).

Involvement rates are highly varied, largely because of the wide range of attributable meanings (Barrense-Dias et al., 2017). When sexting is defined as the sending of sexual content, prevalence ranges from 4.6 (Rice et al., 2012) to 31% (Woodward et al., 2017). Receiving rates go anywhere from 7.1 (Mitchell et al., 2012) to 49% (Lippman and Campbell, 2014; Woodward et al., 2017), whereas prevalence rates for forwarding sexual content range from 2.3 (Lippman and Campbell, 2014) to 25% (Strassberg et al., 2017). These variations are partly linked to the increasing frequency of sexting in recent years (Clancy et al., 2019). Research has also pointed out how sexting is increasing with age (Madigan et al., 2018), especially among adolescents (Klettke et al., 2014). However, the onset of sexting could be starting earlier as age of access to smartphones is decreasing (Influence Central, 2016). This circumstance makes it necessary to develop more studies to analyze sexting behaviors in young adolescents.

To date, studies have failed to show a clear pattern of results concerning possible gender differences in relation to sexting prevalence. Some studies report that girls are more likely to share sexual images than boys (Reyns et al., 2013; Ybarra and Mitchell, 2014); other studies find boys participating more in this activity (West et al., 2014; Gámez-Guadix et al., 2017); and some studies observe no gender differences in sending and receiving sexual photos and messages (Lenhart, 2009; Rice et al., 2012; Campbell and Park, 2014; Vanden Abeele et al., 2014). These differences, in one direction or another, could be due to the type of sexting behavior being analyzed. As such, researchers have found that boys forward and request sexual photos and messages to a greater degree than girls, and that girls acknowledge that content of this type is more frequently asked of them (Norman, 2017; Symons et al., 2018). Ringrose et al. (2013) have pointed out that gender differences in sexting behavior can also be linked to differences in motivations for sexting. Thus, whereas sexting seems to increase status in boys, girls' participation in sexting causes feeling of shame about themselves and their sexual reputation establishing what has been identified as a sexual double standard (Ringrose et al., 2013).

Apart from the sexting involvement rates, this phenomenon has attracted increased public and scientific attention in recent years because of its potential consequences (Gewirtz-Meydan et al., 2018). However, not everyone in the scientific community considers sexting a risk behavior (de Souza and Alves Banaco, 2018). Some authors defend adolescents' freedom of sexual expression via the Internet, arguing that the risks associated with this behavior do not lie in the transfer of files itself, but with the potentiality of its quick and widespread dissemination, thus widening the target audience (Livingstone and Görzig, 2014). However, other studies have found that sexting can affect the physical and psychological health of those involved as well as trigger symptoms of depression and even suicidal ideation (Strasburger et al., 2012; Jasso Medrano et al., 2018). Besides, sexting has also demonstrated to be associated to other risk behaviors (e.g., cyberpornography; Morelli et al., 2017). Therefore, we agree with those authors who consider it is necessary to act upon any potentially risky online behaviors, and, in this case, the very behavior of sexting can have an impact in itself (Van Ouytsel et al., 2014a). Therefore, sexting may bring an emotional impact and negative consequences for those involved (Klettke et al., 2014; Van Ouytsel et al., 2015; Choi et al., 2016). The reasons given for this phenomenon's potential impact include the transgression of sexual boundaries and the non-consensual distribution of sexual content to third parties (Dekker and Thula, 2017). Impact is also linked to different motivations (sexual, instrumental, and body image reinforcement) of sexting behavior, being instrumental reasons which cause higher negative impact (Bianchi et al., 2018). In addition, previous studies have shown how online victimization is associated to negative emotional impact (Ortega et al., 2012; Slonje et al., 2017). It would be necessary to confirm if the emotional impact of sexting is following the same negative pattern as other forms of online aggression/victimization (Giménez Gualdo et al., 2015). Concerning gender, there are also some studies stating a differential emotional impact depending on victims' gender, usually pointing out the higher negative impact in girls (Bastomski and Smith, 2017; Betts et al., 2019).

Although most studies analyze sending and/or receiving, primary sexting, it seems that the action most likely to pose greater harm and, therefore, play a more important role in understanding the consequences behind this phenomenon is the action of forwarding (Livingstone and Görzig, 2014; Dekker and Thula, 2017; Strassberg et al., 2017). The forwarding of sexual content refers to sending someone else's material to another person (Strassberg et al., 2017), secondary sexting, usually done without consent, which increases the risks of damaging the reputation of the victim (Van Ouytsel et al., 2014b), and increases the risk of being involved in dating violence episodes (Morelli et al., 2016).

The consequences of sexting seem to affect boys and girls differently. It is usually more harmful for girls, as they tend to be at the receiving end of more insults and humiliation, thus damaging their reputation (Wood et al., 2015). In turn, boys can experience positive consequences; for example, increased acceptance inside peer group (Speno, 2016; Burén and Lunde, 2018). This reality exposes the sexual double standard governing sexting, as it is girls who are more likely to have their reputation tarnished and who mostly face the consequences of this phenomenon as well as a greater negative impact (Wood et al., 2015). Thus, there seem to be different patterns to explain the roles that boys and girls take on in the negotiation process and the consequences by gender (Wood et al., 2015; Symons et al., 2018). Furthermore, this might be linked to the type of sexting behavior being analyzed.

Gaining popularity and peer acceptance is one of the main aims of adolescents in their social life (Santor et al., 2000), in face-to-face and online contexts. In fact, research has shown there are no differences between both contexts according to adolescents' need for popularity (Wright, 2018). It has also been mentioned that there are no gender differences concerning need for popularity (Dijkstra et al., 2010), even when boys and girls could use different strategies to find that popularity: boys increasing the number of sexual partners (Prinstein et al., 2011) and girls taking care of their sexual reputation among peers (Salter, 2016). Need for popularity correlates with sexting participation (Gewirtz-Meydan et al., 2018). Adolescents who feel a stronger need to be popular are more likely to post photos of themselves (Vanden Abeele et al., 2014), thinking that posting their own sexual photos represents a strategic means for them to gain in acceptance among their peers (Baumgartner et al., 2015). From this perspective, the results obtained by Vanden Abeele et al. (2014) indicate that the need for popularity predicts sexting involvement in both, boys and girls.

Need for popularity could also be linked to impact of sexting, as suggested by Alonso and Romero (2019), although maybe not in the same way for boys and girls. Thus, girls, when participating in sexting, receive insults and rejection, experiencing negative feelings post-sexting, negative impact which is not usual in boys (Temple and Choi, 2014; Burén and Lunde, 2018). Need for popularity and gender were also identified as moderators of depressive symptoms (Nesi and Prinstein, 2015), pointing out the potential role of these variables over emotional impact of participants. This suggests that although the need for popularity affects boys and girls, different theoretical models could be required to explain these behaviors (Vanden Abeele et al., 2014).

Taking into account the reviewed literature, our main objective was to analyze the potential emotional impact of sexting as well as the importance of the need for popularity in this phenomenon. Specifically, we sought to examine (1) whether the different types of sexting (primary and secondary) affect those involved in it emotionally; (2) whether the need for popularity is related to both types of sexting and its emotional impact; and (3) whether the aforementioned relationships vary by gender.

In view of the reviewed empirical evidence, our working hypotheses were as follows:

H1: Sexting would have an emotional impact on those involved, but this impact would vary according to the type of sexting and gender.

H2: The need for popularity would affect sexting and its emotional impact but this relationship would vary by gender.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The sample comprised 2,356 high school students (46.8% girls, 53.2% boys) from 11 to 18 years of age (M = 13.72, SD = 1.31). The participants belonged to 12 compulsory secondary education (ESO) schools, three of which were publicly funded private institutions (concertados) from the south of Spain. Specifically, 34.5% were first-year students; 28.7% were second-year students; 21.5% were third-year students; and 14.9% were fourth-year students. However, in order to develop the study of primary and secondary sexting, we used two subsamples. Concretely, the sample for primary sexting was composed by those students who had, or having had, a dating partner in the last 3 months and had sent and/or received sexts at least once. So, this sample was composed of 263 participants (44.5% girls, 55.5% boys; M = 14.34, SD = 1.24 years old). The criterion to be part of the subsample of secondary sexting was having forwarded and/ or to have been forwarded sexts at least once. Thus, this sample was formed by 621 participants (41% girls, 59% boys; M = 14.16, SD = 1.26 years old).

Measures

Some socio-demographical questions, gender and age, were required. In addition, a direct question about partner was also asked: "Do you have or have you had a partner in the last three months?" with dichotomized answer, (*Yes* or *No*).

To assess sexting, we used four direct questions relating to both primary and secondary sexting involvement, following the guidelines set out in numerous research studies in which direct questions were used to measure involvement (Temple and Choi, 2014; Choi et al., 2016; Gewirtz-Meydan et al., 2018). These behaviors with regard to primary sexting were: *I've sent videos, photos or messages of an erotic-sexual nature to my boyfriend/girlfriend* and *I've received videos, photos or messages of an erotic-sexual nature from my boyfriend/girlfriend*. With regard to secondary sexting, they were: *I've forwarded or shared videos, photos or messages of an erotic/sexual nature of other boys/girls* and *I've been forwarded videos, photos or messages of an erotic-sexual nature of other boys/girls*. The responses were formulated using a 5-point Likert scale response format: 0 = Never; 1 = Hardly ever; 2 = Sometimes; 3 = Often; and 4 = Always.

To examine the emotional impact of sexting, an adaptation of the Cybervictimization Emotional Impact Scale, namely the CVEIS (Elipe et al., 2017) was used. Just following the four sexting items, a filter question was asked, and those who said to have sent, received, or forwarded videos, photos, or messages of an erotic-sexual nature were required to fill in the current questionnaire. This questionnaire comprises 18 items that evaluate three types of emotional impact: (1) Active, which includes animated; energetic, lively; satisfied, proud; ready, clear-headed; determined, daring; active, alert; (2) Depressed, which is made up of tense, nervous; guilty; scared, afraid; lonely; ashamed; defenseless, helpless; depressed, sad; fed up; jittery, worried; and (3) Annoyed, which covers angry, annoyed; irritable, in a bad mood; choleric, enraged. If the respondent has engaged in the referred-to phenomenon, he/she should respond by indicating to what extent he/she had experienced each emotion on a Likert scale ranging from 0 = Not at all, to 4 = A lot. Reliability (Rho coefficient) in the present sample was optimal, 0.97 for primary sexting and 0.97 for secondary one, and the results of confirmatory factor analyses (CFA) were adequate: $\chi^{2S - B} = 203.21, p = 0.00;$ CFI = 0.991; NNFI = 0.992; RMSEA = 0.048; SRMR = 0.077 for primary sexting; $\chi^{2S - B} = 334.15; p = 0.00, CFI = 0.988; NNFI = 0.986;$ RMSEA = 0.052, SRMR = 0.090 for secondary sexting.

To assess the need for popularity, we used the *Need for Popularity Scale* (Santor et al., 2000; Utz et al., 2012). This instrument comprises 12 items on a 5-point Likert-type scale (0 = Completely disagree to 4 = Completely agree). Its aim is to evaluate whether behaviors perceived as popular among peers are performed. To this end, items such as *On occasions*, *Ive changed the way I dress in order to be more popular* were included. Reliability (Rho coefficient) in the present sample was 0.93, and the confirmatory factor analysis was adequate: $\chi^{2S - B} = 250.33$, p = 0.00, CFI = 0.991, NNFI = 0.989, RMSEA = 0.043, SRMR = 0.044.

Procedure

First, we obtained permission from the Andalusia Biomedical Research Ethics Coordinating Committee (0568-N-14), which follows the guidelines set by the International Conference on Harmonization (ICH) Good Clinical Practice (GCP). We then contacted the schools to explain the research to them and request their collaboration. The parental written informed consent has been obtained through the acceptance of participation in the Project that is given by the School Board of each school. In the case of administration of anonymous self-reports related to relevant matters to education, each family, when applying to the schools, delegates, unless expressed otherwise in written, the acceptance of participation to the School Board. This School Board is composed by teachers, students, and representatives of families who behave on behalf of school families. Once the School Board approval had been received, we proceeded to collect data. The questionnaires were administered by specially trained researchers during class time, once teachers had given their prior consent. Completion of the questionnaires took approximately 40 min. Before starting, everyone was informed about the voluntary nature of study participation, response anonymity, and data confidentiality. We stressed the importance of answering truthfully to the students.

Data Analysis

We ran the analyses for each type of sexting, primary and secondary, with those participants who said to have been involved, at least, hardly ever in these behaviors (sending and/ or receiving in primary sexting and forwarding and/or to have been forwarded in secondary one). In addition, primary sexting was assessed just in those who said to have or have had a partner in the last 3 months given that the items in this case were referred to their boyfriend or girlfriend.

First, we performed descriptive analyses (*M*, SD, skewness and kurtosis) of the study variables to explore their distribution as well as to identify potential irregularities, extreme cases, etc., that may skew the results. This was followed by Student's *t*-tests to analyze possible study variables' differences between boys and girls. We then tested two structural equation models, one for each type of sexting, and the emotional impact dimensions. After that, we tested the gender invariance of these models. Afterward, we tested two equation models, again one for each sexting type, between need for popularity (NfP from now) and sexting. Once again, gender invariance testing was repeated on these models. Eventually, two more complex models, including NfP, sexting (primary or secondary), and emotional impact were run and, one more time, gender invariance was tested.

The models were estimated via the Robust Maximum Likelihood Method, adjusted to the ordinal nature of the study variables (Flora and Curran, 2004). The fit of the models was tested using the following indexes: the Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square $(\chi^{2S - B})$ (Satorra and Bentler, 2001); the robust comparative fit index (RCFI) and the non-normality fit index (NNFI) (≥ 0.90 is adequate; ≥ 0.95 is optimal); the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) and the standardized root mean square residual (SRMR) (≤0.08 is adequate; ≤0.05 is optimal) (Hu and Bentler, 1999). To test the invariance of the models, between-gender multi-group analyses were run. We used a hierarchical strategy. First, we tested a model with no constraints (configural model); second, we tested a model in which equal factor loadings from items to factors were imposed (measurement model); and third, we tested a model in which, besides equal factor loadings, factor variances and covariances were imposed. In order to assess non-invariance, we used the scaled difference chi-square test by Satorra and Bentler (2001). When non-invariance was detected, the Robust Lagrange Multiplier Test (RLMT) was used to analyze which constraints needed to be released in order to achieve invariance. After that, these constraints were released and the new models were run and compared.

The statistical analyses were performed with EQS 6.2. (Bentler, 2006).

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics.

	М	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	Gender	<i>M</i> (SD)	Т	р
Primary sexting (N = 263	; 44.5% girls, 5	5.5% boys)						
Active impact	0.83	1.07	1.17	0.30	Girls Boys	0.52 (0.77) 1.09 (1.21)	-4.45	0.00*
Annoyed impact	0.44	0.75	2.38	6.01	Girls Boys	0.46 (0.79)	0.53	0.59
Depressed impact	0.33	0.78	2.84	8.12	Girls Boys	0.30 (0.74) 0.36 (0.80)	0.53	0.59
Need for popularity	0.75	0.65	1.40	2.24	Girls Boys	0.70 (0.73)	-0.92	0.35
Secondary sexting (N = 6	621; 41% girls,	59% boys)			20,0	0110 (0110)		
Active impact	0.54	0.89	1.82	2.54	Girls Boys	0.25 (0.55) 0.74 (1.01)	-7.54	0.00*
Annoyed impact	0.33	0.58	2.66	8.88	Girls Boys	0.39 (0.63) 0.28 (0.53)	2.19	0.02*
Depressed impact	0.34	0.76	2.66	7.03	Girls Boys	0.48 (0.91) 0.25 (0.62)	3.31	0.00*
Need for popularity	0.70	0.69	1.36	1.97	Girls Boys	0.67 (0.67) 0.70 (0.70)	-1.10	0.27

*p < 0.05.

 TABLE 2 | Fit indexes of the models to emotional impact including the three impact factors: Active, Depressed, and Annoyed.

	χ ^{2S – B}	р	NNFI	CFI	RMSEA	SRMR
Primary sexting	324.48	0.00	0.85	0.87	0.06	0.09
Secondary sexting	452.25	0.00	0.82	0.84	0.05	0.09

TABLE 3 | Fit indexes of the models to the active impact.

	χ ^{2S-B}	p	NNFI	CFI	RMSEA	SRMR	R ²
Primary sexting Secondary sexting			0.98 0.96		0.04 0.04	0.02 0.03	0.27 0.28

RESULTS

First, we calculated the descriptive statistics of the different study variables and we calculated the Student's *t*-tests to determine the potential differences between boys and girls (see **Table 1**). In primary sexting, significant differences were found in active impact, yielding a higher average in boys. In secondary sexting, significant differences in all types of impact were found. Specifically, whereas boys showed a higher average in active impact, the contrary was true for girls in annoyed and depressed impact. No differences were found in NfP in primary and neither secondary sexting according gender (see **Table 1**).

Next, we analyzed two structural equation models with emotional impact. Neither of the models showed adequate statistical adjustment (see **Table 2**).

We analyzed then the statistical indexes finding that the contribution of Depressed and Annoyed emotional impact to the models was minimum. In the case of the Annoyed impact, the R^2 was 0.005 for primary sexting and 0.009 for

secondary sexting. In the case of the Depressed impact, the R^2 was 0.013 for primary and 0.003 for secondary sexting. Therefore, we decided to test the models again, linking each type of sexting exclusively to the Active impact factor, which has demonstrated a clear relationship to both types of sexting.

As can be seen in Table 3 and Figure 1, in this case, all models achieved an optimal fit.

Next, we performed an invariance analysis to verify to what extent each of these two models was valid for boys and girls.

Both models showed, in general, gender invariance with the only exception of the most restrictive model, the structural model, in secondary sexting (see **Table 4**). The RLMT identified equality in sexting as the to-be-released constraint. Once this constraint was released, model showed to be invariant (see **Table 4**).

Two models from NfP to involvement in sexting were then run (See **Figure 2**). Both showed an optimal adjustment although R^2 was pretty low (see **Table 5**).

The between-gender multi-group analyses showed that these models were totally invariant for girls and boys (see **Table 6**).

Lastly, the models were run by incorporating NfP as a predictor variable of involvement in the different types of sexting (see **Table 7** and **Figure 3**).

Then, as in the previous cases, next invariance analyses by gender were run revealing, one more time, a total invariance between girls and boys (see **Table 8**).

DISCUSSION

The overall aim of our study was to advance knowledge of the emotional impact behind sexting, shedding light not only



TABLE 4 | Fit statistics for models of active impact to test gender invariance.

	X ² (ΔX ²)	df (∆df)	p	NNFI	RCFI	RMSEA
Model prima	ary sexting					
Model 1	102.712	38		0.961	0.973	0.057
Model 2	115.55 (12.84)	44(6)	0.57	0.971	0.978	0.048
Model 3	122.88 (20.16)	46 (8)	0.38	0.967	0.973	0.052
Model seco	ndary sexting					
Model 1	185.32	38		0.920	0.946	0.056
Model 2	226.55 (41.24)	44(6)	0.16	0.928	0.943	0.053
Model 3	256.08 (70.77)	46 (8)	0.02	0.912	0.928	0.059
Model 3b	228.57 (43.26)	45 (7)	0.20	0.931	0.945	0.052

Model 1: Configural invariance. Model 2: Measurement invariance (equal factor loadings). Model 3: Structural model invariance (equal factor loadings, factor variances, and covariances). X², Chi square statistic; df, degrees of freedom; NNFI, non-normed fit index; RCFI, robust comparative fit index; RMSEA, root mean-square error approximation.

on the emotional impact of this phenomenon among young involved individuals, but also on the influence that the need for popularity has on sexting involvement.

Regarding the first hypothesis, sexting involvement certainly has an emotional impact on those involved. However, this impact does not differ by type of sexting or gender. Irrespective of primary or secondary sexting, it has been determined that this phenomenon does not generate an obvious negative emotional impact at the moment in which the adolescents engage in sexting practices. Although the phenomenon has a clear emotional impact on adolescents, at least in the short term during involvement, this impact is linked to the active emotions (I feel lively, energetic, satisfied, ready, determined, active).

Thus, contrary to studies that observed a correlation between sexting and negative aspects including anxiety and depression (Strasburger et al., 2012; Jasso Medrano et al., 2018), in our study the emotions generally considered "negative," that is, those related to sadness and depression, and those related to anger or annoyance, were not associated with sexting involvement. These results seem to support the line of argument held by some authors that sexting itself is not the cause of negative emotional impact; rather, it could be further episodes, such as the non-consensual dissemination of images to third parties, a rapidly increasing target audience, and social judgments upon the victim's reputation, that would likely cause this damage (Livingstone and Görzig, 2014; Van Ouytsel et al., 2014b). It is important to bear in mind that we have assessed the impact of sexting involvement in first person (I've sent, I've received, I've forwarded, I've been forwarded), and we have not elicited any information by way of question about whether the personal content sent has been distributed to third parties. It is highly likely that the negative consequences referred to in previous studies are a result of this situation (Livingstone and Görzig, 2014).

From this perspective, the fact that sexting generates an active emotional impact, as opposed to depressive or anger-based responses linked to poor psychosocial adjustment, could be something positive. However, this very aspect may also represent a risk to adolescents (Crockett et al., 2006). The active emotional response may act as a stimulus that invites adolescents to not anticipate and assess – or either manages to minimize – the possible effects of primary and secondary sexting and the associated risks. Therefore, experiencing a positive emotional impact when engaging in sexting can indicate a lack of awareness of the potential consequences of this practice. This highlights the need to explore this issue further by focusing on those actions whose aim is to prevent and address sexting.

In terms of gender differences, the results obtained suggest that the emotional impact behind both types of sexting is similar in boys and girls. On the basis of the findings of this study, it is possible to speculate that while girls could experience higher social pressure to engage in sexting, as reported in some studies (Wood et al., 2015), this pressure, be it perceived that way or not, does not translate into anger, as one might expect, but into activation. From this perspective, it would be interesting to qualitatively analyze what interpretation is made of the cited pressure. It might also indicate that those involved in these behaviors do not perceive



TABLE 5 | Fit indexes of the models Need for Popularity to sexting.

	χ ^{2S - B}	p	NNFI	CFI	RMSEA	SRMR	R ²
Primary sexting Secondary sexting	107.81 151.35				0.04 0.04	0.05 0.04	0.02 0.04

TABLE 6 | Fit statistics for the models NfP to sexting to test gender invariance.

	X ² (ΔX ²)	df (∆df)	p	NNFI	RCFI	RMSEA
Model prim	ary sexting					
Model 1	295.03	152		0.904	0.920	0.046
Model 2	313.61 (18.58)	164 (12)	0.45	0.912	0.920	0.044
Model 3	318.00 (22.97)	166 (14)	0.47	0.914	0.921	0.044
Model seco	ondary sexting					
Model 1	396.823	152		0.912	0.926	0.042
Model 2	413.16 (16.33)	164 (12)	0.60	0.920	0.927	0.040
Model 3	414.38 (17.55)	166 (14)	0.72	0.922	0.929	0.040

Model 1: Configural invariance. Model 2: Measurement invariance (equal factor loadings). Model 3: Structural model invariance (equal factor loadings, factor variances, and covariances). X², Chi square statistic; df, degrees of freedom; NNFI, non-normed fit index; RCFI, robust comparative fit index; RMSEA, root mean-square error approximation.

 TABLE 7
 I Fit indexes of the models' active impact and sexting, incorporating the Need for Popularity.

	χ^{2S-B}	p	NNFI	CFI	RMSEA	SRMR	R ²
Primary sexting Secondary sexting	235.44 272.90				0.04 0.03	0.06 0.04	0.32 0.37

a risk of potential forwarding thereafter, and as suggested by Ybarra and Mitchell (2014), they conceive sexting as a romantic and enriching part of the relationship, although it carries an element of danger.

Although depressed and anger dimensions of emotional impact were not relevant in models, and these models showed

invariance between genders, we should not forget girls presented significantly higher scores in depressed and anger dimensions of emotional impact when we analyzed secondary sexting, and boys have a significantly higher active emotional impact in both types of sexting. In line with Ringrose et al. (2013), these results point to a different meaning behind sexting involvement by gender, reinforcing the idea of a double sexual standard to explain different consequences for boys and girls (Symons et al., 2018). This different impact can also be linked to other variables like motivations of sexting (Bianchi et al., 2018), non-consensual participation in sexting (Dekker and Thula, 2017), or some other factors associated to sexting experience like social pressure or threat (Lee and Crofts, 2015).

Regarding the second hypothesis, the need for popularity has contributed to understand the implication in sexting, but even more to explain the emotional impact of both types of sexting, slightly more in the case of the secondary one. As we used a scale to assess need for popularity in offline context, this reinforces the continuity between face-to-face and online worlds, as Wright (2018) suggested. When need for popularity is included in structural models of emotional impact of sexting, it increases their goodness fit. This coincides with previous studies which indicate that sexting participation could be linked to the need for popularity (Gewirtz-Meydan et al., 2018). Adolescents who feel a greater need for popularity are far more likely to post photos of themselves (Vanden Abeele et al., 2014), taking the view that posting their own sexual photos is a strategic way of gaining popularity among peers (Baumgartner et al., 2015).

As for gender differences, the explanatory power of the need for popularity in the emotional impact generated by primary and secondary sexting is similar in boys and girls. These results demonstrate that seeking peer acceptance through popularity is an important motivation for boys and girls when it comes to participating in these practices. From this perspective, the results obtained by Vanden Abeele et al. (2014) indicate that the need for popularity predicts, in a similar way, sexting involvement by boys and girls. Both sexes would seek acceptance



 TABLE 8 | Fit statistics for the models sexting to active impact with NfP to test gender invariance.

	X ² (ΔX ²)	df (∆df)	р	NNFI	RCFI	RMSEA
Model prim	ary sexting					
Model 1	618,481	336		0.897	0.909	0.053
Model 2	647.48 (28.10)	353 (17)	0.55	0.905	0.912	0.051
Model 3	655.65 (37,17)	356 (20)	0.49	0.906	0.911	0.051
Model seco	ondary sexting					
Model 1	768.34	336		0.922	0.931	0.039
Model 2	805.59 (37.25)	353 (17)	0.66	0.930	0.935	0.037
Model 3	810,91 (42,575)	356 (20)	0.70	0.932	0.936	0.037

Model 1: Configural invariance. Model 2: Measurement invariance (equal factor loadings). Model 3: Structural model invariance (equal factor loadings, factor variances, and covariances). X^2 , Chi square statistic; df, degrees of freedom; NNFI, non-normed fit index; RCFI, robust comparative fit index; RMSEA, root mean-square error approximation.

and popularity by engaging in sexually permissive behaviors. However, the consequences of these practices would vary among them. These practices would help boys enhance their social capital and be more accepted within their peer group. In contrast, girls would, for the most part, not only gain in popularity but also be at the receiving end of insults and rejection, having their reputation damaged and experiencing negative feelings (Ringrose et al., 2013; Temple and Choi, 2014; Wood et al., 2015; Burén and Lunde, 2018). This reality echoes the sexual double standard that seems to govern this phenomenon (Wood et al., 2015; Symons et al., 2018).

CONCLUSIONS

Our study presents novel findings on the emotional impact of sexting and the influence of the need for popularity on adolescents. Taken together, the results reveal sexting to be a phenomenon that, in itself, does not appear to generate a negative impact among those involved, in a short term. Its impact, which is essentially "active," seems to more strongly correlate with typical behaviors of desire and curiosity about new experiences, much like the sexual experiences that play out during this developmental stage. The importance attached to the need for popularity when studying sexting behavior involvement has also been confirmed, given that adolescents who feel the need to be popular may see the exchange and distribution of sexual content as a strategy for gaining in acceptance into the peer group.

No significant gender differences were observed for either the emotional impact of sexting or the explanatory power of the need for popularity in the impact of primary and secondary sexting. However, girls presented significant higher scores when we analyzed depressed and anger dimensions in the case of secondary sexting. This finding invites us to continue exploring the role of sexting not only in terms of interaction with potential dating partners, but also in terms of female and male group status. This knowledge is essential as it enables us to identify key areas for designing prevention and intervention proposals that address sexting.

Our study does, however, pose some limitations that warrant mention. Measures applied in this study have shown some restrictions linked to a developing topic. In this sense, to our knowledge, no previous instruments have been applied to assess emotional impact in sexting episodes, and need for popularity has been usually assessed asking only for offline context. Additionally, we did not assess whether the content sent had been distributed to third parties without the sender's prior consent, or about the different motivations which could be behind sexting. Including these variables could be an important aspect for exploring the consequences of sexting further. That said, this is the first study to analyze the emotional impact of sexting, and we need to continue along these lines of inquiry.

As a future line of research, it would be useful to conduct qualitative studies that allow us to capture and analyze gender differences in greater depth. It is possible that some of the differences to emerge from the medium- and long-term consequences among boys and girls have more to do with the socially attributed meaning given by the protagonist of the sexual material, be it male or female, than with the impact brought about by the undertaking of sexting behavior itself.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the Comité Coordinador de Ética de la Investigación Biomédica de Andalucía (Coordinating Ethics Committee of Biomedical Research of Andalusia) and was in accordance with all regulations concerning professional ethics as stated in the International Conference on Harmonization Good Clinical Practice Guideline. The study was approved by the school boards and the students were visited and the anonymous, confidential, and voluntary nature and the objective of the study were explained before the survey was taken.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RR and JM-M designed the study. RR, JC, and MO collected the data. JC and PE designed and conducted the statistical

REFERENCES

- Alonso, C., and Romero, E. (2019). Conducta de sexting en adolescentes: predictores de personalidad y consecuencias psicosociales en un año de seguimiento. Anal. Psicol. 35, 214–224. doi: 10.6018/analesps.35.2.339831
- Barrense-Dias, Y., Berchtold, A., Surís, J.-C., and Akre, C. (2017). Sexting and the definition issue. J. Adolesc. Health 61, 544–554. doi: 10.1016/j. jadohealth.2017.05.009
- Bastomski, S., and Smith, P. (2017). Gender, fear, and public places: how negative encounters with strangers harm women. Sex Roles 76, 73–88. doi: 10.1007/ s11199-016-0654-6
- Baumgartner, S. E., Sumter, S. R., Peter, J., and Valkenburg, P. M. (2015). Sexual self-presentation on social network sites: who does it and how is it perceived? *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 50, 91–100. doi: 10.1016/ jchb.2015.03.061
- Bentler, P. M. (2006). EQS 6 structural equations program manual. Encino, CA: Multivariate Software, Inc.
- Betts, L., Harding, R., Peart, S., Sjolin Knight, C., Wright, D., and Newbold, K. (2019). Adolescents' experiences of street harassment: creating a typology and assessing the emotional impact. J. Aggress. Confl. Peace Res. 11, 38–46. doi: 10.1108/JACPR-12-2017-0336
- Bianchi, D., Morelli, M., Nappa, M. R., Baiocco, R., and Chirumbolo, A. (2018). A bad romance: sexting motivations and teen dating violence. *J. Interpers. Violence.* doi: 10.1177/0886260518817037
- Burén, J., and Lunde, C. (2018). Sexting among adolescents: a nuanced and gendered online challenge for young people. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 85, 210–217. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.02.003
- Calvert, C. (2009). Sex, cell phones, privacy and the first amendment: when children become child pornographers and the lolita effect undermines the law. *CommLaw Conspec.* 18, 1–65.
- Campbell, S. W., and Park, Y. J. (2014). Predictors of mobile sexting among teens: toward a new explanatory framework. *Mob. Media Commun.* 20, 20–39. doi: 10.1177/2050157913502645
- Choi, H., Van Ouytsel, J., and Temple, J. R. (2016). Association between sexting and sexual coercion among female adolescents. J. Adolesc. 53, 164–168. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.10.005
- Clancy, E. M., Klettke, B., and Hallford, D. J. (2019). The dark side of sexting factors predicting the dissemination of sexts. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 92, 266–272. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.11.023

analyses in close consultation with RR, MO, and JM-M. MO and RR wrote the first draft of the introduction, PE and JC wrote the first draft of the method and results, and JM-M wrote the first draft of the discussion, in close consultation of all the authors. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was partly supported by the National Research Plan of the Government of Spain (PSI2017-86723-R; EDU2013-44627-P). The work of MO is supported by a research grant from the Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities of the Government of Spain for the Training of University Teachers (FPU15/05037).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the schools and adolescents who participated in this study.

- Crockett, L. J., Raffaelli, M., and Shen, Y. L. (2006). Linking self-regulation and risk proneness to risky sexual behavior: pathways through peer pressure and early substance use. *J. Res. Adolesc.* 16, 503–525. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2006.00505.x
- de Souza, F., and Alves Banaco, R. (2018). A prática cultural do sexting entre adolescentes: notas para a delimitação do objeto de estudo. *Acta Comport. Rev. Lat. Análisis del Comport.* 26, 127–141.
- Dekker, A., and Thula, K. (2017). Sexting as a risk?: on consensual and nonconsensual distribution of personal erotic pictures using digital media. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz* 60, 1034–1039. doi: 10.1007/s00103-017-2595-9
- Dijkstra, J. K., Cillessen, A. H. N., Lindenberg, S., and Veenstra, R. (2010). Basking in reflected glory and its limits: why adolescents hang out with popular peers. *J. Res. Adolesc.* 20, 942–958. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00671.x
- Döring, N. (2014). Consensual sexting among adolescents: risk prevention through abstinence education or safer sexting? *Cyberpsychol. J. Psychosoc. Res. Cybersp.* 8. doi: 10.5817/CP2014-1-9
- Elipe, P., Mora-Merchán, J. A., and Nacimiento, L. (2017). Development and validation of an instrument to assess the impact of cyberbullying: the cybervictimization emotional impact scale. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 20, 479–485. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2017.0069
- Flora, D. B., and Curran, P. J. (2004). An empirical evaluation of alternative methods of estimation for confirmatory factor analysis with ordinal data. *Psychol. Methods* 9, 466–491. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.9.4.466
- Gámez-Guadix, M., De Santisteban, P., and Resett, S. A. (2017). Sexting among Spanish adolescents: prevalence and personality profiles. *Psicothema* 29, 29–34. doi: 10.7334/psicothema2016.222
- Gewirtz-Meydan, A., Mitchell, K. J., and Rothman, E. F. (2018). What do kids think about sexting? *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 86, 256–265. doi: 10.1016/j. chb.2018.04.007
- Giménez Gualdo, A. M., Hunter, S. C., Durkin, K., Arnaiz, P., and Maquilón, J. J. (2015). The emotional impact of cyberbullying: differences in perceptions and experiences as a function of role. *Comput. Educ.* 82, 228–235. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2014.11.013
- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

- Influence Central (2016). Kids and Tech: The Evolution of Today's Digital Natives|Influence Central. Influ. Cent. Available at: http://influence-central. com/kids-tech-the-evolution-of-todays-digital-natives/ (Accessed July 15, 2019).
- Jasso Medrano, J. L., Lopez Rosales, F., and Gámez-Guadix, M. (2018). Assessing the links of sexting, cybervictimization, depression, and suicidal ideation among university students. *Arch. Suicide Res.* 22, 153–164. doi: 10.1080/13811118.2017.1304304
- Klettke, B., Hallford, D., and Mellor, D. J. (2014). Sexting prevalence and correlates: a systematic literature review. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 34, 44–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2013.10.007
- Lee, M., and Crofts, T. (2015). Gender, pressure, coercion and pleasure: untangling motivations for sexting between young people. *Br. J. Criminol.* 55, 454–473. doi: 10.1093/bjc/azu075
- Lenhart, A. (2009). Teens and sexting: how and why minor teens are sending sexually suggestive nude or nearly nude images via text messaging. (Washington). Available at: https://www.pewinternet.org/2009/12/15/teens-and-sexting/
- Lievens, E. (2014). Bullying and sexting in social networks: protecting minors from criminal acts or empowering minors to cope with risky behaviour? *Int. J. Law Crime Justice* 42, 251–270. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlcj.2014.02.001
- Lippman, J. R., and Campbell, S. W. (2014). Damned if you do, damned if you don't...If you're a girl: relational and normative contexts of adolescent sexting in the United States. J. Child. Media 8, 371–386. doi: 10.1080/ 17482798.2014.923009
- Livingstone, S., and Görzig, A. (2014). When adolescents receive sexual messages on the internet: {Explaining} experiences of risk and harm. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 33, 8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.12.021
- Madigan, S., Ly, A., Rash, C. L., Temple, J. R., and Van Ouytsel, J. (2018). Prevalence of multiple forms of sexting behavior among youth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* 172, 327–335. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2017.5314
- Marume, A., Maradzika, J., and January, J. (2018). Adolescent sexting and risky sexual behaviours in Zimbabwe: a cross-sectional study. Sex. Cult. 22, 931–941. doi: 10.1007/s12119-018-9508-4
- Mitchell, K. J., Finkelhor, D., Jones, L. M., and Wolak, J. (2012). Prevalence and characteristics of youth sexting: a national study. *Pediatrics* 129, 13–20. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-1730
- Morelli, M., Bianchi, D., Baiocco, R., Pezzuti, L., and Chirumbolo, A. (2016). Sexting, psychological distress and dating violence among adolescents and young adults. *Psicothema* 28, 137–142. doi: 10.7334/psicothema2015.193
- Morelli, M., Bianchi, D., Baiocco, R., Pezzuti, L., and Chirumbolo, A. (2017). Sexting behaviors and cyber pornography addiction among adolescents: the moderating role of alcohol consumption. *Sex. Res. Soc. Policy* 14, 113–121. doi: 10.1007/s13178-016-0234-0
- Nesi, J., and Prinstein, M. J. (2015). Using social media for social comparison and feedback-seeking: gender and popularity moderate associations with depressive symptoms. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 43, 1427–1438. doi: 10.1007/ s10802-015-0020-0
- Norman, J. (2017). Implications of parenting behaviour and adolescent attachment for understanding adolescent sexting. *Electron. Theses Diss.* Available at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/7285
- Ortega, R., Elipe, P., Mora-Merchán, J. A., Genta, M. L., Brighi, A., Guarini, A., et al. (2012). The emotional impact of bullying and cyberbullying on victims: a European Cross-National Study. Aggress. Behav. 38, 342–356. doi: 10.1002/ab.21440
- Prinstein, M. J., Choukas-Bradley, S. C., Helms, S. W., Brechwald, W. A., and Rancourt, D. (2011). High peer popularity longitudinally predicts adolescent health risk behavior, or does it?: an examination of linear and quadratic associations. J. Pediatr. Psychol. 36, 980–990. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsr053
- Reyns, B. W., Burek, M. W., Henson, B., and Fisher, B. S. (2013). The unintended consequences of digital technology: exploring the relationship between sexting and cybervictimization. *J. Crime Justice* 36, 1–17. doi: 10.1080/0735648X. 2011.641816
- Rice, E., Rhoades, H., Winetrobe, H., Sanchez, M., Montoya, J., Plant, A., et al. (2012). Sexually explicit cell phone messaging associated with sexual risk among adolescents. *Pediatrics* 130, 667–673. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-0021
- Ringrose, J., Harvey, L., Gill, R., and Livingstone, S. (2013). Teen girls, sexual double standards and 'sexting': gendered value in digital image exchange. *Fem. Theory* 14, 305–323. doi: 10.1177/1464700113499853

- Santor, D. A., Messervey, D., and Kusumakar, V. (2000). Measuring peer pressure, popularity, and conformity in adolescent boys and girls: predicting school performance, sexual attitudes, and substance abuse. J. Youth Adolesc. 29, 163–182. doi: 10.1023/A:1005152515264
- Satorra, A., and Bentler, P. M. (2001). A scaled difference chi-square test statistic for moment structure analysis. *Psychometrika* 66, 507–514. doi: 10.1007/ BF02296192
- Schmitz, S., and Siry, L. (2011). Teenage folly or child abuse? State responses to "sexting" by minors in the U.S. and Germany. *Policy Internet* 3, 25–50. doi: 10.2202/1944-2866.1127
- Salter, M. (2016). Privates in the online public: Sex(ting) and reputation on social media. New Media Soc. 18, 2723–2739. doi: 10.1177/1461444815604133
- Slonje, R., Smith, P. K., and Frisén, A. (2017). Perceived reasons for the negative impact of cyberbullying and traditional bullying. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* 14, 295–310. doi: 10.1080/17405629.2016.1200461
- Speno, A. G. (2016). Adolescent sexting: an examination of the psychosocial contributions to the creation and sharing of sexual images. doi: 10.32469/10355/56990
- Strasburger, V. C., Jordan, A. B., and Donnerstein, E. (2012). Children, adolescents, and the media: health effects. *Pediatr. Clin.* 59, 533–587. doi: 10.1016/j. pcl.2012.03.025
- Strassberg, D. S., Cann, D., and Velarde, V. (2017). Sexting by high school students. Arch. Sex. Behav. 46, 1667–1672. doi: 10.1007/s10508-016-0926-9
- Symons, K., Ponnet, K., Walrave, M., and Heirman, W. (2018). Sexting scripts in adolescent relationships: is sexting becoming the norm? *New Media Soc.* 20, 3836–3857. doi: 10.1177/1461444818761869
- Temple, J. R., and Choi, H. J. (2014). Longitudinal association between teen sexting and sexual behavior. *Pediatrics* 134, 1287–1292. doi: 10.1542/ peds.2014-1974
- Utz, S., Tanis, M., and Vermeulen, I. (2012). It is all about being popular: the effects of need for popularity on social network site use. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 15, 37–42. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0651
- Van Ouytsel, J., Van Gool, E., Ponnet, K., and Walrave, M. (2014a). Brief report: the association between adolescents' characteristics and engagement in sexting. J. Adolesc. 37, 1387–1391. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2014.10.004
- Van Ouytsel, J., Walrave, M., Ponnet, K., and Heirman, W. (2015). The association between adolescent sexting, psychosocial difficulties, and risk behavior. J. Sch. Nurs. 31, 54–69. doi: 10.1177/1059840514541964
- Van Ouytsel, J., Walrave, M., and Van Gool, E. (2014b). Sexting: between thrill and fear—how schools can respond. *Clear. House A: J. Educ. Strateg. Issues Ideas* 87, 204–212. doi: 10.1080/00098655.2014.918532
- Vanden Abeele, M., Campbell, S. W., Eggermont, S., and Roe, K. (2014). Sexting, mobile porn use, and peer group dynamics: boys' and girls' self-perceived popularity, need for popularity, and perceived peer pressure. *Media Psychol.* 17, 6–33. doi: 10.1080/15213269.2013.801725
- Villacampa, C. (2017). Teen sexting: prevalence, characteristics and legal treatment. Int. J. Law Crime Justice 49, 10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlcj.2017.01.002
- Walker, K., and Sleath, E. (2017). A systematic review of the current knowledge regarding revenge pornography and non-consensual sharing of sexually explicit media. *Aggress. Violent Behav.* 36, 9–24. doi: 10.1016/j. avb.2017.06.010
- West, J. H., Lister, C. E., Hall, P. C., Crookston, B. T., Snow, P. R., Zvietcovich, M. E., et al. (2014). Sexting among peruvian adolescents. *BMC Public Health* 14:811. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-811
- Wolak, J., Finkelhor, D., and Mitchell, K. J. (2012). How often are teens arrested for sexting? Data from a national sample of police cases. *Pediatrics* 129, 4–12. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2242
- Wood, M., Barter, C., Stanley, N., Aghtaie, N., and Larkins, C. (2015). Images across Europe: the sending and receiving of sexual images and associations with interpersonal violence in young people's relationships. *Child Youth Serv. Rev.* 59, 149–160. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.11.005
- Woodward, V. H., Evans, M., and Brooks, M. (2017). Social and psychological factors of rural youth sexting: an examination of gender-specific models. *Deviant Behav.* 38, 461–476. doi: 10.1080/01639625.2016.1197020
- Wright, M. F. (2018). Popularity and social preference pressure from parents, friends, and the media: linkages to aggressive and prosocial behaviors. *Youth Soc.* 0044118X1877322. doi: 10.1177/0044118X18773222

Ybarra, M. L., and Mitchell, K. J. (2014). "Sexting" and its relation to sexual activity and sexual risk behavior in a national survey of adolescents. J. Adolesc. Health 55, 757–764. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.07.012

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. Copyright © 2019 Del Rey, Ojeda, Casas, Mora-Merchán and Elipe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Character Strengths Lead to Satisfactory Educational Outcomes Through Strength Use: A Longitudinal Analysis

Xiaoqing Tang¹, Yumei Li², Wenjie Duan^{3,4*}, Wenlong Mu⁵ and Xinfeng Cheng⁴

¹ School of Philosophy, Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, Wuhan, China, ² School of Sociology, Wuhan University, Wuhan, China, ³ School of Social & Public Administration, East China University of Science and Technology, Shanghai, China, ⁴ School of Economics and Management, Xi'an Technological University, Xi'an, China, ⁵ School of Economics and Management, Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

Despite the flourishing of positive education, understanding of whether different character strengths have different predictive effects on academic achievement/wellbeing and the mechanisms of actions between character strengths are limited. Specifically, this study adopted strength use as a mediator to understand how character strength (assessed by caring, inquisitiveness, and self-control) is associated with students' end-of-year academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being. Survey data from 349 adolescents from three different schools showed that three factors of character strengths have positive correlations with academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being. Regression models indicated that inquisitiveness and selfcontrol predicted academic achievements, while caring, inguisitiveness, and self-control predicted eudaimonic well-being, with the foremost as the strongest predictor. Mediation analyses indicated that (1) strengths use fully mediated the relationship between inquisitiveness, self-control, and academic achievements/eudaimonic well-being, while (2) caring had a direct effect on eudaimonic well-being. These findings provided possible explanations on how character strengths could affect students' academic achievements or eudaimonic well-being and theoretical and empirical evidence for practices that aim to enhance students' academic achievements and positive developments via interventions based on character strengths.

Keywords: character strengths, strengths use, academic achievement, eudaimonic well-being, positive education, positive development, adolescents, longitudinal analysis

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, the flourishing of positive psychology has corrected the imbalances in traditional psychological research and practices. Positive psychology deals with the positive aspects of human functioning (e.g., courage, perseverance, forgiveness, and originality), valued experience (e.g., well-being, contentment, satisfaction, and hope), civic virtues, and the institutions that move individuals toward good citizenship (e.g., responsibility, altruism, civility, and work ethic) (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). The core theme of positive psychology is "character

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michael S. Dempsey, Boston University, United States

Reviewed by:

Anat Shoshani, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Israel Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

> *Correspondence: Wenjie Duan duan.w@outlook.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 12 February 2019 Accepted: 24 July 2019 Published: 27 August 2019

Citation:

Tang X, Li Y, Duan W, Mu W and Cheng X (2019) Character Strengths Lead to Satisfactory Educational Outcomes Through Strength Use: A Longitudinal Analysis. Front. Psychol. 10:1829. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01829 strengths" (Peterson and Seligman, 2004), which can be conceptualized as the positive qualities or dispositions of interests, talents, values, emotions, and thoughts manifested by individuals (Park and Peterson, 2009).

An increasing number of psychologists and educators suggest the application of positive psychology elements in this field to eliminate the negative tendency in traditional education, enhance the balance in education, and deepen its essence (Seligman et al., 2009; Shoshani and Steinmetz, 2014; Shoshani and Slone, 2017). Unlike traditional education that focuses on accomplishments, positive education proposes that accomplishments (e.g., academic achievements) and wellbeing are equally important components in the development of students' life outcomes (International Positive Education Network, 2019). Well-being emphasizes individuals' positive functioning, including competence, engagement, meaning and purpose, optimism, self-acceptance, supportive relationships, well-being of others, and being respected (Ryff and Keyes, 1995; Diener et al., 2010; Duan and Xie, 2019). Positive education advocates that character strengths is a potential pathway to facilitate students' academic achievements and well-being in the educational context (Seligman et al., 2009; International Positive Education Network, 2019).

Peterson and Seligman (2004) developed the Values in Action (VIA) classification as a systematic framework to study character strengths. However, their two-tier structure of six virtues and 24 character strengths was unsupported by most empirical studies (e.g., Macdonald et al., 2008; Duan et al., 2012; Azañedo et al., 2014) with one exception (Ruch and Proyer, 2015). These results suggest that an alternative factor structure of character strengths can be developed. After the careful controlling of cultural influence, a few scholars have independently found the effectiveness of 24 character strengths grouped into a threefactor structure using various samples and instruments (e.g., Duan et al., 2012; McGrath, 2015; Duan and Bu, 2017; Duan and Ho, 2017; Park et al., 2017), namely, caring, inquisitiveness, and self-control. Caring indicates the strengths (e.g., kindness, authenticity, and fairness) involved in maintaining agreeable relations toward others, inquisitiveness indicates the strengths (e.g., curiosity, creativity, and zest) that describe the curiosity and creativity to associate oneself with all life in the world, and selfcontrol indicates the strengths (e.g., self-regulation, judgment, and love of learning) reflecting the regulation and adaptation ability in achieving values and goals (Duan and Bu, 2017). McGrath (2019) implied that the three-factor model is a reliable latent structure of the VIA classification form from cultural and psychological perspectives.

Extant studies have demonstrated that character strengths were positively related to the cognitive and emotional types of educational outcomes, including academic achievements (Lounsbury et al., 2009; Kern and Bowling, 2015) and wellbeing (Tang et al., 2016; Hausler et al., 2017). However, three dimensions of character strengths were found to have a different focus on academic achievements or well-being. For instance, although a study found that the intrapersonal, intellectual, and interpersonal strengths are positively correlated with grade point average above demographic covariates, only the intrapersonal strength was significant when predicting the growth of grade point average (Park et al., 2017). A longitudinal study that followed 417 students and 13 teachers from four public middle schools found that temperance and intellectual strength, rather than interpersonal strength, were central in the prediction of students' academic performances and achievements (Shoshani and Slone, 2013). Notwithstanding, in a two-year study of high school students, only other-directed strengths (similar to caring strengths) were strong predictors of well-being when controlling the influence of the temperance and intellectual strengths (Gillham et al., 2011). In the framework of positive education, academic achievements, and well-being must be developed simultaneously, however, the abovementioned studies only separately discussed the relationship between character strengths and academic achievements or well-being. Identifying the profiles of strengths that are strongly linked to academic achievements and well-being is crucial.

More importantly, in line with Linley et al. (2006), exploring the processes and mechanisms that lead to valued educational outcomes should be one of the key issues of positive education. Peterson and Seligman (2004) emphasized that individuals with specific character strengths act in accordance with such strengths and be intrinsically motivated to use them. When people use their character strengths, they follow their own will and natural capacities to fulfill their potential and achieve their goals, which would lead to valued outcomes such as achievements and wellbeing (Linley and Harrington, 2006). Consequently, the Aware-Explore-Apply (A-E-A) model was proposed to describe how strength-based approaches lead to valued outcomes (Niemiec, 2013). The awareness phase aims to help individuals build the knowledge of their strengths, the exploring phase allows participants to understand how character strengths relate to valued outcomes through past and current experiences, and finally, the applying phase focuses on using character strengths in daily settings.

According to the A-E-A model, strength knowledge and strength use were two successive phases, with the former as the "launching point" (Shankland and Rosset, 2017). However, Zhang and Chen (2018) argued that if a person knows his character strengths well but never uses them, then he is unlikely to gain many benefits from these strengths. Therefore, strengths use is the direct route although strength knowledge is a prerequisite for obtaining valuable outcomes. Consistent with this, Quinlan et al. (2015) attempted a six-session intervention with 9- to 12-year-old students and found that rather than strength knowledge, strength use was associated with well-being changes and achievements. Thereafter, in a 1-year randomized controlled intervention Duan et al. (2018a) found that changes in strength use were significantly correlated with well-being, whereas changes in the awareness and recognition of character strengths did not significantly predict well-being. Thus, believing that strength use rather than strength knowledge was the working component is reasonable.

In sum, the above literature reviews imply the following. (a) Although general positive associations between character strengths and academic achievements/well-being are confirmed, character strengths may have different focuses when predicting educational outcomes. (b) Apart from exploring the direct

relationship between variables, clarifying the processes, and mechanisms that lead to valued educational outcomes should be more important in positive education. From the perspective of developmental psychology, the cognitive style and behavioral habits formed in adolescence play a decisive role in future life developments because people experience more rapid growth changes during this period than in any other life phases, except infancy (Carnegie Council on Adolescent Development, 1989). Under educational psychology, education received in schools is effective in shaping adolescents' cognitive styles and behavioral habits because they spend considerable time in these institutions (McLaughlin and Clarke, 2010). Therefore, the present study aims to address the abovementioned gaps by using longitudinal data from adolescents. Specifically, the following hypotheses are examined: (a) self-control and inquisitiveness strengths are stronger than caring when predicting academic achievements; (b) caring strengths are stronger than selfcontrol and inquisitiveness when predicting well-being; and (c) strength use plays a mediating role between character strengths and valued educational outcomes, including academic achievements, and well-being.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the mediation role of strength use between the three-dimensional model of character strengths and educational outcomes among adolescents. The longitudinal design is used with the perspective of positive education. The results further clarify the key factors at work in the A-E-A model and then provide guidance for future effective strength interventions based on such model. Moreover, the findings can help educators develop effective strength-based positive education programs to improve students' academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being, as well as provide enlightenment significance to conduct positive education projects for teachers and practitioners in the future.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedures

Participants included seventh to ninth grade students from three urban middle schools in Guangxi, Jiangsu, and Chongqing, China. All students in the said grade levels were welcome to participate in the present study. The three participating schools are all ordinary middle schools and were selected according to convenience. In each school, recruitment announcements were posted on the notice board 3 days before data collection. Data were collected through a paper-and-pencil method by trained master students majoring in social work. Parents and students signed consent forms before the latter completed the surveys.

The questionnaires were completed during the academic year. Different measures were used at each time point to test the predictive ability of character strengths. Character strengths and strength use were assessed at the beginning of the spring semester (February 2016) for the academic year 2015–2016 (Time 1). The order of scales was randomized to reduce any systematic order effect. Eudaimonic well-being was measured at the end of the same semester (July 2016), and the final exam grades were collected from the official school records (Time 2). In this survey,

359 students participated at Time 1, and 356 students participated at Time 2. Three students did not complete Time 2 because they transferred to another school. Seven students who forgot or missed to fill out all the items were removed. Finally, a total of 349 responses (193 females and 156 males, mean age = 13.64, SD = 0.94, age range = 12–17) were considered valid.

Instruments

Three-Dimensional Inventory of Character Strengths (TICS)

Character strengths were measured using the self-reported 15item TICS (Duan and Bu, 2017) on a five-point Likert scale (1 = "very much unlike me" to 5 = "very much like me"). Caring (e.g., "I enjoy being kind to others"), inquisitiveness (e.g., "I am always coming up with new ways to do things"), and selfcontrol (e.g., "I am a highly disciplined person") were identified in previous empirical studies (Duan et al., 2012; Duan and Ho, 2017). High mean scores indicate considerable character strengths. Prior research has showed an acceptable goodnessof-fit of TICS (factor loadings = 0.492–0.814), as well as good internal consistency and invariant structures between Western and Eastern societies, medical and community populations, and across gender and age groups (Duan and Bu, 2017). In the present study, the reliabilities of caring (α = 0.85), inquisitiveness (α = 0.82), and self-control (α = 0.78) were excellent.

Strength Use Scale (SUS)

Strength use was assessed by the 14-item SUS (Govindji and Linley, 2007). The scale was preceded by the following prompt: "The following questions ask you about your strengths, that is, the things that you are able to do well or do best." Responses from the SUS (e.g., "I am able to use my strengths in lots of different situations") were all made on a seven-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree). High mean scores in each scale indicate high levels of strength use. The goodness-of-fit indices of the revised Chinese version were satisfied among adolescents (Duan et al., 2018b), with the standardized factor loadings ranging from 0.52 to 0.91. In the present study, the SUS Cronbach alpha was 0.96.

Educational Outcomes

Academic achievement was assessed through the final exam grades. The official school records provided final exam grades for eight major academic courses, including Chinese, Mathematics, English, History, Geography, Biology, Physics, and Chemistry. The middle schools follow the normal grading systems in China. All students are required to attend the formal final exams. A student who is absent from the exam could make up the test in a later period. We averaged the final exam grades of the participants in the said courses to reflect academic achievements. The level of eudaimonic well-being was assessed by an eightitem flourishing scale (FS), which describes human functioning from a broad perspective (i.e., competence, engagement, meaning and purpose, optimism, self-acceptance, supportive relationships, well-being of others, and being respected) (Diener et al., 2010; Duan and Xie, 2019). A seven-point Likert scale (1 = "strongly disagree"; 7 = "strongly agree") was adopted to rate items such as "I am engaged and interested in my daily activities." The mean score of the entire scale indicates the overall eudaimonic well-being. The goodness-of-fit indexes indicated that the single-factor model of the FS adequately fits the total, male, and female samples among adolescents, and the standardized factor loadings are higher than 0.56 (Duan and Xie, 2019). The solid single-factor structure, convergent, and discriminant validity of the FS likewise proved solid among the Chinese community (Tang et al., 2016). In the present study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.93.

Analytic Strategy

The means, standard deviation (SD), McDonald's omega (ω), and Peterson's coefficient inter-correlations were calculated for all variables using JASP 0.8.1.2. The three character strengths and strength use were positively related to students' academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being. Subsequently, two regression analyses were performed to examine the relative contributions of the character strengths (caring, inquisitiveness, and self-control) and strength use to educational outcomes (i.e., academic achievement and eudaimonic well-being). In the first regression with academic achievement as the dependent variable, gender and age were set as the control variables in Step 1, followed by the three strengths in Step 2 and strength use in Step 3. Similarly, the second regression replicated the steps, but with the dependent variable as eudaimonic well-being. Finally, on the basis of the regression results, two mediation models were constructed using Mplus 7.0 to examine the direct and indirect effects of strength use between the abovementioned three character strengths and academic achievements/eudaimonic well-being. Maximum likelihood (ML) estimation was adopted. To evaluate the model fit, we used the comparative fit index (CFI > 0.90), Tucker-Lewis index (TLI > 0.90), standardized root mean squared residual (SRMR < 0.80), and root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA < 0.08) to indicate close and reasonable fit (Hu and Bentler, 1999).

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations

Table 1 reports the descriptive and correlation statistics. As expected, character strengths and strength use were positively related to students' academic achievements and eudaimonic wellbeing (r = 0.17-0.79, p < 0.001). Moreover, character strengths were positively related to strength use (r = 0.32-0.55, p < 0.001).

Regressions

Table 2 summarizes the regression results. Gender and age could not significantly explain the variance with academic achievements or eudaimonic well-being. Specifically, when predicting academic achievements, only inquisitiveness and self-control were positive predictors, which explained 9.20% of variances. Strength use became the only significant predictor after entering Step 3, which additionally contributed 2.30% variances to academic achievements. When predicting eudaimonic wellbeing, all three character strengths significantly explained 38.90% of variances beyond demographic variables. After entering

strength use in Step 3, caring strength remained a significant predictor of eudaimonic well-being, whereas inquisitiveness and self-control were not. In general, strength use contributed additional explanations to academic achievements ($\Delta R^2 = 0.023$, p < 0.001) and eudaimonic well-being ($\Delta R^2 = 0.133$, p < 0.001) beyond character strengths.

Structural Equation Models to Test Mediation Effects

The abovementioned results showed that the specific dimensions of character strengths have different effects on specific outcome variables. Hence, two initial structural equation models (SEM) were constructed accordingly. In Model 1, inquisitiveness and self-control were used as correlated predictors, strength use was used as a mediator, and academic achievement was used as an outcome. In Model 2, the three character strengths were used as correlated predictors, strength use was used as a mediator, and eudaimonic well-being was used as an outcome. The fit indices of the initial Model 1 ($\chi^2 = 842.026$, df = 269, SRMR = 0.042, RMSEA = 0.078, CFI = 0.904, TLI = 0.893) and Model 2 (χ^2 = 1883.559, df = 619, SRMR = 0.058, RMSEA = 0.077, CFI = 0.868, TLI = 0.858) were acceptable. When the direct paths from dependent variables to academic achievements/eudaimonic well-being were non-significant, such paths were removed from the model, and the parsimonious version was re-run to include only significant paths. The final Model 1 ($\chi^2 = 849.433$, df = 271, SRMR = 0.044, RMSEA = 0.078, CFI = 0.903, TLI = 0.893) and Model 2 (χ^2 = 1891.069, df = 622, SRMR = 0.058, RMSEA = 0.076, CFI = 0.868, TLI = 0.858) were constructed with an unchanged goodness-of-fit.

Figure 1 shows the parameter estimates of Model 1. The direct effects of character strengths on academic achievements were non-significant (p > 0.05), whereas the indirect effects of inquisitiveness ($\beta = 0.125$, SE = 0.039, p < 0.001) and self-control ($\beta = 0.085$, SE = 0.036, p < 0.05) via strength use on academic achievements were significant.

Figure 2 exhibits the parameter estimates of Model 2. The direct effect of caring on eudaimonic well-being was significant ($\beta = 0.433$, SE = 0.040, p < 0.001). The indirect effects of

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1 Strengths use	_	0.51***	0.32***	0.55***	0.60***	0.30***
2 Self-control		-	0.53***	0.63***	0.51***	0.27***
3 Caring			_	0.51***	0.56***	0.17***
4 Inquisitiveness				_	0.48***	0.27***
5 Well-being					_	0.29***
6 Academic achievement						—
Mean	4.73	3.42	4.02	3.49	5.30	78.21
SD	1.01	0.64	0.64	0.66	1.06	8.82
Cronbach's alpha	0.96	0.78	0.85	0.82	0.93	_

***p < 0.001.

TABLE 2 | Regression results on academic achievement and flourishing (n = 349).

Independent variables	D	ependent variables: academic achievement	
		Beta (<i>t</i>)	
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Gender	-0.053 (-0.964)	-0.064 (0.232)	-0.050 (-0.937)
Age	-0.049 (-0.878)	-0.047 (0.372)	-0.045 (-0.862)
Caring		0.004 (0.950)	0.010 (0.165)
Inquisitiveness		0.170*(0.014 ⁾	0.094 (1.294)
Self-control		00.156*(0.026)	0.105 (1.478)
Strengths use			0.188**(2.963)
R ² (F)	0.004 (0.683)	0.092 (6.922***)	0.114 (7.362***)
$\Delta R^2 (\Delta F)$		0.088 (11.041***)	0.023 (8.778**)
Independent variables	Dependent variables: wellbein	g	
Gender	-0.002 (-0.029)	-0.011 (-0.252)	0.023 (0.605)
Age	0.003 (0.045)	0.001 (0.020)	0.006 (0.160)
Caring		0.372***(7.193)	0.387***(8.454)
Inquisitiveness		0.154**(2.730)	-0.030 (-0.553)
Self-control		0.212***(3.705)	0.088 (1.695)
Strengths use			0.455***(9.782)
R ² (F)	<0.001 (0.002)	0.389 (43.754***)	0.523 (62.476***)
$\Delta R^2 (\Delta F)$		0.389 (72.921***)	0.133 (95.692***)

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01



inquisitiveness (β = 0.202, SE = 0.056, p < 0.001) and self-control (β = 0.132, SE = 0.055, p < 0.05) via strength use on eudaimonic well-being were significant.

DISCUSSION

The present study mainly aimed to systematically explore the profiles of strengths that highly relate to academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being and then test the mediation effect of strength use. As expected, the three character strengths (i.e., caring, self-control, and inquisitiveness) showed significant positive correlations with academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being. Regressions indicated that inquisitiveness and self-control significantly predicted academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being, but caring significantly predicted eudaimonic well-being rather than academic achievements. The SEM results further indicated that strength use mediated the predictive effects of inquisitiveness and self-control on academic achievements/eudaimonic well-being, whereas caring showed a direct effect on eudaimonic well-being. Overall, these results supported our hypotheses and suggested that strength use could be an internal mechanism between the relationship of character strengths and educational outcomes.

The hierarchical regression models revealed interesting findings. Inquisitiveness and self-control predicted academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being, whereas caring was a stronger predictor of eudaimonic well-being than inquisitiveness



and self-control. These findings highlight the different functions of character strengths for educational outcomes. According to the strength model of self-control, students with high self-control love learning and are good at effectively managing study time and directing their efforts toward one area, which promote their academic achievements (Tangney et al., 2004; Duckworth and Seligman, 2006). Inquisitiveness, as a form of intrinsic motivation, was associated with curiosity, bravery, zest, and reflected intellectual endeavors (McGrath, 2015; Oudeyer et al., 2016). This trait is regarded as the important pillar of academic achievements (von Stumm et al., 2011). Caring strengths are those that maintain good relations toward others, and studies have shown that these strengths are more strongly connected to eudaimonic well-being than intellectual strengths (similar to inquisitiveness strengths) and strengths of restraints (similar to self-control strengths) (Martinez-Marti and Ruch, 2017).

The SEM results revealed that strength use mediated the relationships between inquisitiveness/self-control and academic achievements/eudaimonic well-being. The self-concordant model (Sheldon and Elliot, 1999) suggested that attaining goals that are self-concordant would obtain more beneficial outcomes (e.g., achievement and eudaimonic well-being) than those that are not. People who use their character strengths would stay true to their interests and values, which would help set selfconcordant goals. For example, in a study of university students, using signature strengths offered a reliable pathway of setting and attaining self-concordant goals, which in turn promoted positive affect and eudaimonic well-being (Linley et al., 2010). A new study used the within-person approach by recording fluctuations in the strength use of 87 Norwegian naval cadets over the course of 30 working days. Individuals were found to experience a peak in positive affect and work engagement on days when they used their core strengths (Bakker et al., 2019).

Unexpectedly, in the present study, strength use did not play a role in the relationship between caring and eudaimonic

well-being. The conceptual overlaps between strengths and values could provide a tentative explanation. This overlap can lead people to the overestimation of the similarity of others' actions and thoughts to their own, and the underestimation of their own prowess may lead to blindness regarding their own strengths, such as kindness, curiosity, and bravery, especially for people whose values have evolved (Biswas-Diener et al., 2011). Caring is deeply embedded in Chinese culture. Chinese people could obtain a high level of well-being by adapting to social and ethical norms (Suh et al., 1998), such as making their significant others (e.g., family member) feel happy (i.e., caring) (Ho, 2010). For certain Chinese, caring is viewed as the "right thing" rather than an "extraordinary thing." As such, they do not realize that caring is a character strength and therefore do not consider actions of caring as strength use. Similarly, considering the role and function of strength knowledge is valuable. What needs acknowledgment is that the overcoming of strength blindness could be beneficial in improving individuals' self-efficacy and self-confidence, which in turn could affect individual well-being (Waters, 2015). Self-determination theory likewise indicates that the fulfillment of psychological needs for competence enhances personal developments and well-being (Ryan and Deci, 2000, 2001). Strength use could be practiced and developed over time and then deliver sustainable benefits, but strength knowledge could move from "no" (strengths knowledge = 0) to "have" (strengths knowledge = 1) and then deliver an initial benefit (Duan et al., 2018a). Thus, as suggested by Duan et al. (2018a), strength knowledge can be set as a binary variable to investigate its role between character strengths and outcomes in future studies.

This study has several theoretical and practical implications. On the one hand, the study provides evidence on the causal relationship between the three character strengths and academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being, as well as an underlying mechanism of how character strengths

Strengths and Educational Outcomes

contribute to educational outcomes by considering strength use. These results extend the A-E-A model and previous research on the association between character strengths and educational outcomes. Most importantly, this study points out that strength use plays a key role in the A-E-A model, which proves the effectiveness of strength use in strength-based interventions. On the other hand, the findings demonstrated the sights of character strengths and positive education for current and future educational programs and provided practical implications for teachers and practitioners who wish to enhance students' academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being. Encouraging students to use their strengths is an effective guiding strategy for educators, teachers, and school coaches, and strategies for different goals must be targeted. For instance, if the intervention aims to promote students' academic achievements, cultivating their use of inquisitiveness and self-control could be a better choice than cultivating their use of caring. Moreover, teachers and practitioners could likewise benefit from a positive education program. Hence, the results of this study likewise provide enlightenment for strength-based interventions conducted for teachers and practitioners.

Limitations and Future Directions

Despite these interesting and meaningful implications, several limitations of the present study must be highlighted. First, although character strengths are important factors in the positive educational context, their importance must not be overexpanded. Spengler et al. (2016) found that the characteristics, intelligence quotient, and perception of the academic ability of students likewise predicted the stable part of their grades. Second, the present study does not address the mechanisms of how strength use affects educational outcomes and the other potential mechanisms between character strengths and educational outcomes. For instance, Allan and Duffy (2014) found that the presence of calling moderates the relationship between strength use and satisfaction in the life and academic domains. Gillham et al. (2011) argued that other-directed (similar to caring) strengths could predict high well-being via the mediation effect of social support. Hence, more elements could be incorporated into the study of the educational context to reveal other influencing factors in favor of valued educational outcomes in the future. Third, the samples were collected in selected institutions, the inherent nature of which may influence the results. For instance, certain schools would substantially focus on academic achievements, whereas others may remarkably focus on the development of learned quality. In the future, a great diversity of samples and different school levels are necessary to ensure generalizable findings. Fourth, although the present study has a smaller sample size than the ideal, which is a size-to-parameter ratio of 20:1 (Kline, 2010), it met the less ideal criterion (i.e.,

REFERENCES

- Allan, B. A., and Duffy, R. D. (2014). Examining moderators of signature strengths use and well-being: calling and signature strengths level. J. Happiness Stud. 15, 323–337. doi: 10.1007/s10902-013-9424-0
- Azañedo, C. M., Fernández-Abascal, E. G., and Barraca, J. (2014). Character strengths in Spain: validation of the values in action inventory of strengths

size-to-parameter ratio between 10:1 and 15:1) recommended by Thompson (2000). Previous studies, such as those conducted by Lowe (2018) and Feldt et al. (2015), have adopted such a sample size for model fitting. Therefore, our current sample size can be justified. However, increasing the sample size in the future is worth taking to facilitate results in further research.

CONCLUSION

The character strengths of inquisitiveness and self-control predicted academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being, whereas the strength of caring only predicted eudaimonic well-being. Strengths use played a bridge between inquisitiveness/self-control and academic achievements and eudaimonic well-being, whereas caring had a direct effect on eudaimonic well-being. Positive education programs in campuses could be developed through strength-based approaches with the focus on strength use.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Human Subjects Ethics Sub-Committee of the Department of Sociology, Wuhan University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XT designed the study, analyzed the data, wrote the manuscript, and prepared the submission materials. WD and XC collected the data and comment on the original version. YL and WM helped to revise the manuscript and conducted the additional analyses.

FUNDING

This study was financially supported by the Cultivation Program of 2019 Central University Funding of Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (Grant no. 2722019PY059).

(VIA-IS) in a Spanish sample. *Clínica y Salud* 25, 123–130. doi: 10.1016/j.clysa. 2014.06.002

- Bakker, A. B., Hetland, J., Olsen, O. K., and Espevik, R. (2019). Daily strengths use and employee well-being: the moderating role of personality. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 92, 144–168. doi: 10.1111/joop.12243
- Biswas-Diener, R., Kashdan, T. B., and Minhas, G. (2011). A dynamic approach to psychological strength development and

intervention. J. Posit. Psychol. 6, 106–118. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2010. 545429

- Carnegie Council on Adolescent Development, (1989). Turning Points: Preparing American Youth for the 21st Century. New York, NY: Carnegie Corporation.
- Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Chu, K. P., Choi, D. W., Oishi, S., et al. (2010). New well-being measures: short scales to assess flourishing and positive and negative feelings. *Soc. Indic. Res.* 97, 143–156. doi: 10.1007/s11205-009-9493-y
- Duan, W., and Bu, H. (2017). Development and initial validation of a short threedimensional inventory of character strengths. *Qual. Life Res.* 26, 2519–2531. doi: 10.1007/s11136-017-1579-4
- Duan, W., Bu, H., Zhao, J., and Guo, X. (2018a). Examining the mediating roles of strengths knowledge and strengths use in a 1-year single-session character strength-based cognitive intervention. J. Happiness Stud. doi: 10.1007/s10902-018-0014-z
- Duan, W., Li, J., and Mu, W. (2018b). Psychometric characteristics of strengths knowledge scale and strengths use scale among adolescents. J. Psychoeduc. Assess. 36, 756–760. doi: 10.1177/0734282917705593
- Duan, W., and Ho, S. M. Y. (2017). Three-Dimensional model of strengths: examination of invariance across gender, age, education levels, and marriage status. *Commun. Ment. Health J.* 53, 233–240. doi: 10.1007/s10597-016-0038-y
- Duan, W., Ho, S. M. Y., Yu, B., Tang, X., Zhang, Y., Li, T., et al. (2012). Factor structure of the Chinese virtues questionnaire. *Res. Soc. Work Pract.* 22, 680–688. doi: 10.1177/1049731512450074
- Duan, W., and Xie, D. (2019). Measuring adolescent flourishing: psychometric properties of flourishing scale in a sample of Chinese adolescents. J. Psychoeduc. Assess. 37, 131–135. doi: 10.1177/0734282916655504
- Duckworth, A. L., and Seligman, M. E. P. (2006). Self-discipline gives girls the edge: gender in self-discipline, grades, and achievement test scores. J. Educ. Psychol. 98, 198–208. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.98.1.198
- Feldt, R., Lindley, K., Louison, R., Roe, A., Timm, M., and Utinkova, N. (2015). Incremental validity of the subscales of the emotional regulation related to testing scale for predicting test anxiety. *Can. J. Sch. Psychol.* 30, 193–208. doi: 10.1177/0829573514565626
- Gillham, J., Adams-Deutsch, Z., Werner, J., Reivich, K., Coulter-Heindl, V., Linkins, M., et al. (2011). Character strengths predict subjective well-being during adolescence. J. Posit. Psychol. 6, 31–44. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2010. 536773
- Govindji, R., and Linley, P. A. (2007). Strengths use, self-concordance and wellbeing: implications for strengths coaching and coaching psychologists. *Int. Coach. Psychol. Rev.* 2, 143–153.
- Hausler, M., Strecker, C., Huber, A., Brenner, M., Höge, T., and Höfer, S. (2017). Distinguishing relational aspects of character strengths with subjective and psychological well-being. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1159. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01159
- Ho, S. M. Y. (2010). "Universal happiness," in *The World Book of Happiness*, ed. L. Bormanscpesnm, (kaki bukit: Page One).
- Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Modeling* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- International Positive Education Network (2019). *Positive Education*. Available at: http://ipen-network.com/about (accessed July 30, 2019).
- Kern, M. L., and Bowling, D. S. (2015). Character strengths and academic performance in law students. J. Res. Personal. 55, 25–29. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2014. 12.003
- Kline, R. B. (2010). *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling*, 3rd Edn. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Linley, P. A., and Harrington, S. (2006). Strengths coaching: a potential-guided approach to coaching psychology. *Int. Coach. Psychol. Rev.* 1, 37–46.
- Linley, P. A., Joseph, S., Harrington, S., and Wood, A. M. (2006). Positive psychology: past, present, and (possible) future. J. Posit. Psychol. 1, 3–16. doi: 10.1080/17439760500372796
- Linley, P. A., Nielsen, K. M., Wood, A. M., Gillett, R., and Biswas-Diener, R. (2010). Using signature strengths in pursuit of goals: effects on goal progress, need satisfaction, and well-being, and implications for coaching psychologists. *Int. Coach. Psychol. Rev.* 5, 6–15.
- Lounsbury, J. W., Fisher, L. A., Levy, J. J., and Welsh, D. P. (2009). An investigation of character strengths in relation to the academic success of college students. *Individ. Differ. Res.* 7, 52–69.

- Lowe, P. A. (2018). The Test anxiety measure for college students: examination of its psychometric properties using an online survey with a Canadian sample. *Can. J. Sch. Psychol.* 33, 279–296. doi: 10.1177/082957351772 5178
- Macdonald, C., Bore, M., and Munro, D. (2008). Values in action scale and the Big 5: an empirical indication of structure. J. Res. Personal. 42, 787–799. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2007.10.003
- Martinez-Marti, M. L., and Ruch, W. (2017). Character strengths predict resilience over and above positive affect, self-efficacy, optimism, social support, selfesteem, and life satisfaction. J. Posit. Psychol. 12, 110–119. doi: 10.1080/ 17439760.2016.1163403
- McGrath, R. E. (2015). Integrating psychological and cultural perspectives on virtue: the hierarchical structure of character strengths. J. Posit. Psychol. 10, 407–424. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2014.994222
- McGrath, R. E. (2019). Refining our understanding of the VIA classification: reflections on papers by han, miller, and snow. J. Posit. Psychol. 14, 41–50. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2018.1528382
- McLaughlin, C., and Clarke, B. (2010). Relational matters: a review of the impact of school experience on mental health in early adolescence. *Educ. Child Psychol.* 27, 91–103.
- Niemiec, R. M. (2013). "VIA character strengths: Research and practice (The first 10 years)," in *Well-Being and Cultures: Perspectives on Positive Psychology*, eds H. Knoopcpesnm, and A. Delle Favecpesnm, (New York, NY: Springer), 11–29. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-4611-4_2
- Oudeyer, P. Y., Gottlieb, J., and Lopes, M. (2016). "Intrinsic motivation, curiosity, and learning: Theory and applications in educational technologies," in *Motivation: Theory, Neurobiology And Applications*, eds B. Studercpesnm, and S. Knechtcpesnm, (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Bv), 257–284. doi: 10.1016/bs. pbr.2016.05.005
- Park, D., Tsukayama, E., Goodwin, G. P., Patrick, S., and Duckworth, A. L. (2017). A tripartite taxonomy of character: evidence for intrapersonal, interpersonal, and intellectual competencies in children. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 48, 16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2016.08.001
- Park, N., and Peterson, C. (2009). Character strengths research and practice. J. Coll. Character 10, 1–10. doi: 10.2202/1940-1639.1042
- Peterson, C., and Seligman, M. E. P. (2004). Character Strengths and Virtues: A Handbook and Classification. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Quinlan, D. M., Swain, N., Cameron, C., and Vella-Brodrick, D. A. (2015). How 'other people matter' in a classroom-based strengths intervention: exploring interpersonal strategies and classroom outcomes. J. Posit. Psychol. 10, 77–89. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2014.920407
- Ruch, W., and Proyer, R. T. (2015). Mapping strengths into virtues: the relation of the 24 VIA-strengths to six ubiquitous virtues. *Front. Psychol.* 6:460. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00460
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am. Psychol. 55, 68–78. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2001). On Happiness and human potentials: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 52, 141–166. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- Ryff, C. D., and Keyes, C. L. M. (1995). The structure of psychological wellbeing revisited. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 69, 719–727. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 69.4.719
- Seligman, M. E. P., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: an introduction. Am. Psychol. 55, 5–14. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.56.1.89
- Seligman, M. E. P., Ernst, R. M., Gillham, J., Reivich, K., and Linkins, M. (2009). Positive education: positive psychology and classroom interventions. Oxford Rev. Educ. 35, 293–311. doi: 10.1080/03054980902934563
- Shankland, R., and Rosset, E. (2017). Review of brief school-based positive psychological interventions: a taster for teachers and educators. *Educ. Psychol. Rev.* 29, 363–392. doi: 10.1007/s10648-016-9357-3
- Sheldon, K. M., and Elliot, A. J. (1999). Goal striving, need satisfaction, and longitudinal well-being: the self-concordance model. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 76, 482–497. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.76.3.482
- Shoshani, A., and Slone, M. (2013). Middle school transition from the strengths perspective: young adolescents' character strengths, subjective well-being, and school adjustment. J. Happiness Stud. 14, 1163–1181. doi: 10.1007/s10902-012-9374-y

- Shoshani, A., and Slone, M. (2017). Positive education for young children: effects of a positive psychology intervention for preschool children on subjective well being and learning behaviors. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1866. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017. 01866
- Shoshani, A., and Steinmetz, S. (2014). Positive psychology at school: a school-based intervention to promote adolescents' mental health and well-being. J. Happiness Stud. 15, 1289–1311. doi: 10.1007/s10902-013-9476-1
- Spengler, M., Brunner, M., Martin, R., and Lüdtke, O. (2016). The role of personality in predicting (change in) students' academic success across four years of secondary school. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 32, 95–103. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759/a000330
- Suh, E. M., Diener, E., Oishi, S., and Triandis, H. C. (1998). The shifting basis of life satisfaction judgments across cultures: emotions versus norms. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 74, 482–493. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74. 2.482
- Tang, X. Q., Duan, W., Wang, Z., and Liu, T. T. (2016). Psychometric evaluation of the simplified Chinese version of flourishing scale. *Res. Soc. Work Pract.* 26, 591–599. doi: 10.1177/1049731514557832
- Tangney, J. P., Baumeister, R. F., and Boone, A. L. (2004). High selfcontrol predicts good adjustment, less pathology, better grades, and interpersonal success. J. Personal. 72, 271–324. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3506.2004. 00263.x

- Thompson, B. (2000). "Ten commandments of structural equation modeling," in *Reading and Understnding More Multivariate Statistics*, eds L. G. Grimmcpesnm, and P. R. Yamoldcpesnm, (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association).
- von Stumm, S., Hell, B., and Chamorro-Premuzic, T. (2011). The Hungry mind: intellectual curiosity is the third pillar of academic performance. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 6, 574–588. doi: 10.1177/1745691611421204
- Waters, L. E. (2015). Strength-based parenting and life satisfaction in teenagers. Adv. Soc. Sci. Res. J. 2, 158–173. doi: 10.14738/assrj.211.1551
- Zhang, Y. H., and Chen, M. Y. (2018). Character strengths, strengths use, future self-continuity and subjective well-being among Chinese university students. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1040. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01040

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tang, Li, Duan, Mu and Cheng, This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Relationship Between Sensation Seeking and Tobacco and Alcohol Use Among Junior High School Students: The Regulatory Effect of Parental Psychological Control

Weiguo Zhao*, Fei Xu, Wen Ding, Yining Song* and Qi Zhao

School of Psychology, Shandong Normal University, Jinan, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michael S. Dempsey, Boston University, United States

Reviewed by:

Raquel Palomera, University of Cantabria, Spain Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

*Correspondence:

Weiguo Zhao weiguozhao6090@icloud.com Yining Song 18366136281@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 09 April 2019 Accepted: 19 August 2019 Published: 04 September 2019

Citation:

Zhao W, Xu F, Ding W, Song Y and Zhao Q (2019) The Relationship Between Sensation Seeking and Tobacco and Alcohol Use Among Junior High School Students: The Regulatory Effect of Parental Psychological Control. Front. Psychol. 10:2022. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02022 The present study primarily aims to examine differences in the use of tobacco and alcohol by junior high school students under different parental control levels (including parental psychological control and parental behavioral control). It thus explores the regulatory effect of parental control on the relationship between adolescent sensation seeking and tobacco and alcohol use. A total of 1,050 junior high school students in Shandong province were surveyed using sensation-seeking scale, parental control scale, and adolescent health-related risk behavior questionnaire. As the results showed, (1) sensation seeking and gender had effects on the use of tobacco and alcohol among junior high school students; (2) parental psychological control can enhance and moderate the relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol; (3) parental behavioral control cannot regulate the relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol; were found regarding the regulatory effects of parental psychological control on sensation seeking and alcohol among junior high school students; and (4) no significant urban-rural differences were found regarding the regulatory effects of parental psychological control on sensation seeking and alcohol and tobacco use in junior high school students.

Keywords: sensation seeking, parental control, tobacco and alcohol use, junior high school students, moderating effect

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, smoking and drinking among junior high school students (mostly aged 12–15) have become a public health issue attracting great concern. According to the China Youth Tobacco Survey Report, the smoking rate of junior high school students aged 13–15 was 6.4%:10.6% for boys and 1.8% for girls, respectively (China Centre for Disease Control, 2014). According to the 2018 Alcohol and Health Status Report published by the World Health Organization, more than a quarter (26.5%) of adolescents aged 15–19 are current drinkers (World Health Organization, 2018). This rebellious phenomenon is prominent due to the imbalance between the physiological maturity and psychological maturity of junior high school students (Han et al., 2016), which is likely to cause adolescents to violate their parents' wishes and to engage in negative behaviors, such as smoking and drinking. Tobacco and alcohol use is very harmful for junior high school students, as it not only will damage their physical

134

health by affecting the central nervous system (Benowitz et al., 2016), but also could trigger some behavioral and social problems such as interest addiction, depression, anxiety, and other adverse consequences (Visser et al., 2012; Huang et al., 2014). To prevent and control the tobacco and alcohol use in junior high school students, it is necessary to explore its influencing factors and its mechanism of action.

Previous studies have studied the effects of demographic variables such as grade, gender, and urban-rural residence on the externalized behavior of tobacco and alcohol use. First, previous studies have shown that there are significant gender differences in the use of tobacco and alcohol, and boys engage in more smoking and drinking behavior than girls (Xia et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2016). Only a few studies have found that there are no significant gender differences in adolescent externalizing behavior (Wang et al., 2013). Therefore, we propose research Hypothesis 1a: there is a significant gender difference in the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students, boys engage in more smoking and drinking behavior than girls. Second, studies have shown that there are urban-rural differences in the use of tobacco and alcohol and that the proportion of smoking and drinking behavior among rural middle school students is significantly higher than that among urban middle school students (Atav and Spencer, 2002; Zhi and Chen, 2008). Therefore, we propose Hypothesis 1b: there are significant urban-rural differences in the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students, the smoking and drinking behaviors of rural middle school students were significantly higher than those of urban middle school students. Third, some studies have found that the differences in drinking behavior among young people between different grades are not significant (Lin et al., 2010). However, there are also studies that recruit students in the first, second, and third grades of junior high school as subjects that find significant grade differences in adolescents' externalized problem behaviors. Specifically, it has been found that there are significantly more problems with externalized behavior in junior three than in junior one or junior two but that there is no significant difference in problems with externalized behavior between the first and second grades (Wang et al., 2013). This difference may be because junior high school students are facing more pressure from the senior high school entrance examination, which leads them to engage in more tobacco and alcohol use behavior to relieve stress. This study focuses on the influence of parental control on the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students, and the pressure of the senior high school entrance examination is a variable that needs to be controlled. Therefore, third grade junior high school students are excluded, and Hypothesis 1c is proposed: there is no significant grade difference in the use of tobacco and alcohol by junior high school students. Finally, to lay the foundation for a comprehensive analysis and understand the influencing factors of tobacco and alcohol use, this study will first explore the relationship between demographic variables and tobacco and alcohol use and then further explore any contradictions brought to light.

Previous research has found that sensation seeking increased the risk of initiating substance use (Jensen et al., 2017). Many

studies have shown that sensation seeking is a risk factor for adolescent tobacco and alcohol use (Wang et al., 2012b; Meil et al., 2016; Yuan et al., 2016). Sensation seeking refers to individuals engaging in social, physiological, economic, or legal risk-taking behaviors because they seek novel, intense, complex, and varied emotional experiences (Chen et al., 2006; Zuckerman, 2008). Nicotine in tobacco could stimulate the central nervous system (Benowitz et al., 2016), increases the amount of dopamine in the brain (Shiffman and Kirchner, 2009). Alcohol poisoning can cause irritability, hallucinations, and other adverse symptoms. Overall speaking, tobacco and alcohol use together can make individuals happier, thus promoting more smoking and drinking behaviors in individuals with high sensation seeking (Piasecki et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2016). In addition, junior high school students have lower risk assessment ability, and thus it is easier for junior high school students who have higher sensationseeking levels to underestimate the risk of tobacco and alcohol use, resulting in more tobacco and alcohol use behaviors (Hoyle et al., 2002; Romer and Hennessy, 2007). Therefore, sensation seeking is a risk factor for the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students. We propose Hypothesis 2: sensation seeking significant positively predicted the use of tobacco and alcohol by junior high school students.

Although studies have investigated the impact of sensation seeking on problem behaviors such as tobacco and alcohol use by junior high school students, there has been less discussion about the mechanism of action between them. Social cognition theory emphasizes how individual cognition, behavior, and environmental factors and their interactions influence individual behavior (Bandura, 1997). Even individuals with the same perceptions who are living in different environments may exhibit different problems. In the family environment, parental control has an important influence on the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students. Parental control refers to a relatively stable behavior used by parents to manage and control their children. Barber et al. (1994) first proposed the division of parental control into psychological control and behavioral control based on the parent's control point source; that is, the classification criteria are based on the parent's control over the child's psychological or external behavior. Psychological control refers to parents trying to control their child's behavior by controlling their emotions, thoughts, and parent-child relationship and disrupting their children's autonomy (Wang et al., 2007; Arim and Shapka, 2008). Behavioral control refers to parents controlling the external behavior of adolescents by supervising, restricting, and establishing rules. The parent effect model argues that specific parenting behaviors, such as psychological control, can significantly influence the development of problem behavior among adolescents (Branje et al., 2008). Empirical studies have shown that there is a significant correlation between parental control and adolescent tobacco and alcohol use behavior (Ye et al., 2012; Lai et al., 2014a). However, the results of previous research on the effects of parental control of behaviors such as the use of tobacco and alcohol among adolescents are not consistent. Studies have found that psychological control has a negative impact on individual development and that parents' psychological control can significantly predict the

child's externalization behavior (Arim and Shapka, 2008; Lansford et al., 2014; Xing et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2018). Wang et al. (2007) noted that parental behavioral control can promote appropriate development outcomes (such as reduced disciplinary behavior) among adolescents. Social connection theory can explain this conclusion, which holds that the parental supervision of adolescents is an important component of social connections. When adolescents are supervised by parents, the opportunities for them to be exposed to crimes or problematic behaviors will be reduced, which can also reduce the likelihood of these problem behaviors (Hirschi, 1969). In summary, parents' behavioral control and psychological control have different effects on the behavior of junior high school students. Parental behavioral control can reduce the use of tobacco and alcohol among junior high school students, while parental psychological control can increase the use of tobacco and alcohol for junior high school students.

Studies have shown that parental regulation plays a moderating role in the relationship between socializing with problematic companions and adolescents' own problem behaviors (Wang et al., 2014). Adolescent parental monitoring also plays a moderating role in the relationship between Internet addiction and social adaptation (Wang et al., 2011); thus, it can be seen that parental supervision and control may play a moderating role in many variables involved in adolescents' adaptive behavior, but no research has examined the specific mechanism of parental control in the relationship between adolescents' sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol. Junior high school students are experiencing puberty and in a semi-mature but also seminaive mental state. The higher the level of parental psychological control is, the more easily it may provoke their rebellious psychology. These students may be more likely to violate their parents' wishes and engage in smoking and drinking behaviors. Many studies have shown that parental psychological control can positively predict behavior such as the internalization of problems such as depression in adolescents (Lai et al., 2014b; Peng et al., 2016). Junior high school students with psychological depression are more likely to engage in smoking and drinking to relieve their inner grief (Xu and Huang, 2013). High levels of parental behavioral control may reduce the chances that junior high school students are exposed to tobacco and alcohol, thereby reducing their use of these substances. Therefore, we propose Hypothesis 3: parental control can moderate the relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students; Hypothesis 3a: parental psychological control can enhance the relationship between sensation seeking and tobacco and alcohol use in junior high school students; and Hypothesis 3b: parental behavioral control can weaken the relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students.

Most previous studies have directly explored the relationship between sensation seeking and internalizing problems (e.g., depression and anxiety) or externalizing problems (e.g., alcohol and tobacco use) (Hittner and Swickert, 2006; Ko et al., 2007; Gu et al., 2012). Some studies also used family, school, and other environmental variables as exterior factors when conducting

research (Stephenson and Helme, 2006; Ye et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2017). Due to the immature psychological development of junior high school students, the phenomenon of rebellion is particularly prominent. It is particularly important to explore the role of parental control between sensation seeking and the tobacco and alcohol use, which has not been explored. Moreover, the differences between urban and rural areas in this model have not been explored. Before China began constructing the new countryside, its urban and rural areas were quite different. However, with the introduction of socialist modernization and the development of urban and rural integration, China's rural areas have entered a period of transition. The spiritual, cultural, and cognitive levels of rural residents have developed significantly, and rural education levels have made great progress. To test the moderating effect of parental control, the path model map is suitable for different regions, that is, it can be used to test consistency in the effects of demographic variables on junior high school students. By examining the consistency of rural and urban issues in family education and junior high school students' behavior in recent years and exploring the cultural and educational development gap between rural and urban areas, we further compare the moderation models. Sensation seeking is associated with novel and risky behaviors. Urban students have more adverse behaviors such as drug use than rural students, and teenagers living in urban environments have significantly higher levels of excitement seeking than those living in rural areas (Gordon and Caltabiano, 1996; Scherer et al., 2000). Therefore, to verify the existence of significant urban-rural differences in junior high school students' use of tobacco and alcohol and to establish a moderating effect model of parental control on junior high school students' sensation seeking and use of tobacco and alcohol, we will further propose Hypothesis 4: in the entire moderating model, there are significant differences between urban and rural areas, this moderating model maybe more applicable in cities than in rural areas.

In summary, we propose a moderation model based on the parental effect model and social connection theory. The following content reflects the main discussion: (1) investigate the relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students; (2) explore the moderating effect of parental control on sensation seeking and junior high school students' use of tobacco and alcohol; (3) identify whether there are significant differences between urban and rural areas in the regulation model.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 1,050 questionnaires were distributed in two ordinary junior high schools in Shandong province by cluster sampling. A total of 1,009 valid questionnaires were collected, for an effective recovery rate of 96.10%. The age range of the subjects was from 11 to 16 years, M = 13.34 years, SD = 0.71. There were 536 male students, accounting for 53.12% of the total, and 473 female students, accounting for 46.88% of the total number.

The subjects covered the seventh and eighth grades of junior high school. There were 588 students in the seventh grade, accounting for 58.28% of the total, and 421 students in eighth grade, accounting for 41.72% of the total number. Examining family residence, 321 students lived in an urban area, accounting for 31.81% of the total, and 688 lived students in a rural area, accounting for 68.19% of the total.

Measures

Sensation Seeking

Sensation seeking was measured using the Primary and Secondary Sensation-Seeking Scale (Chen et al., 2006), which includes the Disinhibition (Dis) subscale and the Excitement and Adventure Seeking (TAS) subscale. There are 15 items in each subscale, and the questionnaire uses a 3-point scale (1 = "do not want to do"; 2 = "want to do, but will not necessarily do"; 3 = "want to do if there is a chance to do it"). The scores of all items are added to obtain the original total score, and a higher total score for the subjects indicates a higher level of perceived sensation seeking. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.898. The CFA test found that structural validity was good, $\chi^2/df = 3.27$, CFI = 0.91, TLI = 0.90, RMSEA = 0.05.

Parental Control

The Parental Control Scale (Wang et al., 2007) was used to measure the level of parental control. The scale consists of two subscales: the psychological control subscale and the behavioral control subscale. The psychological control subscale contains 18 items, such as "My parents say that if I truly care about them, I will not do things that make them worry." The behavioral control subscale contains 16 items, such as "My parents took the initiative to talk to me about what I did with my friends." The questionnaire uses five points to score, ranging from 1 = "very disagreeable" to 5 = "very consistent," respectively. The higher the level of behavioral control is, the higher the score. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients of the Parental Psychological Control and Behavior Control subscales were 0.96 and 0.92, respectively. The CFA test found that the structural validity was good, $\chi^2/df = 3.41$, CFI = 0.92, TLI = 0.90, RMSEA = 0.05.

Tobacco and Alcohol Use

The subscale for smoking and drinking behavior in the Adolescent Health Related Risk Behavior Questionnaire (Wang et al., 2012a) was used. The questionnaire consisted of six items that examined smoking and drinking behavior among adolescents. Each behavior consists of three items, such as "Do you smoke? " and "Have you ever had a drink or been drunk?". The questionnaire is scored from 1 to 5 points ranging from "never" to "always." The scores of smoking and drinking behaviors were added together to form the total scores of tobacco and alcohol use questionnaire. To reduce false answers from participants motivated by a desire for social approval, the formal test was conducted using a double anonymous approach (anonymity of the participants, anonymous questionnaire), and six unrelated items were added, such as "Do you have breakfast?," which were not counted in the final score. In the present study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient of the questionnaire was 0.890. The CFA test found that the structural validity was good, $\chi^2/df = 2.75$, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.97, RMSEA = 0.04.

Procedure

The survey was conducted during September 2018. The data were collected on the class as a unit, in junior high schools from Shandong province of China, by graduate students majoring in psychology who had received professional and systematic training. The process is about 40 min long, in a self-study class. In the process, we emphasized that survey data were kept confidential and were used for academic purposes only. The questionnaires completed by respondents were collected uniformly. This study has obtained the written informed consent of the students' parents, as well as with the approval of the Institutional Review Board of Shandong Normal University and the target junior high schools.

Data Analysis

The completed questionnaires were numbered and analyzed using SPSS Statistics 16.0 and AMOS 17.0 software. Pearson product-moment correlation analysis among three variables: sensation seeking, tobacco and alcohol use, and parental control was conducted by using SPSS16.0. Hierarchical regression analysis was used to examine the moderating effect of parental control in three steps: gender was included in the first step; sensation seeking and parental control were included in the second step; and binary interaction terms of sensation seeking and parental control were included in the third step. Then simple slope analysis was used to examine the direction of the moderating role of parental control. We use independent sample t test to examine the differences of the three main variables. Specifically, gender, urban and rural area, and grade variables were put into grouping variables respectively; sensation seeking, psychological control, behavior control, and tobacco and alcohol use were put into test variables respectively; and then the differences of the three variables in demographic variables were tested. In order to explore the applicability of the model in urban and rural areas, this study used AMOS 17.0 to conduct multiple comparisons. In the model comparison, we use the unconstrained model M1 and the constrained model M2. The unconstrained model is freely estimated for all parameters, and the constrained model is equalized by all regression coefficients.

RESULTS

Common Method Deviation

Because all the variables in this study are from the self-reports of adolescents, there may be a common method deviation problem (Zhou and Long, 2004). Therefore, common method deviation was statistically confirmed by the Harman single factor test method. The results show that the first principal factor explained a variation of 13.298%, so the threat of common method deviation in this study is low, and the data can be analyzed in the next step.

Descriptive Statistics

Taking the average score of the questionnaire items as an indicator, the average, standard deviation and correlation coefficient of each variable were obtained (see Tables 1, 2). The t test was used to investigate the gender differences for each variable. It was found that the psychological control of junior high school students and the use of tobacco and alcohol had significant gender differences (t = 2.355, p < 0.05; t = 3.416, p < 0.001), boys engage in more smoking and drinking behavior than girls, which supported Hypothesis 1a. There is no gender difference in sensation seeking and behavioral control among junior high school students. The t test was used to investigate urban-rural differences in the variables. There was a significant urban-rural difference between sensation seeking and tobacco and alcohol use (t = 5.529, p < 0.001; t = 3.299, p < 0.001), the smoking and drinking behaviors of urban middle school students were significantly higher than those of rural middle school students; this is not consistent with Hypothesis 1b, but there was no urban-rural difference between psychological control and behavioral control. The t test was used to investigate the grade differences for each variable. There were significant grade differences in sensation seeking, psychological control, and behavioral control (t = -3.277, p < 0.001; t = 3.046, p < 0.01; t = 2.505, p < 0.05). There was no grade difference in the use of tobacco and alcohol among junior high school students, which supported Hypothesis 1c.

Pearson correlation analysis of each study variable showed that sensation seeking was significantly positively correlated with psychological control, behavioral control, and the use of tobacco and alcohol. Psychological control as a form of parental

TABLE 1 I	TABLE 1 Means and standard deviations for the variables (N = 1,009).				
Variables	Mean (SD)	1	2	3	4
Gender	Male Female	1.61 (0.34) 1.64 (0.34)	2.62 (0.72) 2.50 (0.77)	3.27 (0.77) 3.23 (0.79)	1.25 (0.45) 1.17 (0.33)
Grade	Seven	1.60 (0.35) 1.67 (0.34)	2.62 (0.72) 2.48 (0.78)	3.30 (0.78) 3.18 (0.77)	1.21 (0.39) 1.22 (0.42)
Urban/rural	Urban Rural	1.71 (0.35) 1.59 (0.33)	2.54 (0.79) 2.57 (0.73)	3.26 (0.84) 3.24 (0.75)	1.27 (0.45) 1.19 (0.38)

TABLE 2 | Correlations for the variables.

	1	2	3	4
1. Sensation seeking	1			
2. Psychological control	0.12**	1		
3. Behavior control	0.11**	0.30**	1	
4. Tobacco and alcohol use	0.30**	0.18**	0.00	1

control was significantly positively correlated with behavioral control, tobacco and alcohol use. Behavioral control was not significantly related to the use of tobacco and alcohol.

The Predictive Effect of Sensation Seeking on Alcohol and Tobacco Use

This study provided statistical control of sensation seeking by incorporating the antecedent variable "sensation seeking" into the regression equation to obtain the predictive effect of sensation seeking on alcohol and tobacco use. The results showed that sensation seeking had a significant positive predictive effect on alcohol and tobacco use in junior high school students ($\beta = 0.307$, t = 10.232, p < 0.001) and could account for 9.4% of the variation. Therefore, Hypothesis 2 was supported: sensation seeking could positively predict the use of alcohol and tobacco in junior high school students.

Analysis of the Moderation Role of Parental Control

Taking the use of tobacco and alcohol as the dependent variable, multiple regression analysis was used to investigate the relationship between sensation seeking and tobacco and alcohol use and the moderating effect of parental control. Because the two dimensions of parental control (psychological control and behavioral control) are reversed in the hypothesis, the multiple regression analyses are performed separately.

First, we explored the role of psychological control regulation. Each variable enters the regression model in three steps: the first step is to input gender as a control variable in the regression equation; the second step is to input sensation seeking and psychological control; and the third step is to input the binary interaction term (sensation seeking × psychological control). The results (see **Table 3**) showed that after controlling for the effect of gender, the interaction term of sensation seeking and psychological control could significantly predict tobacco and alcohol use ($\beta = 0.464$, t = 2.712, p < 0.01). Therefore, Hypothesis 3a was supported: psychological control can play a moderating role in the relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol.

Second, we explored the role of behavioral control regulation. Again, each variable enters the regression model in three steps: first, gender is entered into the model, followed by sensation seeking, and then, third, their binary interaction (sensation seeking × behavioral control). The results (see **Table 4**) showed that after controlling for gender, the interaction between sensation seeking and behavioral control did not predict tobacco and alcohol use ($\beta = -0.037$, t = -0.184, p > 0.05). Therefore, parental behavior control did not play a moderating role in the influence of sensation seeking on alcohol and tobacco use.

The regression results showed that the interaction between sensation seeking and psychological control was significant, that is, the moderating effect of psychological control was significant. Finally, to further reveal the direction of the moderating effect of psychological control on the relationship between sensation seeking and tobacco and alcohol use, a simple slope test (Toothaker, 1994) was used, and an interaction

TABLE 3 The relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco
and alcohol: the regulation of psychological control.

b	SE	β	t	∆R ²
				0.011
-0.085	0.025	-0.105	-3.354***	
				0.127
-0.084	0.024	-0.104	-3.543***	
0.339	0.035	0.288	9.735***	
0.094	0.016	0.174	5.882***	
				0.006
-0.084	0.024	-0.103	-3.527***	
0.041	0.115	0.035	0.357	
-0.094	0.071	-0.174	-1.319	
0.114	0.042	0.464	2.712**	
	-0.085 -0.084 0.339 0.094 -0.084 0.041 -0.094	-0.085 0.025 -0.084 0.024 0.339 0.035 0.094 0.016 -0.084 0.024 0.041 0.115 -0.094 0.071	-0.085 0.025 -0.105 -0.084 0.024 -0.104 0.339 0.035 0.288 0.094 0.016 0.174 -0.084 0.024 -0.103 0.041 0.115 0.035 -0.094 0.071 -0.174	-0.085 0.025 -0.105 -3.354*** -0.084 0.024 -0.104 -3.543*** 0.339 0.035 0.288 9.735*** 0.094 0.016 0.174 5.882*** -0.084 0.024 -0.103 -3.527*** 0.041 0.115 0.035 0.357 -0.094 0.071 -0.174 -1.319

**p < 0.01.

***p < 0.001.

TABLE 4 | The relationship between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol: the regulation of behavioral control.

b	SE	β	t	ΔR^2
				0.011
-0.085	0.025	-0.105	-3.354***	
				0.098
-0.096	0.024	-0.119	-3.989***	
0.370	0.035	0.314	10.505***	
-0.015	0.015	-0.028	-0.945	
				0.000
-0.097	0.024	-0.119	-3.988***	
0.396	0.148	0.337	2.671**	
-0.001	0.076	-0.002	-0.013	
-0.008	0.045	-0.037	-0.184	
	-0.085 -0.096 0.370 -0.015 -0.097 0.396 -0.001	-0.085 0.025 -0.096 0.024 0.370 0.035 -0.015 0.015 -0.097 0.024 0.396 0.148 -0.001 0.076	-0.085 0.025 -0.105 -0.096 0.024 -0.119 0.370 0.035 0.314 -0.015 0.015 -0.028 -0.097 0.024 -0.119 0.396 0.148 0.337 -0.001 0.076 -0.002	-0.085 0.025 -0.105 -3.354*** -0.096 0.024 -0.119 -3.989*** 0.370 0.035 0.314 10.505*** -0.015 0.015 -0.028 -0.945 -0.097 0.024 -0.119 -3.988*** 0.396 0.148 0.337 2.671** -0.001 0.076 -0.002 -0.013

**p < 0.01.

map of sensation seeking and psychological control was obtained (see Figure 1).

The results of the simple slope test showed that under a low psychological control level, the predictive effect of sensation seeking on tobacco and alcohol use in junior high school students was not significant ($\beta = 0.041$, t = 0.356, p > 0.05). Further, the analysis of the predictive effect under a high psychological control level found that the positive predictive effect of sensation seeking on tobacco and alcohol use among junior high school students was significant ($\beta = 0.155$, t = 2.038, p < 0.05). This indicates that the high level of parental psychological control plays a moderating role in the relationship between junior high school students' sensation seeking and their tobacco and alcohol use. Reducing parents' psychological control can reduce the negative effects of sensation seeking on alcohol and tobacco use among junior high school students.

Multiple Comparisons

The results of this study found that there is a significant urbanrural difference in sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol. To test the suitability of this path model graph for different regions, that is, to test its consistency for junior high school students given the demographic variables, multiple comparisons were conducted to the moderating model. The unconstrained model of urban and rural areas is shown in **Figures 2, 3**.

The fit index of the multiple comparison models is shown in **Table 5**. The results showed that RMSEA < 0.1 and that CFI, GFI, and other fit indices are close to 1, indicating that the model has a good fit. p < 0.001 but \triangle CFI < 0.01, it can be seen that the difference between the model M2 after limiting the regression coefficient and the model M1 without defining the difference is not significant, indicating that the urban-rural moderating effect is not significant; this is not consistent with Hypothesis 4.







TABLE 5 | Multiple comparison model fitting index.

Model	χ²	df	χ^2/df	GFI	AGFI	RMSEA	CFI	∆CFI	p
Unconstrained	121.931	46	2.651	0.974	0.949	0.040	0.984	0.009	0.000
Structural weights	175.369	55	3.189	0.963	0.940	0.047	0.975		0.000

DISCUSSION

The present study primarily aimed to examine differences in the use of tobacco and alcohol by junior high school students under different parental control levels (including parental psychological control and parental behavioral control) and further explore the relationship between sensation seeking and alcohol and tobacco use at high and low levels of parental control. This study constructed a moderation model based on the parental effect model, social connection theory, and previous research. It is clear that sensation seeking in which conditions (regulatory role of parental control) had a predictive effect on adolescents' tobacco and alcohol use. In addition, this study also verified the urban-rural differences in the regulation model. This study has certain theoretical and practical significance in guiding parents to adopt appropriate control methods, as well as in helping adolescents with different levels of sensation seeking to prevent and reduce tobacco and alcohol use.

Gender, Grade, and Urban-Rural Differences in the Use of Tobacco and Alcohol in Junior High School Students

In this study, the gender difference test of junior high school students using tobacco and alcohol found that boys engage in more smoking and drinking behavior than girls, which is consistent with previous research results (Wan et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2012; Xia et al., 2012). On the one hand, because male adolescents are driven by imitative psychology, they will imitate the smoking and drinking behavior of their surrounding companions or adults. On the other hand, the ability of male adolescents to identify right and wrong is relatively low, so they cannot correctly appreciate the harmful nature of smoking and drinking. They consider these behaviors to be a symbol of maturity (Yuan et al., 2016), and some even believe that smoking and drinking are attractive to the opposite sex. The study also found that the tobacco and alcohol use in junior high school students has significant urban-rural differences,

with more tobacco and alcohol use behaviors in cities than in rural areas; this is not consistent with Hypothesis 1b of the study. On the one hand, it may be because of the great difference between urban and rural parents' education methods for teenagers. Urban teenagers' parents often refuse and deny their children, punish them severely, and intervene excessively more than rural parents (Zhang, 1997; Li and Wang, 2015), making teenagers use alcohol and tobacco to vent their inner dissatisfaction. On the other hand, urban junior high school students have more contact with new stimuli and temptations and may have more opportunities to obtain tobacco and alcohol. Therefore, urban students show more tobacco and alcohol use behaviors. There is no significant grade difference in the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students, which is consistent with the research results of Wang et al. (2013) and the research hypothesis of this study, that is, the difference in the use of tobacco and alcohol among junior high school students in the first and second grades is not significant. One possible explanation is that grade 7 and grade 8 students are of similar age, have a similar level of psychological development, and a similar ability to distinguish right from wrong. Meanwhile, they also have roughly a similar level of understanding about the harm caused by tobacco and alcohol use. Therefore, there is no significant grade difference in the use of tobacco and alcohol.

The Predictive Effect of Sensation Seeking on Alcohol and Tobacco Use

The results of this study indicated that there is a significant positive correlation between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol among junior high school students. Sensation seeking can predict the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students, which is consistent with previous research results (Ye et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2016). Impulsivity is a risk factor for tobacco and alcohol use, and as one of the impulsivity personality traits, sensation seeking has a significant positive correlation with tobacco and alcohol use (Gonzalez et al., 2011). As previously mentioned, tobacco and alcohol use together can make individuals happier, thus teenagers with a high level of sensation seeking will take the initiative to smoke and drink to meet their need for stimulation. The results of this study suggest that adolescents with high sensation-seeking levels may be more likely to use alcohol and tobacco for stimulus-seeking or rulebreaking reasons than adolescents with low sensation-seeking levels. This study proved that sensation seeking was a risk factor for junior high school students' tobacco and alcohol use and verified the important influence of sensation seeking on their substance use. Parents and schools should pay more attention to the behavior of junior high school students with high sensationseeking levels, guide them to choose appropriate activities to meet their need for thrill-seeking, and help them to avoid or reduce externalized behaviors such as smoking and drinking.

The Moderating Role of Parental Psychological Control

In this study, parental control was investigated as a moderating variable between sensation seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol. The results showed that parental psychological control

plays a moderating role in and can enhance the relationship between junior high school students' sensation seeking and their use of tobacco and alcohol, which verifies the hypothesis of this study and conforms to the parental effect model. This research result is similar to relevant research conclusions within China and worldwide; namely, a high level of psychological control is related to externalized problem behaviors among children and adolescents (Arim and Shapka, 2008; Gao et al., 2016; Yu, 2016; Xing et al., 2017), which may lead them to engage in smoking, drinking, drug use, Internet addiction, aggressive behaviors, and other problems (Ye et al., 2012; Cui et al., 2014; Lai et al., 2014a). This result is not difficult to understand. Parental psychological control destroys children's psychological autonomy by stimulating guilt and withdrawing care (Barber, 1996), which is a negative control method. Eventually, teenagers' basic psychological needs (such as autonomy needs and relationship needs) cannot be satisfied. Previous studies have shown that teenagers meet their basic psychological needs through alcohol and tobacco use (Niemiec et al., 2009; Gillison et al., 2011; Xia and Ye, 2014). Therefore, high levels of parental psychological control can enhance the relationship between sensation seeking and the alcohol and tobacco use.

Previous studies have found that low levels of parental behavioral control can significantly predict a higher level of externalization behaviors among adolescents, such as antisocial behavior, drug abuse, and disciplinary behavior (Li et al., 2003; Pettit et al., 2010; Xiao, 2016). However, in this study, it was found that parental behavioral control was not significantly related to tobacco and alcohol use, which is similar to the results of previous studies; that is, the correlation between behavioral control and junior high school students' externalization is not significant (Wang et al., 2013). First, this may be caused by the different views of teenagers on parental behavior control between Chinese and western cultural backgrounds. In the context of Chinese collectivistic culture, children tend to regard their parents' harsh discipline as an expression of caring and loving (Wang and Liu, 2018). Parental behavioral control, such as corporal punishment, may be commonly accepted by children (Wang and Liu, 2014); regardless of the degree of parental control, we think that parental behavioral control may have less effect on children's externalizing behavior and have no significant differences in China. Second, the reason for this lack of correlation may be that teenagers from different educational backgrounds have different views on parental behavioral control. Parental rearing patterns have a wide-ranging impact on the psychological development and psychological barriers of children and adolescents (Hiramura et al., 2010), affecting the personality of children and adolescents (Jiang et al., 2013). Adolescents who live under an authoritative and strict family atmosphere are more likely to have problems with conduct, hostile psychological barriers, and negative and hostile attitudes toward parental behavioral control. Therefore, the higher the level of parental behavioral control is, the stronger the child's anger and resistance, and the likelier that they will engage in problem behaviors such as alcohol and tobacco use that are not accepted by parents. Teenagers who live in a democratic and harmonious family atmosphere are more likely

to regard parental behavioral control as a manifestation of their parents' care and to feel gratitude for their parents' efforts, thus generating more adaptive behaviors (Zou et al., 2010).

Multiple Comparisons

To investigate the moderating effect of urban-rural demographic variables on this model of parental psychological control, this study conducted a multi-group comparative analysis. The results showed that the moderating effect of urban and rural areas was not significant; that is, for adolescents residing in both urban and rural areas, the moderating effect of parental psychological control on the influence of sensation seeking over the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students was basically stable. The reasons are as follows. First, urban and rural parents have roughly the same psychological control over junior middle school students, for example, engaging in guilt or love cancellation (Barber, 1996). This result suggests that neither urban nor rural parents should engage in higher levels of psychological control of junior high school students, such as not giving them space for independent thinking or for determining the correct choices, or apply methods to psychologically control their children. Instead of helping their children's growth, ultimately, it will only backfire and lead to more problem behaviors such as alcohol and tobacco use (Chen et al., 2018). Second, with the popularization and development of the Internet, rural and urban children are exposed to roughly the same information, and thus they form similar outlooks on life and values. Third, the withdrawal of rural schools and the process of urban-rural integration have narrowed the gap between rural and urban areas. Children born in rural areas have the opportunity to study in urban or urban-rural areas. Finally, the state is paying increasing attention to education, and thus it provides excellent teachers for rural schools, encourages urban teachers to go to the countryside, and promotes the development of rural cultural education.

CONTRIBUTIONS AND LIMITATIONS

There are some shortcomings in the current study. First, the cross-sectional design used in this study may have a generation effect, which to some extent weakens the credibility of the causal relationship between the inferred variables. Second, this study adopts the "self-report method" with teenagers and a questionnaire for measurement. This research method is relatively simple. In the future, this research can be further verified by combining an experimental task with the questionnaire. In addition, the students' emphasis on parental communication and understanding deviation may affects the direction and effect of parental control, are also worth considering factors in the use of tobacco and alcohol. Teenagers with high sensitivity will pay more attention to their parents' words, may be more likely to report more internalizing and externalizing problems if they perceived parental control as a signal that they are being rejected by their parents. So in the future research, we should focus on more additional mediating and moderating factors between sensory seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol. Finally, this study focuses on the use of tobacco and alcohol among junior high school students in grades 7 and 8. For high school students and college students, this study did not examine or verify either the role of psychological control or the regulatory role of behavioral control in the influence of sensation seeking on the use of tobacco and alcohol among other groups. To further enrich research on the use of tobacco and alcohol and create a healthy and harmonious living environment for students, future research should explore these problems.

Despite these limitations, the present study provides some valuable information to the related literature and has important practical implications. Based on the ecological systems theory, this study introduced the family variable of parental control (including parental psychological control and parental behavioral control), discussed the moderating effect on sensory seeking and the use of alcohol in junior middle school students. The results show that parental psychological control plays a moderating role in the relationship between sensory seeking and the use of tobacco and alcohol, providing ideas for avoiding and reducing the use of tobacco and alcohol in junior high school students. First, attention should be paid to the influence of sensation seeking on alcohol and tobacco use among adolescents. On the one hand, in adolescence, individuals' sensation-seeking level increases rapidly with age (Steinberg et al., 2008). Therefore, it is necessary to understand teenagers' sensation-seeking level over time, guide them to meet their needs for stimulating experiences through appropriate activities and channels, and enable them to find release and satisfaction through reasonable and appropriate channels. On the other hand, attention should be paid to intervention around sensation seeking. Sensation seeking is relatively plastic (Bardo et al., 1996), and intervention in adolescents' sensation seeking can help reduce problems such as alcohol use. Second, this study found that parental psychological control will enhance the influence of sensation seeking on tobacco and alcohol use, so we should also aim at improving communication between teenagers and their parents to prevent or reduce excessive psychological control and improve the psychological quality of their environmental response. Psychological quality helps teenagers to live actively. Third, this model is applicable to both urban and rural areas in China, which enlighten us not to overstate the differences between urban and rural areas in view of some problems. Whether in urban or rural areas, reducing parental psychological control is an effective way to reduce the use of tobacco and alcohol in adolescents.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Institutional Review Board of Shandong Normal University with written informed consent from all subjects in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Shandong Normal University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FX and WD collected and analyzed the data under the supervision of WZ. WZ designed the study and contributed to materials

REFERENCES

- Arim, R. G., and Shapka, J. D. (2008). The impact of pubertal timing and parental control on adolescent problem behaviors. J. Youth Adolesc. 37, 445–455. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9158-y
- Atav, S., and Spencer, G. A. (2002). Health risk behaviors among adolescents attending rural, suburban, and urban schools: a comparative study. *Fam. Community Health* 25, 53–64. doi: 10.1097/00003727-200207000-00007

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York, NY: Macmillan.

- Barber, B. K. (1996). Parental psychological control: revisiting a neglected construct. *Child Dev.* 67, 3296–3319. doi: 10.2307/1131780
- Barber, B. K., Olsen, J. E., and Shagle, S. C. (1994). Associations between parental psychological and behavioral control and youth internalized and externalized behaviors. *Child Dev.* 65, 1120–1136.
- Bardo, M. T., Donohew, R. L., and Harrington, N. G. (1996). Psychobiology of novelty seeking and drug seeking behavior. *Behav. Brain Res.* 77, 23–43.
- Benowitz, N. L., St. Helen, G., Dempsey, D. A., Jacob, P. 3rd, and Tyndale, R. F. (2016). Disposition kinetics and metabolism of nicotine and cotinine in African American smokers: impact of CYP2A6 genetic variation and enzymatic activity. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 26, 340–350. doi: 10.1097/ FPC.00000000000222
- Branje, S. J., Hale, W. W. III, and Meeus, W. H. (2008). "Reciprocal development of parent-adolescent support and adolescent problem behaviors" in *What can parents do*, 135–162.
- Chen, Y. X., Li, R. X., and Liu, X. P. (2018). Parental psychological control, autonomy support and externalizing problem behavior in adolescents: the mediating role of control motivation. *Chin. J. Clin. Psych.* 26, 981–986. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2018.05.031
- Chen, L. H., Su, S. B., and Lin, D. H. (2012). On the relationship between rural juveniles' smoking drinking and the parent-child relationship, peer pressure, and involvement in school activities. *Chin. J. Spec. Educ.* 19, 66–73. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-3728.2012.08.010
- Chen, L. N., Zhang, M., Jin, Z. C., Zhao, S., and Mei, S. L. (2006). The development and application of primary and middle school students' sensation seeking scale. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 22, 103–108. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1001-4918.2006.04.017
- China Centre for Disease Control (2014). China Youth Tobacco Survey Report in 2014. 2014-5-29. Available at: http://learning.Sohu.com/20140529/ n400183165.shtml
- Cui, L., Morris, A. S., Criss, M. M., Houltberg, B. J., and Silk, J. S. (2014). Parental psychological control and adolescent adjustment: the role of adolescent emotion regulation. *Parenting* 14, 47–67. doi: 10.1080/15295192.2014.880018
- Gao, X., Xing, S. F., and Zhao, J. Y. (2016). Parental psychological control and the relationship with children's psychosocial functioning. *Adv. Psychol. Sci.* 24, 1792–1801. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1042.2016.01792
- Gillison, F., Standage, M., and Skevington, S. (2011). Changes in quality of life and psychological need satisfaction following the transition to secondary school. Br. J. Educ. Psychol. 78, 149–162. doi: 10.1348/000709907x209863
- Gonzalez, V. M., Reynolds, B., and Skewes, M. C. (2011). Role of impulsivity in the relationship between depression and alcohol problems among emerging adult college drinkers. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 19, 303–313. doi: 10.1037/ a0022720
- Gordon, W. R., and Caltabiano, M. L. (1996). Urban-rural differences in adolescent self-esteem, leisure boredom, and sensation-seeking as predictors of leisure-time usage and satisfaction. *Adolescence* 31, 883.

and analysis tools. WZ, FX, WD, YS, and QZ contributed to the writing of the manuscript. FX, WD, YS, and QZ contributed to the revision. YS, FX, and WD revised the manuscript and replied to comments.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Scientific Research Foundation for Returned Scholars (01301) of Shandong Normal University, China.

- Gu, Y. L., He, C. S., and Zhang, Y. (2012). Relationship between sensation seeking and study anxiety of middle school students. *Chin. J. Health Psychol.* 20, 897–898. doi: 10.13342/j.cnki.cjhp.2012.06.004
- Han, M., Gu, C. H., Wang, H., and Xue, Y. K. (2016). The relationship between lower secondary school students' psychological reactance and parenting styles: the mediating effect of personality. *Chin. J. Spec. Educ.* 23, 53–55. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-3728.2016.05.011
- Hiramura, H., Uji, M., Shikai, N., Chen, Z., Matsuoka, N., and Kitamura, T. (2010). Understanding externalizing behavior from children's personality and parenting characteristics. *Psychiatry Res.* 175, 142–147. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2005.07.041
- Hirschi, T. (1969). Causes of delinquency. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Hittner, J. B., and Swickert, R. (2006). Sensation seeking and alcohol use: a meta-analytic review. Addict. Behav. 31, 1383–1401. doi: 10.1016/j. addbeh.2005.11.004
- Hoyle, R. H., Stephenson, M. T., Palmgreen, P., Lorch, E. P., and Donohew, R. L. (2002). Reliability and validity of a brief measure of sensation seeking. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 32, 401–414. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00032-0
- Huang, G. C., Unger, J. B., Soto, D., Fujimoto, K., Pentz, M. A., Jordan-Marsh, M., et al. (2014). Peer influences: the impact of online and offline friendship networks on adolescent smoking and alcohol use. J. Adolesc. Health 54, 508–514. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.07.001
- Jensen, M., Chassin, L., and Gonzales, N. A. (2017). Neighborhood moderation of sensation seeking effects on adolescent substance use initiation. J. Youth Adolesc. 46, 1953–1967. doi: 10.1007/s10964-017-0647-y
- Jiang, X. J., Zhao, L. Y., Cheng, Z. H., Liu, X. M., and Yang, B. X. (2013). Association between family parenting and mental disorders in child and adolescent. *Chin. J. Clin. Psych.* 21, 800–803. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2013.05.033
- Ko, C. H., Yen, J. Y., Yen, C. F., Lin, H. C., and Yang, M. J. (2007). Factors predictive for incidence and remission of internet addiction in young adolescents: a prospective study. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 10, 545–551. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2007.9992
- Lai, X. F., Wang, Y. H., Wang, Y. Y., Zhang, W., and Yang, Q. P. (2014a). Parental control and adolescents problematic internet use: the mediating role of emotion regulation. *Chin. J. Clin. Psych.* 22, 437–441. doi: 10.16128/j. cnki.1005-3611.2014.03.059
- Lai, X. F., Zhang, W., Bao, Z. Z., Wang, Y. H., and Xiong, Q. L. (2014b). Parental psychological control and depression among adolescents: a moderated mediation model. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 30, 293–302. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki. issn1001-4918.2014.03.008
- Lansford, J. E., Laird, R. D., Pettit, G. S., Bates, J. E., and Dodge, K. A. (2014). Mothers' and fathers' autonomy-relevant parenting: longitudinal links with adolescents' externalizing and internalizing behavior. J. Youth Adolesc. 43, 1877–1889. doi: 10.1007/s10964-013-0079-2
- Li, X., Fang, X., Stanton, B., Su, L., and Wu, Y. (2003). Parental monitoring among adolescents in Beijing, China. J. Adolesc. Health 33, 130–132. doi: 10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00417-7
- Li, X. L., and Wang, M. F. (2015). The relationship between educational methods of parents and social anxiety of urban and rural junior high school students. *Youth Adolesc. Stud.* 23, 9–13. doi: 10.16399/j.cnki.qsnyj.2015.02.003
- Lin, D. H., Fan, X. H., and Pan, J. (2010). Characteristics of alcohol use and its contributing factors among adolescents. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 26, 288–294. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2010.03.015
- Meil, W. M., LaPorte, D. J., Mills, J. A., Sesti, A., Collins, S. M., and Stiver, A. G. (2016). Sensation seeking and executive deficits in relation to alcohol,

tobacco, and marijuana use frequency among university students: value of ecologically based measures. *Addict. Behav.* 62, 135–144. doi: 10.1016/j. addbeh.2016.06.014

- Niemiec, C. P., Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2009). The path taken: consequences of attaining intrinsic and extrinsic aspirations in post-college life. J. Res. Pers. 43, 291–306. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2008.09.001
- Peng, K., Dong, Y., and Wang, M. (2016). The relationship between parenting behavior and internalizing problems of junior high school students: mediating role of psychological capital. *Mod. Educ. J.* 37, 36–43.
- Pettit, G. S., Laird, R. D., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., and Criss, M. M. (2010). Antecedents and behavior-problem outcomes of parental monitoring and psychological control in early adolescence. *Child Dev.* 72, 583–598. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00298
- Piasecki, T. M., Jahng, S., Wood, P. K., Robertson, B. M., Epler, A. J., Cronk, N. J., et al. (2011). The subjective effects of alcohol-tobacco co-use: an ecological momentary assessment investigation. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 120, 557–571. doi: 10.1037/a0023033
- Romer, D., and Hennessy, M. (2007). A biosocial-affect model of adolescent sensation seeking: the role of affect evaluation and peer-group influence in adolescent drug use. *Prev. Sci.* 8, 89–101. doi: 10.1007/s11121-007-0064-7
- Scherer, D. G., Nagel, L., and Lee, W. (2000). Working with adolescent health risk behaviors: differences among frontier, rural, and urban schools counselors. *Rural Educator* 21, 22–27.
- Shiffman, S., and Kirchner, T. R. (2009). Cigarette-by-cigarette satisfaction during ad libitum smoking. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 118, 348–359. doi: 10.1037/ a0015620
- Steinberg, L., Albert, D., Cauffman, E., Banich, M., Graham, S., and Woolard, J. (2008). Age differences in sensation seeking and impulsivity as indexed by behavior and self-report: evidence for a dual systems model. *Dev. Psychol.* 44, 1764–1778. doi: 10.1037/a0012955
- Stephenson, M., and Helme, D. (2006). Authoritative parenting and sensation seeking as predictors of adolescent cigarette and marijuana use. J. Drug Educ. 36, 247–270. doi: 10.2190/y223-2623-7716-2235
- Toothaker, L. E. (1994). Multiple regression: testing and interpreting interactions. J. Oper. Res. Soc. 45, 119-120.
- Visser, L., Winter, A. F. D., and Reijneveld, S. A. (2012). The parent-child relationship and adolescent alcohol use: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. *BMC Public Health* 12, 886–886. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-886
- Wan, Y. H., Tao, F. B., Hu, C. L., Yuan, C. J., Qi, X. Y., and Xing, C. (2009). Correlation of adolescent sub-health with tobacco and alcohol use. *Chin. Sch. Health* 30, 301–303.
- Wang, M. F., Feng, L. L., and Zhang, P. Y. (2013). Parental control and adolescent problem behavior: mediating of perfectionism. *Chin. J. Clin. Psych.* 21, 811–814. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2013.05.017
- Wang, S. H., Li, X. Y., and Chen, J. (2014). Moderating effect of parental monitoring and warmth on the relationship between deviant peer affiliation and adolescent problem behaviors. *Chin. J. Clin. Psych.* 22, 499–503. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2014.03.074
- Wang, M., and Liu, L. (2014). Parental harsh discipline in mainland China: prevalence, frequency, and coexistence. *Child Abuse Negl.* 38, 1128–1137. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.02.016
- Wang, M., and Liu, L. (2018). Reciprocal relations between harsh discipline and children's externalizing behavior in China: a 5-year longitudinal study. *Child Dev.* 89, 174–187. doi: 10.1111/cdev.12724
- Wang, Q., Pomerantz, E. M., and Chen, H. (2007). The role of parents' control in early adolescents' psychological functioning: a longitudinal investigation in the United States and China. *Child Dev.* 78, 1592–1610. doi: 10.1111/j. 1467-8624.2007.01085.x
- Wang, M. C., Yi, J. Y., Cai, L., Hu, M. L., Wang, Y. P., and Zhu, X. Z. (2012a). Reliability and validity of the adolescent health related risky behavior inventory. *Chin. Ment. Health J.* 26, 287–292. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-6729.2012.04.010
- Wang, Y. H., Zhang, W., Li, D. P., Li, D. L., and Zhang, X. L. (2012b). Temperament and adolescent tobacco and alcohol use: a test of interaction effects. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 28, 292–300. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2012.03.005

- Wang, L., Zou, H., and Yao, R. (2011). On the relationship between adolescents internet addiction, parental monitoring and the social adaptation of adolescents. *Chin. J. Spec. Educ.* 18, 62–68. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-3728.2011.05.011
- World Health Organization (2018). *Global status report on alcohol and health.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization Press.
- Xia, L. W., Yao, S. Q., and Hu, M. L. (2012). Life events as mediators between subjective socioeconomic status and smoking in adolescences. *Chin. J. Clin. Psych.* 20, 556–558. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2012.04.015
- Xia, F., and Ye, B. J. (2014). The effect of stressful life events on adolescents' tobacco and alcohol use: the chain mediating effect of basic psychological needs and coping style. J. Psychol. Sci. 37, 1385–1391. doi: 10.16719/j. cnki.1671-6981.2014.06.017
- Xiao, J. T. (2016). The influence of parental control on the behavior of junior high school students. *Mental Health Educ. Primary Second. Sch.* 16, 12–15. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-2684.2016.22.004
- Xing, X. P., Sun, X. L., Wang, Z. Y., and Shao, S. H. (2017). The relationship among parental psychological control, child self-control and problem behaviors: a mediated moderation model. *J. Psychol. Sci.* 40, 594–599. doi: 10.16719/j. cnki.1671-6981.20170313
- Xu, F. L., and Huang, Y. X. (2013). Progress in research on adolescent depressive symptoms. *Chin. Sch. Health.* 34, 255–256. doi: 10.16835/j. cnki.1000-9817.2013.02.051
- Ye, B. J., Li, D. P., Chen, Q. S., and Wang, Y. H. (2011). Sensation seeking and tobacco and alcohol use among adolescents: a mediated moderation model. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 27, 417–424. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2011.04.014
- Ye, B. J., Yang, Q., and Hu, Z. Q. (2012). The effect mechanism of parental control, deviant peers and sensation seeking on drug use among reform school students. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 28, 641–650. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki. issn1001-4918.2012.06.004
- Yu, F. J. (2016). The influence of mother's parenting behavior on the behavior of adolescents' externalization problems. *Youth Adolesc. Stud.* 24, 4–8. doi: 10.16399/j.cnki.qsnyj.2016.03.001
- Yuan, J. C., Yu, F. R., and Tian, L. M. (2016). Effects of sensation seeking and peer pressure on tobacco and alcohol use among high school students. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 32, 486–494. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2016.04.13
- Zhang, W. X. (1997). A comparative study on the educational methods of parents in urban and rural areas. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 13, 46–51. doi: 10.16187/j. cnki.issn1001-4918.1997.03.009
- Zhao, J. F., Zhang, S. C., Du, Y. L., Jiang, Y. Z., and Liu, Y. (2017). Association among sensation seeking, perceived social support and mobile phone addiction of university students. *Chin. J. School Health* 38, 876–878. doi: 10.16835/j. cnki.1000-9817.2017.06.024
- Zhi, H. Y., and Chen, Y. J. (2008). Survey on smoking, drinking alcohol and other drug uses among adolescent students. *Chin. J. Health Educ.* 24, 95–98. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-9982.2008.02.005
- Zhou, H., and Long, L. R. (2004). Statistical remedies for common method biases. Adv. Psychol. Sci. 12, 942. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-3710.2004.06.018
- Zou, H., Li, X. W., and Zhang, W. J. (2010). The characteristics of adolescents' family relationship and its effect on adolescents' social adjustment. *Psychol. Sci.* 33, 1136–1141. doi: 10.16719/j.cnki.1671-6981.2010.05.056
- Zuckerman, M. (2008). "Personality and sensation seeking" in *The SAGE handbook* of personality theory and assessment. Vol. 1. eds. G. J. Boyle, G. Matthews, and D. H. Saklofske (Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications), 379–398.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhao, Xu, Ding, Song and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Satisfaction of Basic Psychological Needs Leads to Better Academic Performance via Increased Psychological Capital: A Three-Wave Longitudinal Study Among High School Students

Marcos Carmona-Halty1*, Wilmar B. Schaufeli^{2,3}, Susana Llorens⁴ and Marisa Salanova⁴

¹ Escuela de Psicología y Filosofía, Universidad de Tarapacá, Arica, Chile, ² Research Unit of Occupational & Organisational Psychology and Professional Learning, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ³ Department of Social, Health & Organizational Psychology, Utrecht University, Netherlands, ⁴ WANT Research Team, Universitat Jaume I, Castellón de la Plana, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lourdes Rey, University of Málaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Natalio Extremera, University of Málaga, Spain Li Liu, China Medical University, China

*Correspondence:

Marcos Carmona-Halty marcos.carmona.halty@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 24 May 2019 Accepted: 30 August 2019 Published: 18 September 2019

Citation:

Carmona-Halty M, Schaufeli WB, Llorens S and Salanova M (2019) Satisfaction of Basic Psychological Needs Leads to Better Academic Performance via Increased Psychological Capital: A Three-Wave Longitudinal Study Among High School Students. Front. Psychol. 10:2113. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02113 This brief report proposes a model in which academic psychological capital (PsyCap) mediates between the satisfaction of student's basic psychological needs and their academic performance, as assessed by students' GPA. Participants were 407 adolescents, aged 12–18, recruited from three Chilean schools. Through structural equation modeling, direct and indirect effects were calculated. Results show that academic PsyCap (assessed at time 2) fully mediates the relationship between the satisfaction of basic psychological needs (assessed at time 1) and academic performance (assessed at time 3). This means that students whose basic psychological needs are satisfied at school experience more hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism (PsyCap), which, in turn, leads to better academic performance. Both theoretical and practical implications of the results are addressed, as well as strengths and weaknesses and directions for future research.

Keywords: basic psychological needs, academic PsyCap, academic performance, GPA, high school students

INTRODUCTION

The emergence of positive education—focused on both traditional skills and happiness (Seligman et al., 2009)— has made it possible to incorporate some recent constructs embraced in positive psychology into the educational research agenda. One of them is academic PsyCap: a psychological state of development characterized by hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism (Luthans et al., 2012). However, given the relative novelty of the PsyCap construct, little is known about how students' perceptions of their school environment may predict its subsequent appearance (Carmona–Halty et al., 2018). The current study addresses this issue by proposing that the satisfaction of students' basic psychological needs (BPN) –grounded in Self–Determination Theory (SDT; Ryan and Deci, 2000)– could be a relevant antecedent of academic PsyCap, which, in turn, –according

145

to Conservation of Resources (COR) theory (Hobfoll, 1989)– would predict their academic performance (AP), assessed through their grade point average (GPA). In other words, academic PsyCap is expected to mediate between the satisfaction of BPN at school and AP. Providing empirical evidence about the predictive role of the school environment context for supporting BPN (Ryan and Deci, 2017b)— in academic PsyCap can help to expand our knowledge about possible ways to improve academic PsyCap through evidence–based interventions in the school community.

SDT states that there are specifiable psychological and social nutrients (the so-called BPN), which, when satisfied within the interpersonal and cultural contexts of an individual's development, facilitate growth, integrity, and well-being (Ryan and Deci, 2017a). In other words, satisfying people's BPN for autonomy, competence, and relatedness- enhances their development, either in general or in specific domains, such as education (Ryan and Deci, 2000). In brief, autonomy refers to feeling willingness and volition with regard to one's behaviors; competence refers to feeling effective in one's interactions with the social environment; and relatedness refers to experiencing that others are responsive and sensitive as well as being able to be responsive and sensitive to others. In a school context, SDT suggests -as confirmed by previous research- that when the conditions of nurturance for holistic development are optimized (i.e., providing autonomy, competence, and relatedness), learning and educational outcomes are also optimized (Ryan and Deci, 2017b). More specifically, the satisfaction of BPN at school is associated with students' prosocial behavior (Tian et al., 2018), gratitude (Tian et al., 2016), self-control skills (Orkibi and Ronen, 2017), academic engagement (Jang et al., 2016), and well-being (Tian et al., 2014), among others (Ratelle and Duchesne, 2014; Yu et al., 2016; Wehmeyer and Shogren, 2017).

COR theory states that individuals strive to obtain, retain, and protect their material, social, and personal resources (Hobfoll, 1989, 2002). This means that people try to accumulate resources in order to preserve and foment their health and well-being (Hobfoll, 2011). COR theory also explains -through the caravan notion- that resources do not occur individually, but rather they appear as co-travelers, in contrast to the general tendency in the research to focus on one resource at a time (Hobfoll et al., 2018). In this regard, the PsyCap construct is an example of a resource caravan because when the four resources it includes (i.e., hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism) are combined into one core construct -based on their commonalities and their unique contributions-, they have a joint impact on people's attitudes, behaviors, well-being, and performance (Luthans and Youssef-Morgan, 2017). Although initial research on PsyCap was conducted in samples of workers, more recently, the notion of academic PsyCap has received attention in both university and high school students. In these samples, direct associations are demonstrated with coping and satisfaction (Ortega-Maldonado and Salanova, 2017), academic adjustment (Liran and Miller, 2017), motivation (Siu et al., 2014), academic engagement (Carmona-Halty et al., 2019a), subjective well-being (Datu et al., 2016), and AP (Carmona-Halty et al., 2019b), among others (Vanno et al., 2014; You, 2016; Datu and Valdez, 2019).

By integrating SDT and COR theory, the present study proposes a longitudinal model that hypothesizes that academic PsyCap mediates between the satisfaction of BPN at school and AP. More specifically, we assume that when students perceive that their school environment supports their BPN during daily school life -according to SDT-, they will be more likely to have the tools they need to accumulate personal resources (in the form of academic PsyCap). In turn, these increased personal resources according to COR theory- will lead to achieving better AP. In other words, if students' needs for autonomy, relatedness, and competence are met at school, their hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism about learning activities will increase, and, consequently, they will perform better. This assumption is supported, on the one hand, by research indicating that students tend to show desirable academic outcomes in situations where the social context is more supportive of their autonomy, competence, and relatedness needs (Jang et al., 2016; Orkibi and Ronen, 2017; Wehmeyer and Shogren, 2017) and, on the other hand, by research that identifies academic PsyCap as a predictor of AP (Datu et al., 2016; Ortega-Maldonado and Salanova, 2017; Carmona-Halty et al., 2018).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The sample was composed of 407 high school students from three Chilean educational institutions. Participants were from 12 to 18 years old (M = 14.55, SD = 1.77) and 51.4% were female. Of the 407 students, 17.2% were 12, 15.5% were 13, 17.9% were 14, 13.3% were 15, 18.7% were 16, 15.2% were 17, and 2.2% were 18 years old when the data were collected.

Instruments

All the instruments were administered using a Spanish adaptation carried out following the guidelines of the International Test Commission for adapting tests across cultures (Muñiz et al., 2013). At time 1, the satisfaction of BPN at school was measured using a self-constructed scale based on the Work-related Basic Needs Satisfaction Scale (Van den Broeck et al., 2010), adapted for use in educational settings. Our scale has 12 items (e.g., "I have the feeling that I can even accomplish the most difficult tasks at school") grouped into three subscales (i.e., competence, relatedness, and autonomy). All items are scored on a 7-point rating scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). At time 2, after 9 weeks, academic PsyCap was measured using the Academic Psychological Capital Questionnaire (Martínez et al., 2019). This questionnaire has 12 items that measure the four PsyCap components (e.g., "I usually take stressful things in stride with regard to my studies") on a 6-point rating scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 6 (strongly agree). At time 3, after another 9 weeks, AP was assessed using the grade point average (GPA) provided by the educational institutions, using four mandatory subjects in the Chilean education curriculum: mathematics, language, history, and science. According to the local grading system, GPAs ranged from 1 (poor) to 7 (excellent).

Procedure

The recommendations of the Comité Ético-Científico (CEC-UTA) of the Chilean university host were followed in carrying out this study, and written informed consent was obtained from all subjects (i.e., the school principals, students, and students' parents) in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Participants voluntarily filled out a questionnaire on two occasions: once when the regular academic semester ended (Time 1 for the satisfaction of BPN at school) and once after a period of 9 weeks (Time 2 for academic PsyCap). In addition, AP was extracted from the teachers' class records at the end of the next academic semester, 9 weeks later (Time 3). The same verbal and written instructions for completing the measures were provided. Participants were told to respond as truthfully as possible and assured that their responses would be anonymous. The questionnaire took about 20 min to complete using an electronic procedure.

Data Analysis

All data were analyzed using JASP 0.9.01 and SPSS AMOS 23. For reliability analysis, Cronbach's alpha and McDonald's omega indexes were calculated. For structural equation modeling, we used maximum likelihood (ML) estimation methods, and goodness-of-fit was evaluated using absolute and relative indexes: Chi-square (χ^2) and normed Chi-square (χ^2/df) ; Incremental Fit Index (IFI); Tucker Lewis Index (TLI); Comparative Fit Index (CFI); Root Mean Square Error of approximation (RMSEA) with a 90% Confidence Interval (CI); and Standardized Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR). To determine the fit of the model, we followed the recommendations of the European Journal of Psychological Assessment (Schweizer, 2010). Finally, we implemented the bootstrapping procedure with 5000 new samples taken from our sample (Hayes, 2009) in order to: (1) correct for any biasing impact that multivariate non-normality may have had on the computed chi-square value as a function of using ML estimation (Byrne, 2010; Kline, 2011) and (2) examine direct and indirect effects that were considered statistically significant if the 95% confidence interval estimates did not contain the value of zero.

RESULTS

Table 1 displays descriptive and reliability information about the study variables. It shows that internal consistencies for the scales were good and that the correlations showed significant direct relationships for all the measures used.

The proposed model contained seven latent factors and 19 indicators (see **Figure 1**). In other words, one factor that reflects satisfaction of BPN at school using three indicators; one higher-order factor with four lower-order factors, which, in turn, are composed of 12 indicators that make up the academic PsyCap factor; and four indicators that make up the AP factor. Results showed that this model exceeded the recommended standards and was a good representation of the data, explaining 52.0% of the academic PsyCap variance and 14.3% of the AP variance: $\chi^2 = 381.965$; df = 145; $\chi^2/df = 2.634$; IFI = 0.954;

TLI = 0.946; CFI = 0.954; RMSEA = 0.063, 90% CI (0.056, 0.071); SRMR = 0.047.

Considering the good fit of the hypothesized model, direct and indirect effects were calculated and are described below. First, the satisfaction of BPN at school is significantly related to academic PsyCap [a = 0.721, SE = 0.042, BCa 95% CI (0.629, 0.797), p = 0.001]. Second, academic PsyCap is significantly related to AP, after controlling for the satisfaction of BPN at school [b = 0.241, SE = 0.087, BCa 95% CI (0.071, 0.405), p = 0.010]. Third, the satisfaction of BPN at school is significantly and indirectly associated with AP through academic PsyCap [ab = 0.174, SE = 0.063, BCa 95% CI (0.056, 0.300), p = 0.008]. In addition, because the satisfaction of BPN at school is not significantly related to AP [c = 0.165, SE = 0.098, BCa 95% CI (-0.028, 0.356), p = 0.088], we can conclude that academic PsyCap fully mediates the relationship between the satisfaction of BPN at school and AP.

DISCUSSION

The current paper makes several theoretical contributions. First, we found that the satisfaction of students' BPN is directly related to their academic PsyCap. Second, we found that the accumulation of personal resources in the form of academic PsyCap is directly related to students' AP. Third, we found that students whose BPN is satisfied at school (i.e., competence, relatedness, and autonomy) are more likely to achieve better academic results (i.e., GPA score) through academic PsyCap (i.e., a resource caravan formed by hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism). Taken together, these results are in line with previous research on SDT and COR theory and they make an innovative contribution to the scarce empirical research on school environment variables as antecedents of academic PsyCap (e.g., Orkibi and Ronen, 2017; Wehmeyer and Shogren, 2017; Carmona-Halty et al., 2019b; Datu and Valdez, 2019).

As a main practical implication, we want to empha size the key role that educational institutions (can) play in increasing students' academic PsyCap. That is, instead of focusing on a curriculum based on control and achievement -which thwarts students' BPN fulfillment- the school community should concentrate on creating an environment that sets clear rules and gives students positive feedback (i.e., supporting the need for competence), expresses interest and care for them (i.e., supporting the need for relatedness), and provides them with the freedom to make their own choices (i.e., supporting the need for autonomy). This proposal is coherent with the resource caravan passageways notion, which points out that people's resources exist in an environment that either fosters/nurtures or limits/blocks resource creation or nourishment (see Hobfoll, 2011; Hobfoll et al., 2018). Therefore, the PsyCap components should be enhanced not only through individual-level interventionsusing the Psychological Capital Intervention method (Luthans et al., 2008, 2010)-, but also through school-level promotion, including a supportive educational curriculum as a strategy to obtain -based on our results- better academic performance.

TABLE 1 | Means (M), Standard Deviation (SD), Skewness (S), Kurtosis (K), Alpha (a) and Omega (a). Reliability Indexes, and Correlations for the study variables.

	м	SD	S	к	α	ω	1	2	3
(1) Basic psychological needs at school	5.710	1.018	-1.068	1.360	0.790	0.798	-		
(2) Academic psychological capital	4.417	1.029	-0.595	0.187	0.910	0.912	0.612**	-	
(3) Academic performance	5.213	0.808	-0.143	-0.668	0.886	0.888	0.295**	0.342**	-

**p < 0.001.



This study has several strengths. First, we used a longitudinal three-wave design, which agrees with the temporal sequence that we assumed in the proposed mediational model. Second, we included the GPA as an objective academic performance indicator. Third, we empirically demonstrated the integration of both SDT and COR theory in an academic setting. However, this study has also some weaknesses. First, we used a convenience sample instead of a representative Chilean student sample. Second, we used self-reports for both psychological measures instead of using, for instance, peer or teacher ratings. Third, we focused on unidirectional effects instead of examining bidirectional effects. Fourth, our three assessment points (i.e., BPN, PsyCap, and AP) only cover short-term effects (approximately 5 months) instead of capturing long-term effects (e.g., using a 2 year longitudinal design). Finally, for future research, we would suggest the following. First, it would be interesting to examine an alternative model proposing that students with high satisfaction of BPN and high PsyCap would have higher AP, whereas students with low satisfaction of needs and low PsyCap would have lower AP. Second, based on the recent team-level PsyCap approach, the applicability of class-level PsyCap should be explored in order to examine its role in students' individual and/or class-level outcomes such as academic engagement, academic burnout, and AP. Third, the inclusion of other school environment variables such as a sense of community- in a more comprehensive model would be a fruitful future research agenda to expand our knowledge about academic PsyCap antecedents.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité Ético-Científico (CEC-UTA). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Universidad de Tarapacá, Chile (UTAMayor Award Number 3749-18); Ministerio de Economía, Industria y Competitividad, España (Award Number PSI2015-64933-R); Universitat Jaume I, España (Award Number UJI-B2017-81).

REFERENCES

- Byrne, B. M. (2010). Structural Equation Modeling with AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming, 2Edn. New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Carmona–Halty, M., Salanova, M., Llorens, S., and Schaufeli, W. B. (2018). How psychological capital mediates between study–related positive emotions and academic performance. *J. Happiness Stud.* 20, 605–617. doi: 10.1007/s10902-018-9963-5
- Carmona-Halty, M., Salanova, M., Llorens, S., and Schaufeli, W. B. (2019a). Linking positive emotions and academic performance: the mediated role of academic psychological capital and academic engagement. *Curr. Psychol.* 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s12144-019-00227-8
- Carmona-Halty, M., Schaufeli, W. B., and Salanova, M. (2019b). Good relationships, good performance: the mediating role of psychological capital – A three-wave study among students. *Front. Psychol.* 10:306. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00306
- Datu, J. A. D., King, R. B., and Valdez, J. P. M. (2016). Psychological capital bolsters motivation, engagement, and achievement: cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. J. Posit. Psychol. 13, 260–270. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2016.1257056
- Datu, J. A. D., and Valdez, J. P. M. (2019). Psychological capital is associated with higher levels of life satisfaction and school belongingness. Sch. Psychol. Int. 40, 1–16. doi: 10.1177/0143034319838011
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond baron and Kenny: statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Commun. Monogr.* 76, 408–420. doi: 10.1080/ 03637750903310360
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: a new attempt at conceptualizing stress. Am. Psychol. 44, 513–524. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2002). Social and psychological resources and adaptation. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 6, 307–324. doi: 10.1037//1089-2680.6.4.307
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2011). Conservation of resource caravans and engaged settings. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 84, 116–122. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.2010. 02016.x
- Hobfoll, S. E., Halbesleben, J., Neveu, J., and Westman, M. (2018). Conservation of resources in the organizational context: the reality of resources and their consequences. Ann. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 5, 10.1–10.26.
- Jang, H., Kim, E., and Reeve, J. (2016). Why students become more engaged or more disengaged during the semester: a self-determination theory dualprocess model. *Learn. Instr.* 43, 27–38. doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2016. 01.002
- Kline, R. B. (2011). *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling*, 3rd Edn. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Liran, B. H., and Miller, P. (2017). The role of psychological capital in academic adjustment among university students. J. Happiness Stud. 20, 51–65. doi: 10. 1007/s10902-017-9933-3
- Luthans, B. C., Luthans, K. W., and Jensen, S. M. (2012). The impact of business school students' psychological capital on academic performance. J. Educ. Bus. 87, 253–259. doi: 10.1080/08832323.2011.609844
- Luthans, F., Avey, J. B., Avolio, B. J., and Peterson, S. (2010). The development and resulting performance impact on positive psychological capital. *Hum. Res. Dev.* Q. 21, 41–66. doi: 10.1002/hrdq.20034
- Luthans, F., Avey, J. B., and Patera, J. L. (2008). Experimental analysis of a webbased training intervention to develop positive psychological capital. Acad. Manag. Learn. Educ. 7, 209–221. doi: 10.5465/AMLE.2008.32712618
- Luthans, F., and Youssef-Morgan, C. M. (2017). Psychological capital: an evidence-based positive approach. Ann. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 4, 339–366. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113324
- Martínez, I., Meneghel, I., Carmona-Halty, M., and Youssef-Morgan, C. M. (2019). Adaptation and validation to spanish of the psychological capital questionnaire 12 (PCQ-12) in academic contexts. *Curr. Psychol.* 1–8. doi: 10. 1007/s12144-019-00276-z
- Muñiz, J., Elosua, P., and Hambleton, R. K. (2013). International test commission guidelines for test translation and adaption: second edition. *Psicothema* 25, 151–157. doi: 10.7334/psicothema2013.24
- Orkibi, H., and Ronen, T. (2017). Basic psychological needs satisfaction mediates the association between self-control skills and subjective well-being. *Front. Psychol.* 8:936. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00936
- Ortega-Maldonado, A., and Salanova, M. (2017). Psychological capital and performance among undergraduate students: the role of meaning-focused

coping and satisfaction. *Teach. Higher Edu.* 23, 390–402. doi: 10.1080/13562517. 2017.1391199

- Ratelle, C. F., and Duchesne, S. (2014). Trajectories of psychological need satisfaction from early to late adolescence as a predictor of adjustment in school. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 39, 388–400. doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2014.09.003
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am. Psychol. 55, 68–78. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2017a). "Psychological needs: varied concepts and a preliminary description of SDT's approach," in *Self–Determination Theory: Basic Psychological Needs in Motivation, Development, and Wellness*, eds R. M. Ryan, and E. L. Deci, (London: The Guilford Press), 80–101.
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2017b). "School as contexts for learning and social development," in Self-Determination Theory: Basic Psychological Needs in Motivation, Development, and Wellness, eds R. M. Ryan, and E. L. Deci, (London: The Guilford Press), 351–381.
- Schweizer, K. (2010). Some guidelines concerning the modelling of traits and abilities in test construction. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 26, 1–2. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759/a000001
- Seligman, M. E. P., Ernst, R. M., Gillham, J., Reivich, K., and Linkins, M. (2009). Positive education: positive psychology and classroom interventions. Oxf. Rev. Educ. 35, 293–311. doi: 10.1080/03054980902934563
- Siu, O. L., Bakker, A. B., and Jiang, X. (2014). Psychological capital among university students: relationships with study engagement and intrinsic motivation. J. Happiness Stud. 15, 979–994. doi: 10.1007/s10902-013-9459-2
- Tian, L., Chen, H., and Huebner, E. S. (2014). The longitudinal relationships between basic psychological needs satisfaction at school and school-related subjective well-being in adolescents. *Soc. Indic. Res.* 199, 353–372. doi: 10.1007/ s11205-013-0495-4
- Tian, L., Pi, L., Huebner, E. S., and Du, M. (2016). Gratitude and adolescents' subjective well-being in school: the multiple mediating roles of basic psychological needs satisfaction at school. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1409. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.01409
- Tian, L., Zhang, X., and Huebner, E. S. (2018). The effects of satisfaction of basic psychological needs at school on children's prosocial behavior and antisocial behavior: the mediating role of school satisfaction. *Front. Psychol.* 9:548. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00548
- Van den Broeck, A., Vansteenkiste, M., De Witte, H., Soenens, B., and Lens, W. (2010). Capturing autonomy, competence, and relatedness at work: construction and initial validation of the work-related basic need satisfaction scale. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 83, 981–1002. doi: 10.1348/096317909X481382
- Vanno, V., Kaemkate, W., and Wongwanich, S. (2014). Relationships between academic performance, perceived group psychological capital and positive psychological capital on thai undergraduate students. Soc. Behav. Sci. 116, 3226–3230. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.739
- Wehmeyer, M. L., and Shogren, K. A. (2017). "The development of self-determination during adolescence," in *Development of Self-DeterminationThrough the Life-Course*, eds M. L. Wehmeyer, K. A. Shogren, T. D. Little, and S. J. Lopez, (Dordrecht: Springer), 89–98. doi: 10.1007/ 978-94-024-1042-6_7
- You, J. (2016). The relationship among college student's psychological capital, learning empowerment, and engagement. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 49, 17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2016.05.001
- Yu, C., Li, X., Wang, S., and Zhang, W. (2016). Teacher autonomy support reduces adolescent anxiety and depression: an 18–month longitudinal study. J. Adolesc. 49, 115–123. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.03.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Carmona-Halty, Schaufeli, Llorens and Salanova. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

